HUMAN MILK COMPOSITION AND HEALTH OUTCOMES IN CHILDREN

EDITED BY: Daniel Munblit, Valerie Verhasselt and John O. Warner PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pediatrics







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-171-1

ISBN 978-2-88963-171-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-171-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

HUMAN MILK COMPOSITION AND HEALTH OUTCOMES IN CHILDREN

Topic Editors:

Daniel Munblit, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University (Sechenov University), Russia; Imperial College London, United Kingdom; The In-VIVO Global Network, An Affiliate of the World Universities Network (WUN), United States; Solov'ev Research and Clinical Center for Neuropsychiatry, Russia Valerie Verhasselt, The In-VIVO Global Network, An Affiliate of the World Universities Network (WUN), United States; University of Western Australia, Australia

John O. Warner, Imperial College London, United Kingdom; The In-VIVO Global Network, An Affiliate of the World Universities Network (WUN), United States; National Institute for Health Research, Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care for NW London, United Kingdom

Citation: Munblit, D., Verhasselt, V., Warner, J. O., eds. (2019). Human Milk Composition and Health Outcomes in Children. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-171-1

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Human Milk Composition and Health Outcomes in Children Daniel Munblit, Valerie Verhasselt and John O. Warner
- 07 Shaping the Gut Microbiota by Breastfeeding: The Gateway to Allergy Prevention?

Lieke W. J. van den Elsen, Johan Garssen, Remy Burcelin and Valerie Verhasselt

- **17** Breast Milk Cytokines and Early Growth in Gambian Infants Anja Saso, Oleg Blyuss, Daniel Munblit, Amadou Faal, Sophie E. Moore and Kirsty Le Doare
- 27 Compositional Dynamics of the Milk Fat Globule and its Role in Infant Development

Hanna Lee, Emily Padhi, Yu Hasegawa, Jules Larke, Mariana Parenti, Aidong Wang, Olle Hernell, Bo Lönnerdal and Carolyn Slupsky

- **48** Does Breast Milk Nurture T Lymphocytes in Their Cradle? Peter S. Hsu and Ralph Nanan
- 54 Diversity of Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Effects on Early Life Immune Development

Veronica Ayechu-Muruzabal, Arthur H. van Stigt, Marko Mank, Linette E. M. Willemsen, Bernd Stahl, Johan Garssen and Belinda van't Land

- 63 Immunologically Active Components in Human Milk and Development of Atopic Disease, With Emphasis on Food Allergy, in the Pediatric Population Puja S. Rajani, Antti E. Seppo and Kirsi M. Järvinen
- 76 Human Breast Milk: Exploring the Linking Ring Among Emerging Components

Flaminia Bardanzellu, Vassilios Fanos, Francesca A. L. Strigini, Paolo G. Artini and Diego G. Peroni

- 85 The Prebiotic and Probiotic Properties of Human Milk: Implications for Infant Immune Development and Pediatric Asthma Shirin Moossavi, Kozeta Miliku, Shadi Sepehri, Ehsan Khafipour and Meghan B. Azad
- 92 Immunological Effects of Human Milk Oligosaccharides Vassilis Triantis, Lars Bode and R. J. Joost van Neerven
- 106 TGF-ß Concentration in Breast Milk is Associated With the Development of Eczema in Infants

Yoshinori Morita, Eduardo Campos-Alberto, Fumiya Yamaide, Taiji Nakano, Hidenori Ohnisi, Minako Kawamoto, Norio Kawamoto, Eiko Matsui, Naomi Kondo, Yoichi Kohno and Naoki Shimojo

- 112 Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Associations With Immune-Mediated Disease and Infection in Childhood: A Systematic Review Alice M. Doherty, Caroline J. Lodge, Shyamali C. Dharmage, Xin Dai, Lars Bode and Adrian J. Lowe
- 120 Commentary: Association of Breast Milk Fatty Acids With Allergic Disease Outcomes—A Systematic Review

Chad A. Logan and Jon Genuneit





Editorial: Human Milk Composition and Health Outcomes in Children

Daniel Munblit^{1,2,3,4*}, Valerie Verhasselt^{3,5} and John O. Warner^{2,3,6}

¹ Department of Paediatrics and Paediatric Infectious Diseases, Institute of Child's Health, Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University (Sechenov University), Moscow, Russia, ² Department of Paediatrics, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ The In-VIVO Global Network, An Affiliate of the World Universities Network (WUN), New York, NY, United States, ⁴ Solov'ev Research and Clinical Center for Neuropsychiatry, Moscow, Russia, ⁵ School of Molecular Sciences, University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ⁶ National Institute for Health Research, Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care for NW London, London, United Kingdom

Keywords: allergy, breast milk, cytokines, fatty acids, human milk, human milk oligosaccharides, microbiota, milk fat globule

Editorial on the Research Topic

Human Milk Composition and Health Outcomes in Children

Human breast milk (HM) is the physiological nutrition during an infants' first few months of life, a crucial period for immune system development, metabolic and endocrine programming for growth, development, and lifelong health. HM is a complex and variable mixture with a multitude of constituents each contributing either singly or in combination to health outcomes (1). This Research Topic aims to present recent research findings on the complex relationships between HM composition and health outcomes in children, with state-of-the-art reviews, systematic analysis of published data, providing a complete presentation of current knowledge in the field.

Human infants are born with a physiologically relatively immature immune system which is partly compensated by immune active molecules in HM. Furthermore, many immune active molecules in HM have been linked with a variety of health outcomes, suggesting they may also influence the trajectory of immune development (2). Review from Rajani et al. focuses on variations in immune active components that have been reported to be associated with allergic risk in children, providing insight into potential mechanisms of action. Although cytokines and growth factors have been mostly investigated in relation to allergy development, some authors studied associations with growth patterns (3) but little is known of their impact on the growth of infants in the less affluent countries. Saso et al. found levels of cytokines in mature milk being weakly predictive of poor infant growth in Gambia, suggesting that milk compositional changes may be a consequence of suboptimal maternal health and nutrition.

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) is one of the best-studied immune regulatory cytokines and often is investigated with regards to allergy development. A recent systematic review failed to find convincing evidence of associations between HM TGF- β and allergic outcomes (4). Most of the researchers have drawn conclusions based on the links between concentration of immunological markers in colostrum and/or mature milk and allergic diseases. Morita et al. used a more creative approach, looking at ratio (mature milk/colostrum) rather than single time-point concentration, reporting lower TGF- β 1 ratio to be associated with the development of eczema. This indicates that innovative approaches to data analysis coupled with more extensive use of serial data could unveil links between the TGF- β and allergic diseases development.

To further understand how breastfeeding can influence immune development, Hsu and Nanan present a critical analysis of potential associations between breastfeeding and the development of thymus, playing a crucial role in T lymphocytes maturation and output.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Raffaele Badolato, University of Brescia, Italy

***Correspondence:** Daniel Munblit daniel.munblit08@imperial.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 20 June 2019 **Accepted:** 15 July 2019 **Published:** 30 July 2019

Citation:

Munblit D, Verhasselt V and Warner JO (2019) Editorial: Human Milk Composition and Health Outcomes in Children. Front. Pediatr. 7:319. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00319

4

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) are as a group the 3rd largest component of HM. More than 200 HMOs are present in HM, and diversity and complexity of HMOs are very specific to HM. Both, short-and long-chain oligosaccharides are found, at a unique ratio. HMOs play an important role in microbiome development and immune system maturation thereby having short- and long-term impacts on infant health. In this Research Topic, two reviews address HMOs importance for infant health and development. Ayechu-Muruzabal et al. provide an overview of the HMOs diversity and impact on early life immune development, while Triantis et al. discusses potential effects of HMOs on infectious and non-communicable diseases and inflammation in general. This paper emphasizes the role of HMOs in altering immune responses through binding to immune-related receptors. There were very few attempts to systematically review available evidence on human milk composition and they are needed to guide future research and highlight gray areas in need of further investigation (5). In view of this, a systematic review of available data on HMOs and associations with immune-mediated disease and infection in childhood is very timely. Doherty et al. reported low concentrations of lacto-N-fucopentaose (LNFP)-III being associated with cow's milk allergy and that higher fucosyl-oligosaccharide levels provides some protection against infectious disease, however, the evidence is sparse and more studies are required.

Although HM has been considered sterile this concept has changed in the last decades with extensive research of HM microbiome. In a recent systematic review of published evidence, a total of 820 microbe species were identified in HM, mainly consisting of Proteobacteria and Firmicutes (6). Human milk oligosaccharides and HM microbiome are acting in synergy, influencing immune system development. Moossavi et al. provide a nice overview review of the latest evidence, mechanisms, and hypotheses for the synergistic and/or additive effects of milk microbiota and HMOs in relation to asthma development in children.

Metabolomic studies increase in numbers and provide complex analysis, with recent data showing distinct patterns associated with maternal lifestyle and the environment (7). Complex, but intriguing interactions between nutrients, microbiome, and metabolites in HM is comprehensively reviewed in the work from Bardanzellu et al. They outline targets for the future research, suggesting a promising approach, of integrative assessment of metabolomics, microbiomics, and HM cellular composition, as the way toward better understanding the potential health promoting properties of HM.

Attention to HM polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in relation to health outcomes is based on the hypothesis that the

REFERENCES

- Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amorós A, Hsu PS, Van't Land B, Gay MCL, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:8. doi: 10.3390/nu9080894
- 2. Munblit D, Boyle RJ, Warner JO. Factors affecting breast milk composition and potential consequences for development of the allergic

modern diet has led to changes in ratio of n-6 to n-3 fatty acids which may result in increase in allergic diseases prevalence in children. This concept resulted in a number of studies assessing HM PUFAs profile association with atopy/allergy development. Recent systematic review of 18 papers from 15 study populations reported heterogeneity among studies with insufficient evidence to suggest that HM PUFAs influence the risk of childhood allergic diseases (8). This was primarily explained by lack of standardized methodology, such as differences in stage of lactation, variations in definition of allergic outcomes as well as lack of adjustment for potential confounders or even over-adjustment in some studies. Logan and Genuneit discuss the results of the systematic review in their commentary. In light of their subsequent original research (9) they suggest avenues for future research, such as employment of the centered log ratio transformation to overcome spurious correlation, considerations for alternative ways of grouping fatty acids and reduction of selection bias being of particular importance.

Diversity of HM constituents, such as immune active factors, oligosaccharides, and microbes contribute to complex interactions within the HM and associated with gut barrier function, the gut microbiota, and oral tolerance induction (10). It was hypothesized that modulation of infant gut immunity and microbiome may facilitate tolerance development and thus allergy prevention. The impact of breastfeeding on shaping the neonate's gut microbiota and preventative effect on allergy development is reviewed by van den Elsen et al. Emerging data suggests that Milk Fat Globule Membrane (MFGM) may also play in important role in structural and functional maturation of infant gut. Comprehensive review of one of the less wellstudied HM constituents, factors influencing its characteristics and potential role in gut immunity maturation presented by Lee et al.

Future of HM research is tightly linked with multidisciplinary collaborations, aiming to approach HM as a complex and dynamic fluid, which will have various impact on the short and long-term of infant health. We hope that this compilation of articles accumulating existing evidence in the field of HM research will be of an interest to the readers and will inspire more state-of-the-art work on the topics described.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication. The views expressed in the paper are those of the authors and not those of the NIHR or Department of Health (UK).

phenotype. Clin Exp Allergy. (2015) 45:583-601. doi: 10.1111/cea. 12381

- 3. Fields DA, Demerath EW. Relationship of insulin, glucose, leptin, IL-6 and TNF-alpha in human breast milk with infant growth and body composition. *Pediatric obesity.* (2012) 7:304–12. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-6310.2012.00059.x
- 4. Khaleva E, Gridneva Z, Geddes DT, Oddy WH, Colicino S, Blyuss O, et al. Transforming growth factor beta in human milk and allergic outcomes

in children: a systematic review. Clin Exp Allergy. (2019) 2019:13409. doi: 10.1111/cea.13409

- Boix-Amorós A, Collado MC, Van't Land B, Calvert A, Le Doare K, Garssen J, et al. Reviewing the evidence on breast milk composition and immunological outcomes. *Nutr rev.* (2019) 2019:19. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuz019
- Togo A, Dufour JC, Lagier JC, Dubourg G, Raoult D, Million M. Repertoire of human breast and milk microbiota: a systematic review. *Future Microbiol.* (2019) 14:7. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2018-0317
- Gay MCL, Koleva PT, Slupsky CM, Toit ED, Eggesbo M, Johnson CC, et al. Worldwide variation in human milk metabolome: indicators of breast physiology and maternal lifestyle? *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:9. doi: 10.3390/nu10091151
- Waidyatillake NT, Dharmage SC, Allen KJ, Lodge CJ, Simpson JA, Bowatte G, et al. Association of breast milk fatty acids with allergic disease outcomes-a systematic review. *Allergy*. (2018) 73:295–312. doi: 10.1111/all.13300
- 9. Logan CA, Brandt S, Wabitsch M, Brenner H, Wiens F, Stahl B, et al. New approach shows no association between maternal milk fatty acid

composition and childhood wheeze or asthma. Allergy. (2017) 72:1374-83. doi: 10.1111/all.13161

 Munblit D, Verhasselt V. Allergy prevention by breastfeeding: possible mechanisms and evidence from human cohorts. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 16:427–33. doi: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000303

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Munblit, Verhasselt and Warner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Shaping the Gut Microbiota by Breastfeeding: The Gateway to Allergy Prevention?

Lieke W. J. van den Elsen^{1*}, Johan Garssen², Remy Burcelin³ and Valerie Verhasselt^{1*}

¹ School of Molecular Sciences, University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ² Division of Pharmacology, Faculty of Science, Utrecht Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands, ³ Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), Toulouse, France

Evidence is accumulating that demonstrates the importance of the gut microbiota in health and diseases such as allergy. Recent studies emphasize the importance of the "window of opportunity" in early life, during which interventions altering the gut microbiota induce long-term effects. The neonate's gut microbiota composition and metabolism could therefore play an essential role in allergic disease risk. Breastfeeding shapes the gut microbiota in early life, both directly by exposure of the neonate to the milk microbiota and indirectly, via maternal milk factors that affect bacterial growth and metabolism such as human milk oligosaccharides, secretory IgA, and anti-microbial factors. The potential of breastmilk to modulate the offspring's early gut microbiota is a promising tool for allergy prevention. Here, we will review the existing evidence demonstrating the impact of breastfeeding on shaping the neonate's gut microbiota and highlight the potential of this strategy for allergy prevention.

Keywords: breastmilk, allergy, gut microbiota, neonate, prevention

WHY BREASTFEEDING AS A POTENTIAL STRATEGY FOR ALLERGY PREVENTION BY MICROBIOTA SHAPING?

Most of the human body is heavily colonized by all kinds of microorganisms, including bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa, and parasites. The largest amount of microorganisms are found within the colon, although the presence in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract cannot be neglected (1, 2). The development of the human gut microbiome is a highly complex process (1). The order and timing by which the gut is colonized early in life has a lasting impact on the microbiome and contributes largely to the variation in microbiota observed between individuals (3). Over the first 3 years of life, the microbiota evolves from relatively simple but rapidly increasing in diversity to an adult state that is more complex and more stable (1). In addition to mode of delivery and antibiotic exposure, nutrition is a key factor in shaping the early microbiota composition and function [as reviewed in Tamburini et al. (4)]. Besides the important role of the gut microbiota in nutrient and bile acid metabolism and the production of vitamins (5), colonization and signaling by microbes plays a pivotal role in gut mucosal immunity as well as systemic immunity. The development of the microbiota ecology parallels that of the gut mucosal immune system. Accumulating evidence is showing that perturbations in the gut microbiota in early life, while the immune system is still developing, can have long-lasting effects on local and systemic immune health.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George N. Konstantinou, 424 General Military Hospital, Greece

Reviewed by:

Klaus Tenbrock, RWTH Aachen Universität, Germany Beatriz Elena Marciano, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

*Correspondence:

Lieke W. J. van den Elsen lieke.vandenelsen@uwa.edu.au Valerie Verhasselt valerie.verhasselt@uwa.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 05 October 2018 Accepted: 04 February 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

van den Elsen LWJ, Garssen J, Burcelin R and Verhasselt V (2019) Shaping the Gut Microbiota by Breastfeeding: The Gateway to Allergy Prevention? Front. Pediatr. 7:47. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00047

To date, a clear protective effect of breastmilk on allergy development has not been demonstrated (6-11). However, breastmilk contains factors that can affect key players in allergy development such as gut barrier function, the gut microbiota and oral tolerance induction (12). Therefore, we propose that the modulation of breastmilk composition could be a promising tool for allergy prevention. Here we will review the existing evidence demonstrating the impact of breastfeeding on the neonate's gut microbiota and highlight the potential of shaping the neonate's gut microbiome through breastmilk to decrease allergic disease risk. A literature search was performed in PubMed on original studies and review articles addressing (1) the association of the early life gut microbiota with allergic outcomes (2) immunological mechanisms for the early life gut microbiota to affect allergy development and (3) how breastfeeding shapes the gut microbiota. The primary focus of the review were recent studies addressing these topics in the early life window.

MODULATING EARLY LIFE GUT MICROBIOTA MAY REDUCE LONG-TERM ALLERGIC DISEASE RISK

A Window of Opportunity to Alter the Gut Microbiota for Allergy Prevention

Epidemiological and animal studies have linked perturbations in the infant gut microbiota, when the immune system matures and the gut is colonized with microbiota, with disease risk later in life (4, 13). This highlights the existence of a window of opportunity for disease prevention, including atopic disease, which matches the period in life of breastfeeding. Germ-free (GF) mice have elevated levels of serum immunoglobulin (Ig)E because B cells undergo more isotype class switching to IgE in Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes. Microbial colonization of GF pups starting between birth and 1 week after weaning, completely inhibits this induction of IgE if a diverse microbiota is used. This implies the need for a critical level of microbial diversity following birth to prevent IgE induction (14). Colonization of GF mice with gut microbiota in early life, but not in adults, is also sufficient to protect from mucosal invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cell accumulation in the lung and allergic airway inflammation (15). Antibiotic administration exacerbated allergic airway inflammation, reduced FoxP3+ regulatory T cells (Treg) in the colon and increased serum IgE only when treatment was initiated in early life (16). In humans, a link between gut microbial dysbiosis in the first 100 days of life and an increased risk of asthma was demonstrated (17). Also other studies have shown an association between the early intestinal microbiota and the risk of allergic sensitization (18-20). All provide evidence of a link between early gut microbiota dysbiosis and an increased risk to develop allergic disease.

Microbiota Richness, Diversity, Composition, and Metabolism in Early Life as Key Elements for Later Allergy Risk

It is still very preliminary to define a "healthy" or "normal" human gut microbiota. The most recent studies define a

healthy microbiota as highly diverse, i.e., above 600.000 bacterial genes (21). Nutrition is certainly one way to reach such diversity (2, 22). In addition to diversity there is a core microbiota which is common the most human guts and which has been proposed as a "must have"-set of bacteria (23, 24). Their precise role still needs to be clearly defined but they are mostly involved in the control of inflammation and innate immunity. Although much less details are known in early life, more and more studies try to determine associations between alterations in neonatal microbiota and disease outcome. Microbiota richness, diversity, and composition all may play a role in shaping of the immune response by the gut microbiota. Gut microbial alterations are not limited to shifts in the abundance of certain microbes, they also include alterations in microbiota metabolism and changes in the production of microbial-derived metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) (25, 26).

Bisgaard et al. (18) demonstrated the inverse association between the early gut bacterial diversity and the risk of allergic sensitization, but not asthma or atopic dermatitis (18). However, another study showed that infants with cow's milk allergy had an increased diversity of the gut microbiota and an altered microbial composition dominated by Lachnospiraceae as compared to non-allergic infants (27). In a Chinese cohort, 20 key food allergy-associated bacterial genera, but no difference in fecal microbiota diversity, were observed. The specific microbiota signature detected, could distinguish between IgEmediated and non-IgE-mediated food allergic infants. The genus Clostridium sensu stricto significantly correlated with antigenspecific IgE in infants with food allergy (28). A low gut microbiota richness, overrepresentation of Enterobacteriaceae and underrepresentation of Bacteroidaceae in early infancy were associated with food sensitization in a subset of the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) study (20). In the same cohort, Canadian infants at risk of asthma showed a reduction in the relative abundance of the bacterial genera Lachnospira, Veillonella, Faecalibacterium, and Rothia in early life and had lower fecal concentrations of the SCFA acetate (17, 29). A causal role of these bacterial taxa was demonstrated in mouse experiments (17). The impact of microbial dysbiosis at 3 months of age was further confirmed in a non-industrialized population in rural Ecuador (30). Interestingly, different bacterial taxa were involved compared to Canadian infants. Some fecal fungal taxa were altered too and genes involved in carbohydrate and taurine metabolism were highly altered (30). Another birth cohort showed that neonates with a relatively lower abundance of bacteria such as Bifidobacterium, Akkermansia, and Faecalibacterium, along with higher abundance of the fungi Candida and Rhodotorula and pro-inflammatory fecal metabolites, had the highest risk of childhood atopy and asthma (31). Russian children at low risk for the development of allergic disease had higher proportions of Bifidobacterium, whereas Finnish and Estonian children with a higher risk of allergies had increased abundance of Bacteroides (32). Furthermore, early colonization with Lactobacilli was shown to decrease the risk of allergy (19) while early colonization with Staphyloccocus aureus and Clostridium difficile characterizes infants developing allergy later in life (33-35). Colonization with Escherichia coli was associated with IgE-mediated eczema (36, 37). However, a study using early administration of *E. coli* as probiotic strategy found a reduction in allergy development, pointing toward strain-specific effects of *E. coli* (38). Recently it was also reported that the kinetic of development of the gut microbiome during the first year of life affects the risk of childhood asthma in children from asthmatic mothers. One-year-old children with an immature microbial composition had an increased risk of asthma at age 5 years compared to children with mature microbiota (39).

POTENTIAL MECHANISMS OF ALLERGY PREVENTION IN EARLY LIFE BY THE MICROBIOTA

To induce tolerance at mucosal surfaces, antigens are taken up by dendritic cells (DC) which migrate to the lymph nodes where the local production of factors like transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β) induces the differentiation of naïve T cells to antigen-specific Treg (40). Here, we will summarize the current observations in early life specifically, as this coincides with the period of breastfeeding, which demonstrate an effect of the microbiota on the maturation of the immune system (Figure 1). Various studies have demonstrated a role of the microbiota in early life on the development of FoxP3+ Treg. Ex vivo culturing of human adult peripheral T cells with sterile fecal water from children at high risk of developing atopic disease, reduced the percentage of FoxP3+ Treg cells (31). Neonatal colonization with a specific strain of the commensal E. coli lead to oral tolerance failure. It reduced tolerogenic DC and subsequently Treg populations (41). On the other hand, neonatal enrichment of mice with Clostridium species from human indigenous microbiota resulted in higher numbers of colonic FoxP3+ Treg in adulthood, likely induced by intestinal epithelial cell-secreted TGF- β , and lower allergy risk (42). Another study demonstrated the pivotal role of early life colonization with Bacteroides fragilis expressing polysaccharide A (PSA) for iNKT cell inhibition and Treg development in the intestine (43). Colonizing adult mice did not have this effect (43). Another study has emphasized a role for the gut microbiota in the modulation of IL-22 secretion and gut barrier function. Colonization of young mice with Clostridia induced IL-22 production by group 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3) and T helper 17 cells in the intestinal lamina propria. IL-22 was critical for sensitization to food allergen as it induces antimicrobial peptide production by Paneth cells and mucus production by goblet cells to strengthen the gut barrier. This prevents the transfer of dietary antigen across the barrier and therefore allergic sensitization (44). Recent studies have also linked the kynurenine pathway, involved in the breakdown of tryptophan by host cells, with the gut microbiota and allergy (45). In host immune and epithelial cells the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) metabolizes tryptophan to kynurenine and downstream products (46). IDO can become activated in response to allergen-induced immune activation (45). Kynurenines regulate immune homeostasis and exhibit tolerogenic effects by causing T cell anergy and apoptosis and induce the generation of Treg, leading to attenuation of allergic responses (45). The gut microbiota plays an important role in stimulating IDO activity, as demonstrated in GF mice (46, 47), making this pathway dependent on early life gut microbiota development (45). Targeting the gut microbiota to modulate tryptophan metabolism could therefore have the potential to prevent allergic disease (45).

Shaping of the Immune System by the Microbiota MAMP Signaling

The gut microbiota exerts direct effects on the immune system through microorganism-associated molecular pattern (MAMP) signaling. Bacterial as well as fungal and viral molecular patterns such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), flagellin, peptidoglycans (PG), formyl peptides, and unique nucleic acid structures are sensed by pattern recognition receptors (PRR) including membrane bound Toll-like receptors (TLR) and cytoplasmic NOD-like receptors (NLR) (25).

LPS binds to a complex of membranous TLR4, CD14 and myeloid differentiation protein 2 (MD-2) or circulating sCD14 receptors. TLR4 is the receptor transmitting the MAMP's signal inside the cell to trigger genes of inflammation. LPS are complex molecules with a lipid A part containing different fatty acids esterified to a glucosamine structure. It can possess 4, 5, or 6 aliphatic chains of different length including cyclic fatty acids specific from bacteria. Hexa-acylated LPS, such as seen in E. coli, is considered highly inflammatory whereas LPS with a lower number of acylated fatty acids, such as those from the Porphyromonadaceae family, are less inflammatory or even antiinflammatory (48). Variation in LPS immunogenicity can play a role in immune education and driving allergic disease. High exposure to Bacteroides-derived penta- or tetra-acylated LPS, which has immune inhibitory properties, was demonstrated in infants with high risk of allergic disease. This form of LPS does not induce endotoxin tolerance, leading to inflammatory responses later in life (32, 49). A similar observation was reported for PGs which can be pro- or anti-inflammatory according to the structure and molecular weight of the molecule. In addition, PG can bind to different TLRs, particularly TLR2, as well as the intracellular NLR NOD1 and 2, with different outcome (50, 51). Furthermore, TLR signaling by bacterial products induces a tolerogenic environment and Treg expansion in the intestine (52). These studies demonstrate that MAMPs can engage innate and adaptive immunity through the stimulation of different TLRs and NLRs. This suggests that the gut microbiota ecology at birth directs the specific crosstalk between MAMPs and the immune system and educates both innate and adaptive immunity. This could result in protection against the development of allergic diseases.

Metabolite Signaling

Besides the direct effects of gut microbes on the immune system, the production of metabolites by the fermentation of dietary fiber and other complex macronutrients that escape digestion in the small intestine, plays an important role. Molecules produced or derived from bacterial metabolism are drivers of cellular host functions and notably the intestinal immune, epithelial,



(Continued)

FIGURE 1 | strengthens the gut barrier. As a result, shaping of the infant's gut microbiota by breastmilk has the potential to direct the immune system toward allergy prevention. TGF-β, Transforming Growth Factor beta; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase.

vascular, and neural systems (53). Bacterial metabolites can induce epigenetic changes such as chromatin modifications that allow the microbiota to exert long-lasting effects on immunity (54). Metabolites of microbial origin include choline metabolites, vitamins, and phenolic derivatives (53). Primary bile acids can be transformed into secondary bile acids by the metabolism of bacteria, which can differently activate the bile acid receptors farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and G protein-coupled bile acid receptor (TGR5) (55). Specific commensal bacteria, especially Lactobacilli, metabolize the essential amino acid tryptophan into indole derivatives that can bind to aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AHR) expressed by immune and epithelial cells. AHR signaling is important for ILC3 activation and intestinal barrier function (25). The role of AHR ligands on immune development during the neonatal phase specifically is largely unclear to date. Branched-chain fatty acids such as valerate, isobutyrate, and isovalerate are derived from bacterial amino acid metabolism. SCFA, predominantly butyrate, acetate and propionate, are produced upon breakdown of dietary fiber. Lactate and succinate are intermediate metabolites in the production of SCFA, but can exert immune modulating effects themselves too (56, 57). SCFA are an important energy source for intestinal epithelial cells. Furthermore, SCFA signal through G protein couples receptors such as GPR43, GPR41, and GPR109A present on epithelial and immune cells, and inhibition of histone deacetylases (25, 58). In adult mice it has been demonstrated that SCFA can enhance the intestinal barrier function, induce tolerogenic DC and promote anti-inflammatory Treg in the colon, all contributing to immune tolerance (25). In the lung SCFA impair the ability of DC to promote a T helper 2 response and reduce ILC2 proliferation and function (59, 60). Data on the effects of SCFA on the maturation of the gut and immune system in the neonate is currently largely lacking. However, there is limited evidence that higher acetate levels in infants might assist in the protection against allergic disease (17).

BREASTFEEDING SHAPES GUT MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AND METABOLISM

A Role of Breastmilk in the Establishment of the Gut Microbiota in the Neonate

Recent studies suggest that microbial transfer from the mother to the fetus already occurs *in utero*. Microbes have been detected in the placenta, amniotic fluid, fetal membrane, umbilical cord blood, and meconium (4, 61). However, the first major exposure of the neonate to microbes happens during birth and is highly dependent on the mode of delivery (1, 4). Besides birth mode and/or antibiotics use just before or after delivery, early nutrition is a key factor directing the early microbiota composition and function as it provides nutrients for bacterial growth and dictates their production of metabolites (1, 2, 22). Recently, a large,

multi-center study confirmed that breastfeeding status was the most significant factor associated with microbiome structure in early life (62). The first bacteria to establish in the neonatal gut are mostly aerobic or facultative anaerobic bacteria such as enterobacteria, enterococci, and staphylococci. During their growth they consume oxygen allowing the rise of anaerobic bacteria including bifidobacteria (63). The gut microbiome in breastfed infants is usually dominated by bifidobacteria and Lactobacillus species, while formula-fed infants harbor a more diverse gut microbiota that resembles that of older children (22, 64). Relatively small amounts of formula supplementation of breastfed infants, only during the first days of life, already resulted in shifts in microbiota composition (65). In addition to shaping microbiota composition, early feeding practice affects microbiota metabolism. The microbiomes of newborns and young infants are enriched in genes required for the degradation of sugars from breastmilk (human milk oligosaccharides, HMOs) (22). Compared with formula-fed children, breastfed infants have lower absolute concentrations of fecal SCFA, potentially due to the less diverse microbiota, and higher concentrations of lactate. However, the relative proportion of acetate was higher in exclusively breastfed children (56). The introduction of solid foods changes the metabolic function of the gut bacteria as genes involved in the degradation of sugars from breastmilk are less needed and utilized. Instead, the microbiota adapts to the available energy sources and functionally matures to be able to degrade complex sugars and starch found in solid food (22). Interestingly, the microbiota composition in African and European infants is very similar until the introduction of solid foods, indicating the dominant role of diet over other variables in shaping the microbial composition of the gut in early life (66).

Mechanisms of Breastmilk-Induced Neonatal Gut Microbiota Shaping

Breastmilk provides the neonate with its own microbiota as well as prebiotic, immunological and other microbiota-shaping compounds that indirectly can alter colonization patterns in the neonate (**Figure 1**). Therefore, a varied composition of breastmilk could be considered as a selective bioactor to reach gut microbiota diversity and hence good health.

Human Breastmilk Microbiota

Breastmilk contains $10^2 - 10^4$ viable bacteria per mL (67), and thereby can directly affect the establishment of the neonatal microbiota (68). *Lactobacillus, Staphylococcus, Enterococcus*, and *Bifidobacterium* are transferred through breastfeeding (67). Milk bacterial communities are complex and vary between individuals. The breastmilk microbiota also evolves over the period of breastfeeding. Colostrum microbiota has a higher diversity than mature milk (69). In colostrum, *Staphylococcus*, lactic acid bacteria and *Streptococcus* are the most abundant (69). After 1 month, the *Staphylococcus* abundance is dramatically reduced, while the lactic acid bacteria are still highly abundant (68, 69). The maturation of the breastmilk microbiota happens in parallel with the evolution of the neonate's microbiota. As soon as 3-4 days after birth, the gut microbiota of infants begins to resemble the colostrum microbiota (61), followed by a gut microbiota rich in bifidobacteria and lactobacilli (22).

The origin of bacteria in breastmilk is under debate. Some suggest that human milk bacteria are derived from the maternal skin as some bacterial phyla that are common in human milk, such as Staphylococcus, are usually present on adult skin (67). It has also been demonstrated that during suckling breastmilk flows back into the mammary ducts (67, 70), which provides a route for bacteria found in the infants oral cavity to enter the mammary gland (67, 69). However, most studies propose that the translocation of maternal gut bacteria to the mammary gland is the major pathway (2, 64). DC and macrophages can sample live commensal bacteria from the gut lumen and keep them in the mesenteric lymph nodes. From there, the bacteria can circulate to other locations in the body, including the mammary glands (67). Mothers having a cesarean section, show a more diverse milk microbiota with reduced frequency of bifidobacteria as compared to mothers after a vaginal delivery. This effect is most pronounced for infants from women undergoing an elective cesarean-section, suggesting that signals related to labor affect bacterial transfer to the mammary glands (69).

Human Milk Oligosaccharides

HMOs are structurally complex sugars unique to human breastmilk. They are indigestible and do not provide energy for the infant but serve as prebiotics, which are substrates for fermentation processes by intestinal microbes, inducing the growth or activity of beneficial bacteria (71). HMOs are highly abundant in human milk but absent in most formula nutrition and are believed to play a major role in the differences between the gut microbiota in breast- vs. formulafed infants. HMO composition in maternal milk is regulated by genetic fucosyltransferase-2 (FUT2) secretor status and other factors including lactation stage, maternal health and ethnicity (72). HMOs act as antiadhesive agents that inhibit pathogen adhesion to mucosal surfaces, preventing colonization and as antimicrobials by preventing proliferation of certain bacteria (72, 73). Furthermore, HMO favor Bifidobacterium growth and are their preferred substrates for the production of SCFA and lactate in infancy (56, 74, 75). Bifidobacterium predominance in the stool is the main characteristic of breastfed infants (68) and the higher relative proportion of acetate in breastfed compared to formula-fed infants may be due to the absence of HMO in formula (56). Infants receiving breastmilk from non-secretor mothers, who lack the functional FUT2 enzyme, show a delay in the establishment of bifidobacteria highlighting the need for maternal milk HMOs in bifidobacteria growth (76). A recent study further demonstrates that HMOs in breastmilk can also modulate the transcriptional activity of certain bacteria such as B. fragilis, rather than modifying their relative abundance (26). Furthermore, another commensal, E. coli, that cannot directly degrade HMOs, benefits indirectly by consuming metabolites produced by B. fragilis upon HMOs degradation (26). An association between HMO profiles, but not individual HMOs, and food sensitization has been demonstrated in 1-year-old infants (77). A small clinical study further found that infants receiving maternal milk with low concentrations of the HMO lacto-N-fucopentaose III were more likely to develop cow's milk allergy (76). A likely explanation, besides the possibility of direct effects of HMO on immune cells, is the prebiotic modulation of the gut microbiota by HMOs influencing immune development and food sensitization (77).

Glycomacropeptide

Casein glycomacropeptide (GMP) is a small glycoconjugated peptide present in human milk. GMP has a prebiotic effect on bifidobacteria and lactic acid bacteria (78).

Secretory IgA

Secretory IgA (sIgA) are also important factors in shaping the gut microbiota in the neonate. IgA-producing plasma cells in the mammary gland originate from the maternal gut. The specificity of sIgA in breastmilk is therefore dictated by maternal exposure to pathogenic enteric bacteria and by commensal bacteria in the maternal gut. Maternal IgA produced in the mammary gland, are transported across the epithelial cells into the milk and acquire the secretory part from epithelial cells (79). As newborns produce only low levels of sIgA, breastmilk-derived sIgA prevent expansion and penetration of pathogenic bacteria while their intestinal immune system is developing (80, 81). IgA also has functions beyond pathogen exclusion. Experiments in mice using IgA-deficient dams demonstrated a long-lasting role of breastmilk-derived sIgA in shaping of the gut microbiota. Taxa from the family Lachnospiraceae were upregulated in the absence of sIgA from breastmilk (82). Milk sIgA are also necessary for the prevention of excessive expansion of pro-inflammatory segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB) by coating these bacteria (83). A recent birth cohort showed that IgA recognition patterns differed between healthy and allergic children. This was already visible at 1 month of age, when IgA is predominantly maternally derived in breastfed children. Interestingly, mainly butyrateproducing gut commensals such as Faecalibacterium were IgA free in children with allergic symptoms (84). IgA can also modulate the production of metabolites by the microbiota, as recently shown in an adult mouse model (85). In this study it was demonstrated that IgA has the capacity to modulate bacterial composition, gene expression, and metabolic function of the gut microbiota by antigen-independent binding to intestinal bacteria (85).

Antimicrobial Proteins and Peptides

Antimicrobial factors in breastmilk have the potential to shape the microbiota. Breastmilk is the main source of lactoferrin for the infant and protects them from bacterial invasion by sequestering iron from bacterial pathogens and direct interaction with bacteria (79). The ability to protect the infant against pathogenic microorganisms helps the development of a beneficial microbiota (79). The amount of fecal bifidobacteria and lactobacilli in newborns positively correlated with fecal lactoferrin (86). This suggests that lactoferrin promotes specific microbial composition and might be critical for the microbiota to develop in early life. High levels of calprotectin (heterodimer of calcium binding proteins S100A8 and S100A9) also demonstrate antimicrobial properties that can be attributed to its metal ion chelation capacity. This results in growth inhibition of especially manganese sensitive bacteria such as *S. aureus* and group B streptococci. After birth, calprotectin concentrations are high in human milk (87). Defensins in breastmilk also have antimicrobial activity against common neonatal pathogens (88) and have been shown to affect the intestinal microbiota (89).

Tryptophan Metabolites

Tryptophan is a precursor of a large number of metabolites, including endogenous metabolites such as kynurenine and bacterial metabolites such as indole derivatives (46, 47). Tryptophan and its metabolites are present in breastmilk (90, 91) and can have profound effects on the gut microbial composition, metabolism and function in the infant (47). Kynurenines have antimicrobial properties, which can directly impact on the gut microbiota (47). AHR ligands in breastmilk originate from the maternal diet as well as from the maternal microbiota. Maternal milk immunoglobulins help in the transfer of these metabolites to the neonate (91). The AHR signaling pathway is also able to influence microbiota composition (92).

Components of the Innate Immune Response

Factors of the innate immune response that are present in breastmilk, but not infant formula, include soluble TLR2, TLR4 and their co-receptors CD14 and MD2, which are involved in binding LPS (89, 93, 94). These factors probably contribute to the composition of luminal and enterocyte surface bacteria (89, 95).

Lipids

Lipids impact on the gut microbiota ecology either directly by feeding some bacteria or indirectly by triggering the host to secrete hormones and bile acids (96). Bile acids are major regulators of the gut microbiota (55). They are detergents for bacteria explaining, at least in part, the low bacterial count in the duodenum where bile acids are mostly released. Human milk fatty acid profiles were associated with the relative abundance of five taxa (*Bacteroides*, Enterobacteriaceae,

REFERENCES

- Gensollen T, Iyer SS, Kasper DL, Blumberg RS. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. *Science* (2016) 352:539–44. doi: 10.1126/science.aad9378
- van Best N, Hornef MW, Savelkoul PH, Penders J. On the origin of species: factors shaping the establishment of infant's gut microbiota. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today* (2015) 105:240–51. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21113
- Martinez I, Maldonado-Gomez MX, Gomes-Neto JC, Kittana H, Ding H, Schmaltz R, et al. Experimental evaluation of the importance of colonization history in early-life gut microbiota assembly. *Elife* (2018) 7:e36521. doi: 10.7554/eLife.36521
- Tamburini S, Shen N, Wu HC, Clemente JC. The microbiome in early life: implications for health outcomes. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:713–22. doi: 10.1038/nm.4142

Veillonella, Streptococcus, and *Clostridium*) in the gut microbiota of breastfed neonates (97).

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The potential of breastmilk to alter the offspring's early gut microbiota is a promising tool for immune education and allergy prevention (Figure 1). This requires identifying (1) what a beneficial microbiota for allergy prevention in our modern environment is (2) which factors in breastmilk are necessary to guide the establishment of such a beneficial microbiota and (3) how to enrich breastmilk with the required factors. There have been major advances in the recent years in the identification of a beneficial microbiota for allergic disease prevention. In particular, the necessity of a diverse gut microbiota and the importance of the metabolism of the microbiota have been highlighted. The role of the breastmilk microbiota and HMOs in shaping of the neonatal gut microbiota has become more and more evident recently. There is however still poor knowledge on the possibilities to modulate breastmilk factors involved in the microbiota shaping. The administration of probiotics to lactating mothers has led to inconsistent results regarding the possibility to change the milk microbiota (98, 99) and there is currently no clue on the possibility to modify HMOs content in breastmilk. There is a need for randomized intervention trials that study the allergy preventive effects of supplementation of lactating mothers with milk-modulating factors such as pre- and probiotics, to shape the infants microbiota and subsequently program the immune response.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LvdE and VV proposed the topic to be covered in the manuscript and wrote the main content with the contribution of JG and RB.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the University of Western Australia and by the Larsson-Rosenquist Foundation.

- Sekirov I, Russell SL, Antunes LC, Finlay BB. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol Rev.* (2010) 90:859–904. doi: 10.1152/physrev.0004 5.2009
- van Odijk J, Kull I, Borres MP, Brandtzaeg P, Edberg U, Hanson LA, et al. Breastfeeding and allergic disease: a multidisciplinary review of the literature (1966–2001) on the mode of early feeding in infancy and its impact on later atopic manifestations. *Allergy* (2003) 58:833–43. doi: 10.1034/j.1398-9995.2003.00264.x
- Gdalevich M, Mimouni D, Mimouni M. Breast-feeding and the risk of bronchial asthma in childhood: a systematic review with meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Pediatr. (2001) 139:261–6. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2001.117006
- Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. *Evid Rep Technol Assess* (2007) 1–186.

- Dogaru CM, Nyffenegger D, Pescatore AM, Spycher BD, Kuehni CE. Breastfeeding and childhood asthma: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2014) 179:1153–67. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu072
- Victora CG BR, Barros AJ, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet* (2016) 387:475–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7
- Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:38–53. doi: 10.1111/apa.13132
- Munblit D, Verhasselt V. Allergy prevention by breastfeeding: possible mechanisms and evidence from human cohorts. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 16:427–33. doi: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000303
- Renz H, Adkins BD, Bartfeld S, Blumberg RS, Farber DL, Garssen J, et al. The neonatal window of opportunity-early priming for life. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1212–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.11.019
- Cahenzli J, Koller Y, Wyss M, Geuking MB, McCoy KD. Intestinal microbial diversity during early-life colonization shapes long-term IgE levels. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 14:559–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.10.004
- Olszak T, An D, Zeissig S, Vera MP, Richter J, Franke A, et al. Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. *Science* (2012) 336:489–93. doi: 10.1126/science.1219328
- Russell SL, Gold MJ, Hartmann M, Willing BP, Thorson L, Wlodarska M, et al. Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. *EMBO Rep.* (2012) 13:440–7. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.32
- Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Dimitriu PA, Thorson L, Russell S, Yurist-Doutsch S, et al. Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:307ra152. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aab2271
- Bisgaard H, Li N, Bonnelykke K, Chawes BL, Skov T, Paludan-Muller G, et al. Reduced diversity of the intestinal microbiota during infancy is associated with increased risk of allergic disease at school age. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2011) 128:646–52 e1-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.04.060
- Johansson MA, Sjogren YM, Persson JO, Nilsson C, Sverremark-Ekstrom E. Early colonization with a group of Lactobacilli decreases the risk for allergy at five years of age despite allergic heredity. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e23031. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023031
- Azad MB, Konya T, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Sears MR, HayGlass KT, et al. Infant gut microbiota and food sensitization: associations in the first year of life. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2015) 45:632–43. doi: 10.1111/cea.12487
- Le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin J, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, et al. Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. *Nature* (2013) 500:541–6. doi: 10.1038/nature12506
- 22. Backhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 17:852. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.05.012
- Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature* (2011) 473:174–80. doi: 10.1038/nature09944
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* (2010) 464:59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature08821
- Rooks MG, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:341–52. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.42
- Charbonneau MR, O'Donnell D, Blanton LV, Totten SM, Davis JC, Barratt MJ, et al. Sialylated milk oligosaccharides promote microbiotadependent growth in models of infant undernutrition. *Cell* (2016) 164:859–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.024
- Berni Canani R, Sangwan N, Stefka AT, Nocerino R, Paparo L, Aitoro R, et al. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG-supplemented formula expands butyrateproducing bacterial strains in food allergic infants. *ISME J.* (2016) 10:742–50. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2015.151
- Ling Z, Li Z, Liu X, Cheng Y, Luo Y, Tong X, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition associated with food allergy in infants. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80:2546–54. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00003-14
- Stiemsma LT, Arrieta MC, Dimitriu PA, Cheng J, Thorson L, Lefebvre DL, et al. Shifts in Lachnospira and Clostridium sp. in the 3-month stool microbiome are associated with preschool age asthma. *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130:2199–207. doi: 10.1042/CS20160349

- Arrieta MC, Arevalo A, Stiemsma L, Dimitriu P, Chico ME, Loor S, et al. Associations between infant fungal and bacterial dysbiosis and childhood atopic wheeze in a nonindustrialized setting. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 142:424–34 e10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.041
- Fujimura KE, Sitarik AR, Havstad S, Lin DL, Levan S, Fadrosh D, et al. Neonatal gut microbiota associates with childhood multisensitized atopy and T cell differentiation. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:1187–91. doi: 10.1038/nm.4176
- Vatanen T, Kostic AD, d'Hennezel E, Siljander H, Franzosa EA, Yassour M, et al. Variation in microbiome LPS immunogenicity contributes to autoimmunity in humans. *Cell* (2016) 165:1551. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.056
- Bjorksten B, Sepp E, Julge K, Voor T, Mikelsaar M. Allergy development and the intestinal microflora during the first year of life. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2001) 108:516–20. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.118130
- 34. Kalliomaki M, Kirjavainen P, Eerola E, Kero P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Distinct patterns of neonatal gut microflora in infants in whom atopy was and was not developing. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2001) 107:129–34. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.111237
- Penders J, Thijs C, van den Brandt PA, Kummeling I, Snijders B, Stelma F, et al. Gut microbiota composition and development of atopic manifestations in infancy: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. *Gut* (2007) 56:661–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.100164
- Penders J, Thijs C, Vink C, Stelma FF, Snijders B, Kummeling I, et al. Factors influencing the composition of the intestinal microbiota in early infancy. *Pediatrics* (2006) 118:511–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2824
- Kirjavainen PV, Arvola T, Salminen SJ, Isolauri E. Aberrant composition of gut microbiota of allergic infants: a target of bifidobacterial therapy at weaning? *Gut* (2002) 51:51–5. doi: 10.1136/gut.51.1.51
- Lodinova-Zadnikova R, Cukrowska B, Tlaskalova-Hogenova H. Oral administration of probiotic Escherichia coli after birth reduces frequency of allergies and repeated infections later in life (after 10 and 20 years). *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2003) 131:209–11. doi: 10.1159/000071488
- Stokholm J, Blaser MJ, Thorsen J, Rasmussen MA, Waage J, Vinding RK, et al. Maturation of the gut microbiome and risk of asthma in childhood. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:141. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02573-2
- Pabst O, Mowat AM. Oral tolerance to food protein. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2012) 5:232–9. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.4
- Secher T, Payros D, Brehin C, Boury M, Watrin C, Gillet M, et al. Oral tolerance failure upon neonatal gut colonization with *Escherichia coli* producing the genotoxin colibactin. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:2420–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00064-15
- 42. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, Suda W, Nagano Y, Nishikawa H, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. *Nature* (2013) 500:232–6. doi: 10.1038/nature12331
- An D, Oh SF, Olszak T, Neves JF, Avci FY, Erturk-Hasdemir D, et al. Sphingolipids from a symbiotic microbe regulate homeostasis of host intestinal natural killer T cells. *Cell* (2014) 156:123–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.042
- 44. Stefka AT, Feehley T, Tripathi P, Qiu J, McCoy K, Mazmanian SK, et al. Commensal bacteria protect against food allergen sensitization. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:13145–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412008111
- Van der Leek AP, Yanishevsky Y, Kozyrskyj AL. The kynurenine pathway as a novel link between allergy and the gut microbiome. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1374. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01374
- Agus A, Planchais J, Sokol H. Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. *Cell Host Microbe* (2018) 23:716–24. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.05.003
- Gao J, Xu K, Liu H, Liu G, Bai M, Peng C, et al. Impact of the gut microbiota on intestinal immunity mediated by tryptophan metabolism. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2018) 8:13. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00013
- Coats SR, Pham TT, Bainbridge BW, Reife RA, Darveau RP. MD-2 mediates the ability of tetra-acylated and penta-acylated lipopolysaccharides to antagonize *Escherichia coli* lipopolysaccharide at the TLR4 signaling complex. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:4490–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175. 7.4490
- Feehley T, Belda-Ferre P, Nagler CR. What's LPS got to do with it? a role for gut LPS variants in driving autoimmune and allergic disease. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19:572–4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.025

- Denou E, Lolmede K, Garidou L, Pomie C, Chabo C, Lau TC, et al. Defective NOD2 peptidoglycan sensing promotes diet-induced inflammation, dysbiosis, and insulin resistance. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2015) 7:259–74. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201404169
- Amar J, Chabo C, Waget A, Klopp P, Vachoux C, Bermudez-Humaran LG, et al. Intestinal mucosal adherence and translocation of commensal bacteria at the early onset of type 2 diabetes: molecular mechanisms and probiotic treatment. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2011) 3:559–72. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201100159
- Plunkett CH, Nagler CR. The influence of the microbiome on allergic sensitization to food. J Immunol. (2017) 198:581–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601266
- Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, et al. Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. *Science* (2012) 336:1262–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1223813
- Amenyogbe N, Kollmann TR, Ben-Othman R. Early-life host-microbiome interphase: the key frontier for immune development. *Front Pediatr.* (2017) 5:111. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00111
- Baars A, Oosting A, Knol J, Garssen J, van Bergenhenegouwen J. The gut microbiota as a therapeutic target in IBD and metabolic disease: a role for the bile acid receptors FXR and TGR5. *Microorganisms* (2015) 3:641–66. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms3040641
- 56. Bridgman SL, Azad MB, Field CJ, Haqq AM, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Fecal short-chain fatty acid variations by breastfeeding status in infants at 4 months: differences in relative versus absolute concentrations. *Front Nutr.* (2017) 4:11. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2017.00011
- 57. Iraporda C, Errea A, Romanin DE, Cayet D, Pereyra E, Pignataro O, et al. Lactate and short chain fatty acids produced by microbial fermentation downregulate proinflammatory responses in intestinal epithelial cells and myeloid cells. *Immunobiology* (2015) 220:1161–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2015.06.004
- van den Elsen LW, Poyntz HC, Weyrich LS, Young W, Forbes-Blom EE. Embracing the gut microbiota: the new frontier for inflammatory and infectious diseases. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2017) 6:e125. doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.91
- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngom-Bru C, et al. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nature medicine* (2014) 20:159–66. doi: 10.1038/nm.3444
- Thio CL, Chi PY, Lai AC, Chang YJ. Regulation of type 2 innate lymphoid celldependent airway hyperreactivity by butyrate. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 142:1867–83.e12 doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.032
- Collado MC, Rautava S, Aakko J, Isolauri E, Salminen S. Human gut colonisation may be initiated in utero by distinct microbial communities in the placenta and amniotic fluid. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:23129. doi: 10.1038/srep23129
- Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. *Nature* (2018) 562:583–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0617-x
- Le Huerou-Luron I, Blat S, Boudry G. Breast- v. formula-feeding: impacts on the digestive tract and immediate and long-term health effects. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2010) 23:23–36. doi: 10.1017/S0954422410000065
- Rautava S. Early microbial contact, the breast milk microbiome and child health. J Dev Orig Health Dis. (2016) 7:5–14. doi: 10.1017/S2040174415001233
- 65. Forbes JD, Azad MB, Vehling L, Tun HM, Konya TB, Guttman DS, et al. Association of exposure to formula in the hospital and subsequent infant feeding practices with gut microbiota and risk of overweight in the first year of life. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:e181161. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1161
- 66. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14691–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005963107
- Fernandez L, Langa S, Martin V, Maldonado A, Jimenez E, Martin R, et al. The human milk microbiota: origin and potential roles in health and disease. *Pharmacol Res.* (2013) 69:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2012. 09.001
- Murphy K, Curley D, O'Callaghan TF, O'Shea CA, Dempsey EM, O'Toole PW, et al. The composition of human milk and infant faecal microbiota

over the first three months of life: a pilot study. Sci Rep. (2017) 7:40597. doi: 10.1038/srep40597

- Cabrera-Rubio R, Collado MC, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri E, Mira A. The human milk microbiome changes over lactation and is shaped by maternal weight and mode of delivery. *Am J Clin. Nutr.* (2012) 96:544–51. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.037382
- Ramsay DT, Kent JC, Owens RA, Hartmann PE. Ultrasound imaging of milk ejection in the breast of lactating women. *Pediatrics* (2004) 113:361–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.113.2.361
- Roberfroid M. Prebiotics: the concept revisited. J Nutr. (2007) 137(3 Suppl. 2):830S-7S. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.3.830S
- Bode L. The functional biology of human milk oligosaccharides. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:619–22. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.09.001
- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology* (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074
- Zivkovic AM, German JB, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA. Human milk glycobiome and its impact on the infant gastrointestinal microbiota. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108 (Suppl, 1):4653–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000083107
- Ayechu-Muruzabal V, van Stigt AH, Mank M, Willemsen LEM, Stahl B, Garssen J, et al. Diversity of human milk oligosaccharides and effects on early life immune development. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:239. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00239
- Seppo AE, Autran CA, Bode L, Jarvinen KM. Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:708–11 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.031
- Miliku K, Robertson B, Sharma AK, Subbarao P, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide profiles and food sensitization among infants in the CHILD Study. *Allergy* (2018) 73:2070–3 doi: 10.1111/all.13476
- Pacheco AR, Barile D, Underwood MA, Mills DA. The impact of the milk glycobiome on the neonate gut microbiota. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci.* (2015) 3:419–45. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-111112
- Demmelmair H, Prell C, Timby N, Lonnerdal B. Benefits of lactoferrin, osteopontin and milk fat globule membranes for infants. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:E817. doi: 10.3390/nu9080817
- Kaetzel CS. Cooperativity among secretory IgA, the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor, and the gut microbiota promotes hostmicrobial mutualism. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 162(2 Pt. A):10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.05.008
- Brandtzaeg P. Mucosal immunity: integration between mother and the breastfed infant. *Vaccine* (2003) 21:3382–8. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00338-4
- Rogier EW, Frantz AL, Bruno ME, Wedlund L, Cohen DA, Stromberg AJ, et al. Secretory antibodies in breast milk promote long-term intestinal homeostasis by regulating the gut microbiota and host gene expression. *Proc Nat Acad Sci* USA. (2014) 111:3074–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1315792111
- Jiang HQ, Bos NA, Cebra JJ. Timing, localization, and persistence of colonization by segmented filamentous bacteria in the neonatal mouse gut depend on immune status of mothers and pups. *Infect Immun.* (2001) 69:3611–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.6.3611-3617.2001
- Dzidic M, Abrahamsson TR, Artacho A, Bjorksten B, Collado MC, Mira A, et al. Aberrant IgA responses to the gut microbiota during infancy precede asthma and allergy development. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 139:1017–25 e14. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.047
- Nakajima A, Vogelzang A, Maruya M, Miyajima M, Murata M, Son A, et al. IgA regulates the composition and metabolic function of gut microbiota by promoting symbiosis between bacteria. *J Exp Med.* (2018) 215:2019–34. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180427
- Mastromarino P, Capobianco D, Campagna G, Laforgia N, Drimaco P, Dileone A, et al. Correlation between lactoferrin and beneficial microbiota in breast milk and infant's feces. *Biometals* (2014) 27:1077–86. doi: 10.1007/s10534-014-9762-3
- Pirr S, Richter M, Fehlhaber B, Pagel J, Hartel C, Roth J, et al. High amounts of S100-alarmins confer antimicrobial activity on human breast milk targeting pathogens relevant in neonatal sepsis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1822. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01822
- Trend S, Strunk T, Hibbert J, Kok CH, Zhang G, Doherty DA, et al. Antimicrobial protein and Peptide concentrations and activity in human breast milk consumed by preterm infants at risk of late-onset neonatal sepsis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0117038. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117038

- Walker WA, Iyengar RS. Breast milk, microbiota, and intestinal immune homeostasis. *Pediatr Res.* (2015) 77:220–8. doi: 10.1038/pr.2014.160
- Gomez-Gallego C, Morales JM, Monleon D, du Toit E, Kumar H, Linderborg KM, et al. Human breast milk NMR metabolomic profile across specific geographical locations and its association with the milk microbiota. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:E1355. doi: 10.3390/nu10101355
- Gomez de Aguero M, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, Rupp S, Uchimura Y, Li H, et al. The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. *Science* (2016) 351:1296–302. doi: 10.1126/science.aad2571
- 92. Korecka A, Dona A, Lahiri S, Tett AJ, Al-Asmakh M, Braniste V, et al. Bidirectional communication between the Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and the microbiome tunes host metabolism. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes (2016) 2:16014. doi: 10.1038/npjbiofilms.2016.14
- Labeta MO, Vidal K, Nores JE, Arias M, Vita N, Morgan BP, et al. Innate recognition of bacteria in human milk is mediated by a milk-derived highly expressed pattern recognition receptor, soluble CD14. J Exp Med. (2000) 191:1807–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.10.1807
- LeBouder E, Rey-Nores JE, Rushmere NK, Grigorov M, Lawn SD, Affolter M, et al. Soluble forms of Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 capable of modulating TLR2 signaling are present in human plasma and breast milk. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:6680–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.12.6680
- LeBouder E, Rey-Nores JE, Raby AC, Affolter M, Vidal K, Thornton CA, et al. Modulation of neonatal microbial recognition: TLR-mediated innate immune responses are specifically and differentially modulated by human milk. J Immunol. (2006) 176:3742–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3742
- Ojeda P, Bobe A, Dolan K, Leone V, Martinez K. Nutritional modulation of gut microbiota - the impact on metabolic disease pathophysiology. J Nutr Biochem. (2016) 28:191–200. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.08.013

- Jiang T, Liu B, Li J, Dong X, Lin M, Zhang M, et al. Association between sn-2 fatty acid profiles of breast milk and development of the infant intestinal microbiome. *Food Funct.* (2018) 9:1028–37. doi: 10.1039/C7FO0 0088J
- Wickens K, Barthow C, Mitchell EA, Stanley TV, Purdie G, Rowden J, et al. Maternal supplementation alone with Lactobacillus rhamnosus HN001 during pregnancy and breastfeeding does not reduce infant eczema. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 29:296–302. doi: 10.1111/pai. 12874
- 99. Jimenez E, Fernandez L, Maldonado A, Martin R, Olivares M, Xaus J, et al. Oral administration of Lactobacillus strains isolated from breast milk as an alternative for the treatment of infectious mastitis during lactation. *Appl Environ. Microbiol.* (2008) 74:4650–5. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02599-07

Conflict of Interest Statement: JG is employed by Danone, a company producing products for infant nutrition.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 van den Elsen, Garssen, Burcelin and Verhasselt. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Breast Milk Cytokines and Early Growth in Gambian Infants

Anja Saso^{1,2}, Oleg Blyuss^{3,4,5}, Daniel Munblit^{1,6,7}, Amadou Faal², Sophie E. Moore^{2,8*†} and Kirsty Le Doare^{9,10,11†}

¹ Department of Paediatrics, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ² MRC Unit The Gambia at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Banjul, Gambia, ³ Centre for Cancer Prevention, Wolfson Institute of Preventative Medicine, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Women's Cancer, Institute for Women's Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁵ N. I. Lobachevsky State University of Nizhny Novgorod, Nizhny Novgorod, Russia, ⁶ Solov'ev Research and Clinical Center for Neuropsychiatry, Moscow, Russia, ⁷ Department of Paediatrics, Sechenov University, Moscow, Russia, ⁸ Department of Women and Children's Health, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁹ Centre for International Child Health, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ¹⁰ West Africa Global Health Alliance, Banjul, Gambia, ¹¹ Paediatric Infectious Diseases Research Group, St George's University of London, London, United Kingdom

Background: Breast milk provides nutrition for infants but also delivers other bioactive factors that have key protective and developmental benefits. In particular, cytokines are thought to play a role in immunomodulation, although little is known about their impact on health outcomes in early life.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jutte Van Der Werff Ten Bosch, University Hospital Brussels, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Yuying Liu, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Beatriz Elena Marciano, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

> *Correspondence: Sophie E. Moore sophie.moore@kcl.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 02 May 2018 Accepted: 12 December 2018 Published: 17 January 2019

Citation:

Saso A, Blyuss O, Munblit D, Faal A, Moore SE and Le Doare K (2019) Breast Milk Cytokines and Early Growth in Gambian Infants. Front. Pediatr. 6:414. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00414 **Objective:** The purpose of this pilot study was to evaluate the relationship between cytokines in breast milk and infant growth outcomes in a low-income setting.

Methods: 100 mother-infant pairs were followed up to 2–3 months postpartum as part of a prospective longitudinal cohort study in urban Gambia, West Africa. The concentrations of 9 pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IFN- γ , TNF α), IGF-1 and TGF β 2 were measured in colostrum within 12 h of birth and in breast milk at the final visit, scheduled between day 60 and 89 postpartum. Infant weight was recorded and converted to weight-for-age *Z*-scores (WAZ) at the same time points. Growth outcomes were defined in our study as (a) change in WAZ between birth and final visit (b) WAZ at final visit. Linear regression analysis was used to determine the ability of colostrum and breast milk cytokine concentrations to predict growth outcomes up to 2–3 months postpartum.

Results: Gambian infants demonstrated growth faltering across the first 2–3 months postpartum. There was no significant relationship between cytokines in colostrum and subsequent change in WAZ between birth and the final visit, in either unadjusted or adjusted models. However, cytokines in mature breast milk, TNF α , IFN γ , IL1 β , IL2, IL4, and IL6, were weak negative predictors of WAZ scores at the final visit, in unadjusted models (p < 0.05). When adjusted for maternal anemia (as a proxy for maternal nutrition), TNF α and IL6 remained significant predictors (p < 0.05).

Conclusions: Variations in breast milk cytokine levels do not play a substantial role in the growth faltering observed across early infancy. The potential contribution of other factors, such as micronutrients, hormones or human milk oligosaccharides, must be elucidated. Cytokine levels in mature breast milk were weakly predictive of poor infant growth, possibly reflecting a "read-out" of suboptimal maternal health and nutrition.

Keywords: breast milk, colostrum, cytokine, growth, weight, infant, neonate, immunity

17

INTRODUCTION

Human breast milk (BM) provides nourishment for infants but also delivers a range of non-nutritive bioactive factors that have key protective and developmental benefits, including actively shaping and priming the infant immune system (1–6). It is increasingly recognized that the complex effects of colostrum and BM on the diverse nature and function of the infant microbiome are key to coordinating these roles (7–10). Moreover, biologically active substances influence the infant's response to energy intake and metabolism (3, 11–13). BM composition, however, is very diverse, dynamic, varying between women and over the course of lactation, and sensitive to both maternal and environmental factors (14–16). The exact nature of these variations, their impact on infant morbidity and growth outcomes and the exploitative potential for future interventions has yet to be fully elucidated (10, 17–22).

Cytokines and growth factors have been identified as important bioactive components within BM and are found in differing concentrations (23, 24). It is hypothesized that the mammary gland is the principal source of these compounds in milk (6, 25). In addition, leukocytes isolated from expressed human milk have demonstrated the ability to secrete a small number of cytokines (26). Once ingested, milk-derived cytokines and growth factors pass through the infant's gastrointestinal tract, resisting proteolysis and retaining their bioactivity. They subsequently interact with specific gut epithelial receptors, enabling them to be absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and thereby enter the infant circulation (12, 18, 19, 27).

Cytokines, particularly in colostrum, are thought to play a key role in immunomodulation, including promoting sIgA production, mediating infant immune responses, for example through B cell growth and differentiation, and boosting development of intestinal tolerance (4, 5, 12, 28, 29). However, the impact of these immune factors on early infant growth and body composition is less well-documented.

Growth faltering in sub-Saharan Africa, including The Gambia, has been well-established previously (30) and poor growth in infancy and early childhood has adverse consequences for child mortality, and on subsequent adult stature and health outcomes (31, 32). At the same time, the rate of breast feeding is high in these low-income populations and is the only sustainable feeding option for many. Despite intensive efforts aimed at achieving optimal nourishment for mother and child, substantial infant growth faltering remains, suggesting the potential importance of other non-nutritive factors (30, 33). A more thorough understanding of how natural variation in BM bioactive components influences infant development and may exacerbate or protect against growth failure would help guide the development of preventative and therapeutic strategies, particularly in low-income settings (21, 31).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between the cytokine and growth factor profile in human BM and infant growth outcomes in the first 3 months post-partum in The Gambia, a low-income country in West Africa.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Setting, Population, and Ethics

Samples for this project were made available as part of a larger prospective longitudinal cohort study on Group B Streptococcus infection, conducted between 1st January and 31st December 2014, in an urban area of The Gambia, West Africa (34). The Gambia is a low-income country with an estimated 79,000 births annually and an infant mortality rate of 42/1,000 (2016) (35). Moreover, 47% of infants are exclusively breastfed under 6 months and 98% breastfed (mixed and exclusive) beyond the first year of life (2013) (35). The cohort in this sub-project consisted of 100 consecutive pregnant women and their infants followed up across the first 2-3 months postpartum in two government health centers offering antenatal care to women. These centers were considered representative samples of the standard of care available to Gambian women in urban settings, with a combined birth rate of $\sim 12,500$ births annually(34). Women between the ages of 18-40 years who had a negative HIV test and low-risk, singleton pregnancy (no evidence of pre-eclampsia, cardiomyopathy, maternal gestational diabetes, placenta praevia, twin pregnancy) were recruited in the final trimester of pregnancy after giving informed consent. They were excluded if they did not plan to breastfeed or remain in the nearby area for the first 3 months postpartum. Infant exclusion criteria included marked prematurity (<32 weeks gestation), low birth weight (<2.5 kg), congenital abnormalities or requiring resuscitation at the time of delivery with subsequent transfer to a neonatal unit. Further demographic and recruitment details, including eligibility, inclusion and exclusion criteria and consent protocol, are summarized in Figure 1 and have previously been published (34). The study was approved by the joint Gambian Government/Medical Research Council Research Ethics Committee, SCC 1350 V4.

Data Collection

Following birth, participants were monitored daily at home until day 6 and then asked to return to the clinic for a final visit which was scheduled between day 60 and 89 postpartum. Details were documented via standardized questionnaires and included maternal factors (age, ethnic origin, gravida, parity, weight, blood pressure, hemoglobin concentration, illnesses in pregnancy, use of antibiotics/medications/ traditional medicines/antimalarial prophylaxis) and infant factors (anthropometry, sex, morbidity, vaccinations, vital signs, feeding). Full details on data collection have been described previously (34). Anthropometric measures were performed by trained field nurses at birth and at the final visit; infant weight was measured using electronic baby scales (model 336; Seca, UK), to the nearest 0.01 kg. Weight-for-age Z score (WAZ) was calculated based on the WHO growth standards (36).

Abbreviations: IL, Interleukin; IGF, Insulin-like growth factor; EGF, Epidermal growth factor; TGF, Transforming growth factor; HMO, Human milk oligosaccharide; Hb, Hemoglobin; BM, Breast milk; WAZ, Weight-for-age Z score; SD, Standard deviation; CI, Confidence interval.



Colostrum and Breast Milk Sample Collection

Colostrum was collected within 12 h of birth and mature BM was collected at the final visit. After washing their hands with soap, mothers wiped each breast with a 0.02% chlorhexidine wipe and then hand-expressed their milk prior to feeding their infant; the first 0.5 mls was discarded and then 2–3 mL of colostrum and 4–5 mL of BM was collected from both breasts into sterile plastic containers. Milk samples were immediately stored on cold packs at 4°C and transported to the laboratory within 6 h of collection (37, 38).

Laboratory Procedures

BM samples were centrifuged at 3,200 rpm for 30 min to separate whey and lipid layers. The lipid layer was removed with a scalpel and stored separately. The whey layer was stored in 1 mL aliquots and frozen at -70° C. It was transferred to 5 mm NMR capillary tubes for analysis (37, 38).

Cytokine Quantification

Assays were run in duplicate and concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IFN- γ , TNF α , IGF-1, and TGF β 2 in colostrum and BM were determined by electroluminescence using kits from Meso-Scale Discovery Multi-Spot Kit (MSD, Rockville, MD, United States). Laboratory experiments were run according to manufacturer's protocol, using an eight-point standard curve. Samples below the lower limit of detection were allocated a concentration for each cytokine of half the lower limit of detection to aid the statistical analysis and as per manufacturer's instructions (**Supplementary Table 1**). The coefficient of variance (CoV) for the assay was 25% (37, 38).

Growth Outcomes

Growth outcomes were defined in our study as (a) change in WAZ between birth and final visit b) WAZ at final visit. Children with Z scores below -2 were defined as underweight (WAZ ≤ -2) (36).

Statistical Analysis

The sample size was based on a sample of convenience for a pilot study of 100 mother-infant pairs as there are no published studies of expected cytokine values in milk and their association with growth outcomes on which to base our calculations. Descriptive statistics were calculated for maternal and infant demographics, infant growth parameters and cytokines in colostrum and mature BM. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess the normality of the distribution of cytokines. Because all measurements deviated significantly from normality, non-parametric tests were used in further analysis. Potential differences and associations between cytokines in colostrum and mature BM were calculated using Wilcoxon rank-sum and Spearman rank correlation tests, respectively. Differences in WAZ scores between male and female infants were calculated using Wilcoxon rank sum tests. All other univariate analysis was performed using simple linear regression on log transformed data. Multivariate linear regression (including stepwise regression) analysis was then used to determine the ability of cytokine concentrations to predict longitudinal growth outcomes in the first 2–3 months postpartum by analyzing the association between (i) colostrum cytokines and change in WAZ between birth and final visit (ii) BM cytokines and WAZ at final visit. Potential maternal and infant confounders found to be significant in variable univariate analysis with a p < 0.1 or known to be associated with infant growth (*a priori*) were included in the multivariate models. Maternal hemoglobin (Hb) was categorized as either Hb <11 g/dL (anemia) or Hb \geq 11 g/dL (39). Maternal illness was categorized as either having none or \geq 1 self-reported acutely unwell episodes recorded during pregnancy, regardless of severity or outcome. Maternal gravida was categorized as either nil or \geq 1 previous pregnancies, regardless of outcome. Maternal parity was defined as either nil or \geq 1 previous pregnancies carried to a viable gestational age.

All statistical analyses were completed using the statistical packages STATA version 12 (StataCorp 2013, California CA, United States), GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Softward Inc., La Jolla, CA, United States) and R package version 3.4.1. Differences were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Maternal and Infant Characteristics

A total of 100 mother-infant pairs were included in the analysis. The mean \pm 1 SD maternal age was 25.6 \pm 5.7 years and mean \pm 1 SD maternal weight at delivery was 63.4 \pm 9.8 kg. The infants were born at mean gestational age of 39 weeks and followed up to a mean \pm 1 SD of 61.6 \pm 1.3 days postpartum; although scheduling allowed for final visits to occur up to 90 days postpartum, all final visits in this cohort took place between 60 and 66 days postpartum. All infants were exclusively breast fed throughout the duration of the study. Demographic characteristics of mother-infant pairs are summarized in **Table 1**.

Infants were born with a mean weight ± 1 SD of 3.36 \pm 0.48 kg and WAZ ± 1 SD of 0.10 \pm 0.99 (**Table 2A**). However, substantial growth faltering was seen across the first 2–3 months postpartum, equivalent to crossing over one major centile band (**Figure 2**). Of the 94/100 infants remaining in the study at the final visit, infants' WAZ had declined to a mean ± 1 SD of -0.59 ± 1.20 ; 71% of infants demonstrated a decline in their WAZ and 15% were underweight by 2–3 months postpartum (WAZ<-2) (**Tables 2A,B**). The difference between male and female infant WAZ scores was non-significant at birth (p = 0.505) and final visit (p = 0.791). Similarly, the odds ratio of being underweight and having a decline in WAZ by 2–3 months postpartum did not differ significantly between the sexes: for male infants, the odds ratio was 1.4 (CI 0.45–4.41, p = 0.56) and 1.69 (CI 0.68–4.1775, p = 0.25), respectively.

Cytokines in Colostrum and Breast Milk

83 samples of colostrum (from 100 women) and 90 samples of mature breast milk (from 94 women) were successfully collected. In the remaining cases, insufficient sample was available, either because the mother was unable to express milk, or due to insufficient sample remaining after the primary analysis was complete. Colostrum at birth contained significantly

TABLE 1 | Description of study population.

Variable	Value
Maternal age, years (mean \pm SD)	25.6 ± 5.7
Maternal weight, kg (mean \pm SD)	63.4 ± 9.8
Gestational age at birth, weeks (mean \pm SD)	39.0 ± 2.5
Length of post-partum follow-up, days (mean \pm SD)	61.6 ± 1.3
MATERNAL Hb CATEGORIES, n (%)	
$Hb \ge 11g/dL$	33 (40)
Hb < 11g/dL	49 (60)
MATERNAL ILLNESS CATEGORIES, n (%)	
Illness during pregnancy	16 (18)
No illness during pregnancy	73 (82)
PARITY CATEGORIES, n (%)	
Primiparous	21 (21)
Multiparous	79 (79)
GESTATIONAL AGE CATEGORIES, n (%)	
≥37 weeks	76 (76)
< 37 weeks	24 (24)
INFANT SEX, n (%)	
Male	50 (50)
Female	50 (50)

Values are rounded to 1 decimal place.

Missing values: maternal weight =12, maternal Hb = 18, maternal illness = 11.

SD, standard deviation; Hb, hemoglobin.

higher concentrations of nearly all cytokines than BM (p < 0.001) (**Supplementary Table 2**). Furthermore, the percentage of samples with detectable concentrations was significantly greater for the majority of cytokines in colostrum when compared to BM (p < 0.05), with the exception of TNF α , IGF1, TGF β 2, and IL6 (the latter was almost significant, p = 0.06). Of note, the levels of IGF1 in colostrum and BM were below the assay limit of detection in >75% of subjects and, therefore, this data has been removed from further analysis (**Supplementary Table 2**). There were minimal significant associations between the levels of cytokines in colostrum and in mature milk, with only a weak positive correlation found with IL12 (r = 0.257, p = 0.023) (**Supplementary Table 3**).

Associations Between Maternal/Infant Factors and Infant Growth Outcomes

Only maternal illness and infant gestational age at delivery were found to be significant or near significant predictors of change in WAZ between birth and final visit, in univariate analysis (p < 0.05) (**Table 3**). There were no significant maternal or infant predictors of WAZ at final visit.

Associations Between Cytokines and Infant Growth Outcomes

The association between colostrum cytokines and change in WAZ between birth and final visit was non-significant in both the unadjusted and adjusted models in this Gambian cohort.

Moreover, unadjusted models demonstrated that lower TNF α , IFN- γ , IL1 β , IL2, IL4, and IL6 levels in BM were weakly associated with a higher WAZ at final visit (p < 0.05).

TABLE 2 | Summary of infant growth data at birth and final visit.

(A) INFANT WEIGHT AND WAZ SCORES						
Infant growth indicator, mean \pm SD	Birth	Final visit				
Weight (kg)						
Male	3.45 ± 0.43	5.24 ± 0.68				
Female	3.27 ± 0.42	4.84 ± 0.74				
All	3.36 ± 0.48	5.04 ± 0.74				
WAZ score						
Male	0.18 ± 0.85	-0.57 ± 1.05				
Female	0.02 ± 1.12	-0.61 ± 1.34				
All	0.10 ± 0.99	-0.59 ± 1.20				
(B) INFANT WAZ CATEGORIES						
WAZ categories, n (%)	Birth	Final visit				
<u>≤</u> –3						
Boys	0	O (O)				
Girls	0	3 (100)				
All	0	3				
$-3 < WAZ \le -2$						
-3 < WAZ ≤ -2 Boys	0	8 (72)				
-	0 0	8 (72) 3 (27)				
Boys	-	. ,				

All 97 80 All values are rounded to 2 decimal places; WAZ, Weight-for-age Z score; SD, standard deviation.

49 (51)

48 (49)

39 (49)

41 (51)

Although significant, the β -coefficients were small. When these models were adjusted for maternal anemia, only TNF α and IL6 remained significant predictors of WAZ at final visit (p < 0.05) (**Table 4**). Other multivariate models were nonsignificant.

DISCUSSION

Boys

Girls

In many sub-Saharan African countries, infants are small at birth, show catch-up growth initially, but then rapidly demonstrate reduced growth velocity, leading to substantial growth faltering that becomes maximal by their second year of life (30, 33). Our findings show a similar pattern with clear growth faltering across the first 2–3 months postpartum. Identifying the factors that contribute to this pattern of growth—despite optimal feeding practices—is important, as developing interventions to optimize BM bioactive components could reduce the risk of poor growth and morbidity in early infancy, particularly in low-income settings (10, 13, 30, 31, 40). Using data from a cohort of mother infant pairs from urban Gambia, we have shown that variations in BM cytokine levels do not play a substantial role in the growth faltering observed across early infancy.

To date, there has been a paucity of studies in the literature reporting on cytokines and growth factors in BM and their role in



TABLE 3 | Relationship between maternal/infant factors and difference in WAZ at birth and final visit.

Maternal/infant factor	β	p-value
Maternal illness	0.646	0.064
Gestation	0.095	0.077
Maternal age	0.018	0.423
Maternal weight	0.003	0.840
Maternal Hb	-0.200	0.449
Gravida	0.082	0.276
Parity	0.085	0.273
Infant sex	-0.388	0.140

All values are rounded to 3 decimal places.

Linear regression β coefficients for maternal/infant factors predicting difference in WAZ at birth and final visit.

WAZ, Weight-for-age Z score; Hb, hemoglobin.

growth and development in the early postnatal period. Previous studies have primarily focussed on weight gain, exploring the relationship between BM factors, particularly hormones, and infant adiposity and risk of obesity (13, 41–47). To our knowledge, we are the first to examine the relationship between BM cytokine profile and longitudinal growth outcomes, specifically WAZ, in the context of early growth faltering in a low-income setting.

The protective effects of bioactive factors in BM on infant health and developmental outcomes are thought to be mediated by immunomodulatory processes. More specifically, cytokines may play a role in enhancing sIgA production by neonatal leucocytes (e.g., $TNF\alpha$, $TGF\beta2$, IL6, IL10) (26, 48); in promoting infant gut maturity and barrier function (e.g., EGF, IGF1, TGF β 2) (23, 28, 40, 49); in boosting resistance to pathogen colonization (38); and in dampening inflammatory responses (e.g., IL2, IL10, TGF β 2) (6, 29, 48, 49). However, the exact mechanisms underlying growth patterns remain speculative. One hypothesis, proposed in the context of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), is that milk composition may shift toward a more protective profile, associated with a lower risk of infection and inflammation, thereby enabling the infant to invest energy in growth (7, 9, 10).

A cross-sectional preliminary study by Fields et al. suggested that BM concentrations of cytokines (IL6, TNF-a) and hormones/growth factors (insulin, glucose and leptin) may differentially influence weight gain and the development of fat and lean body mass in infants in the early postpartum period. WHO indicators of infant growth (Z scores), however, were not calculated or applied in their analysis (47). By contrast, our study focussed on an important WHO indicator of growth, WAZ, in the context of growth faltering; in our Gambian cohort, there was a decline in WAZ in over two-thirds of infants with 15% becoming underweight by 2-3 months postpartum, despite no infant being underweight at birth. Moreover, there was no significant correlation between colostrum cytokine levels and change in WAZ across the first 2-3 months post-partum, both in the adjusted and unadjusted models. The interrelationship of other colostrum factors, such as micronutrients or other bioactive analytes, including HMOs and hormones (adiponectin, insulin, ghrelin and leptin), may play a bigger role in variable growth outcomes and is currently under investigation (9-11, 13, 41-47, 50).

On the other hand, our findings suggest that cytokines in mature BM may predict infant growth measured at that same

	Unadjusted analysis				Adjusted analysis*			
Breast milk cytokine	β	95% CI	R ²	p-value	β	95% CI	R ²	p-value
ILIβ	<-0.01	-0.003 to -0.001	0.10	< 0.01	<-0.01	-0.001 to 0.001	0.02	0.81
IL2	-0.01	-0.167 to -0.028	0.09	< 0.01	-0.02	-0.076 to 0.070	0.02	0.94
IL4	-0.48	-0.969 to 0.007	0.04	0.05	0.095	-0.401 to 0.592	0.02	0.70
IL6	<-0.01	-0.002 to 0.0003	0.09	< 0.01	<-0.01	-0.002 to 0.000	0.17	< 0.01
IL-10	-0.02	-0.058 to 0.013	0.02	0.21	0.01	-0.026 to 0.043	0.02	0.61
IL-12	-0.06	-0.188 to 0.065	0.01	0.34	0.02	-0.103 to 0.151	0.02	0.70
IL-13	-0.02	-0.066 to 0.019	0.01	0.28	0.02	-0.026 to 0.060	0.02	0.43
IFN-γ	-0.02	-0.025 to -0.005	0.09	< 0.01	<-0.01	-0.011 to 0.010	0.02	0.90
TNFα	<-0.01	-0.004 to -0.001	0.09	< 0.01	<-0.01	-0.004 to-0.001	0.17	< 0.01

Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression β coefficients for breast milk cytokines predicting WAZ at final visit (*adjusted for maternal anemia).

Cl, Confidence interval; WAZ, Weight-for-age Z score; IL, interleukin; IFN, interferon; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; IGF, insulin-like growth factor.

point in time. Higher levels of specific pro-inflammatory BM cytokines were negatively associated with WAZ at the final visit in our cohort, although the relationship was weak and clinical significance remains as yet unclear. The relationship between a pro-inflammatory environment and poor weight gain, both in the fetus and infant, has been previously described (46, 51-54). More specifically, the importance of TNF α and IL6 to early infant growth has already been suggested by Fields et al. (47). Higher concentrations of BM IL-6 were significantly associated with lower relative weight, weight gain, percent fat, and fat mass in healthy term infants at 1 month of age; higher TNF- α significantly correlated with lower lean mass but not measures of adiposity (47). A subsequent longitudinal study by the same group, however, could not replicate these findings, demonstrating only non-significant associations with infant body composition (46).

Cytokines in mature BM may impact infant growth through immunomodulation, as discussed earlier. Equally, these associations may represent context-specific correlations, rather than causation. For example, the cytokine profile in BM may reflect maternal health at this specific time point, including nutritional and disease status, which in turn may play a key role in growth outcomes. Further elucidation of factors that shape mature BM cytokine profile and understanding of underlying mechanistic or causational processes is therefore needed. This may have translational implications, such as the identification of maternal groups with high risk of underweight infants, and initiation of appropriate interventions subsequently.

Our study has several limitations. Firstly, it is a pilot exploration of outcomes in a small maternal-infant cohort within a limited time period. Given that (a) growth faltering is thought to start in the first few months of life, reaching its peak by 2 years of age in poorly-resourced settings and (b) cytokine profiles vary within and between mothers, it would be worth analyzing BM composition and growth outcomes in a larger cohort, at multiple time points and beyond 3 months postpartum. This would enable a more accurate WAZ trajectory to be plotted and the longerterm impact of BM cytokine differences to be fully appreciated. Of note, infants are thought to demonstrate a non-linear weight gain over this early post-partum period, and so weight at the final time point could either reflect a change in recent infant mass/weight or infant size more globally. Moreover, analysis of different types of BM and at various time points not evaluated in our study (e.g., foremilk vs. hindmilk; timing of sample collection in relation to feeding, lactational stage, or seasonal changes) may be valuable and has previously been shown to be important (4, 12, 15, 16, 55).

Furthermore, our focus was on one primary growth outcome: weight and associated WAZ scores. The latter is a wellestablished WHO growth indicator, especially at birth (when length measures may be difficult) and throughout the early postnatal period. Weight-for-length (WLZ) and length-for-age (LAZ) Z scores are equally important beyond the first year of life; stunting in early childhood has been shown to predict future risk of morbidity and mortality (32, 56) although is unlikely in the first 90 days post-partum. Similarly, head-circumference-for-age Z score (HAZ) is thought to be a good indicator of more chronic poor growth and undernutrition (57–59). Other potential growth outcomes to be measured include body composition factors (e.g., lean and fat mass, skinfold thickness), currently being explored particularly in BM hormone and obesity studies (11, 13, 41, 60).

In addition, our study eligibility criteria were strict, for example, infants born very prematurely or in poor condition requiring resuscitation (with subsequent transfer to neonatal intensive care) or women with high risk conditions in pregnancy were excluded. Future studies focussing on these high-risk groups may provide further insight into variables that regulate BM profile and, subsequently, boost or protect against growth faltering.

Finally, our study did not measure the contribution to early postpartum growth of other sources of immune factors, including the ante-and perinatal environment (cord blood, maternal nonmilk derived cytokines) and endogenous postnatal production (infant serum). In parallel, the interplay of other bioactive factors, such as hormones and human milk oligosaccharides, must be explored.

In conclusion, our findings suggest that the interactions of cytokines in both colostrum and BM do not play a substantial role in the early growth faltering observed in Gambian infants. Above all, this preliminary study is valuable as a strong foundation to direct further investigation into the impact of bioactive factors in BM on infant growth and development, a topic with limited studies to date. Improved understanding of the early postnatal determinants of growth may be important for developing successful interventions to boost growth and health outcomes, particularly in infants at highest risk or in poorly resourced settings.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All subjects gave informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Each participant signed an informed consent form or, in case of illiteracy, thumb-printed and the consent form was signed by an impartial witness. The study was approved by and carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the joint Gambian Government/Medical Research Council Research Ethics Committee, SCC1350V4.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS was responsible for manuscript writing and had input into the data analysis. DM, SM, and KL had input into the manuscript writing. AF was involved in laboratory analysis. OB was responsible for statistical analysis. KL was responsible for the original study design, data and

REFERENCES

- Labbok MH, Clark D, Goldman AS. Breastfeeding: maintaining an irreplaceable immunological resource. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2004) 4:565–72. doi: 10.1038/nri1393
- Field CJ. The immunological components of human milk and their effect on immune development in infants. J Nutr. (2005) 135:1–4. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.1.1
- Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* (2013) 60:49–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002
- Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: a review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:629–35. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.08.013
- Agarwal S, Karmaus W, Davis S, Gangur V. Review: immune markers in breast milk and fetal and maternal body fluids: a systematic review of perinatal concentrations. J Hum Lact. (2011) 27:171–86. doi: 10.1177/0890334410395761
- Palmeira P, Carneiro-Sampaio M. Immunology of breast milk. *Rev Assoc Med BrAs.* (2016) 62:584–93. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.62. 06.584
- Le Doare K, Holder B, Bassett A, Pannaraj PS. Mother's Milk: A purposeful contribution to the development of the infant microbiota and immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:361. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 00361
- Kirmiz N, Robinson RC, Shah IM, Barile D, Mills DA. Milk glycans and their interaction with the infant-gut microbiota. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol.* (2018) 9:429–50. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-030216-0 30207
- Charbonneau MR, O'Donnell D, Blanton LV, Totten SM, Davis JCC, Barratt MJ, et al. Sialylated milk oligosaccharides promote microbiotadependent growth in models of infant undernutrition. *Cell* (2016) 164:859–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.024

statistical analysis and original idea for manuscript. All authors had access to the data and input into the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Wellcome Trust Clinical Research fellowship to KL (WT2015) and the Thrasher Research Fund (BK 12250).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the study participants for their involvement in the project; the field staff at MRC unit the Gambia for their involvement in collecting samples; Professor Warner for donation of MSD plates. OB acknowledges support from Russia under grant number: 074-02-2018-330. AS acknowledges funding from the Wellcome Trust Institutional Strategic Support Fund Global Health Fellowship, award number 204834/Z/16/Z.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped. 2018.00414/full#supplementary-material

- Davis JCC, Lewis ZT, Krishnan S, Bernstein RM, Moore SE, Prentice AM, et al. Growth and morbidity of gambian infants are influenced by maternal milk oligosaccharides and infant gut microbiota. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:40466. doi: 10.1038/srep40466
- Badillo-Suárez PA, Rodríguez-Cruz M, Nieves-Morales X. Impact of metabolic hormones secreted in human breast milk on nutritional programming in childhood obesity. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. (2017) 22:171–91. doi: 10.1007/s10911-017-9382-y
- 12. Garofalo R. Cytokines in human milk. J Pediatr. (2010) 156:S36-40. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.11.019
- Fields DA, Schneider CR, Pavela G. A narrative review of the associations between six bioactive components in breast milk and infant adiposity. *Obesity* (2016) 24:1213–21. doi: 10.1002/oby. 21519
- Groer M, Ashmeade T, Duffy A, Morse S, Zaritt J. Changes in the immune components of preterm human milk and associations with maternal and infant characteristics. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2016) 45:639–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2016.04.009
- Munblit D, Boyle RJ, Warner JO. Factors affecting breast milk composition and potential consequences for development of the allergic phenotype. *Clin Exp Allerg.* (2015) 45:583–601. doi: 10.1111/ce a.12381
- Munblit D, Treneva M, Peroni D, Colicino S, Chow L, Dissanayeke S, et al. Colostrum and mature human milk of women from london, moscow, and verona: determinants of immune composition. *Nutrients* (2016) 8:695. doi: 10.3390/nu8110695
- Martin RM, Smith GD, Mangtani P, Frankel S, Gunnell D. Association between breast feeding and growth: the Boyd-Orr cohort study. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* (2002) 87:F193–201. doi: 10.1136/FN.87. 3.F193
- Oddy WH. The impact of breastmilk on infant and child health. Breastfeed Rev. (2002) 10:5–18.

- Oddy WH. Long-term health outcomes and mechanisms associated with breastfeeding. *Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res.* (2002) 2:161–177. doi: 10.1586/14737167.2.2.161
- Lönnerdal B. Bioactive proteins in human milk—potential benefits for preterm infants. *Clin Perinatol.* (2017) 44:179–191. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2016.11.013
- Hill DR, Newburg DS. Clinical applications of bioactive milk components. Nutr Rev. (2015) 73:463–76. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv009
- Munblit D, Peroni D, Boix-Amorós A, Hsu P, Land B, Gay M, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:894. doi: 10.3390/nu9080894
- 23. Oddy WH, Rosales F. A systematic review of the importance of milk TGF-β on immunological outcomes in the infant and young child. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21:47–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009. 00913.x
- 24. Ustundag B, Yilmaz E, Dogan Y, Akarsu S, Canatan H, Halifeoglu I, et al. Levels of cytokines (IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, TNF-alpha) and trace elements (Zn, Cu) in breast milk from mothers of preterm and term infants. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2005) 2005:331–6. doi: 10.1155/MI.2 005.331
- Rodríguez JM. The origin of human milk bacteria: is there a bacterial enteromammary pathway during late pregnancy and lactation? *Adv Nutr.* (2014) 5:779–84. doi: 10.3945/an.114.007229
- Hawkes JS, Bryan D-L, Gibson RA. Cytokine production by human milk cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells from the same mothers. J Clin Immunol. (2002) 22:338–44. doi: 10.1023/A:1020652215048
- Srivastava MD, Srivastava A, Brouhard B, Saneto R, Groh-Wargo S, Kubit J. Cytokines in human milk. *Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol.* (1996) 93:263–87.
- Brenmoehl J, Ohde D, Wirthgen E, Hoeflich A. Cytokines in milk and the role of TGF-beta. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 32:47–56. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2018.01.006
- 29. Goldman AS. The immune system of human milk: antiincrobial, antiinflammatory and immunomodulating properties. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (1993) 12:664–71.
- Nabwera HM, Fulford AJ, Moore SE, Prentice AM. Growth faltering in rural Gambian children after four decades of interventions: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Glob Heal.* (2017) 5:e208–16. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30355-2
- Black RE. Patterns of Growth in Early Childhood and Infectious Disease and Nutritional Determinants. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser.* 87:63–72. doi: 10.1159/000448938
- 32. Adair LS, Fall CH, Osmond C, Stein AD, Martorell R, Ramirez-Zea M, et al. Associations of linear growth and relative weight gain during early life with adult health and human capital in countries of low and middle income: findings from five birth cohort studies. *Lancet* (2013) 382:525–34. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60103-8
- 33. Eriksen KG, Johnson W, Sonko B, Prentice AM, Darboe MK, Moore SE. Following the World Health Organization's recommendation of exclusive breastfeeding to 6 months of age does not impact the growth of rural gambian infants. J Nutr. (2017) 147:248–55. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.2 41737
- 34. Le Doare K, Jarju S, Darboe S, Warburton F, Gorringe A, Heath PT, et al. Risk factors for Group B Streptococcus colonisation and disease in Gambian women and their infants. J Infect. (2016) 72:283–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2015.12.014
- UNICEF. The State of the World's Children. Statistical Tables. (2017) Available online at: https://data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/SOWC-2017statistical-tables.pdf (Accessed April 25, 2018).
- WHO. The WHO Child Growth Standards. WHO (2016) Available online at: http://www.who.int/childgrowth/en/ (Accessed April 26, 2018).
- Andreas NJ, Al-Khalidi A, Jaiteh M, Clarke E, Hyde MJ, Modi N, et al. Role of human milk oligosaccharides in Group B Streptococcus colonisation. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2016) 5:e99. doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.43
- Le Doare K, Bellis K, Faal A, Birt J, Munblit D, Humphries H, et al. SIgA, TGF-β1, IL-10, and TNFα in colostrum are associated with infant group B streptococcus colonization. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1269. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01269

- Vmnis. Haemoglobin Concentrations for the Diagnosis of Anaemia and Assessment of Severity. Available online at: https://www.who.int/vmnis/ indicators/haemoglobin.pdf (Accessed November 12, 2018).
- Donnet-Hughes A, Duc N, Serrant P, Vidal K, Schiffrin EJ. Bioactive molecules in milk and their role in health and disease: the role of transforming growth factor-beta. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2000) 78:74–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2000.00882.x
- Savino F, Liguori SA, Fissore MF, Oggero R. Breast milk hormones and their protective effect on obesity. *Int J Pediatr Endocrinol.* (2009) 2009:1–8. doi: 10.1155/2009/327505
- Savino F, Liguori SA. Update on breast milk hormones: Leptin, ghrelin and adiponectin. *Clin Nutr.* (2008) 27:42–47. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2007. 06.006
- Kon IY, Shilina NM, Gmoshinskaya MV, Ivanushkina TA. The study of Breast Milk IGF-1, leptin, ghrelin and adiponectin levels as possible reasons of high weight gain in breast-fed infants. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2014) 65:317–23. doi: 10.1159/000367998
- 44. Khodabakhshi A, Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Rooki H, Vakili R, Hashemy S-I, Mirhafez SR, et al. Comparative measurement of ghrelin, leptin, adiponectin, EGF and IGF-1 in breast milk of mothers with overweight/obese and normalweight infants. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 69:614–18. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.20 14.205
- Khodabakhshi A, Mehrad-Majd H, Vahid F, Safarian M. Association of maternal breast milk and serum levels of macronutrients, hormones, and maternal body composition with infant's body weight. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 72:394–400. doi: 10.1038/s41430-017-0022-9
- 46. Fields DA, George B, Williams M, Whitaker K, Allison DB, Teague A, et al. Associations between human breast milk hormones and adipocytokines and infant growth and body composition in the first 6-months of life. *Pediatr Obes.* (2017) 12 (Suppl 1):78–85. doi: 10.1111/ijpo. 12182
- Fields DA, Demerath EW. Relationship of insulin, glucose, leptin, IL-6 and TNF-α in human breast milk with infant growth and body composition. *Pediatr Obes*. (2012) 7:304–12. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-6310.2012.0 0059.x
- Garofalo R, Chheda S, Mei F, Palkowetz KH, Rudloff HE, Schmalstieg FC, et al. Interleukin-10 in human milk. *Pediatr Res.* (1995) 37:444–49. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199504000-00010
- Penttila IA. Milk-derived transforming growth factor-β and the infant immune response. J Pediatr. (2010) 156:S21–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.11.016
- Allen LH. B Vitamins in breast milk: relative importance of maternal status and intake, and effects on infant status and function. *Adv Nutr.* (2012) 3:362–9. doi: 10.3945/an.111.001172
- Ashorn P, Hallamaa L, Allen LH, Ashorn U, Chandrasiri U, Deitchler M, et al. Co-causation of reduced newborn size by maternal undernutrition, infections, and inflammation. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2018) 14:e12585. doi: 10.1111/mcn. 12585
- Lindner U, Tutdibi E, Binot S, Monz D, Hilgendorff A, Gortner L. Levels of cytokines in umbilical cord blood in small for gestational age preterm infants. *Klin Pädiatrie* (2013) 225:70–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-13 34879
- Lausten-Thomsen U, Olsen M, Greisen G, Schmiegelow K. Inflammatory markers in umbilical cord blood from small-for-gestational-age newborns. *Fetal Pediatr Pathol.* (2014) 33:114–18. doi: 10.3109/15513815.2013.8 79239
- Wilkinson AL, Pedersen SH, Urassa M, Michael D, Andreasen A, Todd J, et al. Maternal systemic or cord blood inflammation is associated with birth anthropometry in a Tanzanian prospective cohort. *Trop Med Int Heal*. (2017) 22:52–2. doi: 10.1111/tmi.12799
- Ruiz L, Espinosa-Martos I, García-Carral C, Manzano S, McGuire MK, Meehan CL, et al. What's normal? immune profiling of human milk from healthy women living in different geographical and socioeconomic settings. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:696. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00696
- Prendergast AJ, Humphrey JH. The stunting syndrome in developing countries. *Paediatr Int Child Health* (2014) 34:250–65. doi: 10.1179/2046905514Y.0000000158

- 57. Keunen K, van Elburg RM, van Bel F, Benders MJNL. Impact of nutrition on brain development and its neuroprotective implications following preterm birth. *Pediatr Res.* (2015) 77:148–55. doi: 10.1038/pr.20 14.171
- Miller LC, Joshi N, Lohani M, Singh R, Bhatta N, Rogers B, et al. Head growth of undernourished children in rural Nepal: association with demographics, health and diet. *Paediatr Int Child Health* (2016) 36:91–101. doi: 10.1080/20469047.2015.1133517
- Ferreira H da S, Xavier Júnior AFS, de Assunção ML, dos Santos EA, Horta BL. Effect of breastfeeding on head circumference of children from impoverished communities. *Breastfeed Med.* (2013) 8:294–301. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2012.0105
- Young BE, Johnson SL, Krebs NF. Biological determinants linking infant weight gain and child obesity: current knowledge and future directions. Adv Nutr. (2012) 3:675–86. doi: 10.3945/an.112.002238

Conflict of Interest Statement: KL has received funding from Pfizer to attend a seminar in 2016.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Saso, Blyuss, Munblit, Faal, Moore and Le Doare. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Compositional Dynamics of the Milk Fat Globule and Its Role in Infant Development

Hanna Lee¹, Emily Padhi¹, Yu Hasegawa¹, Jules Larke², Mariana Parenti², Aidong Wang¹, Olle Hernell³, Bo Lönnerdal² and Carolyn Slupsky^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Food Science and Technology, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ² Department of Nutrition, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ³ Department of Clinical Sciences, Pediatrics, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden

Human milk is uniquely optimized for the needs of the developing infant. Its composition is complex and dynamic, driven primarily by maternal genetics, and to a lesser extent by diet and environment. One important component that is gaining attention is the milk fat globule (MFG). The MFG is composed of a triglyceride-rich core surrounded by a tri-layer membrane, also known as the milk fat globule membrane (MFGM) that originates from mammary gland epithelia. The MFGM is enriched with glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids, cholesterol, and proteins, some of which are glycosylated, and are known to exert numerous biological roles. Mounting evidence suggests that the structure of the MFG and bioactive components of the MFGM may benefit the infant by aiding in the structural and functional maturation of the gut through the provision of essential nutrients and/or regulating various cellular events during infant growth and immune education. Further, antimicrobial peptides and surface carbohydrate moieties surrounding the MFG might have a pivotal role in shaping gut microbial populations, which in turn may promote protection against immune and inflammatory diseases early in life. This review seeks to: (1) understand the components of the MFG, as well as maternal factors including genetic and lifestyle factors that influence its characteristics; (2) examine the potential role of this milk component on the intestinal immune system; and (3) delineate the mechanistic roles of the MFG in infant intestinal maturation and establishment of the microbiota in the alimentary canal.

Keywords: milk fat globule, milk fat globule membrane, infant development, gut maturation, microbiota, immune system

INTRODUCTION

Human milk has evolved to meet the unique requirements for infant growth and development and should be the sole source of nutrients for the developing infant during the first 6 months of life (1, 2). One component of milk is the milk fat globule (MFG), which is difficult to mimic in infant formulas due to its highly complex structure and variable composition. Beyond the traditional role of milk fat as a source of nutrients, which provides up to 50% of the total calories in milk, the functional importance of the MFG structure and composition on infant development is of increasing interest.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Valerie Verhasselt, University of Western Australia, Australia

Reviewed by:

Sagar K. Thakkar, Nestlé Research Center, Switzerland Leon Robert Mitoulas, University of Western Australia, Australia

> *Correspondence: Carolyn Slupsky cslupsky@ucdavis.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 18 May 2018 Accepted: 02 October 2018 Published: 24 October 2018

Citation:

Lee H, Padhi E, Hasegawa Y, Larke J, Parenti M, Wang A, Hernell O, Lönnerdal B and Slupsky C (2018) Compositional Dynamics of the Milk Fat Globule and Its Role in Infant Development. Front. Pediatr. 6:313. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00313

27

Biosynthesis of the MFG is energetically costly. Formation begins with the packaging of triacylglycerols (TAGs) into microlipid droplets that bud from the endoplasmic reticulum of mammary gland alveolar epithelial cells to form cytoplasmic lipid droplets (CLD) surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer. Migration of the CLD to the apical pole of the epithelial cell results in fusion with the plasma membrane and the addition of a peripheral bilayer that contains a variety of bioactive proteins and lipids (3). The fully-fledged MFG covered by the membrane (MFGM) is then secreted outside the cell to become part of the milk that provides nourishment for the infant (3, 4).

MFG composition varies considerably among individuals and is dynamic over the course of lactation, but also varies over a single breastfeed (5). These variations reflect maternal factors including diet, environment, maternal genetics, and body composition, as well as the changing needs of the infant over the period of lactation (**Figure 1**). Recent research has shown a protective effect of MFGM against infectious diseases (6, 7), in part through the modulation of the intestinal immune response and the gut microbiota (8–10). Although the underlying mechanism is not entirely clear, the MFGM harbors two forms of glycoconjugates (glycoproteins and glycolipids), which are thought to have antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and prebiotic functions in the gut (11, 12). These functions may be responsible, in part, for the aforementioned modulation of immune response and microbiota.

The focus of this review is on the role maternal and environmental factors play in mediating MFG lipid and protein composition, along with inter-species differences (e.g., bovine and human), and the biological significance of the human MFG in the infant intestine, with particular attention given to structural and immune system development. The importance of this component of milk on infant health outcomes as well as identified gaps in the research literature that have been underexplored are also discussed.

COMPOSITION OF MILK FAT GLOBULE (MFG)

MFG Lipids

Structural Components

MFGs are heterogeneous structures, varying in diameter, triglyceride content, and membrane and fatty acid composition (13–15). The diameter of the MFG varies between 0.2 and 15 μ m, and its composition is observed to vary by size, adding more complexity to the study of their structure and function. Progress in lipids analysis has been slower than for other biomolecules, such as proteins and metabolites. This may be due partly to unsophisticated instruments, which inadequately capture the complexity of lipids, and partly to the limited amount of information that can be gleaned from genomic studies since lipid fingerprints are not directly linked to the genome (4). The core of the MFG is composed primarily of TAGs, which represent 98% of total milk fat and provides approximately half of the infant's energy intake

in addition to essential fatty acids required for growth and development (16).

Milk fat contains over 400 different fatty acids, among which 15 constitute 90% of the total fatty acid pool (17). In mature human milk, the majority of TAGs in the MFG core consist of 18:1(n-9) oleic (20-35%), 16:0 palmitic (18-23%), and 18:2(n-6) linoleic (LA) (8-18%) acids (Table 1) (46). Medium chain fatty acids (MCFAs) comprise 12% of total fatty acids, and < 1% are short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (49). Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA), notably 20:4(n-6) arachidonic (ARA), 20:5(n-3) eicosapentaenoic (EPA), and 22:6(n-3) docosahexaenoic (DHA) acids, as well as one of the two essential fatty acids, 18:3(n-3) α-linolenic acid (ALA) are some of the least abundant, although a wide inter-individual variation exists that is dependent on maternal diet and genetics (Table 1) (50). The location of fatty acids on the glycerol backbone is highly conserved within species, but not between species, with saturated fatty acids typically occupying the *sn*-2 position of the TAG, and specifically palmitic acid occupying 50-60% of all fatty acids at the sn-2 position (defined as β -16:0) in human milk (51–53). The sn-1 and *sn*-3 positions are occupied primarily by unsaturated fatty acids, of which approximately half is oleic acid (54).

Surrounding the TAG core is the milk fat globule membrane (MFGM), which is derived from the mammary gland epithelium (55). The MFGM is a complex mixture of 60% proteins and 40% lipids (56) and functions to stabilize the globule as an emulsion. The major building components of the MFGM are the membrane phospholipids, i.e., glycerophospholipids (glycerol-based phospholipids), which are comprised of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylcholine (PC), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylinositol (PI) (45), and sphingolipids, notably sphingomyelin (SM) (57). SM, the predominate sphingolipid in MFGM, is present in much higher quantity in human milk compared to milk from other species (e.g., bovine milk) (47). In general, PE, PC and SM are the most abundant phospholipids in the MFGM, while PS and PI are relatively minor components, although inter-individual variation does exist (47) (Table 1).

The MFGM exists as a polymorphic lipid phase with lipid-disordered domains rich in glycerophospholipids that are fluidic and lipid-ordered domains that are more rigid at body temperature (58). The lipid-ordered domains in the MFGM are called lipid rafts because cholesterol and sphingolipids interact to form circular assemblies in the outer leaflet (43). Lipid rafts, which contain approximately 80% of total milk cholesterol, play an important role in maintaining membrane structure (43), and are critical for many biological processes including compartmentalizing membrane proteins to modulate their functions (44).

Different lipid classes in the MFG exhibit distinct fatty acid profiles, with the MFGM phospholipids containing more unsaturated fatty acids than the MFG core (43). Although phospholipids in the MFGM only represent 0.5–1% of the total fat in milk, 15–20% of the total LC-PUFA (e.g., DHA and ARA) in milk is present in the MFGM phospholipids (59, 60). In contrast to MFGM phospholipids, MFGM sphingolipids are highly saturated, and are thought to maintain the lipid raft



structure due to their tightly packed structure and higher melting temperature. This structure may be important in digestion, allowing for delivery of sphingosine and ceramides to the distal gut (57). The varied digestion and absorption kinetics of the MFG may be physiologically important for the infant. To date, most research has focused on understanding and modulating the overall fatty acid composition and lipid content in milk rather than studying structural function.

Glycosphingolipids (sphingolipids with a carbohydrate moiety) such as cerebrosides and gangliosides are present at low abundance (61, 62). Gangliosides are glycosphingolipids with one or more sialic acid residues, and are classified according to the number of sialic-acid residues on the molecular backbone (M = mono- or 1; D = di- or 2, as GM or GD), the number of residues attached to the sugar moiety, and the biosynthetic pathway from where they are derived (63). Human milk contains a much higher concentration of gangliosides than bovine milk (64). Supplementation of infant formula with a ganglioside-enriched dairy fraction has shown beneficial impacts on cognitive development in infants aged 0–6 months (35).

The size of the MFG is related to the TAG/phospholipid ratio, fatty acid composition (14), and cholesterol content (43). Argov et al. (65) demonstrated that smaller fat globules tend to have more phospholipids (65) that may partly result from a biosynthetic balance between phospholipids and neutral lipids coordinated in the milk-secreting epithelial cells (4). Independent of cellular TAG content, increasing intracellular phosphatidylethanolamine content has been shown to facilitate fusion between lipid droplets and hence increase the size of the MFG (66). It is also thought that the type of esterified fatty acids in the MFG core and membrane lipids contributes to globule size (67), as a higher content of LC-PUFA and medium chain fatty acids (MCFA) was observed in small fat globules in bovine milk (65, 68). Differences in digestion and fat release patterns between smaller and larger fat globules have also been described (69, 70), suggesting that varying sizes of the MFG may have distinct physiological effects. Interestingly, the mean diameter of human MFG appears to be largest in colostrum, followed by mature milk, and the smallest in transitional milk (71). Nanosized particles termed lactosomes that are devoid of triglycerides and gangliosides but rich in phospholipids have been identified and isolated at a density equivalent to high-density lipoproteins (HDL) (higher density than native MFGs), which suggests that they may also have biological functions (65, 72).

Maternal Factors Influencing MFG Lipids

a. Lactation Period

The composition of milk fat is dynamic over the course of lactation and adapts to changes in the maternal environment, diet and physiological state. While fatty acids with 4 to 14 carbons can be made from *de novo* synthesis in the mammary gland, the 16 carbon fatty acids are derived either from circulation, body stores, or diet (73). As milk matures, the average fatty acid chain length decreases because the mammary gland increases its capacity to produce MCFAs (12-14 carbons) (74). The overall LCFA content remains similar throughout lactation, with the exception of stearic acid, which is higher in colostrum (74); however, wide variations among different populations exist likely due to dietary differences (75, 76). As lactation proceeds, TAG concentrations tend

TABLE 1 | Lipid composition in milk fat globules.

Fatty acids ^a	% total fatty acids	Biological significance				
Palmitic acid (16:0)	18–23	Energy metabolism (18); used in the synthesis of other bioactive lipids (18)				
Oleic acid (18:1)	20–35	Energy storage and metabolism (19); alters cell membrane fluidity (13)				
Linoleic acid (n-6 18:2) 8–18		Skin barrier function (20); precursor to ARA; competes with n-3 fatty aci metabolism (21)				
Linolenic acid (n-3 18:3)	0.43–1.33	Precursor to EPA and DHA (22)				
Arachidonic acid (n-6 20:4)	0.36–0.49	Eicosanoid synthesis (23); neurodevelopment (24)				
Eicosapentaenoic acid (n-3 20:5)	0.07–0.26	Precursor to eicosanoids (23); immune function (23)				
Docosahexaenoic acid (n-3 22:6)	0.17–0.99	Cell signaling; neurodevelopment and vision (25)				
Phospholipids ^b	% of total phospholipids	Biological significance				
Phosphatidylinositol	4.6	Cell signaling; activation of Akt (26)				
Phosphatidylcholine	25.2	Membrane structure; lipoprotein assembly and secretion (27)				
Phosphatidylserine	5.9	Induction of apoptosis (28); carrier of DHA (29)				
Phosphatidylethanolamine 28.6		Component of phospholipase D (30); cell proliferation and differentiation regulation of pathways including MAPK and NF-kB (31)				
Sphingomyelin	35.7	Metabolized to ceramide and sphingosine (32); vascular development (33); immune function (34)				
Gangliosides ^c	14.8–26.8 mg/L in human milk	Cognitive development (35); altering membrane fluidity and function of enterocytes (36–39); cell-cell communication (40); gut maturation and immunity (41, 42)				
Cholesterol ^d	90–150 mg/L in human milk	Structural maintenance of membranes (43); compartmentalization of membrane proteins to modulate functions (44); substrate for bile acids, vitamin D, hormones and oxysterols (45)				

^aFatty acid content represents mature milk collected in nine countries (46).

^bPolar lipids were quantified using HPLC-ELSD (47).

^c Total ganglioside content represent Malaysian mother's milk quantified using HPLC-MS (48). ^d Total cholesterol content adapted from Koletzko (45).

ARA, Arachidonic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

to increase for the first few weeks, whereas cholesterol and cholesterol esters gradually decrease (74). Although the concentration of sphingomyelin in human milk appears to remain constant, colostrum is observed to contain more total phospholipids (75, 77) and LC-PUFAs relative to transitional and mature milk (71, 77). Yet, in most studies, including those referenced above, fatty acids in the MFG core and those in the MFGM lipids have not been separately analyzed despite the reported differences in the two fractions (59, 60).

Levels of total gangliosides in human milk appear to be highest in colostrum (48). While the GD3 ganglioside is the predominant form in human colostrum, a shift toward GM3 predominance is observed in mature milk (64). Gangliosides contain significantly more LCFA and less MCFA in colostrum compared to mature milk (which is similar to the overall fatty acid trend in milk), as well as more monounsaturated fatty acids and less LC-PUFA (78). Distinct fatty acid esterification profiles have also been reported for human compared with bovine gangliosides (e.g., higher amounts of LCFAs longer than 20 carbons in bovine gangliosides) (79). Whether these differences translate into different health outcomes remains to be investigated.

b. Genetic Factors

Several maternal factors influence the lipid profile of human milk, and maternal genotype is a strong determinant. Within mammary epithelial cells, fatty acids activated by acyl-CoA synthase undergo a number of enzymatic reactions to produce other fatty acids, TAG, and phospholipids (4). Some of the most studied genes involved in milk lipid synthesis are those involved with the synthesis of LC-PUFA, likely due to the implication of LC-PUFA in immune responses and cognitive development in infants. These genes include fatty acid desaturase (FADS) genes (80-82) as well as members of the ELOVL family of genes that encode elongase enzymes (82, 83). However, fewer studies on maternal genetics regulating levels of phospholipid classes in the MFGM have been published. One study revealed that a polymorphism in diacylglycerol acyltransferase 1 (DGAT1) was associated with varying compositions of phospholipids and phospholipid/TAG ratios in bovine milk (84). Various enzymes are involved milk lipid synthesis and transport processes (4, 66, 73), which leaves considerable scope for further research on the genetic variants regulating milk lipid composition.

c. Diet

Many studies have focused on the effect of maternal diet or supplementation on milk fatty acids, and in particular LC-PUFA (16, 45, 85, 86), but how those influences are reflected in the MFG core and membrane lipids have not been clear. Milk ganglioside and phospholipid concentrations have been reported to differ by maternal geographic region within China, suggesting that diet may influence their amounts in human milk (75). Additionally, maternal socioeconomic and nutritional status have been shown to be associated with variations in total lipid and phospholipid content (87). Supplementation with LC-PUFA was also shown to increase the concentrations of total phospholipids (+18%) and sphingomyelin (+30%), as well as alter phospholipid composition of milk (59). Total choline intake, including choline supplements, have been shown to be positively correlated with breast milk phosphatidylcholine, especially at lower maternal intakes (88).

d. Gestation

Infant sex may influence milk lipid composition. Milk from mothers who gave birth to boys appeared to have higher concentrations of SM, PC, PE, and PI relative to milk from mothers who gave birth to girls (89). Associations between milk fatty acids and infection (in mother, infants, or both) were observed (90, 91), but no studies have reported such associations with milk polar lipids. Further studies into the mechanisms behind the observed relationships are warranted.

The composition of breast milk lipids appears to shift depending on whether an infant is born full-term or prematurely, including total fat (92, 93), DHA (94) and MCFA content (95). Although phospholipid composition was reported to be comparable between term and preterm milk throughout lactation (61), one study in Japan showed higher SM and lower PC in preterm mature milk relative to term mature milk (96).

MFGM Proteins

Structural Components

The proteins of the MFG are located within the MFGM, and account for 1-4% of the total protein fraction in milk, and 1% of the total globule mass (97). Much attention has been given to the MFGM proteins, which have been extensively explored using proteomics. To date, approximately 500 proteins have been identified in human milk (98), some of which have been well characterized and include the glycosylated butyrophilin, mucins, xanthine oxidoreductase, lactadherin, CD proteins, the non-glycosylated adipophilin, and fatty acid binding proteins (**Table 2**). These proteins are the major proteins observed across all mammalian species, which suggests important biological functions (97, 98, 107). Interestingly, the quantities of those proteins greatly vary between species (101).

Human MFGM proteins were first separated by 2demensional electrophoresis in 1997 (108) and besides the common MFGM proteins (mentioned above), the following proteins have been frequently identified in human MFGM in several proteomics studies: α -lactalbumin, lysozyme, β -casein, clusterin, lactoferrin, Immunoglobulins (e.g., IgA α -chain), tenascin, apolipoproteins (e.g., type A-I) and fatty acid synthase (1, 97, 108, 109) (**Table 3**).

BTNs are members of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily, and it is the butyrophilin subfamily 1 member A1 (BTN1A1) that has been shown to be associated with human MFGM (97). The structures of the BTNs and their functions have been reviewed elsewhere (118). Another abundant class of proteins in human MFGM is the mucins (MUC), of which Mucin 1 (MUC1) and MUC4 are the most abundant. MUC proteins have highly glycosylated extracellular domains, which makes them resistant to digestion (119), and potentially available to act as decoys for pathogens (described below).

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR) is another major protein (120) with a critical role in milk fat secretion. XOR aids with the fusion of the apical plasma membrane onto the fat globules through structural interactions with BTN and adipophilin (ADPH) as a tripartite structure (121). XOR is a highly conserved molybdoenzyme that oxidizes a wide range of substrates (generally with low specificity) including purine nucleotides and has been suggested as an antibacterial component in the MFGM (122). Loss of XOR has been shown to result in less efficient milk fat secretion in mice (123).

Other glycosylated MFGM proteins include milk fat globuleepidermal growth factor 8 protein (MFG-E8; PAS VI/VII), also known as lactadherin (124). Human lactadherin was first identified in the MFGM as well as in the lactating mammary gland but was recently also found in other tissues such as the endometrial epithelium (125). It has been implicated in the autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythematosus (126), and may have a role in sepsis (127).

The well-described non-glycosylated MFGM proteins include adipophilin (ADPH), and fatty acid binding proteins (FABP). ADPH (also known as perilipin 2) is in the perilipin family of proteins that regulate lipolysis by controlling the access of proteins to the lipid droplet surface (128). A recent study using homology modeling suggested that the ADPH C-terminus forms a four-helix bundle motif which aids in formation of a stable membrane bilayer during lipid secretion (shown in mice and *in vitro*) (129). FABP is involved in the intracellular transport of fatty acids, which is a critical step in the synthesis of MFG lipid constituents such as TAG and phospholipids (4).

Compared to the aforementioned major MFGM proteins, hundreds of other proteins with lower abundance exist, which include the glycosylated enzymes carbonic anhydrase, milk alkaline phosphatase (AP), lactoferrin, osteopontin (OPN) and lysozyme (109, 130, 131), while the last three are present primarily in milk whey and to a lesser extent in the MFGM. Carbonic anhydrase, also present in saliva, serum and tissues, has a few proposed functions: acid neutralizer, antibacterial agent (130) and growth factor (132), yet clinical significance as a milk component has not been established. Milk AP is an enzyme derived from the membrane of the mammary gland epithelial cell and is covalently bound to phosphatidylinositol of the MFGM (133). This same enzyme was shown to be expressed in human liver, where zinc and magnesium are required for maximal activity (134). Lactoferrin, a member of transferrin family, was first identified in milk but is also found in most exocrine fluids of mammals (e.g., saliva, tears and bile) (135). Lactoferrin is a multifunctional protein and a key component in innate immunity (136, 137). It has also been shown to improve neurodevelopment in a piglet model (131). Charlwood et al. identified α -lactalbumin and β -casein in MFGM isolates (109), although incorporation of whey and casein proteins to the MFGM via sulfhydryl-disulfide interchange

Protein	Molecular weight (kDa)	Location in milk fraction	Function	Difference with bovine MFGM	Change over lactation	Glycosylated (Y/N)	Resistance to digestion
Butyrophilin subfamily 1 member A1 (BTN1A1)	56	MFGM	Milk fat globule secretion, immune system	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM ^a	Higher in mature MFGM than in colostrum MFGM ^{a,c}	Y	Rapidly digested in the infant stomach ^f but more resistant to pepsin compared to XOR ^g , well digested by trypsin and by pronase E ^h
Mucin 1 (MUC 1/PAS 0)	250-450	MFGM	Immune protection	Lower in human than in bovine MFGM, but not significant (<i>P</i> > 0.05) ^b	No significant change reported in human MFGM; but in bovine MFGM higher at d7 (7.7-fold) compare to colostrum ^d	Y	Significantly resistant to gastric digestion and may survive to the distal gut ^{f,i} ; detected in feces of breastfed infants
Mucin 4 (MUC 4)	232	MFGM	Immune protection	Higher in human MFGM (<i>P</i> < 0.05); not detected in bovine MFGM ^b	No significant change reported ^c	Y	Not specified, but likely be resistant to digestion due to the heavy glycosylation as glycoproteins tend to be resistant to proteases relative to non-glycoproteins ^j
Xanthine oxidase (XDH/XO, XOR)	145	MFGM	Milk fat globule secretion, immune system	Lower in human than in bovine MFGM ^e ; but not significant in another study $(P > 0.05)^{b}$	Highest at 6 months during 12 months lactation ^c	Y	Resistant to hydrolysis by trypsin and partially attacked by pronase E ^h
Lactadherin (PAS VI/VII, MFG-E8)	43	MFGM	Immune system	Lower in human than in bovine MFGM (<i>P</i> < 0.05) ^b	No significant change reported ^c	Y	Resistant to human neonatal gastric juice digestion at pH 4 (bovine lactadherin) ¹ ; detected intact in gastric aspirate samples of preterm-infants ^f ; resistant to hydrolysis by trypsin and partially attacked by pronase E ^h
Cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14)	40	MFGM	Immune system	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM ($P < 0.05$) ^b ; CD36 was dominant in bovine MFGM ^d	Not specified	Y	Resistant to pepsin ^j
Adipophilin (ADPH)	52	MFGM	Milk fat globule secretion	Not specified	No significant change reported in human MFGM; but in bovine MFGM 3.4-fold upregulated at day 7 compared to colostrum ^d	Ν	Well digested by trypsin and by pronase E ^h
Fatty-acid binding protein (FABP)	13	Whey and MFGM	Fatty acid transport, milk fat globule lipid synthesis,	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM <i>(no P value</i> <i>reported</i>) ^e	Higher at later lactation ^c	Ν	Not specified

^aYang et al. (99), ^bHettinga et al. (1), ^cLiao et al. (97), ^dReinhardt and Lippolis (100), ^eYang et al. (101), ^fPeterson et al. (102), ^gYe et al. (103), ^hVanderghern et al. (104), ⁱChatterton et al. (105), and ⁱLe et al. (106). Note that the study by ^dReinhardt and Lippolis (100) used bovine MFGM.

reaction during the isolation could be the origin (138). OPN is present in the MFGM as a minor constituent (97). It makes a protein complex with lactoferrin *via* electrostatic interaction, potentially preventing it from being digested (139) as OPN is resistant to proteolysis by infant gastric juice *in vitro* (105). Several enzymes including a 5^{\prime} -nucleotidase, an ATPase, and a nucleotide pyrophosphatase that are known to be localized in liver plasma membranes have also been identified in the MFGM (55).

Maternal Factors Influencing MFGM Proteins

a. Lactation Period

As the MFGM is derived from the mammary gland epithelial cell, mammary gland cell biology, which varies over the course of lactation, is captured in the MFGM proteome. From postpartum day 1–7, significant increases in bovine MFGM proteins related to lipid synthesis (e.g., acyl-CoA synthetase, lanosterol synthase, lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase and FABP) and secretion (e.g., the

TABLE 3	Properties of minor h	uman milk fat globule	membrane (MFGM) proteins.
INDEE 0		arnar millin fat globalo	

Protein	Molecular weight (kDa)	Location in milk fraction	Function	Difference with bovine MFGM	Change over lactation	Glycosylated (Y/N)	Resistance to digestion
Carbonic anhydrase 6	35	MFGM	Acid neutralizer, antibacterial component, and growth factor	Not specified	No significant change reported ^C , or 8-fold higher in colostrum MFGM than the MFGM in mature milk ^e	Y	Not specified
Milk alkaline phosphatase (AP)	86	MFGM	Immune system	Not specified	Not specified	Y	Not specified
Lysozyme	17	Predominantly in whey and to lesser extent in MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM (P < 0.05) ^b	Higher at later stages of lactation ^{a,c}	Y	Not detected in feces of breastfed infants ⁱ ; resistant to pepsin, but susceptible to trypsin ^j
Lactoferrin	78	Predominantly in whey and to lesser extent in MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM (P < 0.05) ^b	No significant change reported ^c ; however, higher in early milk than in mature milk ^f	Y	4-9 % of ingested lactoferrin detected in feces of breastfed infants ⁱ
Osteopontin (OPN)	41-75	Predominantly in whey and to lesser extent in MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	Lower in human than in bovine MFGM but not significant $(P > 0.05)^{b}$	No significant change reported ^{a,c} ; but in bovine milk, higher in early milk MFGM ^d	Y	Partially resistant to proteolysis when incubated with infant gastric juice <i>in vitro</i> ^k
α-Lactalbumin	16	Predominantly in whey and to lesser extent in MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM (P < 0.05) ^a	Higher in mature human MFGM than colostrum MFGM ^a ; or no change reported ^c .	Y	Digested in the small intestine, releasing bioactive peptides and essential amino acids ^I
Immunoglobulins (e.g., IgA α-chain C region)	37-38	Predominantly in whey and to lesser extent in MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	A wider range of Ig present in human MFGM; IgA is more enriched in human than in bovine MFGM ^b	IgG H chain, Ig heavy chain variable region, polymeric immunoglobulin receptor and immunoglobulin J chain were higher in colostrum ^a	Y	Resistant to digestion and survived intact to the stool ^m
Toll-like receptors (e.g.,TLR2, 4)	~90	MFGM	Antibacterial component, immune system	Higher TLR2 in human than in bovine MFGM ^g	Higher TLR4 in mature milk MFGM than in colostrum MFGM ^h	Y	Not specified
Clusterin	52	MFGM	Antibacterial component	Higher in human than in bovine MFGM $(P < 0.05)^{b},9$; but another study reported lower quantity in human than in bovine MFGM ^a	No significant change reported ^a ; but in bovine, colostrum MFGM has significantly higher quantity than mature MFGM ^b	Y	Resistant to gastric hydrolysis ⁿ
Tenascin	241	Whey and MFGM	Antibacterial component	Not specified	Significantly higher in colostrum MFGM than in mature MFGM $(P < 0.05)^{a,c}$	Y	Resistant to gastric hydrolysis ⁿ

^a Yang et al. (99), ^bHettinga et al. (1), ^cLiao et al. (97), ^dReinhardt and Lippolis (100), ^eKarhumaa et al. (110), ^fRai et al. (111), ^gLu et al. (107), ^hCao et al. (98), ⁱDavidson and Lonnerdal (112), ⁱHamosh (113), ^kDemmelmair et al. (114), ^lLayman et al. (115), ^mDemers-Mathieu et al. (116), and ⁿDallas et al. (117).

Note that the study by ^dReinhardt and Lippolis (100) used bovine MFGM.

tripartite complex; BTN, APN and XOR), as well as mucins (MUC1 and 15) have been observed, suggesting a developmental shift to increase efficiency of milk lipid secretion (100). In contrast, apolipoproteins (e.g., A1, C-III, E, and A-IV) and immune-related proteins (e.g., immunoglobulin γ 1 chain C region, clusterin and lactoferrin) have been observed to decrease (100) in bovine MFGM.

Analysis of human milk revealed that as lactation proceeds (from 0 to 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding), levels of proteins related to lipid synthesis and transfer (e.g., FABP, nonspecific lipid transfer protein, and proactivator polypeptide), intracellular folate uptake (e.g., folate receptor- α), actin filament organization (e.g., gelsolin and heat shock protein beta-1), antioxidant function (e.g., glutathione peroxidase 3), and antimicrobial function (e.g., lysozyme C)

were found to increase in the MFGM (97). BTN and XOR levels were also shown to increase over the first 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding but tended to decrease during partial weaning (from 6 to 12 months) (97). No significant changes have been observed for MUC4, lactadherin, carbonic anhydrase 6, and lactoferrin in human MFGM (97). However, another study showed significantly higher levels of carbonic anhydrase 6 in human colostrum compared to mature milk (110). In contrast, the levels of proteins with potential antimicrobial function, including human leukocyte antigen (HLA) II (which aids antigen presentation to T cells) (97) and AP (140), were found to be higher in colostrum compared to mature human milk, which may possibly compensate for immature neonatal immunity (discussed in section Intestinal Immune Maturation). Compared to bovine MFGM, the human MFGM proteome has been less explored (Tables 2, 3). b. Environmental Factors

Proteins in the MFGM have been associated with various health benefits, particularly in immune defense (97). In addition to gradual changes during lactation, temporal fluctuations in the immune-related proteins of the MFGM have been observed during immune challenges such as bacterial infection. For example, the infectious bacterium Mycoplasma agalactiae, which causes mastitis, initiates an immune response involving up-regulation of proteins involved in host defense, inflammation, and oxidative stress, and down-regulation of proteins involved in milk fat metabolism and secretion in lactating ewes (141). Similarly, in lactating cows infected with Staphylococcus aureus, neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which are known to amplify bactericidal properties of antimicrobial peptides, were observed to accumulate in the MFGM fraction to a greater extent than observed in the whey or milk exosome proteins (142). Although these were shown in other species, similar phenomena likely occur in human MFGM reflecting the mammary gland immune response. Whether those proteins will still be active in the intestine of breast-fed infants remains to be determined, and in this sense, their metabolic fates in the GI tract are worth investigating.

c. Species

So far, only a few studies have reported (1, 98, 99, 101, 107) or summarized (143) cross-species comparison of the MFGM proteome (**Tables 2**, **3**). One such study revealed that several MFGM proteins involved in lipid and fatty acid catabolism are higher in relative abundance or uniquely found in human milk compared with milk from other mammalian species. These proteins include peroxisomal acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 3, bile salt-stimulated lipase (BSSL), peroxisomal bifunctional enzyme, peroxisomal multifunctional enzyme type 2, hormone-sensitive lipase, lipoprotein lipase and sphingomyelin phosphodiesterase, all of which as isolates *in vitro* retain their lipolytic activity (107). BSSL has demonstrated roles in immune-modulation, intestinal growth (144), and antimicrobial action (145).

Variable expression of host defense proteins has also been observed across different species. Human MFGM is enriched

with MUC4 and TLR2 relative to MFGMs from other mammals (bovine, goat and yak), which may improve innate immune response and protection against gram-positive pathogens (107). Compared to bovine MFGM, human MFGM is significantly enriched with lactoferrin, whereas cathelicidins (antimicrobial peptides) appear to be uniquely found in bovine MFGM (107). In another study, Yang et al. reported that human MFGM (pooled from 10 mothers between 3 and 8 months post-partem) was significantly more enriched with FABP but much less in XOR compared to pooled bovine MFGM (101). Importantly, bovine MFGM appears to exhibit a wider range of proteins with antibacterial properties (e.g., cathelicidins), whereas human MFGM was more enriched with the proteins involved in mucosal immunity (i.e., IgA, CD14, lactoferrin, and lysozyme) (1).

Commercially available MFGM isolates (e.g., used in infant formulas) are predominantly bovine sourced. It is therefore of great interest to understand the differences between human and bovine MFGM (and therefore the functions) to fully understand what functions are missing from bovine MFGM. Variations in isoforms and glycoforms of MFGM proteins exist within and/or between species, although less explored (146–148), which may contribute to differences in molecular functions such as binding, receptor activity, signaling, and enzyme activity. This aspect is beyond the scope of this review but further comparative studies would greatly benefit the field and promote its application.

FUNCTION OF MFG IN INFANT GUT MATURATION

In addition to its role in digestion and nutrient absorption, the gastrointestinal (GI) tract functions as a critical first defense immunological barrier. Gut maturation is stimulated by constant interactions between dietary components, endogenous secretions, host gastrointestinal cells, and microorganisms, all of which contribute to the development of intestinal morphology, immune function and composition of the gut microbiota. The "critical window" hypothesis postulates that events occurring early in life that disrupt the microbial ecology of the young gut, increase the risk of developing disease later in life (149). In view of this, the mechanisms through which breast milk guides early intestinal development while protecting against potentially harmful insults has been a key research question. The MFG may have a critical role in intestinal development. However, the MFG has been historically removed from breast milk substitutes (8). This section aims to review the primary roles of the MFG and its components in the development of: (1) the intestinal structure; (2) the intestinal immune system; and (3) the gut microbial community structure, with a focus on infancy.

Structural Development of the Intestine

Intestinal growth and maturation begin *in utero* and continues postnatally. During this period, intestinal development is characterized by active tissue growth and morphological changes (150). Human milk lipids contain numerous components that aid in the postnatal development of the intestinal mucosa, vasculature, and motility. Studies on human infants are limited due to the invasive nature of the procedures involved, and therefore the bulk of available research utilizes animal models, and particularly the piglet model, which has physiological similarity with humans (151).

a. Development of the Small Intestinal Mucosa

Milk lipids appear to improve intestinal integrity by serving as essential building blocks for cellular membrane structure and as signaling messengers for cell growth, proliferation and migration (8). It was recently reported that the addition of bovine MFGM to a control formula in rat pups accelerated intestinal development and improved intestinal mucosal architecture by improving epithelial cell proliferation and differentiation, as well as expression of tight junction proteins to levels similar to mother-reared pups (152). These findings are consistent with another study that showed feeding an MFGM-rich post-weaning diet to mice strengthened the mucosal barrier by protecting against LPS-induced gut leakiness (153). Recently it was shown in a Caco-2 cell model that addition of polar lipids derived from bovine milk in the form of beta serum concentrate mitigated damage caused by a TNF- α challenge to the intestinal epithelial barrier (154). It is possible that MFGM aids in the maturation of the gut through both direct and indirect modulation of the gut microbiota, particularly since MFGM supplementation is observed to have the greatest effect on the colon (154), which is the site harboring the highest density of microbes.

The MFGM is a carrier of polar lipids, whose digestive products are essential for the morphological and functional development of the newborn intestine. The MFGM is an exclusive carrier of gangliosides to the neonatal gut (42), and a ganglioside-enriched diet has been shown to significantly increase total ganglioside and GD3 content, while decreasing GM3 and reducing the ratio of cholesterol to ganglioside in the enterocyte membrane of rat pups (36). These findings suggest that gangliosides can be incorporated into the intestinal mucosa, where they can alter membrane fluidity and enterocyte function (36).

Gangliosides are integral components in cell membranes, and the oligosaccharide residues that extend from the cell surface serve as surface markers in cell-cell communication (40). Gangliosides may also modify the brush border membrane of the GI tract. For instance, when dietary bovine gangliosides were provided to weanling rats, multiple changes in the intestinal epithelium were observed, including an increase in the content of ether phospholipids (a group of phospholipids with an alkyl or alkenyl bond at the *sn*-1 position) (39), greater incorporation of LC-PUFAs such as DHA and ARA (38), and enhanced LCFA uptake (37). In an *ex vivo* study, pre-exposure of infant bowel tissue to gangliosides reduced bowel necrosis and pro-inflammatory signals in response to LPS, implying an *in vivo* functional re-structuring of enterocytes (155).

Sphingolipids such as SM that are present in the MFGM and in the intestinal apical membrane are digested by brush border enzymes (expressed at birth) to generate the digestive products: ceramide, sphingosine, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), and ceramide-1-phosphate (8). These metabolic products are known to mediate intracellular signaling pathways that are involved in cell growth, differentiation, apoptosis and immune cell migration in the neonatal mucosa (8, 156), and to facilitate enzymatic and morphological maturation of the intestine (157). The importance of sphingolipids and gangliosides in infant gut maturation, immunity, and neurological development has been reviewed elsewhere (42).

In newborns, PC and SM in MFGM are important sources of choline, which is an essential component of cell membranes, neurotransmitters (e.g., acetylcholine), and for neurogenesis and synaptogenesis (8). Phospholipids carry essential LC-PUFAs, critical molecules for membrane fluidity of the intestinal mucosa or neuronal tissues (57). The benefits of phospholipids in human milk have been broadly discussed (158).

b. Development of Intestinal Vasculature

During the first month of life, intestinal tissues expand and develop, and intestinal perfusion increases as a means to supply sufficient oxygen to accommodate these increases in metabolic activity. Vascular tone is mediated by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and the primary constrictor stimulus, endothelin-1 (ET-1), which promotes vasodilation and increases vascular resistance, respectively [reviewed in Nowicki (159)]. In addition to these endogenous regulators, SM and its metabolites (mentioned above) are able to alter infant vasculature, thereby influencing gut maturation. For example, S1P activates Akt signaling (a protein kinase with many regulatory functions in the cell), which initiates angiogenesis by invoking endothelial cell migration and morphogenesis (33). Additionally, S1P increases vascular barrier function by up-regulating adherence junctions (160, 161). Importantly, S1P levels are metabolically regulated by adiponectin, another component of milk, which increases turnover of ceramide to S1P by up-regulating ceramidase activity (162). In contrast to S1P, ceramide inhibits Akt signaling, which increases apoptosis and eNOS induction during vasculature remodeling in order to accommodate new growth prior to angiogenesis (161). This coordinated interplay of SM metabolites in the MFG establishes the architecture of blood vessels to meet the high metabolic demand of the expanding GI tract, aiding in gut maturation.

Other factors involved in small intestinal development derived from the MFGM have been suggested. For example, lactoferrin (Lf) bi-directionally stimulates proliferation and differentiation of the small intestinal tissue by interacting with Lf receptors located on the enterocytes and crypt cells (163). Expression of the plasma membrane Lf receptor was shown to be highest in the small intestine (163).

Intestinal Immune Maturation

When faced with an immune challenge, two key biological factors are involved in the intestinal defense response: the mucosal immune system and the gut microbiota (the latter will be discussed in the following section). A recent study reported that supplementation with bovine MFGM was able to enhance overall immunity and metabolism (10) which may explain the previously
reported reduction in infection-related diarrhea (6). This section discusses potential mechanisms whereby components in the MFGM are able to regulate cellular events to enable maturation of the mucosal immune system, thereby improving infant health (**Table 4**).

While the immune system begins to develop in utero, there is rapid development after birth. Immediately following delivery, newborns have a limited capacity to initiate immune responses as the adaptive immune system is still influenced by the active suppression that occurs in utero to prevent adverse immunological reactions from occurring between the mother and fetus (183). In addition, this suppression enables the infant to develop tolerance against antigens such as breast milk proteins and commensal microorganisms after birth (184). For example, fetal CD4⁺ naïve T-cells tend to differentiate into Foxp3⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells (T_{reg}) in fetal lymphoid tissue (185, 186), which suppresses antigen-specific immune reactions and inflammation. This active suppression of the adaptive immune system, combined with low exposure to antigens prior to birth (little immunological memory) (187, 188), and a sudden flow of food and microorganisms entering the gut after birth increases the risk of infections in newborns.

Maturation of adaptive immunity involves antigen exposure, followed by T-cell differentiation in response to antigens presented by antigen presenting cells (APCs). Human MFGM contains human leukocyte antigen II (HLAII) (97), an antigen presenting complex typically expressed on the surface of APCs that may be derived from HLA-DR (a subgroup of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) Class II) on the mammary gland epithelium (169). Notably, only secretory epithelial cells in the lactating mammary gland, but not non-lactating cells, were found to express HLA-DR (169). Moreover, milk exosomal MHC Class II is more abundant during early lactation and gradually decreases, whereas MHC Class I shows the opposite trend (171). These studies suggest that HLAII on the MFGM may be involved in presenting antigens encountered by mothers to CD4⁺ T-cells in the infant gut, thereby supporting immune education during early life when tolerance is being established.

Some MFGM proteins may be involved in modulating properties of T-cells, the key regulator of the immune system. Butyrophilin (BTN) has been shown to negatively regulate Tcell proliferation and activity. When mouse $CD4^+$ T-cells were activated by immobilized anti-CD3 antibody in the presence of the recombinant Fc fusion proteins BTN1A1 and BTN2A2, Tcell proliferation as well as IL-2 and IFN- γ production were inhibited (168). Thus, BTN in the mammary gland epithelium and the MFGM may control the function of maternal T-cells in the mammary gland and milk, respectively. They may also impact neonatal T-cells, although human BTN1A1 is digested rapidly in the infant stomach (102).

Lactadherin, also known as MFG-E8, is another MFGM protein with T-cell regulatory function. Lactadherin supplementation of formula led to the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T-cells to $CD3^+CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{reg} in Peyer's patches of rat pup ileum, an important segment of the intestine that is involved in the immune response (173). In the same study, expression of $OX62^+CD4^+SIRP^+$ dendritic cells (DCs) increased in Peyer's patches, which was coupled with an increase in production of

the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 (173). These patterns in the T-cell population and cytokine production were shown to continue after weaning (173), suggesting a long-lasting effect of lactadherin supplementation. Previously, a positive correlation was observed between lactadherin concentrations in breast milk and protective effects against rotavirus infection (measured by morbidity) in Mexican infants, which was independent of the level of secretory IgA and other milk components such as BTN and mucin (119). This observation is supported by cell culture models showing that human lactadherin limits the infectivity of rotavirus in Caco-2 cells (174). Furthermore, lactadherin prevents tissue damage caused by prolonged inflammation by clearing apoptotic cells, thereby facilitating immune resolution (127, 172). To accomplish this, lactadherin binds to phosphatidylserine on the external membrane of apoptotic cells via its C-terminal V/VIII like domains, and its epidermal growth factor (EGF) domain contains the arginine-glycine-aspartate (RGD) motif that interacts with $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ and $\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$ integrin receptors of phagocytes (172). The binding of lactadherin to integrin receptors leads to activation of the signaling cascade that enables macrophages to engulf apoptotic cells (127). Delivery of lactadherin by the MFGM may be critical because active mitosis, which occurs during intestinal maturation, is accompanied by a high rate of apoptosis due to the many errors made in DNA replication and the subsequent clearance of mutated cells by the p53 protein (189).

Another minor MFGM protein associated with the developing immune system is milk alkaline phosphatase (AP), whose antiinflammatory activity in the gut may contribute to protection against inflammation that is induced by the presence of large quantities of lipids from a high-fat diet (190). Although the role of AP in MFGM is not entirely clear, AP is endogenously produced by enterocytes, which, as a host defense mechanism, dephosphorylates pro-inflammatory molecules such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), inhibiting TLR-mediated NF κ B signaling and subsequent inflammation in the gut (190). Milk phospholipids and fatty acids, particularly LCFA, are strong stimulators of intestinal AP activity (190).

Osteopontin (OPN) is another minor MFGM protein that is involved in the development of both the innate and adaptive immune system of newborns. OPN functions as an opsonin, binding directly to bacteria such as *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *S. aureus* to enhance phagocytosis by macrophages (191). OPN is also involved in balancing the Th1 and Th2 immune responses as a cytokine, where it induces the Th1 immune response through elevation of IL-12 production from macrophages, while suppressing the Th2 immune response through lowering IL-10 secretion (192).

Milk lipids have been shown to interact with milk proteins during digestion, altering the types of peptides remaining in the gut, which in turn affect their bioactivities. In a piglet model, a formula incorporating both milk fat and vegetable oil stabilized by a protein-MFGM fragment mixture inhibited digestion of β -casein and β -lactoglobulin, thereby increasing the proximal jejunum and ileum content of immunoreactive peptides derived from those proteins. This was not observed in animals fed a formula incorporating vegetable oil with the same emulsifier nor a formula with vegetable oil stabilized only with a protein mixture TABLE 4 | MFGM proteins and lipids involved in the infant intestinal immune system.

MFGM protein	 Functions Proteolysis of α-lactalbumin generates peptides with bactericidal or immune-stimulatory activities (164, 165). Protects against diarrhea caused by enteropathogenic <i>Escherichia coli</i> (166). 				
α-lactalbumin					
Butyrophilin subfamily 1 member A1	Involved in the regulation of lipid secretion (167).				
(BTN1A1)	 Involved in T-cell proliferation and metabolism (168). 				
Human leukocyte antigen II (HLAII)	• May present maternal antigens to infant T-cells (169–171).				
Lactadherin (PAS VI/VII, MFG-E8)	Regulates apoptosis by phagocytes (127, 172).				
	 Induces anti-inflammatory responses (173). 				
	 Regulates T-cell proliferation and cytokine production profile by dendritic cells (173). 				
	 Involved in the protective effect against rotavirus (119, 174). 				
Lysozyme	 Inhibits the growth of Gram-negative bacteria by disrupting the outer membrane and cooperating with lactoferrin (175). 				
Mucin-1 (MUC1)	 Binds to microorganisms and chemicals to prevent infection and inflammation (176). Inhibits the growth of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium (177), S-fimbriated Escherichia coli (178), and rotavirus (179). Suppresses inflammation caused by Pseudomonas aeruginosa and its flagellin by down-regulating Toll-like 				
	receptor pathways (180, 181).				
Osteopontin (OPN)	 Binds to Streptococcus agalactiae and Staphylococcus aureus, enhancing phagocytosis by macrophages (162). 				
	 Induces Th1 immune response (elevating IL-12 production from the macrophages) while suppressing the Th2 immune response (reducing IL-10 secretion) [162)]. 				
Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR)	Generates reactive oxygen species with antibacterial properties (182).				
Gangliosides	 Regulates activity and functionalities of immune cells including lymphocytes and dendritic cell, playing a role in developing immune tolerance (41). 				

(8, 9). This indicates that milk fat (mainly TAG) and differences in structural organization of molecules at the interface are the contributors for the observed modulatory effects.

Gangliosides in the MFGM are involved in multiple aspects of the mucosal immune system. Dietary gangliosides have been shown to modulate intestinal cytokine and IgA production (41) as well as lymphocyte activation (193). An inhibitory role of GM3 and GD3 on dendritic cell functionalities has also been reported (41), suggesting that in addition to promoting defense against aggressive antigens, milk gangliosides may promote tolerance against non-aggressive antigens, which is equally important during the first stages of life. GD3 levels in milk are higher in colostrum and GD3 has superior inhibitory activity against dendritic cell functions compared with GM3, indicating that immune modulation by gangliosides is more prominent during early infancy (41). This suggests that there may be a relationship between compositional changes in breast milk and infant gut maturation over the course of lactation.

Limitations in Studies of MFGM Functions in Infant Immune Development

There are some limitations in studies of MFGM and its roles in infant immune development. Most of the proposed immune mechanisms are based on studies focusing on isolated components of MFGM rather than intact MFGM. Indeed, the fate of MFGM through the neonatal and infant GI tract during digestion remains to be elucidated. In order to better understand how MFGM is able to modulate the intestine, future studies should examine how MFGM is digested, and in which part of the GI tract bioactive components of MFGM proteins are liberated from their complex structure. Furthermore, because the MFGM composition changes dynamically during lactation, and given that there is variability among individuals (102), identifying those components of the MFGM responsible for infant immune development would help move the field forward. Specifically, there is a lack of data concerning which components of MFGM in human milk are highly conserved and/or variable (not only in quality but also in quantity). This information may help us better understand the critical components of MFGM, and define which are important for maternal and/or infant health. For example, lactose exhibits very low variation (4% CV) among individuals, which suggests that this major osmotic component that regulates milk volume is highly conserved and may be important for the developing infant (194). Nonetheless, it is becoming more evident that MFGM proteins support the proper education and development of the immune system in infants.

IMPACT ON THE INFANT GUT MICROBIOTA

The human microbiota represents a community of commensal, symbiotic, and pathogenic microorganisms inhabiting the body

(195). From the earliest moments in life, the microbiome is progressively built on a foundation initiated by key events, including delivery method (196), gestational age (197), antibiotic use (198), and nutrition (199), and eventually stabilizes into an adult-like state by approximately 12 months of age (198). The gut microbiota is dynamic during early life and is critically important for the maturing infant GI tract and the immune system as it establishes the basis for long-term metabolic and immune health (200). Nutrition remains a crucial factor during early development as dietary components are in constant interaction with the nascent microbiome, and emerging evidence suggests that the MFG, or components thereof, may contribute toward its evolution at this early stage of life. Structural differences between human MFG, which are enveloped by the MFGM, and infant formulas, which contain homogenized vegetable fats emulsified with dairy proteins and/or emulsifiers, influence the extent to which nutrients are digested in the intestine and have downstream effects on the gut microbiota. The following sections summarize evidence for a modulatory role of MFG and its components on the gut microbiota of the developing infant.

MFG Core Lipids

The structure of human MFG and specific positional distribution of fatty acids may explain differences in the gut microbiota between breast-fed and formula-fed infants. Human milk contains β -16:0 (palmitic acid esterified on the *sn*-2 position) in contrast to vegetable-sourced palmitic acid, which is esterified in the sn-1 or -3 positions (201). One study found that supplementing an infant formula with β -16:0 increased fecal abundance of Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium genera in infants after 6 weeks of feeding compared to a control formula containing vegetable-sourced 16:0 (202). The mechanisms behind this observation need to be determined, but the position of palmitic acid on the TAG suggests that lipid structure may be important for gut microbiota. Similar bifidogenic results were shown with an infant formula supplemented with both β -16:0 and a mixture of prebiotic oligosaccharides (203) and formulas containing high amounts of β -16:0 with and without supplemented oligofructose (204).

In contrast to a formula containing only vegetable-derived lipids, a combination of milk fat and MFGM fragments altered fecal microbial composition in piglets by increasing Proteobacteria abundance at the expense of Firmicutes (which included the Escherichia/Shigella, and Klebsiella genera), as well as increasing Bacteroidetes (including members of the Parabacteriodes genus) (9). This may partly be explained by an increased intestinal content of immune modulatory peptides (as discussed earlier) as well as milk lipid-derived metabolites. However, studies on the gut microbial composition of breastfed compared to formula-fed infants found the opposite effect, where a higher abundance of Firmicutes was observed in breastfed infants, at the expense of Proteobacteria (205). Interestingly, differences have also been observed in the rate at which large and small MFG molecules are digested by pancreatic lipase, the former of which are hydrolyzed more slowly (206) likely affecting the accessibility of lipid products of the MFG core for bacterial metabolism.

Another study found that an infant formula high in MCFAs (coconut oil) emulsified with bovine MFGM (Lacprodan[®] MFGM-10) enriched the bacterial families Bacteriodaceae, Desulfovibrionaceae, Rikenellaceae, and Porphyromonadaceae, while formulas made with LCFAs emulsified with soy lecithin increased the abundance of Enterobacteriaceae, Erysipelotrichaceae, Coriobacteriaceae, and Enterococcaceae in the colon of germ-free mice (207). The effect of dietary fatty acids on the gut microbiota may also depend on the chain length and desaturation degree of the fatty acids (207). Human milk contains high amounts of medium chain fatty acids (207), such as C10:0 and C12:0, which have previously been shown to inhibit the growth of several strains of food-borne pathogens (208). Lipolysis of MFG core lipids is capable of causing cell lysis in undesirable microbes through the detergent-like characteristics of free fatty acids, and monoglycerides (113, 209).

An interesting feature of MFG lipids is that they can influence which protein digestion products enter the colon by altering the rate at which proteins are hydrolyzed in the small intestine (9) (as discussed earlier in section Intestinal Immune Maturation). A review on bacterial utilization of undigested luminal proteins and peptides was previously published (210). Overall, these results suggest that lipids derived from milk fat may indirectly enrich specific bacterial populations in the infant gut; however, additional studies are required to understand how this occurs.

MFGM Lipids

It is conceivable that remnants of the MFGM escaping digestion in the lumen proceed to the large intestine and support the colonization of microbial communities (15). Comparison of the colonic bacteria of germ-free mice fed two different types of emulsifiers, soy lecithin vs. MFGM phospholipids (Lacprodan[®] PL-20, Arla, Denmark), revealed that MFGM phospholipids tended to enrich Porphyromonadaceae, while soy lecithin tended to enrich Enterobacteriaceae and Enterococcaceae. Interestingly, mice fed MFGM phospholipids showed lower cecal concentrations of branched SCFAs (isovaleric acid, isobutyric acid), which are products of protein metabolism, compared to soy lecithin fed mice, suggesting a decrease in proteolytic activity in the ceca (207). In a separate study, rat pups fed a formula supplemented with bovine MFGM (Lacprodan[®] MFGM-10, Arla, Denmark) experienced an increased gut microbial species richness and evenness compared with rat pups fed a formula containing vegetable fat. At the phylum level, the microbiota of rat pups fed MFGM were more similar to the group reared on dam's milk, with similar levels of Firmicutes and Proteobacteria. In contrast, the control pups on regular formula experienced increased Proteobacteria and reduced Firmicutes. In the same study, Lactobacilli were determined to be the most abundant in dam-reared pups, present in pups supplemented with MFGM, but not detected in pups fed control formula (152).

In addition to supporting the growth of beneficial microbes, MFGM also exhibits antimicrobial activity that appears to protect against the development of infectious diseases. For example, a double-blind randomized controlled trial (RCT) showed that during the first 12 months of life, infants fed an experimental formula supplemented with bovine-derived MFGM (Lacprodan[®] MFGM-10) from 2 until 6 months of age experienced fewer acute otitis media (AOM) infections, and less fever than those receiving a control formula (7). These findings are supported by the observation that breast-fed infants experience lower rates of AOM in comparison to formula-fed infants (211, 212), and parallel another RCT in pre-school children (mean age 4.4 ± 0.9 y), which showed that consuming 200 mL chocolate milk containing an MFGM concentrate derived from bovine milk enriched with phospholipids (INPULSE[®]) daily for 4 months resulted in fewer days with fever, a reduction in fever incidence, and improved behavioral outcomes compared to children consuming a non-enriched chocolate milk control (213).

MFGM polar lipids such as sphingophospholipids and gangliosides have been shown to exhibit antimicrobial activities and protect against lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation associated with Gram-negative bacteria (153, 214) and the development of colitis after *Clostridium difficile* infection (152). Degradation products of sphingomyelin, such as sphingosine, have shown bactericidal activities against specific bacteria (208, 215). Adult mice fed a high-fat diet supplemented with sphingomyelin sourced from bovine milk resulted in lower fecal Gram-negative bacteria while enriching bifidobacteria (216). In preterm newborns, infants fed a formula supplemented with bovine gangliosides resulted in reduced *E. coli* fecal counts and enriched *Bifidobacterium* compared to a standard formula (193).

MFGM Proteins

The protective mechanism behind the anti-infection activities associated with the MFG may also be related to MFGM proteins. For example, xanthine oxidase and antimicrobial proteins such as lactoferrin, lysozyme, and secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA) are known antibacterial and/or antiviral proteins. Bovine MFGM has demonstrated antimicrobial activity, whose *in vitro* digestive products have been shown to selectively suppress the growth of *Salmonella typhimurium* (217).

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR), a major oxidative enzyme present in the MFGM, generates reactive oxidative species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide and superoxide anion, as well as reactive nitrogen species (RNS), which may play a role in the antimicrobial defense of the GI tract (122). A decoy effect of surface carbohydrates of XOR has also been suggested (122). Indeed, a growth inhibitory activity of XOR was demonstrated against E. coli (218) and S. enteritides (182). One interesting feature of XOR associated in immune defense of the infant is that infant saliva contains hypoxanthine and xanthine, substrates for XOR, in concentrations that are 10-fold higher than in adults, resulting in the generation of sufficient quantities of hydrogen peroxidase to inhibit the growth of *S. aureus* and *Salmonella* spp. (219). Interestingly, the enzyme activity of XOR in human milk peaks during the first few weeks of lactation likely as a protective measure for the immature gut at this stage, diminishing thereafter despite constant levels of protein expression (220). XOR is located in the inner leaflet of the MFGM, and its release and activation in the oral phase may provide a first line of defense against pathogen invasion. Indeed, a study on the oral microbiota in infants (<2 mo) given formula supplemented with bovine MFGM found that *Moraxella catarrhalis*, one of the most common bacteria associated with otitis, was less prevalent in oral swabs at 4 months of age compared to infants fed standard formula (221).

 α -Lactalbumin, a minor protein embedded in the MFGM, is digested by pepsin, trypsin, and chymotrypsin during passage through the GI tract (97), generating bactericidal peptides (e.g., Gly-Leu-Phe; GLF peptides) (165) that protect from infection by enhancing macrophage phagocytosis and stimulating oxidative metabolism in neutrophils (164). Supplementation of infant formula with α-lactalbumin has previously shown protection against diarrhea by enteropathogenic E. coli in infant rhesus macaques (166). Another minor component of the MFGM, lysozyme, has potent bactericidal properties against both Grampositive and -negative bacteria due to the presence of 1,4-β-N-acetylmuraminidase which can degrade bacterial cell walls (222). This action by lysozyme is supported by lactoferrin, which sequesters iron and directly interacts with the negatively charged Lipid A moiety of LPS to damage the bacterial membrane (114).

These data together provide evidence of the supportive effect of MFGM on the mucosal immune system, and that MFGM serves as a key component in milk enhancing intestinal defense during early life, while establishing stable commensals in the gut.

MFGM Glycobiome and the Infant Gut Microbiota

The MFGM contains glycoconjugates (glycolipids and glycoproteins) harboring both N-linked and O-lined glycan moieties (12). About 70% of bovine glycolipids in milk are associated with the MFGM (223). The glycosylation patterns of these glycoconjugates in milk are tightly regulated by gene expression (98, 224), and determine resistance to digestive enzymes and functionality in the gut. The ability of certain bacteria to selectively bind to the intestinal mucosa through recognition of specific sugar moieties influences susceptibility to infection (11). The glycoproteins (MUC1, lactadherin) and gangliosides of the MFGM have the ability to interfere with pathogen recognition of, or attachment to, the intestinal mucosa, causing the pathogens to instead interface with the antimicrobial components embedded within the MFGM (225). For example, several glycoproteins derived from porcine MFGM were able to inhibit intestinal adhesion of E. coli F4ac (226). Mucin has been shown to inhibit the invasion of common enteric pathogenic bacteria such as the Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium SL 1344 (177), S-fimbriated Escherichia coli (178), and rotavirus (179), which could partly explain the lower risk of Salmonella infection in breast-fed infants compared to formula-fed infants (177). The structural diversity of MFGM-bound oligosaccharides greatly differs between mammalian species (11, 146-148), and little is known about the functional differences. However, it is tempting to speculate that the differences have to do with the specificity of host-microbial interactions.

Probiotic/Prebiotic Effects of MFGM in the Infant Gut

It has been hypothesized that probiotic bacteria (such as members of the Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium genera) are able to pass from the mammary gland through to the infant colon by adhering to components of the MFGM, suggesting that the MFGM may be a probiotic carrier (227). Recently, Pannaraj et al. (228) established that bacteria found naturally in breast milk are able to seed the infant gut during the early stages of gut development (228). Another study showed that select OTUs assigned to Bifidobacterium, specifically B. breve, B. bifidum, and B. longum, were identified in breast milk and infant feces of the same mother-infant pair, but not in the oral cavity, suggesting that breast milk provides an important inoculum of specific bacteria for seeding the infant gut (229). Bacteria (including Lactobacillus) present in milk have been shown to preferentially associate with the MFGM utilizing glycan adhesion factors that enable them to bind to mucin (227). In addition, bacteria with greater surface hydrophobicity, such as L. reuteri, are better able to adhere to the MFGM (230), a phenomenon that is related to properties of the bacterial cell surface. In this context, several patents have been published for utilizing the MFGM as a probiotic carrier, which have recently been reviewed with a focus on lactic acid bacteria (227).

Mucin and lactadherin have been detected intact in gastric aspirate samples of pre-term infants fed breast milk, which suggests that MFGM glycoproteins remain stable and are able to survive gastric digestion (102). The MFGM may therefore confer a prebiotic effect, potentially providing a source of carbon to support the growth of the colonic bacteria (231). Indeed, members of both the Ruminococcus and Bifidobacterium genera are capable of producing extracellular glycosidases to digest glycans and glycolipids (232). Interestingly, Lactobacillus paracasei, and Bifidobacterium spp. isolated from cheese products were shown to survive in carbohydrate-restricted media by utilizing membrane-bound sugars on the MFGM as an energy source (233). This prebiotic effect is likely due to the sialic acid residues (234) on the gangliosides, which can be utilized by B. infantis and B. bifidum (231). This may account for the increased SCFAs observed during in vitro incubation of fecal material with MFGM isolates (235).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

MFGs are complex structures that are found in breast milk and growing evidence suggests a role for these important biomolecules in the early stages of human life. The observation that MFGs are heterogeneous in size and composition suggests that MFGs take on multiple roles in the developing neonate. It is known that the rate at which MFGs are digested is related to their diameter, and that proteins in the MFGM of some globules are able to resist pepsin hydrolysis better than others. Unique features of the MFGM, such as the lipid rafts, which are formed through the integration of cholesterol with highly

saturated sphingolipids, create a rigid structure that enables minor components of the MFGM with bioactive properties to survive digestion. The extensive glycosylation of major and minor proteins found in the MFGM also appears to help them resist digestion, thereby enabling their passage to the colon intact. Thus, it is intriguing to consider that, in addition to their role as an energy-dense source of nutrition, the MFG may aid in the development of intestinal structure and the immune system, as well as the establishment of the intestinal microbiota in the neonate. Most studies published to date rely on data generated from animal models as the methods required to rigorously examine these research questions remain too invasive for human studies. However, important observations have already been made, including the finding that MFGM supplementation can accelerate intestinal development and improve intestinal integrity and vascular tone. Furthermore, several proteins associated with the MFGM are able to modulate the production and activity of immuno-modulatory components, such as Tcells, providing mechanistic evidence to support the role of MFG in development of the immune system. Finally, several animal studies and a growing number of studies involving infants show that the MFG and its components shift core microbial populations in the lower gut via multiple mechanisms, including the action of MFGM fragments that are resistant to digestion, through the unique distribution of fatty acids in the lipid core, and by antimicrobial activities associated with some MFGM components. Future studies should aim to elucidate the digestive fate of individual MFG and MFGM components to better understand their metabolic fate in different regions of the GI tract. As discussed, the MFG can be affected by maternal genetics, diet and environmental factors, and a deeper understanding of the connection between those factors, MFG composition, and downstream effects in the infant may improve dietary strategy of nursing mothers. Further, data on biological conservation as well as variations in MFG components observed among mammalian species (e.g., bovine vs. human) would provide guidelines for the development of infant formulas that meet the specific needs of human infants in cases where breastfeeding cannot be done. Overall, a growing body of literature continues to unravel the unique features of the MFG which suggest it plays important roles in preventing infection, supporting neurodevelopment, and shaping the maturing immune system and gut microbiota. These characteristics further underscore the importance of breast milk for the developing neonate.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL, EP, YH, JL, MP, and AW drafted the manuscript. OH, BL, and CS edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This project was made possible in part by support from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture Hatch Project 1005945, and the Kinsella Endowed Chair in Food, Nutrition, and Health (awarded to CS).

REFERENCES

- Hettinga K, Van Valenberg H, De Vries S, Boeren S, Van Hooijdonk T, Van Arendonk J, et al. The host defense proteome of human and bovine milk. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e19433. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019433
- Kramer MS, Kakuma R. Optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2012). CD003517. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003517.pub2
- Nathan Back IRC, Abel L, John D, Lambris RP. Bioacitve components of milk. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2008) 606:129–30. doi: 10.1002/9780813821504
- Smoczynski M. Role of phospholipid flux during milk secretion in the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2017) 22:117–29. doi: 10.1007/s10911-017-9376-9
- Mitoulas LR, Gurrin LC, Doherty DA, Sherriff JL, Hartmann PE. Infant intake of fatty acids from human milk over the first year of lactation. *Br J Nutr.* (2003) 90:979–86. doi: 10.1079/BJN2003979
- Zavaleta N, Kvistgaard AS, Graverholt G, Respicio G, Guija H, Valencia N, et al. Efficacy of an MFGM-enriched complementary food in diarrhea, anemia, and micronutrient status in infants. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2011) 53:561–8. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e318225cdaf
- Timby N, Hernell O, Vaarala O, Melin M, Lonnerdal B, Domellof M. Infections in infants fed formula supplemented with bovine milk fat globule membranes. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2015) 60:384–9. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000624
- Hernell O, Timby N, Domellof M, Lonnerdal B. Clinical benefits of milk fat globule membranes for infants and children. J Pediatr. (2016) 173(Suppl.):S60–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.02.077
- Le Huerou-Luron I, Bouzerzour K, Ferret-Bernard S, Menard O, Le Normand L, Perrier C, et al. A mixture of milk and vegetable lipids in infant formula changes gut digestion, mucosal immunity and microbiota composition in neonatal piglets. *Eur J Nutr.* (2016) 57:463–76. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1329-3
- Lee H, Zavaleta N, Chen S-Y, Lönnerdal B, Slupsky C. Effect of bovine milk fat globule membranes as a complementary food on the serum metabolome and immune markers of 6-11-month-old Peruvian infants. *npj Sci Food* (2018) 2:6. doi: 10.1038/s41538-018-0014-8
- Georgi G, Bartke N, Wiens F, Stahl B. Functional glycans and glycoconjugates in human milk. Am J Clin Nutr (2013) 98:578s-585s. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.039065
- Pacheco AR, Barile D, Underwood MA, Mills DA. The impact of the milk glycobiome on the neonate gut microbiota. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci.* (2015) 3:419–45. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-111112
- 13. Jensen RG. Lipids in human milk. *Lipids* (1999) 34:1243–71. doi: 10.1007/s11745-999-0477-2
- Argov N, Lemay DG, German JB. Milk fat globule structure & function; nanosciece comes to milk production. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2008) 19:617–23. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2008.1007.1006
- Bourlieu C, Michalski MC. Structure-function relationship of the milk fat globule. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2015) 18:118–27. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000138
- Innis SM. Human milk: maternal dietary lipids and infant development. Proc Nutr Soc. (2007) 66:397–404. doi: 10.1017/S0029665107005666
- Parodi PW. Milk fat in human nutrition. Aust J Dairy Technol (2004) 59:3. Available online at: https://search.proquest.com/docview/199395366? accountid=14505
- Innis SM. Palmitic acid in early human development. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2016) 56:1952–9. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2015.1018045
- Lim JH, Gerhart-Hines Z, Dominy JE, Lee Y, Kim S, Tabata M, et al. Oleic acid stimulates complete oxidation of fatty acids through protein kinase Adependent activation of SIRT1-PGC1alpha complex. *J Biol Chem.* (2013) 288:7117–26. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.415729
- Elias PM, Brown BE, Ziboh VA. The permeability barrier in essential fatty acid deficiency: evidence for a direct role for linoleic acid in barrier function. J Invest Dermatol. (1980) 74:230–3. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep125 41775
- Clark KJ, Makrides M, Neumann MA, Gibson RA. Determination of the optimal ratio of linoleic acid to alpha-linolenic acid in infant formulas. J Pediatr. (1992) 120:S151–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81250-8

- Innis SM. Dietary omega 3 fatty acids and the developing brain. Brain Res. (2008) 1237:35–43. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.08.078
- James MJ, Gibson RA, Cleland LG. Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory mediator production. Am J Clin Nutr (2000) 71:343s-8s. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.1.343s
- Clandinin MT, Chappell JE, Leong S, Heim T, Swyer PR, Chance GW. Intrauterine fatty acid accretion rates in human brain: implications for fatty acid requirements. *Early Hum Dev.* (1980) 4:121–9. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(80)90015-8
- Neuringer M, Connor WE, Lin DS, Barstad L, Luck S. Biochemical and functional effects of prenatal and postnatal omega 3 fatty acid deficiency on retina and brain in rhesus monkeys. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:4021–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.11.4021
- Zhang X, Majerus PW. Phosphatidylinositol signalling reactions. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (1998) 9:153–60. doi: 10.1006/scdb.1997.0220
- Vance DE. Role of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis in the regulation of lipoprotein homeostasis. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2008) 19:229–34. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e3282fee935
- Vance JE. Phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine in mammalian cells: two metabolically related aminophospholipids. J Lipid Res. (2008) 49:1377–87. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R700020-JLR200
- Kimura AK, Kim H-Y. Phosphatidylserine synthase 2: high efficiency for synthesizing phosphatidylserine containing docosahexaenoic acid. J Lipid Res. (2013) 54:214–22. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M031989
- Nakamura S, Kiyohara Y, Jinnai H, Hitomi T, Ogino C, Yoshida K, et al. Mammalian phospholipase D: phosphatidylethanolamine as an essential component. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:4300–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.9.4300
- Rajkumar K, Nichita A, Anoor PK, Raju S, Singh SS, Burgula S. Understanding perspectives of signalling mechanisms regulating PEBP1 function. *Cell Biochem Funct*. (2016) 34:394–403. doi: 10.1002/cbf.3198
- Duan RD, Cheng Y, Jonsson BA, Ohlsson L, Herbst A, Hellstrom-Westas L, et al. Human meconium contains significant amounts of alkaline sphingomyelinase, neutral ceramidase, and sphingolipid metabolites. *Pediatr Res.* (2007) 61:61–6. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000250534.92934.c2
- 33. Paik JH, Chae S, Lee MJ, Thangada S, Hla T. Sphingosine 1-phosphateinduced endothelial cell migration requires the expression of EDG-1 and EDG-3 receptors and Rho-dependent activation of alpha vbeta3and beta1-containing integrins. *J Biol Chem.* (2001) 276:11830–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M009422200
- 34. Spiegel S, Milstien S. The outs and the ins of sphingosine-1-phosphate in immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 11:403–15. doi: 10.1038/nri2974
- Gurnida DA, Rowan AM, Idjradinata P, Muchtadi D, Sekarwana N. Association of complex lipids containing gangliosides with cognitive development of 6-month-old infants. *Early Hum Dev.* (2012) 88:595–601. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2012.01.003
- Park EJ, Suh M, Ramanujam K, Steiner K, Begg D, Clandinin MT. Diet-induced changes in membrane gangliosides in rat intestinal mucosa, plasma and brain. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2005) 40:487–95. doi: 10.1097/01.MPG.0000157199.25923.64
- Birecki CJ, Drozdowski LA, Suh M, Park EJ, Clandinin MT, Thomson AB. Dietary gangliosides enhance in vitro lipid uptake in weanling rats. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2006) 42:59–65. doi: 10.1097/01.mpg.0000187567.79633.a7
- Park EJ, Suh M, Thomson AB, Ramanujam KS, Clandinin MT. Dietary gangliosides increase the content and molecular percentage of ether phospholipids containing 20:4n-6 and 22:6n-3 in weanling rat intestine. J Nutr Biochem. (2006) 17:337–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2005.08.005
- Da Silva TF, Sousa VF, Malheiro AR, Brites P. The importance of ether-phospholipids: A view from the perspective of mouse models. *BBA Mol Basis Dis.* (2012) 1822:1501–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2012. 05.014
- Yu RK, Tsai YT, Ariga T, Yanagisawa M. Structures, biosynthesis, and functions of gangliosides-an overview. J Oleo Sci. (2011) 60:537–44. doi: 10.5650/jos.60.537
- Rueda R. The role of dietary gangliosides on immunity and the prevention of infection. Br J Nutr (2007) 98 Suppl 1:S68–73. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507832946

- 42. Nilsson A. Role of sphingolipids in infant gut health and immunity. *J Pediatr.* (2016) 173(Suppl.):S53–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.02.076
- 43. Zibadi S, Watson RR, Preedy VR. *Handbook of Dietary and Nutritional Aspects of Human Breast Milk*. Wageningen Academic Publishers (2013). p. 315–334.
- Petersen EN, Chung HW, Nayebosadri A, Hansen SB. Kinetic disruption of lipid rafts is a mechanosensor for phospholipase D. Nat Commun. (2016) 7:13873. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13873
- 45. Koletzko B. Human milk lipids. Ann Nutr Metab. (2016) 69(Suppl. 2):28–40. doi: 10.1159/000452819
- 46. Yuhas R, Pramuk K, Lien EL. Human milk fatty acid composition from nine countries varies most in DHA. *Lipids* (2006) 41:851–8. doi: 10.1007/s11745-006-5040-7
- Giuffrida F, Cruz-Hernandez C, Fluck B, Tavazzi I, Thakkar SK, Destaillats F, et al. Quantification of phospholipids classes in human milk. *Lipids* (2013) 48:1051–8. doi: 10.1007/s11745-013-3825-z
- Ma L, Macgibbon AKH, Jan Mohamed HJB, Loy S, Rowan A, Mcjarrow P, et al. Determination of ganglioside concentrations in breast milk and serum from Malaysian mothers using a high performance liquid chromatographymass spectrometry-multiple reaction monitoring method. *Int Dairy J.* (2015) 49:62–71. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2015.05.006
- Garcia C, Innis S. Structure of the human milk fat globule. *Lipid Technol.* (2013) 25:223–6. doi: 10.1002/lite.201300303
- Grote V, Verduci E, Scaglioni S, Vecchi F, Contarini G, Giovannini M, et al. Breast milk composition and infant nutrient intakes during the first 12 months of life. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 70:250–6. doi: 10.1038/ejcn. 2015.162
- Innis SM, Dyer R, Nelson C. Evidence that palmitic acid is absorbed as sn-2 monoacylglycerol from human milk by breast-fed infants. *Lipids* (1994) 29:541–5. doi: 10.1007/BF02536625
- LóPez-LóPez A, LóPez-Sabater M, Campoy-Folgoso C, Rivero-Urgel M, Castellote-Bargalló A. Fatty acid and sn-2 fatty acid composition in human milk from Granada (Spain) and in infant formulas. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 56:1242–54. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601470
- Straarup E, Lauritzen L, Faerk J, Høy C-E, Michaelsen K. The stereospecific triacylglycerol structures and fatty acid profiles of human milk and infant formulas. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2006) 42:293–9. doi: 10.1097/01.mpg.0000214155.51036.4f
- Breckenridge W, Marai L, Kuksis A. Triglyceride structure of human milk fat. Can J Biochem. (1969) 47:761–9. doi: 10.1139/o69-118
- Larson BL, Smith VR. Biosynthesis and Secretion of Milk/Diseases (2013). Elsevier Science. New York, NY; London: Academic Press (2013). p. 31–69.
- Vanderghem C, Bodson P, Danthine S, Paquot M, Deroanne C, Blecker C. Milk fat globule membrane and buttermilks: from composition to valorization. *Biotechnol Agron Soc Environ* (2010) 14:485. Available online at: https://popups.uliege.be:443/1780-4507/index.php?id=5828
- Contarini G, Povolo M. Phospholipids in milk fat: composition, biological and technological significance, and analytical strategies. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2013) 14:2808–31. doi: 10.3390/ijms14022808
- Murthy AV, Guyomarc'h F, Paboeuf G, Vie V, Lopez C. Cholesterol strongly affects the organization of lipid monolayers studied as models of the milk fat globule membrane: Condensing effect and change in the lipid domain morphology. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1848:2308–16. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.06.014
- Lopez C, Briard-Bion V, Menard O, Rousseau F, Pradel P, Besle J-M. Phospholipid, sphingolipid, and fatty acid compositions of the milk fat globule membrane are modified by diet. *J Agric Food Chem* (2008) 56:5226– 36. doi: 10.1021/jf7036104
- Abrahamse E, Minekus M, Van Aken GA, Van De Heijning B, Knol J, Bartke N, et al. Development of the digestive system—experimental challenges and approaches of infant lipid digestion. *Food Dig.* (2012) 3:63–77. doi: 10.1007/s13228-012-0025-x
- Bitman J, Wood DL, Mehta NR, Hamosh P, Hamosh M. Comparison of the phospholipid composition of breast milk from mothers of term and preterm infants during lactation. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1984) 40:1103–19. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/40.5.1103
- 62. Newburg DS, Chaturvedi P. Neutral glycolipids of human and bovine milk. *Lipids* (1992) 27:923–7.

- 63. Svennerholm L. The gangliosides. J Lipid Res. (1964) 5:145-55.
- 64. Rueda R, Maldonado J, Narbona E, Gil A. Neonatal dietary gangliosides. *Early Hum Dev.* (1998) 53(Suppl.):S135-47.
- Argov N, Wachsmann-Hogiu S, Freeman SL, Huser T, Lebrilla CB, German JB. Size-dependent lipid content in human milk fat globules. J Agric Food Chem. (2008) 56:7446–50. doi: 10.1021/jf801026a
- Cohen BC, Raz C, Shamay A, Argov-Argaman N. Lipid droplet fusion in mammary epithelial cells is regulated by phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2017) 22:235–49. doi: 10.1007/s10911-017-9386-7
- Cohen B-C, Shamay A, Argov-Argaman N. Regulation of lipid droplet size in mammary epithelial cells by remodeling of membrane lipid composition—a potential mechanism. *PLoS ONE* (2015)10:e0121645. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121645
- Fauquant C, Briard V, Leconte N, Michalski MC. Differently sized native milk fat globules separated by microfiltration: fatty acid composition of the milk fat globule membrane and triglyceride core. *Eur J Lipid Sci Technol.* (2005) 107:80–6. doi: 10.1002/ejlt.200401063
- 69. Garcia C, Antona C, Robert B, Lopez C, Armand M. The size and interfacial composition of milk fat globules are key factors controlling triglycerides bioavailability in simulated human gastro-duodenal digestion. *Food Hydrocoll*. (2014) 35:494–504. doi: 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2013.07.005
- Singh H, Gallier S. Nature's complex emulsion: The fat globules of milk. Food Hydrocoll. (2017) 68:81–9. doi: 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.10.011
- Zou XQ, Guo Z, Huang JH, Jin QZ, Cheong LZ, Wang XG, et al. Human milk fat globules from different stages of lactation: a lipid composition analysis and microstructure characterization. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2012) 60:7158–67. doi: 10.1021/jf3013597
- Argov-Argaman N, Smilowitz JT, Bricarello DA, Barboza M, Lerno L, Froehlich JW, et al. Lactosomes: structural and compositional classification of unique nanometer-sized protein lipid particles of human milk. J Agric Food Chem. (2010) 58:11234–42. doi: 10.1021/jf102495s
- Mcmanaman JL. Lipid transport in the lactating mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2014) 19:35–42. doi: 10.1007/s10911-014-9318-8
- 74. Barbas C, Herrera E. Lipid composition and vitamin E content in human colostrum and mature milk. *J Physiol Biochem*. (1998) 54:167–73.
- Giuffrida F, Cruz-Hernandez C, Bertschy E, Fontannaz P, Masserey Elmelegy I, Tavazzi I, et al. Temporal changes of human breast milk lipids of Chinese mothers. *Nutrients* (2016) 8:715. doi: 10.3390/nu8110715
- 76. Jiang J, Wu K, Yu Z, Ren Y, Zhao Y, Jiang Y, et al. Changes in fatty acid composition of human milk over lactation stages and relationship with dietary intake in Chinese women. *Food Funct.* (2016) 7:3154–62. doi: 10.1039/C6FO00304D
- Sala-Vila A, Castellote AI, Rodriguez-Palmero M, Campoy C, Lopez-Sabater MC. Lipid composition in human breast milk from Granada (Spain): changes during lactation. *Nutrition* (2005) 21:467–73. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2004.08.020
- Martin-Sosa S, Martin MJ, Castro MD, Cabezas JA, Hueso P. Lactational changes in the fatty acid composition of human milk gangliosides. *Lipids* (2004) 39:111–6. doi: 10.1007/s11745-004-1208-4
- Bode L, Beermann C, Mank M, Kohn G, Boehm G. human and bovine milk gangliosides differ in their fatty acid composition. J Nutr. (2004) 134:3016–20. doi: 10.1093/jn/134.11.3016
- Nakamura MT, Nara TY. Structure, function, and dietary regulation of delta6, delta5, and delta9 desaturases. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2004) 24:345–76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.24.121803.063211
- 81. Xie L, Innis SM. Genetic variants of the FADS1 FADS2 gene cluster are associated with altered (n-6) and (n-3) essential fatty acids in plasma and erythrocyte phospholipids in women during pregnancy and in breast milk during lactation. J Nutr. (2008) 138:2222–8. doi: 10.3945/jn.108.096156
- Morales E, Bustamante M, Gonzalez JR, Guxens M, Torrent M, Mendez M, et al. Genetic variants of the FADS gene cluster and ELOVL gene family, colostrums LC-PUFA levels, breastfeeding, and child cognition. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e17181. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017181
- 83. Li X, Gan ZW, Ding Z, Wu YX, Chen XY, Tian HM, et al. Genetic variants in the ELOVL5 but not ELOVL2 gene associated with polyunsaturated fatty acids in han Chinese breast milk. *Biomed Environ Sci.* (2017) 30:64–7. doi: 10.3967/bes2017.008

- Argov-Argaman N, Mida K, Cohen BC, Visker M, Hettinga K. Milk fat content and DGAT1 genotype determine lipid composition of the milk fat globule membrane. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e68707. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068707
- 85. Gibson RA, Muhlhausler B, Makrides M. Conversion of linoleic acid and alpha-linolenic acid to long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFAs), with a focus on pregnancy, lactation and the first 2 years of life. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2011) 7:17–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8709.2011.00299.x
- Novak EM, Innis SM. Impact of maternal dietary n-3 and n-6 fatty acids on milk medium-chain fatty acids and the implications for neonatal liver metabolism. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 301:E807–817. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00225.2011
- Al-Tamer YY, Mahmood AA. The influence of Iraqi mothers' socioeconomic status on their milk-lipid content. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 60:1400–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602470
- Fischer LM, Da Costa KA, Galanko J, Sha W, Stephenson B, Vick J, et al. Choline intake and genetic polymorphisms influence choline metabolite concentrations in human breast milk and plasma. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:336–46. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29459
- Thakkar SK, Giuffrida F, Cristina CH, De Castro CA, Mukherjee R, Tran LA, et al. Dynamics of human milk nutrient composition of women from Singapore with a special focus on lipids. *Am J Hum Biol.* (2013) 25:770–9. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.22446
- Villamor E, Koulinska IN, Furtado J, Baylin A, Aboud S, Manji K, et al. Long-chain n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in breast milk decrease the risk of HIV transmission through breastfeeding. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 86:682–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/86.3.682
- Gardner AS, Rahman IA, Lai CT, Hepworth A, Trengove N, Hartmann PE, et al. Changes in fatty acid composition of human milk in response to coldlike symptoms in the lactating mother and infant. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:1034. doi: 10.3390/nu9091034
- Guerrini P, Bosi G, Chierici R, Fabbri A. Human milk: relationship of fat content with gestational age. *Early Hum Dev.* (1981) 5:187–94. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(81)90051-7
- Bauer J, Gerss J. Longitudinal analysis of macronutrients and minerals in human milk produced by mothers of preterm infants. *Clin Nutr.* (2011) 30:215–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.08.003
- Bokor S, Koletzko B, Decsi T. Systematic review of fatty acid composition of human milk from mothers of preterm compared to full-term infants. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2007) 51:550–6. doi: 10.1159/000114209
- Bitman J, Wood DL, Hamosh M, Hamosh P, Mehta NR. Comparison of the lipid composition of breast milk from mothers of term and preterm infants. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1983) 38:300–12. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/38.2.300
- Shoji H, Shimizu T, Kaneko N, Shinohara K, Shiga S, Saito M, et al. Comparison of the phospholipid classes in human milk in Japanese mothers of term and preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr* (2006) 95:996–1000. doi: 10.1080/08035250600660933
- Liao Y, Alvarado R, Phinney B, Lonnerdal B. Proteomic characterization of human milk fat globule membrane proteins during a 12 month lactation period. J Proteome Res. (2011) 10:3530-41. doi: 10.1021/pr2 00149t
- Cao X, Kang S, Yang M, Li W, Wu S, Han H, et al. Quantitative Nglycoproteomics of milk fat globule membrane in human colostrum and mature milk reveals changes in protein glycosylation during lactation. *Food Funct.* (2018) 9:1163–72. doi: 10.1039/C7FO01796K
- 99. Yang M, Cong M, Peng X, Wu J, Wu R, Liu B, et al. Quantitative proteomic analysis of milk fat globule membrane (MFGM) proteins in human and bovine colostrum and mature milk samples through iTRAQ labeling. *Food Funct.* (2016) 7:2438–50. doi: 10.1039/C6FO00083E
- Reinhardt TA, Lippolis JD. Developmental changes in the milk fat globule membrane proteome during the transition from colostrum to milk. *J Dairy Sci.* (2008) 91:2307–18. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0952
- 101. Yang Y, Zheng N, Zhao X, Zhang Y, Han R, Ma L, et al. Proteomic characterization and comparison of mammalian milk fat globule proteomes by iTRAQ analysis. *J Proteomics* (2015) 116:34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2014.12.017
- 102. Peterson JA, Hamosh M, Scallan CD, Ceriani RL, Henderson TR, Mehta NR, et al. Milk fat globule glycoproteins in human milk and in gastric

aspirates of mother's milk-fed preterm infants. *Pediatr Res.* (1998) 44:499–506. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199810000-00006

- 103. Ye A, Cui J, Singh H. Proteolysis of milk fat globule membrane proteins during in vitro gastric digestion of milk. J Dairy Sci. (2011) 94:2762–70. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-4099
- 104. Vanderghem C, Francis F, Danthine S, Deroanne C, Paquot M, De Pauw E, et al. Study on the susceptibility of the bovine milk fat globule membrane proteins to enzymatic hydrolysis and organization of some of the proteins. *Int Dairy J.* (2011) 21:312–8. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2010.12.006
- 105. Chatterton DEW, Rasmussen JT, Heegaard CW, Sorensen ES, Petersen TE. in vitro digestion of novel milk protein ingredients for use in infant formulas: Research on biological functions. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2004) 15:373–83. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2003.12.004
- 106. Le TT, Van De Wiele T, Do TNH, Debyser G, Struijs K, Devreese B, et al. Stability of milk fat globule membrane proteins toward human enzymatic gastrointestinal digestion. J Dairy Sci. (2012) 95:2307–18. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4947
- 107. Lu J, Wang X, Zhang W, Liu L, Pang X, Zhang S, et al. Comparative proteomics of milk fat globule membrane in different species reveals variations in lactation and nutrition. *Food Chem.* (2016) 196:665–72. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.10.005
- Goldfarb M. Two-dimensional electrophoretic analysis of human milk-fatglobule membrane proteins with attention to apolipoprotein E patterns. *Electrophoresis* (1997) 18:511–5. doi: 10.1002/elps.1150180329
- 109. Charlwood J, Hanrahan S, Tyldesley R, Langridge J, Dwek M, Camilleri P. Use of proteomic methodology for the characterization of human milk fat globular membrane proteins. *Anal Biochem.* (2002) 301:314–24. doi: 10.1006/abio.2001.5498
- 110. Karhumaa P, Leinonen J, Parkkila S, Kaunisto K, Tapanainen J, Rajaniemi H. The identification of secreted carbonic anhydrase VI as a constitutive glycoprotein of human and rat milk. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:11604–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121172598
- 111. Rai D, Adelman AS, Zhuang W, Rai GP, Boettcher J, Lonnerdal B. Longitudinal changes in lactoferrin concentrations in human milk: a global systematic review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2014) 54:1539–47. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2011.642422
- 112. Davidson LA, Lonnerdal B. Persistence of human milk proteins in the breast-fed infant. Acta Paediatr Scand. (1987) 76:733–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1987.tb10557.x
- Hamosh M. Protective function of proteins and lipids in human milk. *Biol* Neonate (1998) 74:163–76. doi: 10.1159/000014021
- Demmelmair H, Prell C, Timby N, Lönnerdal B. Benefits of lactoferrin, osteopontin and milk fat globule membranes for infants. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:817. doi: 10.3390/nu9080817
- 115. Layman DK, Lonnerdal B, Fernstrom JD. Applications for alpha-lactalbumin in human nutrition. *Nutr Rev.* (2018) 76:444–60. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuy004
- 116. Demers-Mathieu V, Underwood MA, Beverly RL, Nielsen SD, Dallas DC. Comparison of human milk immunoglobulin survival during gastric digestion between preterm and term infants. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:631. doi: 10.3390/nu10050631
- 117. Dallas DC, Guerrero A, Khaldi N, Borghese R, Bhandari A, Underwood MA, et al. A peptidomic analysis of human milk digestion in the infant stomach reveals protein-specific degradation patterns. J Nutr. (2014) 144:815–20. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.185793
- Rhodes DA, Reith W, Trowsdale J. Regulation of immunity by butyrophilins. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2016) 34:151–72. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-041015-055435
- 119. Newburg DS, Peterson JA, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Matson DO, Morrow AL, Shults J, et al. Role of human-milk lactadherin in protection against symptomatic rotavirus infection. *Lancet* (1998) 351:1160–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)10322-1
- 120. Spitsberg VL. Invited review: Bovine milk fat globule membrane as a potential nutraceutical. J Dairy Sci. (2005) 88:2289–94. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72906-4
- 121. Vorbach C, Scriven A, Capecchi MR. The housekeeping gene xanthine oxidoreductase is necessary for milk fat droplet enveloping and secretion: gene sharing in the lactating mammary gland. *Genes Dev.* (2002) 16:3223–35. doi: 10.1101/gad.1032702

- Harrison R. Physiological roles of xanthine oxidoreductase. Drug Metab Rev. (2004) 36:363–75. doi: 10.1081/DMR-120037569
- 123. Monks J, Dzieciatkowska M, Bales ES, Orlicky DJ, Wright RM, Mcmanaman JL. Xanthine oxidoreductase mediates membrane docking of milk-fat droplets but is not essential for apocrine lipid secretion. *J Physiol.* (2016) 594:5899–921. doi: 10.1113/JP272390
- Raymond A, Ensslin MA, Shur BD. SED1/MFG-E8: a bi-motif protein that orchestrates diverse cellular interactions. *J Cell Biochem.* (2009) 106:957–66. doi: 10.1002/jcb.22076
- 125. Bu HF, Zuo XL, Wang X, Ensslin MA, Koti V, Hsueh W, et al. Milk fat globule-EGF factor 8/lactadherin plays a crucial role in maintenance and repair of murine intestinal epithelium. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:3673–83. doi: 10.1172/JCI31841
- 126. Hanayama R, Tanaka M, Miyasaka K, Aozasa K, Koike M, Uchiyama Y, et al. Autoimmune disease and impaired uptake of apoptotic cells in MFG-E8deficient mice. *Science* (2004) 304:1147–50. doi: 10.1126/science.1094359
- 127. Hansen LW, Khader A, Yang WL, Jacob A, Chen T, Nicastro JM, et al. Deficiency in milk fat globule-epidermal growth factor-factor 8 exacerbates organ injury and mortality in neonatal sepsis. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2017) 52:1520– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2016.12.022
- Beller M, Bulankina AV, Hsiao H-H, Urlaub H, Jäckle H, Kühnlein RP. Perilipin-dependent control of lipid droplet structure and fat storage in drosophila. *Cell Metab.* (2010) 12:521–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.10.001
- 129. Chong BM, Russell TD, Schaack J, Orlicky DJ, Reigan P, Ladinsky M, et al. The adipophilin C terminus is a self-folding membrane-binding domain that Is important for milk lipid secretion. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:23254–65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.217091
- 130. Nishita T, Tanaka Y, Wada Y, Murakami M, Kasuya T, Ichihara N, et al. Measurement of carbonic anhydrase isozyme VI (CA-VI) in bovine sera, saliva, milk and tissues. *Vet Res Commun.* (2007) 31:83–92. doi: 10.1007/s11259-006-3423-0
- 131. Mudd AT, Alexander LS, Berding K, Waworuntu RV, Berg BM, Donovan SM, et al. Dietary prebiotics, milk fat globule membrane, and lactoferrin affects structural neurodevelopment in the young piglet. *Front Pediatr.* (2016) 4:4. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00004
- 132. Henkin RI, Martin BM, Agarwal RP. Decreased parotid saliva gustin/carbonic anhydrase VI secretion: an enzyme disorder manifested by gustatory and olfactory dysfunction. *Am J Med Sci.* (1999) 318:380–91. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9629(15)40663-9
- 133. Bingham EW, Malin EL. Alkaline phosphatase in the lactating bovine mammary gland and the milk fat globule membrane. Release by phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C. Comp Biochem Physiol B (1992) 102:213–8. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(92)90113-6
- Sharma U, Pal D, Prasad R. Alkaline phosphatase: an overview. *Indian J Clin Biochem*. (2014) 29:269–78. doi: 10.1007/s12291-013-0408-y
- 135. Vorland LH. Lactoferrin: a multifunctional glycoprotein. *APMIS* (1999) 107:971–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1999.tb01499.x
- Sohrabi SM, Niazi A, Chahardoli M, Hortamani A, Setoodeh P. In silico investigation of lactoferrin protein characterizations for the prediction of anti-microbial properties. Mol Biol Res Commun (2014) 3:85–100.
- Donovan SM. The role of lactoferrin in gastrointestinal and immune development and function: a preclinical perspective. J Pediatr. (2016) 173:S16–S28. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.02.072
- Ye A, Singh H, Taylor MW, Anema S. Characterization of protein components of natural and heat-treated milk fat globule membranes. *Int Dairy J.* (2002) 12:393–402. doi: 10.1016/S0958-6946(02)00034-1
- 139. Yamniuk AP, Burling H, Vogel HJ. Thermodynamic characterization of the interactions between the immunoregulatory proteins osteopontin and lactoferrin. *Mol Immunol.* (2009) 46:2395–402. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2009.04.024
- 140. Walentin S, Lévay G, Korányi L, Endroczi E. Comparative analysis of enzyme activity in human colostrum, milk, and serum. *Clin Biochem.* (1988) 21:131–3. doi: 10.1016/S0009-9120(88)80102-4
- 141. Addis MF, Pisanu S, Ghisaura S, Pagnozzi D, Marogna G, Tanca A, et al. Proteomics and pathway analyses of the milk fat globule in sheep naturally infected by *Mycoplasma agalactiae* provide indications of the *in vivo* response of the mammary epithelium to bacterial infection. *Infect Immun.* (2011) 79:3833–45. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00040-11

- 142. Reinhardt TA, Sacco RE, Nonnecke BJ, Lippolis JD. Bovine milk proteome: Quantitative changes in normal milk exosomes, milk fat globule membranes and whey proteomes resulting from *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis. J Proteom (2013) 82:141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2013.02.013
- 143. Cavaletto M, Giuffrida MG, Conti A. Milk fat globule membrane components-a proteomic approach. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2008) 606:129–41. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-74087-4_4
- 144. Yang Y, Zheng T, Zhou J, Song H, Cai W, Qian L. Bile salt dependent lipase promotes intestinal adaptation in rats with massive small bowel resection. *Biosci Rep.* (2018). doi: 10.1042/BSR20180077. [Epub ahead of print].
- 145. Naarding MA, Dirac AM, Ludwig IS, Speijer D, Lindquist S, Vestman EL, et al. Bile salt-stimulated lipase from human milk binds DC-SIGN and inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transfer to CD4+ T cells. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. (2006) 50:3367–74. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00593-06
- 146. Wilson NL, Robinson LJ, Donnet A, Bovetto L, Packer NH, Karlsson NG. Glycoproteomics of milk: differences in sugar epitopes on human and bovine milk fat globule membranes. *J Proteome Res.* (2008) 7:3687–96. doi: 10.1021/pr700793k
- 147. Nwosu CC, Aldredge DL, Lee H, Lerno LA, Zivkovic AM, German JB, et al. Comparison of the human and bovine milk N-glycome via high-performance microfluidic chip liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry. *J Proteome Res.* (2012) 11:2912–24. doi: 10.1021/pr300008u
- 148. Yang Y, Zheng N, Wang W, Zhao X, Zhang Y, Han R, et al. Nglycosylation proteomic characterization and cross-species comparison of milk fat globule membrane proteins from mammals. *Proteomics* (2016) 16:2792–800. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201500361
- Penders J, Stobberingh EE, Van Den Brandt PA, Thijs C. The role of the intestinal microbiota in the development of atopic disorders. *Allergy* (2007) 62:1223–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-99955.2007.01462.x
- 150. Xu RJ. Development of the newborn GI tract and its relation to colostrum/milk intake: a review. *Reprod Fertil Dev.* (1996) 8:35–48. doi: 10.1071/RD9960035
- 151. Wang M, Donovan SM. Human microbiota-associated swine: current progress and future opportunities. *LLAR J* (2015) 56:63–73. doi: 10.1093/ilar/ilv006.
- 152. Bhinder G, Allaire JM, Garcia C, Lau JT, Chan JM, Ryz NR, et al. Milk fat globule membrane supplementation in formula modulates the neonatal gut microbiome and normalizes intestinal development. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:45274. doi: 10.1038/srep45274
- 153. Snow DR, Ward RE, Olsen A, Jimenez-Flores R, Hintze KJ. Membranerich milk fat diet provides protection against gastrointestinal leakiness in mice treated with lipopolysaccharide. *J Dairy Sci.* (2011) 94:2201–12. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3886
- 154. Anderson RC, Macgibbon AKH, Haggarty N, Armstrong KM, Roy NC. Bovine dairy complex lipids improve in vitro measures of small intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0190839. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190839
- 155. Schnabl KL, Larsen B, Van Aerde JE, Lees G, Evans M, Belosevic M, et al. Gangliosides protect bowel in an infant model of necrotizing enterocolitis by suppressing proinflammatory signals. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2009) 49:382–92. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3181b6456d
- Hannun YA, Obeid LM. Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2008) 9:139–50. doi: 10.1038/nrm2329
- 157. Motouri M, Matsuyama H, Yamamura J, Tanaka M, Aoe S, Iwanaga T, et al. Milk sphingomyelin accelerates enzymatic and morphological maturation of the intestine in artificially reared rats. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2003) 36:241–7. doi: 10.1097/00005176-200302000-00016
- Cilla A, Diego Quintaes K, Barberá R, Alegría A. Phospholipids in human milk and infant formulas: benefits and needs for correct infant nutrition. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2016) 56:1880–92. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2013.803951
- 159. Nowicki PT. Ischemia and necrotizing enterocolitis: where, when, and how. Semin Pediatr Surg. (2005) 14:152–8. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2005.05.003
- 160. Cuvillier O, Pirianov G, Kleuser B, Vanek PG, Coso OA, Gutkind JS, et al. Suppression of ceramide-mediated programmed cell death by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Nature* (1996) 381:800. doi: 10.1038/381800a0
- 161. Lee M-J, Thangada S, Claffey KP, Ancellin N, Liu CH, Kluk M, et al. Vascular endothelial cell adherens junction assembly and

morphogenesis induced by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Cell* (1999) 99:301–12. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81661-X

- Holland WL, Miller RA, Wang ZV, Sun K, Barth BM, Bui HH, et al. Receptormediated activation of ceramidase activity initiates the pleiotropic actions of adiponectin. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:55–63. doi: 10.1038/nm.2277
- Liao Y, Jiang R, Lonnerdal B. Biochemical and molecular impacts of lactoferrin on small intestinal growth and development during early life. *Biochem Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:476–84. doi: 10.1139/o11-075
- 164. Migliore-Samour D, Roch-Arveiller M, Tissot M, Jazziri M, Keddad K, Giroud JP, et al. Effects of tripeptides derived from milk proteins on polymorphonuclear oxidative and phosphoinositide metabolisms. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (1992) 44:673–80. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(92)90402-5
- 165. Pellegrini A, Thomas U, Bramaz N, Hunziker P, Von Fellenberg R. Isolation and identification of three bactericidal domains in the bovine alpha-lactalbumin molecule. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1999) 1426:439–48. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4165(98)00165-2
- 166. Brück WM, Kelleher SL, Gibson GR, Nielsen KE, Chatterton DEW, Lönnerdal B. rRNA probes used to quantify the effects of glycomacropeptide and alpha-lactalbumin supplementation on the predominant groups of intestinal bacteria of infant rhesus monkeys challenged with enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2003) 37:273–80. doi: 10.1097/00005176-200309000-00014
- 167. Ogg SL1, Weldon AK, Dobbie L, Smith AJ, Mather IH. Expression of butyrophilin (Btn1a1) in lactating mammary gland is essential for the regulated secretion of milk-lipid droplets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:10084–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0402930101
- 168. Smith IA, Knezevic BR, Ammann JU, Rhodes DA, Aw D, Palmer DB, et al. BTN1A1, the mammary gland butyrophilin, and BTN2A2 are both inhibitors of T cell activation. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:3514–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900416
- Newman RA, Ormerod MG, Greaves MF. The presence of HLA-DR antigens on lactating human breast epithelium and milk fat globule membranes. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1980) 41:478–86.
- 170. Järvinen KM, Juntunen-Backman K, Suomalainen H. Relation between weak HLA-DR expression on human breast milk macrophages and cow milk allergy (CMA) in suckling infants. *Pediatr Res.* 45:76-81. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199901000-00013
- 171. Torregrosa Paredes P, Gutzeit C, Johansson S, Admyre C, Stenius F, Alm J, et al. Differences in exosome populations in human breast milk in relation to allergic sensitization and lifestyle. *Allergy* (2014) 69:463–71. doi: 10.1111/all.12357
- 172. Hanayama R, Tanaka M, Miwa K, Shinohara A, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S. Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature* (2002) 417:182–7. doi: 10.1038/417182a
- 173. Zhou YJ, Gao J, Yang HM, Yuan XL, Chen TX, He ZJ. The role of the lactadherin in promoting intestinal DCs development in vivo and vitro. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2010) 2010:357541. doi: 10.1155/2010/357541
- 174. Kvistgaard AS, Pallesen LT, Arias CF, Lopez S, Petersen TE, Heegaard CW, et al. Inhibitory effects of human and bovine milk constituents on rotavirus infections. *J Dairy Sci.* (2004) 87:4088–96. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73551-1
- Ellison RT III, Giehl TJ. (1991). Killing of gram-negative bacteria by lactoferrin and lysozyme. J Clin Invest. 88:1080–91. doi: 10.1172/JCI115407
- 176. Linden SK, Sheng YH, Every AL, Miles KM, Skoog EC, Florin TH, et al. MUC1 limits Helicobacter pylori infection both by steric hindrance and by acting as a releasable decoy. *PLoS Pathog.* (2009) 5:e1000617. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000617
- 177. Liu B, Yu Z, Chen C, Kling DE, Newburg DS. Human milk mucin 1 and mucin 4 inhibit Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium invasion of human intestinal epithelial cells in vitro. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:1504–9. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.155614
- 178. Schroten H, Hanisch FG, Plogmann R, Hacker J, Uhlenbruck G, Nobis-Bosch R, et al. Inhibition of adhesion of S-fimbriated *Escherichia coli* to buccal epithelial cells by human milk fat globule membrane components: a novel aspect of the protective function of mucins in the nonimmunoglobulin fraction. *Infect Immun.* (1992) 60:2893–9.
- 179. Yolken RH, Peterson JA, Vonderfecht SL, Fouts ET, Midthun K, Newburg DS. Human milk mucin inhibits rotavirus replication and

prevents experimental gastroenteritis. J Clin Invest. (1992) 90:1984–91. doi: 10.1172/JCI116078

- 180. Lu W, Hisatsune A, Koga T, Kato K, Kuwahara I, Lillehoj EP, et al. Cutting edge: enhanced pulmonary clearance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa by Muc1 knockout mice. J Immunol. (2006) 176:3890–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.3890
- 181. Ueno K, Koga T, Kato K, Golenbock DT, Gendler SJ, Kai H, et al. MUC1 mucin is a negative regulator of toll-like receptor signaling. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2008) 38:263–8. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0336RC
- Stevens CR, Millar TM, Clinch JG, Kanczler JM, Bodamyali T, Blake DR. Antibacterial properties of xanthine oxidase in human milk. *Lancet* (2000) 356:829–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02660-X
- Martin R, Nauta AJ, Ben Amor K, Knippels LM, Knol J, Garssen J. Early life: gut microbiota and immune development in infancy. *Benef Microbes* (2010) 1:367–82. doi: 10.3920/BM2010.0027
- 184. Calder PC, Krauss-Etschmann S, De Jong EC, Dupont C, Frick JS, Frokiaer H, et al. Early nutrition and immunity-progress and perspectives. *Br J Nutr.* (2006) 96:774–90. doi: 10.1079/BJN20061917
- 185. Burlingham WJ, Heisey DM, Bean MA. The effect of tolerance to noninherited maternal HLA antigens on the survival of renal transplants from sibling donors - Reply. N Engl J Med. (1999) 340:1369–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199904293401715
- 186. Mold JE. Fetal and adult hematopoietic stem cells give rise to distinct T cell lineages in humans. *Science* (2011) 331:534–534. doi: 10.1126/science.1196509
- Szepfalusi Z, Loibichler C, Pichler J, Reisenberger K, Ebner C, Urbanek R. Direct evidence for transplacental allergen transfer. *Pediatr Res.* (2000) 48:404–7. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200009000-00024
- 188. Zhou L, Yoshimura Y, Huang YY, Suzuki R, Yokoyama M, Okabe M, et al. Two independent pathways of maternal cell transmission to offspring: through placenta during pregnancy and by breast-feeding after birth. *Immunol* (2000) 101:570–80. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2000.0 0144.x
- Godlewski MM, Hallay N, Bierla JB, Zabielski R. Molecular mechanism of programmed cell death in the gut epithelium of neonatal piglets. J Physiol Pharmacol. (2007) 58:97–113.
- 190. Lallès J-P. Dairy products and the French paradox: Could alkaline phosphatases play a role? *Med Hypotheses* (2016) 92:7–11. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2016.04.033
- 191. Schack L, Stapulionis R, Christensen B, Kofod-Olsen E, Sorensen UBS, Vorup-Jensen T, et al. Osteopontin enhances phagocytosis through a novel osteopontin receptor, the $\alpha_X \beta_2$ Integrin. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:6943–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900065
- 192. Ashkar S, Weber GF, Panoutsakopoulou V, Sanchirico ME, Jansson M, Zawaideh S, et al. Eta-1 (osteopontin): An early component of type-1 (cell-mediated) immunity. *Science* (2000) 287:860–4. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5454.860
- 193. Rueda R, Sabatel JL, Maldonado J, Molina-Font JA, Gil A. Addition of gangliosides to an adapted milk formula modifies levels of fecal *Escherichia coli* in preterm newborn infants. J Pediatr. (1998b) 133:90–4. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(98)70184-2
- 194. Smilowitz JT, O'sullivan A, Barile D, German JB, Lönnerdal B, Slupsky CM. The human milk metabolome reveals diverse oligosaccharide profiles. *J Nutr.* (2013) 143:1709–18. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.178772
- 195. Lederberg J, Mccray AT. 'Ome sweet 'omics A genealogical treasury of words. *Scientist* (2001) 15:8.
- 196. Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, et al. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:11971–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10026 01107
- 197. Zwittink RD, Van Zoeren-Grobben D, Martin R, Van Lingen RA, Groot Jebbink LJ, Boeren S, et al. Metaproteomics reveals functional differences in intestinal microbiota development of preterm infants. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2017) 16:1610–20. doi: 10.1074/mcp.RA117.0 00102
- 198. Koenig JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, Fricker AD, Stombaugh J, Knight R, et al. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut

microbiome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2011) 108(Suppl. 1):4578-85. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000081107

- Morelli L. Postnatal development of intestinal microflora as influenced by infant nutrition. J Nutr. (2008) 138:1791s-5s. doi: 10.1093/jn/138.9. 1791S
- Nash MJ, Frank DN, Friedman JE. Early microbes modify immune system development and metabolic homeostasis—the "restaurant" hypothesis revisited. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:349. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017. 00349
- 201. Quinlan PT, Lockton S, Irwin J, Lucas AL. The relationship between stool hardness and stool composition in breast- and formula-fed infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (1995) 20:81–90. doi: 10.1097/00005176-199501000-00014
- 202. Yaron S, Shachar D, Abramas L, Riskin A, Bader D, Litmanovitz I, et al. Effect of high beta-palmitate content in infant formula on the intestinal microbiota of term infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2013) 56:376–81. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31827e1ee2
- 203. Schmelzle H, Wirth S, Skopnik H, Radke M, Knol J, Bockler HM, et al. Randomized double-blind study of the nutritional efficacy and bifidogenicity of a new infant formula containing partially hydrolyzed protein, a high beta-palmitic acid level, and nondigestible oligosaccharides. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2003) 36:343–51. doi: 10.1097/00005176-200303000-00008
- 204. Yao M, Lien EL, Capeding MR, Fitzgerald M, Ramanujam K, Yuhas R, et al. Effects of term infant formulas containing high sn-2 palmitate with and without oligofructose on stool composition, stool characteristics, and bifidogenicity. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2014) 59:440–8. doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000000443
- 205. Fan W, Huo G, Li X, Yang L, Duan C, Wang T, et al. Diversity of the intestinal microbiota in different patterns of feeding infants by Illumina high-throughput sequencing. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2013) 29:2365–72. doi: 10.1007/s11274-013-1404-3
- 206. Berton A, Rouvellac S, Robert B, Rousseau F, Lopez C, Crenon I. Effect of the size and interface composition of milk fat globules on their in vitro digestion by the human pancreatic lipase: Native versus homogenized milk fat globules. *Food Hydrocoll.* (2012) 29:123–34. doi: 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2012. 02.016
- 207. Nejrup RG, Licht TR, Hellgren LI. Fatty acid composition and phospholipid types used in infant formulas modifies the establishment of human gut bacteria in germ-free mice. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:3975. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04298-0
- Sprong RC, Hulstein MF, Van Der Meer R. Bactericidal activities of milk lipids. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. (2001) 45:1298–301. doi: 10.1128/AAC.45.4.1298-1301.2001
- Hernell O, Ward H, Blackberg L, Pereira ME. Killing of Giardia lamblia by human milk lipases: an effect mediated by lipolysis of milk lipids. J Infect Dis. (1986) 153:715–20. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ 153.4.715
- 210. Davila A-M, Blachier F, Gotteland M, Andriamihaja M, Benetti P-H, Sanz Y, et al. Re-print of "Intestinal luminal nitrogen metabolism: role of the gut microbiota and consequences for the host." *Pharmacol Res.* (2013) 69:114–26. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2013. 01.003
- Auinger P, Lanphear BP, Kalkwarf HJ, Mansour ME. Trends in otitis media among children in the United States. *Pediatrics* (2003) 112:514–20. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.3.514
- 212. Duijts L, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Moll HA. Prolonged and exclusive breastfeeding reduces the risk of infectious diseases in infancy. *Pediatrics* (2010) 126:e18–25. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2008-3256
- 213. Veereman-Wauters G, Staelens S, Rombaut R, Dewettinck K, Deboutte D, Brummer RJ, et al. Milk fat globule membrane (INPULSE) enriched formula milk decreases febrile episodes and may improve behavioral regulation in young children. *Nutrition* (2012) 28:749–52. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2011. 10.011
- Zanabria R, Tellez AM, Griffiths M, Sharif S, Corredig M. Modulation of immune function by milk fat globule membrane isolates. *J Dairy Sci.* (2014) 97:2017–26. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7563

- 215. Fischer CL, Drake DR, Dawson DV, Blanchette DR, Brogden KA, Wertz PW. Antibacterial activity of sphingoid bases and fatty acids against grampositive and gram-negative bacteria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2012) 56:1157–61. doi: 10.1128/AAC.05151-11
- Norris GH, Jiang C, Ryan J, Porter CM, Blesso CN. Milk sphingomyelin improves lipid metabolism and alters gut microbiota in high fat dietfed mice. J Nutr Biochem. (2016) 30:93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015. 12.003
- 217. Clare DA, Zheng Z, Hassan HM, Swaisgood HE, Catignani GL. Antimicrobial properties of milk fat globule membrane fractions. J Food Prot. (2008) 71:126–33. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X-71.1.126
- Hancock JT, Salisbury V, Ovejero-Boglione MC, Cherry R, Hoare C, Eisenthal R, et al. Antimicrobial properties of milk: dependence on presence of xanthine oxidase and nitrite. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2002) 46:3308–10. doi: 10.1128/AAC.46.10.3308-3310.2002
- 219. Al-Shehri SS, Knox CL, Liley HG, Cowley DM, Wright JR, Henman MG, et al. Breastmilk-saliva interactions boost innate immunity by regulating the oral microbiome in early infancy. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0135047. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135047
- 220. Brown AM, Benboubetra M, Ellison M, Powell D, Reckless JD, Harrison R. Molecular activation-deactivation of xanthine oxidase in human milk. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1995) 1245:248–54. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(95)00093-Q
- 221. Timby N, Domellöf M, Holgerson PL, West CE, Lönnerdal B, Hernell O, et al. Oral microbiota in infants fed a formula supplemented with bovine milk fat globule membranes - a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0169831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169831
- 222. Masschalck B, Van Houdt R, Van Haver EGR, Michiels CW. Inactivation of gram-negative bacteria by lysozyme, denatured lysozyme, and lysozyme-derived peptides under high hydrostatic pressure. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2001) 67:339–44. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.1.339-344.2001
- O'riordan N, Kane M, Joshi L, Hickey RM. Structural and functional characteristics of bovine milk protein glycosylation. *Glycobiology* (2014) 24:220–36. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt162
- Froehlich JW, Dodds ED, Barboza M, Mcjimpsey EL, Seipert RR, Francis J, et al. Glycoprotein expression in human milk during lactation. J Agric Food Chem. (2010) 58:6440–8. doi: 10.1021/jf100112x
- Martin HM, Hancock JT, Salisbury V, Harrison R. Role of xanthine oxidoreductase as an antimicrobial agent. *Infect Immun.* (2004) 72:4933–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.9.4933-4939.2004
- 226. Novakovic P, Charavaryamath C, Moshynskyy I, Lockerbie B, Kaushik RS, Loewen ME, et al. Evaluation of inhibition of F4ac positive *Escherichia coli* attachment with xanthine dehydrogenase, butyrophilin, lactadherin and fatty acid binding protein. *BMC Vet Res.* (2015) 11:238. doi: 10.1186/s12917-015-0528-0
- 227. Guerin J, Burgain J, Gomand F, Scher J, Gaiani C. Milk fat globule membrane glycoproteins: valuable ingredients for lactic acid bacteria encapsulation? *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 4:1-13. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.13 86158
- 228. Pannaraj PS, Li F, Cerini C, Bender JM, Yang S, Rollie A, et al. Association between breast milk bacterial communities and establishment and development of the infant gut microbiome. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:647–54. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics. 2017.0378
- 229. Biagi E, Quercia S, Aceti A, Beghetti I, Rampelli S, Turroni S, et al. The bacterial ecosystem of mother's milk and infant's mouth and gut. Front Microbiol. (2017) 8:1214. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01214
- Brisson G, Payken HF, Sharpe JP, JiméNez-Flores R. Characterization of *Lactobacillus reuteri* interaction with milk fat globule membrane components in dairy products. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2010) 58:5612–9. doi: 10.1021/jf904381s
- 231. Lee H, Garrido D, Mills DA, Barile D. Hydrolysis of milk gangliosides by infant-gut associated bifidobacteria determined by microfluidic chips and high-resolution mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* (2014) 35:1742–50. doi: 10.1002/elps.201300653
- 232. Falk P, Hoskins LC, Larson G. Bacteria of the human intestinal microbiota produce glycosidases specific for lacto-series glycosphingolipids. J

Biochem. (1990) 108:466–74. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem. a123223

- Moe KM, Porcellato D, Skeie S. Metabolism of milk fat globule membrane components by nonstarter lactic acid bacteria isolated from cheese. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:727–39. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5497
- 234. Włodarska M, Willing BP, Bravo DM, Finlay BB. Phytonutrient diet supplementation promotes beneficial Clostridia species and intestinal mucus secretion resulting in protection against enteric infection. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:9253. doi: 10.1038/srep09253
- 235. Struijs K, Van De Wiele T, Le TT, Debyser G, Dewettinck K, Devreese B, et al. Milk fat globule membrane glycoproteins prevent adhesion of the colonic microbiota and result in increased bacterial butyrate production. *Int Dairy J.* (2013) 32:99–109. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2013.05.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer LM and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Lee, Padhi, Hasegawa, Larke, Parenti, Wang, Hernell, Lönnerdal and Slupsky. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Does Breast Milk Nurture T Lymphocytes in Their Cradle?

Peter S. Hsu^{1,2*} and Ralph Nanan³

¹ Allergy and Immunology, Kids Research, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ² Discipline of Child and Adolescent Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ³ Charles Perkins Centre Nepean, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Breast feeding has been associated with improved infant outcomes in multiple aspects, including immune outcomes such as infections and potentially atopy and autoimmunity. However associations do not necessarily implicate cause and effect and at this point, exactly how breast feeding and components of breast milk may modulate the infant's immune compartment remains unclear, especially in humans. Some lines of evidence suggest that breastfeeding affects the development of the infant's thymus, a critical organ for T cell development. This may be a direct effect mediated by breast milk components or alternatively, a secondary effect from the impact of breast feeding on the infant's gut microbiome. Here we discuss the potential mechanisms and impact of this association between breast feeding and thymic development.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Valerie Verhasselt, University of Western Australia, Australia

Reviewed by:

Andrew R. Gennery, Newcastle University, United Kingdom Ricardo U. Sorensen, LSU Health Sciences Center New Orleans, United States

> *Correspondence: Peter S. Hsu peter.hsu@health.nsw.gov.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 30 April 2018 Accepted: 07 September 2018 Published: 27 September 2018

Citation:

Hsu PS and Nanan R (2018) Does Breast Milk Nurture T Lymphocytes in Their Cradle? Front. Pediatr. 6:268. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00268 Keywords: breast feeding, thymus, immunity, breast milk microbiome, regulatory T cells

INTRODUCTION

Thymus derived lymphocytes are one of the central players of the adaptive immune system. Adaptive immune responses in mammals are characterized by extreme specificity in terms of antigen recognition. Such highly tailored responses have evolved as a powerful defense strategy against rapidly changing pathogens resulting in improved host survival. A broad and effective development of adaptive immune responses is eminently important in the newborn period, when the offspring is exposed to a range of environmental pathogens it shares with its mother. Here mammals, in contrast to reptiles, are provided with the unique opportunity to shape thymic and T cell development in the offsprings for a prolonged period after birth by means of lactational immune programming.

Human breast milk contains a wealth of bioactive substances including proteins, oligosaccharides, polyunsaturated fatty acids, micronutrients, metabolites and microbial components. Many of these bioactive constituents can modulate the infant immune system in the critical first year of life. Whilst the protective effects of maternal IgA in breast milk for neonatal infections is well established (1), the role of the many other immunologically active components in breast milk is less clear. Notably despite the heterogeneity of various studies and the lack of randomized controlled trials, there is evidence that breastfeeding may influence long-term infant immune outcomes such as allergic and gastrointestinal diseases (2). Here we review the current evidence for the influence of breastfeeding on the infant immune system, with a focus on the thymus, a critical organ for T cell immune development.

48

BREAST FEEDING AND INFANT IMMUNE OUTCOMES

In addition to *in utero* immune programming, breast feeding offers an early postnatal route by which the mother may pass on protective factors to her infant and shape the developing immune system. Perhaps the best established data for the effect of breastfeeding on infant immunity is its protective effect for neonatal respiratory and gastrointestinal infections. It is thought that breast milk immunoglobulin A (IgA) secreted by activated resident switched memory B cells in mammary glands, is the main proponent for this effect, as it supplements the low neonatal IgA production (3). Additionally, secretory IgA from breast milk is also thought to promote infant immune tolerance to various antigens by reinforcing the gut epithelial barrier and reducing pro-inflammatory responses (4).

In addition to this short term protection, breast feeding may be associated with improved infant immune outcomes. These studies consist of observational and cohort studies and due to variation in study methodology and definitions, the results are more mixed. One prospective cohort study found no significant evidence that infant feeding practices in the first 6 months influenced the development of wheeze, asthma or atopic dermatitis (5). Another study found that increased duration of breast feeding was associated with protection against nonatopic asthma (6). A meta-analysis including studies up to 2014 suggested that breast feeding was protective for asthma and children who were exclusively breastfed for more than 3-4 months have a lower risk of developing eczema under 2 years of age, however potential recall bias and lack of confounder adjustments in some of the included studies may have influenced the analysis (7). Some studies also show that breast feeding may protect against food allergy (8, 9), however other studies suggest otherwise (10, 11). In terms of autoimmune disease, breast feeding appears to confer protection to the infant for both type I and II diabetes (12) and multiple sclerosis (13). However evidence for a protective effect on other autoimmune diseases such as arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease is controversial (14).

Several putative mechanisms have been put forward regarding the reason for the potential immune protective effect of breastfeeding. Reduced neonatal infections in breastfed infants is thought to contribute to the reduced rate of asthma in these children, as early and recurrent respiratory infections have been linked with development of asthma (15). In addition to IgA, there are a multitude of immune active substances including immune cells, cytokines and microbiome in the breast milk, which may be involved in infant immune programming (2). However due to the significant variability in breast milk components (16), it has been difficult to study or isolate the effect of these substances in humans. Mechanistic studies in mice showed that presence of allergen (via maternal exposure to allergen during lactation) with TGFB, or IgG/antigen immune complex in breast milk led to protection against allergic asthma in the progeny via induction of antigen specific Treg cells (17, 18). This is supported by a systemic review of human studies, which revealed that two thirds of the studies showed an association between increased TGF β levels in breast milk with reduced atopic outcomes (19). Soluble CD14 (sCD14), a co-receptor for bacterial cell wall components such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) is also found in variable concentrations in human breast milk (20). High breast milk sCD14 level has been associated with protection against atopic disease (21), possibly by enhancing Th1 immune responses, though the exact immune mechanism is unclear.

Another significant influence of breast milk on the infant is the presence of breast milk microbiota and the effect of its colonization on the infant immune system. Indeed, the human breast milk contains a variety of viable bacteria (22) and there are early significant differences in the gut microbiota between exclusively breastfed and formula-fed infants (23), suggesting the gut microbiome may affect allergy development. However exactly how the breast milk microbiota may influence infant gut microbiome and immune outcome needs to be interrogated in future studies.

Many other immune active substances have been found in the breast milk including human milk oligosaccharides (HMO), which are thought to be protective against mucosal infections (24) and may be linked to reduced development of allergy in the infant (25).

THE THYMUS

The thymus is a critical center for T cell development. Developmentally, it is derived from the pharyngeal arches and is formed and functional at around 14-16 weeks of gestation (26). Lymphoid progenitors migrate from the bone marrow to the thymus, where they undergo a series of differentiation checkpoints. Briefly, the important processes include the development of formation and rearrangement of T cell receptor, acquisition of important surface markers such as CD3, CD4, CD8, and positive selection (where cells that bind inadequately to self MHC/antigen complex are deleted), then finally negative selection (where cells binding too strongly to MHC/self-antigens are deleted) (27). This results in the continual generation and emigration of naïve T cells from the thymus. Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (Tregs), a critical immune cell subset for immune tolerance, are also generated in the thymus in a similar manner, except their development requires a differential strength of signaling from self-antigen/MHC complexes, so that they are favored to suppress unwanted immune responses to selfantigens (28). The importance of the thymus is seen in cases of complete failure of thymic development (thymic aplasia) such as in of 22q11.2 deletion and CHARGE syndrome, which leads to severe combined immune deficiency with absent T cells and poor T cell dependent antibody responses (29).

Despite its important role in T cell generation, in all vertebrates the thymus involutes with age. Thymic stromal cells and architecture begin to regress as early as the first year of life, with disorganization of cortico-medullary junction and replacement of thymic tissue with adipocytes (30). The rate of regression increases to about 3% per year during adulthood

(31). This thymic involution is thought to be an important contributor to immunosenescence, which results in reduced naive T cell output, restricted T cell receptor repertoire, impaired responses to pathogens and vaccines, thereby leading to increased susceptibility to infections, autoimmune diseases and malignancy (32). A similar process is brought forward in infants who have early thymectomy for cardiac surgery, who show impaired thymic output with reduced T cell numbers and function, as well as immunoglobulin levels (33, 34). Several studies have attempted to examine the impact of thymectomy on clinical outcomes (35, 36). Whilst no significant morbidities were noted in the thymectomized population, it is important to note that thymic regrowth occurs in the majority of cases (37), making it difficult to assess the true impact of postnatal absence in thymic tissue. Furthermore the timing of thymectomy is quite variable, which may also influence the magnitude of the clinical impact.

A LINK BETWEEN BREASTFEEDING AND THYMIC DEVELOPMENT

A study by Hasselbalch et al. more than 20 years ago found that there was a correlation between breast feeding and thymic size (38). In a small cohort of 47 healthy infants, they assessed the thymic size at birth and 4 months of age using transsternal ultrasound measurement. The geometric thymic index was derived from the multiplication of the largest transverse and sagittal diameter on ultrasound. They found that the thymic index was significantly higher in babies who were exclusively breastfed compared to partially breastfed (infants who have breast milk at least once a day) and exclusively formula fed infants. However there was significant overlap between the groups. The authors concluded that the thymus is significantly larger breast-fed infants. A follow-up study from the same group recruited a different cohort of 50 partially breastfed infants at 8 months (39). The thymic index was derived by the same methodology. In this study they found that at 10 months of age, those infants who had continued to have some breast milk at 10 months had a slightly larger thymus compared to those who have stopped breast feeding. However the difference was very small with significant overlap. Notably these infants were all breast fed for at least 8 months, and therefore one might not expect a significant difference with extra 2 months of breast feeding. Importantly, both of these studies used trans-sternal ultrasound to assess the thymus size postnatally, which may be problematic due to echogenic shadow from the overlying bone. Additionally, how well thymic size correlates with thymic function and output is unclear and neither of these studies specifically examined thymic output.

In a subsequent paper, Jeppesen et al. examined the CD4 and CD8 counts and proportion in infants between 1 and 12 months of age (40), where they found some evidence of reduced CD8 and CD4 percentages in infants who had stopped breast feeding at 8 or 4 months of age respectively. They also found a modest correlation between the frequency of breast feeding and CD4 T cell counts, but not between thymic size and T cell

counts. This study provides some evidence that breast feeding may influence the T cell compartment in infants, but fails to show that this influence is mediated through the thymus. Indeed other measures of thymic output or function would be needed to clarify this issue. A good candidate would be measurement of T cell receptor excision circles (TREC), which are genetic by products of T cell receptor recombination. TREC level is higher in naïve T cells and becomes diluted with T cell activation and division, therefore it serves as a good marker for thymic output of naïve T cells (41). Alternatively, measurement of recent thymic emigrants by their expression of CD45RA and CD31 with flow cytometry could also be used to monitor thymic output.

Additionally, in looking at immune outcomes in breast fed infants, one should also examine the effect of breast feeding on thymic output of Treg cells, since they are integral for controlling allergic and autoimmune responses. Unfortunately at this stage no study has examined this aspect in humans.

BREAST MILK COMPONENTS THAT MAY AFFECT THYMIC DEVELOPMENT

Several components in breast milk can potentially modulate the T cell mediated immunity by directly or indirectly shaping thymic development. An interesting study conducted in rural Gambia showed that infants born in the "hungry season" had smaller thymuses, associated with significantly higher adult mortality due to infectious diseases, compared to those born in harvest season (42). A later study showed that the reduced infant thymic size in the hungry season was associated with reduced thymic output as measured by TRECs. Furthermore, they showed that breast milk of mothers in the hungry season had significantly lower interleukin 7 (IL-7) levels compared to harvest season (43). These findings are correlative, but since animal studies have shown that breast milk cytokines can be passively transferred to the infant's systemic circulation (44), it does suggest that breast milk IL-7, an important factor for T cell thymopoeisis (45), may play a role in infant thymic development. Nevertheless, many other breast milk components may potentially differ in hungry and harvest season to influence infant thymic development.

Another interesting component in breast milk is the highly conserved RNA packaged in exosomal particles, known as microRNA (miR). These miRs are able to regulate immune cell development at the post-transcriptional level (46). In particular, murine models show that miR-155 plays an important role in regulating thymic Treg cell and Th2 cell development (47). Another miR, miR-449a appears to be important for regulating thymic medullary epithelial cell development in mice (48). Importantly, human breast milk contains abundant miRs (including miR-155) which may regulate infant immunity (49). Hence, transfer of miRs might be implicated in regulating infant thymic development and immunity.

In addition to bioactive molecules, data from a murine model indicates that viable maternal CD4+ immune cells are transmitted through breastmilk and home to the offspring's



thymus. Here they appear to play an important role in educating the CD8+ T cell compartment. This might be an important mechanism to prepare the offspring against pathogens like mycobacteria or other persistent intracellular pathogens, which the offspring might encounter in the shared maternal environment (50). Another murine study showed that maternal cytotoxic T lymphocytes in breast milk are able to localize to the Peyer's patch of the nursed infant (51). Overall it is conceivable that maternal immune cells, especially T cells, may be passively transferred to the infants via breast milk. There is some evidence at least in the animal model that these maternal T cells may traffic to the infant thymus, where they may educate and influence infant T cell repertoire, thereby potentially affect infant immune outcomes.

Hormonal levels in human breastmilk may also have an important potential to influence thymic development. For example, corticosteroids are known to regulate thymic epithelial differentiation and the formation of Hassel bodies (52). Cortisol level varies significantly in breastmilk depending on the stress levels of the mother and the circadian rhythm (53), therefore these factors may also influence the infant thymic development. In addition, the actual act of breastfeeding and nursing might also have a soothing effect on the suckling child and hence influence the infants own corticosteroid output impacting thymic function. Indirect evidence for this was provided in a mouse model where hand- but not brush-stroked mice demonstrated a significant increase in thymic and splenic T cell number (54).

EFFECTS OF BREAST MILK ON THE GUT MICROBIOME

Human breast milk itself contains a significant bacterial load which influences the colonization and development of the infant gut microbiome (55). In addition, human milk oligosaccharides (HMO) may help to establish a healthy gut microbiome in the infant by regulating the gut epithelium, immune cells and micro-organisms (56). Among the many metabolites produced by the gut microbiome, short chain fatty acids (SCFA) have been shown to exhibit powerful immunomodulatory effects especially on T cells. Most recently it has been shown that high fiber diet during pregnancy and lactation fuels the production of SCFA in mice, which may act directly via SCFA receptor in the thymic microenvironment to enhance thymic output of Treg cells (57). Therefore breast milk may potentially modulate infant thymic development by influencing infant microbiome composition and bacterial metabolite production.

SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Overall, there is significant evidence from animal models that breast feeding may influence infant thymus and hence T cell development. However there are currently no data regarding whether such thymic changes may influence long term immune outcomes. Further investigations into the possible influence of maternal breast milk on human thymic development are required. Many bioactive components of the breast milk including cytokines, hormones, micro-RNAs, oligosaccharides, as well as active maternal immune cells and mammary microbiome, may modulate the infant immune development through mechanisms both dependent and independent of the thymus. The main concepts are summarized in Figure 1. However most of the mechanistic studies have been performed in animal models, where milk components and their effects may be very different. Furthermore, there is a lack of direct evidence linking the effect of breast milk components to thymic output and infant immune outcomes. This is partially due to the lack of specific and systemic approaches in the measurement of thymic output and breast milk components in parallel with long term immune outcome follow-ups. Future well-designed longitudinal studies would be required to address these issues. These studies may enable us to design strategies to modulate lactational immune programming for the primary prevention of immunopathologies such as autoimmune disease and allergies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Hanson LA, Korotkova M. The role of breastfeeding in prevention of neonatal infection. *Semin Neonatol.* (2002) 7:275–81. doi: 10.1053/siny.2002.0124
- Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amoros A, Hsu PS, Van't Land B, Gay MCL, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:8. doi: 10.3390/nu9080894
- Tuaillon E, Valea D, Becquart P, Al Tabaa Y, Meda N, Bollore K, et al. Human milk-derived B cells: a highly activated switched memory cell population primed to secrete antibodies. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:7155–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803107
- Corthesy B. Roundtrip ticket for secretory IgA: role in mucosal homeostasis? J Immunol. (2007) 178:27–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.27
- Nwaru BI, Craig LC, Allan K, Prabhu N, Turner SW, McNeill G, et al. Breastfeeding and introduction of complementary foods during infancy in relation to the risk of asthma and atopic diseases up to 10 years. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2013) 43:1263–73. doi: 10.1111/cea.12180
- Nwaru BI, Takkinen HM, Niemela O, Kaila M, Erkkola M, Ahonen S, et al. Timing of infant feeding in relation to childhood asthma and allergic diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 131:78–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.10.028
- Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:38–53. doi: 10.1111/apa.13132
- Saarinen UM, Kajosaari M. Breastfeeding as prophylaxis against atopic disease: prospective follow-up study until 17 years old. *Lancet* (1995) 346:1065–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)91742-X
- Kull I, Melen E, Alm J, Hallberg J, Svartengren M, van Hage M, et al. Breast-feeding in relation to asthma, lung function, and sensitization in young schoolchildren. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2010) 125:1013–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.01.051
- Mihrshahi S, Ampon R, Webb K, Almqvist C, Kemp AS, Hector D, et al. The association between infant feeding practices and subsequent atopy among children with a family history of asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2007) 37:671–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02696.x
- Pesonen M, Kallio MJ, Ranki A, Siimes MA. Prolonged exclusive breastfeeding is associated with increased atopic dermatitis: a prospective follow-up study of unselected healthy newborns from birth to age 20 years. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2006) 36:1011–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02526.x
- 12. Gouveri E, Papanas N, Hatzitolios AI, Maltezos E. Breastfeeding and diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rev.* (2011) 7:135–42. doi: 10.2174/157339911794940684
- Brenton JN, Engel CE, Sohn MW, Goldman MD. Breastfeeding during infancy is associated with a lower future risk of pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2017) 77:67–72. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2017.09.007
- Vieira Borba V, Sharif K, Shoenfeld Y. Breastfeeding and autoimmunity: programing health from the beginning. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2018) 79:1. doi: 10.1111/aji.12778
- 15. Moraes TJ, Sears MR. Lower respiratory infections in early life are linked to later asthma. *Thorax* (2018) 73:105–6. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-211104
- Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* (2013) 60:49–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002
- 17. Verhasselt V. Neonatal tolerance under breastfeeding influence: the presence of allergen and transforming growth factor-beta in breast milk protects the progeny from allergic asthma. *J Pediatr.* (2010) 156(2 Suppl.):S16–20. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.008
- Mosconi E, Rekima A, Seitz-Polski B, Kanda A, Fleury S, Tissandie E, et al. Breast milk immune complexes are potent inducers of oral tolerance in neonates and prevent asthma development. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2010) 3:461–74. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.23
- Oddy WH, Rosales F. A systematic review of the importance of milk TGF-beta on immunological outcomes in the infant and young child. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21(1 Pt 1):47–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00913.x
- Cacho NT, Lawrence RM. Innate Immunity and Breast Milk. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:584. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00584
- Labeta MO, Vidal K, Nores JE, Arias M, Vita N, Morgan BP, et al. Innate recognition of bacteria in human milk is mediated by a milk-derived highly expressed pattern recognition receptor, soluble CD14. J Exp Med. (2000) 191:1807–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.10.1807

- Fitzstevens JL, Smith KC, Hagadorn JI, Caimano MJ, Matson AP, Brownell EA. Systematic review of the human milk microbiota. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2017) 32:354–64. doi: 10.1177/0884533616670150
- Guaraldi F, Salvatori G. Effect of breast and formula feeding on gut microbiota shaping in newborns. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2012) 2:94. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00094
- 24. Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. Glycobiology (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074
- Sprenger N, Odenwald H, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E, Kunz C. FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5 years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:1293–301. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1180-6
- Gordon J, Manley NR. Mechanisms of thymus organogenesis and morphogenesis. *Development* (2011) 138:3865–78. doi: 10.1242/dev.059998
- Owen JJ, Moore NC. Thymocyte-stromal-cell interactions and T-cell selection. *Immunol Today* (1995) 16:336–8. doi: 10.1016/ 0167-5699(95)80150-2
- Caramalho I, Nunes-Cabaco H, Foxall RB, Sousa AE. Regulatory T-Cell Development in the human thymus. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00395
- Davies EG. Immunodeficiency in DiGeorge syndrome and options for treating cases with complete athymia. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:322. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00322
- Aw D, Taylor-Brown F, Cooper K, Palmer DB. Phenotypical and morphological changes in the thymic microenvironment from ageing mice. *Biogerontology* (2009) 10:311–22. doi: 10.1007/s10522-008-9182-2
- Taub DD, Longo DL. Insights into thymic aging and regeneration. *Immunol Rev.* (2005) 205:72–93. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00275.x
- Palmer DB. The effect of age on thymic function. Front Immunol. (2013) 4:316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00316
- 33. Eysteinsdottir JH, Freysdottir J, Haraldsson A, Stefansdottir J, Skaftadottir I, Helgason H, et al. The influence of partial or total thymectomy during open heart surgery in infants on the immune function later in life. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 136:349–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02437.x
- Ogle BM, West LJ, Driscoll DJ, Strome SE, Razonable RR, Paya CV, et al. Effacing of the T cell compartment by cardiac transplantation in infancy. J Immunol. (2006) 176:1962–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1962
- Hermes HM, Cohen GA, Mehrotra AK, McMullan DM, Permut LC, Goodwin S, et al. Association of thymectomy with infection following congenital heart surgery. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surgery (2011) 2:351–8. doi: 10.1177/2150135111403328
- 36. Silva SL, Albuquerque A, Amaral AJ, Li QZ, Mota C, Cheynier R, et al. Autoimmunity and allergy control in adults submitted to complete thymectomy early in infancy. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0180385. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180385
- van Gent R, Schadenberg AW, Otto SA, Nievelstein RA, Sieswerda GT, Haas F, et al. Long-term restoration of the human T-cell compartment after thymectomy during infancy: a role for thymic regeneration? *Blood* (2011) 118:627–34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-341396
- Hasselbalch H, Jeppesen DL, Engelmann MD, Michaelsen KF, Nielsen MB. Decreased thymus size in formula-fed infants compared with breastfed infants. *Acta Paediatr.* (1996) 85:1029–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1996.tb14211.x
- Hasselbalch H, Engelmann MD, Ersboll AK, Jeppesen DL, Fleischer-Michaelsen K. Breast-feeding influences thymic size in late infancy. *Eur J Pediatr.* (1999) 158:964–7. doi: 10.1007/s004310051258
- Jeppesen DL, Hasselbalch H, Lisse IM, Ersboll AK, Engelmann MD. Tlymphocyte subsets, thymic size and breastfeeding in infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2004) 15:127–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2004. 00032.x
- Hazenberg MD, Verschuren MC, Hamann D, Miedema F, van Dongen JJ. T cell receptor excision circles as markers for recent thymic emigrants: basic aspects, technical approach, and guidelines for interpretation. *J Mol Med.* (2001) 79:631–40. doi: 10.1007/s001090100271
- 42. Collinson AC, Moore SE, Cole TJ, Prentice AM. Birth season and environmental influences on patterns of thymic growth in rural Gambian infants. *Acta Paediatr.* (2003) 92:1014–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2003.tb02568.x

- Ngom PT, Collinson AC, Pido-Lopez J, Henson SM, Prentice AM, Aspinall R. Improved thymic function in exclusively breastfed infants is associated with higher interleukin 7 concentrations in their mothers' breast milk. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 80:722–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.3.722
- 44. Elahi S, Thompson DR, Van Kessel J, Babiuk LA, Gerdts V. Protective role of passively transferred maternal cytokines against Bordetella pertussis infection in newborn piglets. *Infect Immun.* (2017) 85:4. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01 063-16
- 45. von Freeden-Jeffry U, Vieira P, Lucian LA, McNeil T, Burdach SE, Murray R. Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a nonredundant cytokine. J Exp Med. (1995) 181:1519–26. doi: 10.1084/jem.181.4.1519
- Melnik BC, John SM, Schmitz G. Milk: an exosomal microRNA transmitter promoting thymic regulatory T cell maturation preventing the development of atopy? J Transl Med. (2014) 12:43. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-43
- Kohlhaas S, Garden OA, Scudamore C, Turner M, Okkenhaug K, Vigorito E. Cutting edge: the Foxp3 target miR-155 contributes to the development of regulatory T cells. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:2578–82. PubMed PMID: 19234151. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803162
- Chen P, Zhang H, Sun X, Hu Y, Jiang W, Liu Z, et al. microRNA-449a modulates medullary thymic epithelial cell differentiation. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:15915. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16162-2
- Alsaweed M, Hartmann PE, Geddes DT, Kakulas F. MicroRNAs in Breastmilk and the Lactating breast: potential immunoprotectors and developmental regulators for the infant and the mother. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2015) 12:13981–4020. doi: 10.3390/ijerph121113981
- Ghosh MK, Nguyen V, Muller HK, Walker AM. Maternal milk T cells drive development of transgenerational Th1 immunity in offspring thymus. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:2290–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502483
- 51. Cabinian A, Sinsimer D, Tang M, Zumba O, Mehta H, Toma A, et al. Transfer of maternal immune cells by breastfeeding: maternal cytotoxic T lymphocytespresent in breast milk localize in the Peyer's patches of the nursed

infant. PLoS ONE (2016) 11:e0156762. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156762

- 52. Hale LP, Markert ML. Corticosteroids regulate epithelial cell differentiation and Hassall body formation in the human thymus. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:617–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.617
- Pundir S, Wall CR, Mitchell CJ, Thorstensen EB, Lai CT, Geddes DT, et al. Variation of human milk glucocorticoids over 24 hour period. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2017) 22:85–92. doi: 10.1007/s10911-017-9375-x
- Major B, Rattazzi L, Brod S, Pilipovic I, Leposavic G, D'Acquisto F. Massagelike stroking boosts the immune system in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:10913. doi: 10.1038/srep10913
- Walker WA, Iyengar RS. Breast milk, microbiota, and intestinal immune homeostasis. *Pediatr Res.* (2015) 77:220–8. doi: 10.1038/pr.20 14.160
- Le Doare K, Holder B, Bassett A, Pannaraj PS. Mother's Milk: A purposeful contribution to the development of the infant microbiota and immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:361. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00361
- Nakajima A, Kaga N, Nakanishi Y, Ohno H, Miyamoto J, Kimura I, et al. Maternal high fiber diet during pregnancy and lactation influences regulatory T cell differentiation in offspring in mice. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3516–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700248

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hsu and Nanan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diversity of Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Effects on Early Life Immune Development

Veronica Ayechu-Muruzabal^{1†}, Arthur H. van Stigt^{2†}, Marko Mank^{3†}, Linette E. M. Willemsen¹, Bernd Stahl³, Johan Garssen^{1,3} and Belinda van't Land^{2,3*}

¹ Division of Pharmacology, Utrecht Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Faculty of Science, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands, ² Pediatric Immunology, Laboratory of Translational Immunology, The Wilhelmina Children's Hospital, University Medical Center, Utrecht, Netherlands, ³ Department of Immunology and Department of Human Milk Research & Analytical Science, Danone Nutricia Research, Utrecht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Valerie Verhasselt, University of Western Australia, Australia

Reviewed by:

Kirsty Le Doare, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Antonio Condino-Neto, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Belinda van't Land

b.vantland@umcutrecht.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 30 April 2018 Accepted: 07 August 2018 Published: 10 September 2018

Citation:

Ayechu-Muruzabal V, van Stigt AH, Mank M, Willemsen LEM, Stahl B, Garssen J and van't Land B (2018) Diversity of Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Effects on Early Life Immune Development. Front. Pediatr. 6:239. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00239 One of the well-known features of human milk, is the capacity to protect against the risk and impact of neonatal infections, as well as to influence the onset of allergic and metabolic disease manifestations. The major objective of this review is to provide a detailed overview regarding the role of human milk, more specifically the diversity in human milk oligosaccharides (HMOS), on early life immune development. Novel insights in immune modulatory effects of HMOS obtained by *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* studies, adds to the understanding on how early life nutrition may impact immune development. Extensive description and analysis of single HMOS contributing to the diversity within the composition provided during breastfeeding will be discussed with specific emphasis on immune development and the susceptibility to neonatal and childhood infections.

Keywords: human milk oligosaccharides, mucosal immunity, tolerogenic dendritic cells, infections, early life nutrition

THE PROTECTIVE EFFECT OF BREASTFEEDING AGAINST INFECTIONS

It has been long noted that breastfeeding protects newborns against infections. Infant formula has been developed over many decades into adequate nutrition for those infants who cannot receive human milk. However, even modern infant formulas lack many components tailor made by each mother for the immune imprinting of her baby, such as specific antibodies (based on the immunologic history of the mother) and human milk oligosaccharides (HMOS) (based on the mother's specific genetic makeup regarding e.g., Lewis (Le) blood group and secretor (Se) status). Exclusive breastfeeding until the age of 4 months followed by partial breastfeeding is associated with a reduction in respiratory and gastrointestinal infectious diseases (1). For example, infants admitted to the hospital with Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection (RSV) are less likely to have been breastfed (2, 3). Similarly, infants who are not exclusively breastfed at 6-8 weeks of age, have a higher risk of hospitalization in early life in relation to a wide range of common infections (2). On the contrary, specific prebiotic oligosaccharides [like short chain galacto- and long chain fructooligosaccharides (scGOS/lcFOS)] are already added in a 9:1 ratio to plain infant formula and have been shown to reduce the development of atopic eczema and allergies as well as reduce the impact of pediatric infections (4, 5). Therefore, further optimization of infant nutrition when breastfeeding is unavailable is a principal factor required to further support immune development in early life.

54

The protective effect of human milk is postulated to be achieved by several mechanisms including the provision of pathogen specific maternal antibodies. This will provide the infant with pathogen specific protection during the first months of life, in which infant's own B cell development has not reached its full potential. Specifically, within the first years of life, the B cell repertoire matures upon encounter of pathogens, eventually providing a full range of protection against the recurrent pathogens. The immunoglobulins in human milk possess a broad range of pathogen specificity, which mirrors the maternal antigenic state. In addition, the concentration of soluble IgA (sIgA) are remarkably high and variable, and correlate to levels of IgG and IgM detected within different regions (6). At birth (for example via vaginal delivery as well as during breastfeeding) the neonate encounters a large variety of microorganisms which are determinant in the establishment of the microbiome in adult-life (7, 8). The initial colonization follows successive steps and is altered through the first year of life by diverse factors including genetic as well as environmental factors such as, introduction of oral feeding. Human milk was shown to stimulate healthy intestinal microbial diversity which includes colonization of several Bifidobacteria and Lactobaccillus species, which in turn, will result in the development of a balanced metabolic response (8, 9). In addition, human milk provides direct support to further development of the immune system in the neonate (10, 11).

The immune system of the neonates needs to adapt and respond to diverse stimuli encountered in early life. Immune homeostasis is determined by the cross-talk between exposure to the mucosal surfaces encompassing cross talk between epithelial cells and underlying immune cells (12). Human milk contains diverse factors like HMOS, milk epidermal growth factor or vitamin A, which contribute to the development of the neonatal mucosa and thus, to the promotion of the neonatal immune system by counterbalancing the deficiencies in early life. These variations are designated as poor IgA production, defective antimicrobial peptide secretion, lack of epithelial chemokine secretion as well as increased permeability among others (6, 10, 13).

Beyond functional components in human milk also the intestinal microbiota can help to further develop these aspects of the mucosal immune system (2). This emphasizes the relevance of a healthy intestinal microbiome diversity for adequate immune development in the first years of life (9). Next to the various classes of pathogen specific immunoglobulins in human milk, the presence of antimicrobial molecules, including specific non-digestible free carbohydrate structures and other molecules like glycoconjugates in breast milk have been shown to bind to

pathogens (14). The nutrient source in early life, in particular the non-digestible human milk oligosaccharides (HMOS) in case of breastfeeding are of importance for healthy neonatal microbial colonization (7, 8, 12), immune development (15–19), as well as B cell development (20). This review aims to reveal the current state of knowledge regarding the immunomodulatory properties of HMOS and its unique complexity with differences in short chain as well as long chain structures. Recently some of these structures have become available via manufacturing procedures, and it might be considered to apply these in future generations of infant milk formula (21).

DIVERSITY OF HUMAN MILK OLIGOSACCHARIDE COMPOSITION

HMOS are the third most abundant class of biomolecules found in human milk after lactose and lipids, reaching between 5 and 20 g/L in mature human milk (22). Up to 1% of HMOS are absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract and found available in systemic circulation (23). This diversity and abundance is unique in humans and not seen in other mammals (24). The concentration of total HMOS is subjected to variations dependent on lactational stage (25), maternal nutrition (26), genetic predisposition (27) or even geographic localization and socioeconomic environment of milk donors (28). Although HMOS are composed out of only 5 different monosaccharides, the structural complexity of HMOS encountered in human milk is unique (21). The monosaccharides which are used as building blocks for HMOS are glucose (Glc), galactose (Gal), N-Acetyl-Glucosamine (GlcNAc), fucose (Fuc), and sialic acid (Neu5Ac). These single monosaccharides are conjugated via several linkage types (i.e., glycosidic bonds). With only a few exceptions, HMOS structures do follow a strict building plan (Figure 1). Each HMOS structure starts with a lactose unit "Gal (β 1-4) Glc" which results from formation of a β 1-4 glycosidic linkage between galactose and glucose catalyzed by the lactose synthase protein complex (30). Several tri-saccharides can be synthesized by appending either galactose or fucose to the reducing or non-reducing end of the lactose residue, which is performed through galactosyl- or fucosyl-transferase activity. Resulting components are e.g., 3'-galactosyllactose (Gal(\beta1-3)Gal(β 1-4)Glc), 4'-galactosyllactose (Gal(β 1-4)Gal(β 1-4)Glc), 6'-galactosyllactose (Gal(β1-6)Gal(β1-4)Glc), 2'-FL (Fuc(α 1-2)Gal(β1-4)Glc), and 3-fucosyllactose (3-FL) (Gal(β1-4)[Fucα1-3]Glc). If sialic acids are connected to the non-reducing end of lactose via sialyl-transferases, 3'-sialyllactose (3'-SL; Neu5Ac (α 2-3)Gal(β 1-4)Glc) and 6'-sialyllactose (6'-SL) (Neu5Ac(α 2-6)Gal(β 1-4)Glc) are formed. Further elongation of lactose via the free 3-OH group of galactose can occur by addition of Gal (\beta1-x)GlcNAc units of either type I (Gal (\beta1-3)GlcNAc, Lacto-N-biose) or type II (Gal (β1-4)GlcNAc, N-Acetyllactosamine). Up to now, 19 different human milk oligosaccharide core structures have been described. These core structures may be linear or branched and can be further decorated with fucoses or sialic acid residues. Which indicates a myriad of different HMOS structures produced in the human mammary gland. The

Abbreviations: 2'-FL, 2'-Fucosyllactose; 3'-SL, 3'-Sialyllactose; 6'-SL, 6'-Sialyllactose; APC, Antigen-presenting cells; DC, Dendritic cell; DC-SIGN, Dendritic Cell-Specific Intercellular adhesion molecule-3-Grabbing Non-integrin; FoxP3, Forkhead box protein 3; FUT 2, Fucosyltransferase 2; HMOS, Human Milk Oligosaccharides; lcFOS, Long Chain Fructo-oligosaccharides; MHC-I (II), Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I (II) molecules; SCFAs, Short Chain Fatty Acids; scGOS, Short Chain Galacto-oligosaccharides; tDC, tolerogenic dendritic cells; Th, T-helper cell; TJ, Tight-Junction; TLRs, Toll-Like Receptors; Tregs, Regulatory T cells.



FIGURE 1 | Generic building scheme of HMOS. Lactose and Type I (Gal (β 1-3)GlcNAc-R) or Type II (Gal (β 1-4)GlcNAc-R) HMOS core structures can be further extended linearly by adding additional Gal-GlcNAc building blocks to terminal Galactoses via β 1-3 glycosidic linkages or via β 1-6 glycosidic linkages. In the latter case, branching of the HMOS structure occurs. The (elongated) HMOS core structures can be further decorated with Fucoses (Fuc) and/or Sialic Acid (Neu5Ac) residues following distinct rules. Symbolic representation of monosaccharides according to CFG guidelines (29).

cellular localization of HMOS synthesis in the mammary gland epithelium is believed to be the Golgi apparatus.

Among other early life factors, the individual maternal genetic disposition has a huge influence on the HMOS profile of human milk. More specifically, the individual expression pattern of Lewis (Le) and Secretor (Se) gene alleles codes for different fucosyl-transferases (FUTs), as shown in **Table 1** The activity of these FUTs can lead to fucosylation of lactose and various other human milk core structures as indicated.

An active Se gen codes for FUT2 which transfers fucose via an a 1-2 glycosidic linkage. Prominent HMOS resulting from FUT2 activity are e.g., 2'-FL and LNFP I. Glycans like LNFP I which are carrying the reducing terminus Fuc (α 1-2)Gal (β 1-3)GlcNAc belong to the group of Le^d or H type 1 antigens. H type antigens link the Le/Se system with the blood group ABH system (31). In contrast, an active Le gene codes for FUT3 which in turn enables fucosylation via either α 1-3 or α 1-4 glycosidic linkage. FUT3 related structures are e.g., LNFP II and LNFP III. LNFP III is also an example for an Lewis^x (Le^x) structural motif, whereas LNFP II represents a Lewis^a (Le^a) epitope. Le^a epitopes are characterized by the carbohydrate sequence Gal (β 1-3)[Fuc (\alpha1-4)]GlcNAc-R. Le^x-antigens contain type II structures with the following residue: Gal $(\beta 1-4)$ [Fuc $(\alpha 1-3)$]GlcNAc-R. If both, Se and Le genes are active, fucosylated HMOS structures bearing either one, two or all the possible types of fucosylation (i.e., via α 1-2, α 1-3, and α 1-4 glycosidic linkages) can occur. Lacto-N-difucohexaose I (LNDFH I) which also resembles a Lewis^b epitope with the monosaccharide motif Fuc (α 1-2)Gal $(\beta 1-3)$ [Fuc ($\alpha 1-4$)]GlcNAc-R, is a known metabolite of joined FUT2 and FUT3 activity. It is noteworthy to mention that also other, Le/Se-system independent fucosyl-transferases may contribute to formation of α 1-3-fucosylated HMOS such as 3'-FL or LNFP V.

The complexity and relative abundance of different HMOS contained in human milk can for instance be characterized by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) and coupled refractive index detection (RI). A resulting SEC-RI trace is shown in **Figure 2**.

Even more detailed information about complexity and individual monosaccharide compositions of HMOS could be derived by a subsequent MALDI-MS (33) analysis of individual SEC HMOS fractions. The acidic sub-fraction adds a further dimension to the overall variety of HMOS. The total number of neutral and acidic HMOS structures based on the MALDI-MS analyses of total human milk carbohydrate SEC-fractions is estimated to exceed the number of 1,000 different structures (24).

Based on the Le/Se status of the mother and specifically the related fucosylated HMOS structures found in the respective human milks, milk group systems of 4 different milk types have been defined (27). Therefore, it is possible to determine individual human milk types by probing presence of specific fucosylated HMOS like 2'-FL, DFL, LNFP I, LNFP II, LNDFH I, and LNDFH II with suited analytical means. An overview of the relationship between maternal Le and Se genotype and some major HMOS structures present in the respective milk types is given in **Table 1**. A recent review has summarized most of the qualitative and quantitative approaches to characterize the diversity of HMOS structures present within human milk (21).

BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF THE DIFFERENT HMOS

The presence of the unique diversity of HMOS, suggests different biological functions and mechanisms by which they may influence the infant's microbiome and immune maturation and their susceptibility to infections as summarized below and shown in **Figure 3**.

The topics exemplified in **Figure 3** are further substantiated point by point in the following section.

Antimicrobial and Antiviral Effects of HMOS

HMOS play a role in the prevention of infections in breastfed infants by direct blockage of viral and bacterial cellular pathogens

TABLE 1 Relationship between materr	nal genotype and exemplified Le- or	Se- related major HMOS expected	to be present in milks of respective milk types.
---------------------------------------	-------------------------------------	---------------------------------	--

Maternal genotype Secretor Lewis		Frequency in	Prominent HMOS expected in milk group	Milk group
		France/Europe (31)		
Se/-	Le/-	69	2'-FL, 3-FL, DFL, LNT, LNnT, LNFP I, LNFP II, LNFP III LNDFH I, LNDFHII, 3'-SL, 6'-SL	Туре I
se/se	Le/-	20	3-FL, LNT, LNNT, LNFP II, LNFP III, LNDFH II, 3'-SL, 6'-SL	Type II
Se/-	le/le	9	2'-FL, 3-FL, DFL, LNT, LNnT, LNFP I, LNFP III, 3'-SL, 6'-SL	Type III
se/se	le/le	1	3-FL, LNT, LNnT, LNFP III, 3'-SL, 6'-SL	Type IV



and toxins infection by mimicking cell entry receptors (34-36). The first mechanisms by which HMOS may exert their anti-infective properties are through the inhibition of virus binding to the host cells by mimicking viral receptors and/or by blocking virus entry into the cell, as well as intracellularly, by blocking viral replication. The anti-infective potential of HMOS has been demonstrated for both neutral as well as acidic HMOS, for example different strains of Norovirus have affinity for specific HMOS structures (35, 37). In addition, both sialylated and fucosylated milk oligosaccharides reduced the infectivity of rotavirus (38). Interestingly, HMOS with multiple Lex epitopes were shown to inhibit HIV-1 transfer to CD4+ T lymphocytes more efficiently than other HMOS structures (39). HMOS may also block microbial pathogen entry, since HMOS from pooled human milk were shown to significantly reduce Escherichia coli attachment to cultured epithelial cells (40). Likewise, it has been shown in vitro that LNT, or its fucosylated derivative LNFPI, both can inhibit the growth of Group B Streptococci (41). Moreover, the presence of 3'-FL within the complex mixture of HMOS structures has been inversely correlated with Group-B Streptococci abundancy in infants (42). In addition, $\alpha(1-2)$ -fucosylated HMOS like 2'-FL, or LNDFH I may reduce of early life diarrhea incidence and severity, via their ability to block specific diarrhea inducing pathogens (43).

Prebiotic Effect of HMOS

Development of selective bacterial strains is subjected to their capacity to metabolize HMOS (44). The role of microbial modulation i.e., the prebiotic capacity of specific HMOS structures have in addition been subject of extensive studies. More specifically, secretor positivity of mothers, hence expressing FUT2 and therefore able to produce $\alpha(1-$ 2)-glycosidic-fucosylated HMOS, have been shown to affect the gut bifidobacterial communities of breastfed infants (45). Bifidobacteria and Bacteroides species are known to metabolize HMOS with high efficiency in contrast to other bacterial species such as E. coli, Clostridia, Eubacteria, Enterococci (44). This appears strain specific and selective for specific HMOS structure (44, 46, 47). For example, Bifidobacteria exhibited strong growth stimulation while expansion of Clostridium perfringens and E. coli were suppressed within cultures using specific HMOS (like 2'-FL, 3-FL, and LDFT), whereas Enterobacteria could not grow on 2'-FL or 6'-SL cultures (48). In addition, utilization of fucosylated type human milk oligosaccharides by isolated human gut microbes was shown (49). These data indicate selective and specific prebiotic capacities of different functional HMOS structures, showing growth of commensal bacteria such as Bifidobacteria at the expense of pathogens, as shown in Figure 3. Hence beyond directly blocking viral and bacterial entrance to the host also these prebiotic capacities of



to epithelial surface receptors and blocking the access of pathogens. Thus, avoiding their replication and subsequent infection. (2) Commensal bacteria, illustrated as Bifdobacteria, metabolize HMOS and thus, their growth is promoted while pathogens less able to metabolize HMOS will experience growth suppression. (3) HMOS and Short Chain Fatty Acid (SCFA), metabolites of HMOS, were shown to influence intestinal epithelial cell (IEC) maturation by promoting differentiation while suppressing proliferation as well as tight junction development, required for proper intestinal barrier function. (4) Expression of receptors involved in pathogen recognition, such as TLR as well as their signal transduction was increased after HMOS exposure which in turn impacts the immune homeostasis. (5) DC in close proximity to the intestinal epithelial barrier are involved in the immunomodulatory effects described for HMOS. DCs exposed to HMOS play a role in the DC/T cell interaction leading to T cell differentiation and/or T cell/B cell interaction which may occur in secondary lymphoid organs, depicted as mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), subsequently promoting immune homeostasis.

HMOS may help to reduce the susceptibility to infection of the host.

Mucosal Barrier Maturation by HMOS

HMOS interact with glycans present in the surface of intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) or with dendritic cells (DC) which protrude to the gut lumen from lamina propria. This results in direct support of epithelial barrier maturation or an indirect effect on barrier integrity via modulation of the microbiota and consequent short chain fatty acid (SCFA) production (50). In this regard, beyond blocking pathogen invasion, HMOS may also promote mucosal barrier maturation by increasing the differentiation of IECs. Indeed, synthetic HMOS or HMOS isolated from human milk were shown to promote differentiation and reduce proliferation of various IEC cultures (HT-29 and Caco-2). Similarly, expression of mucosal maturation factors was promoted in fetal intestine cultures after exposure to HMOS isolated from colostrum. These findings suggest that some specific HMOS may be able to promote gut maturation and contribute to epithelial barrier integrity in the gastrointestinal tract of neonates (18, 50, 51).

Modulation of Pathogen Recognition by HMOS

Receptors involved in the recognition of microbes such as tolllike receptors (TLR) are suggested to be modulated by HMOS. Subsequently the response of the host cell to pathogens is altered (17, 37). *In vitro* studies to elucidate the receptors involved in HMOS effects have been performed mostly in cells isolated from adult individuals which might not translate directly to the neonatal situation. Specific HMOS structures have been postulated to modulate bacterial and viral signaling on epithelial cells and/or DC (19). For instance, 2'-FL modulates CD14 expression in human enterocytes, thereby attenuating LPSinduced inflammation *in vitro* (17). On the contrary, HMOS such as sialyllactoses, human galactosyllactoses and/or LNFP III may be ligands for toll like receptors (TLR). For example, TLR-3 signaling seems specifically inhibited by human milk

3'-galactosylactose (52). Moreover, it has been shown that the addition of human milk as well as HMOS interacts directly with DCs, through DC-SIGN, Siglecs and related glycanbinding proteins which are also essential in immune regulation (53-55). DCs are key in directing the adaptive immune response toward effective immunity identification and clearance pathogens. Alpha-fucosylated HMOS (2'-FL and 3-FL) showed specific binding to DC-SIGN (54). Effects of scGOS/lcFOS were suggested to be mediated by TLR-4 (56). Similarly, TLR-4 as well as TLR-3 have also been related to modulate the effects of HMOS. 3'-FL, 2'-FL were able to modulate TLR-3 and elicit an anti-inflammatory effect, while exposure to 2'-FL inhibited inflammation through TLR-4 (52). More specifically it has clearly been shown that the addition of scGOS/lcFOS ameliorates the microbial composition reducing the presence of clinically relevant pathogens (57). Selectins were also suggested as possible receptors for binding of HMOS due to their ability to block Pselectin (58). Several receptors are hypothesized to be involved in the recognition of HMOS. The diversity of HMOS structures present in human milk might determine HMOS-glycan receptor binding. HMOS target TLRs and C-type lectins which are vital in pathogen recognition, immune modulation and essential during development of the immune system in early life. Therefore, HMOS may contribute to the development of a balanced and effective immune response, hereby providing protection toward infections.

Effect on Immune System Development by HMOS

Specific HMOS, such as 2'-FL, 3'-SL, 6'-SL, and LNT have been detected within the intestine as well as in systemic circulation of breastfed infants (23, 59, 60). Increasing evidence collected during the past two decades suggesting a role of HMOS directly on immune cells. Despite all efforts, the effects described remain rather incomplete (19). Nevertheless, it is suggested that HMOS play a role in supporting the developing mucosal and systemic immune system (13, 16). HMOS derived from human colostrum can modulate intrinsic expression of inflammatory markers associated with cell trafficking and modulate signaling pathways related to maturation of lymphoid tissue and influence cytokine and chemokine networks that regulate Th1/Th2 lymphocyte balance. The anti-inflammatory effect of for instance 2'-FL is known. 2'-FL from pooled human milk showed the ability to dampen pro-inflammatory mediator IL-8 release from T84 IEC line after type 1 pili E. coli infection (17). Similarly, reduced IL-8 expression was measured in fetal intestinal human tissue when exposed to 3'-, 4- and 6'-galactosyllactoses from human milk colostrum (17, 52). 2'-FL was shown to inhibit the inflammatory mediators secreted after TNFa induced in vitro, possibly through the inhibition of NF-κB activation (61). Furthermore, *in vitro* data demonstrate 2'-FL and LNFP I to be able to reduce monocyte activation and to modulate the release of IFNy, IL-12, and IL-10 (62).

In addition, specific prebiotic oligosaccharides have been demonstrated to be immune modulatory (63–65). Immunomodulatory effects have been demonstrated for 2'-FL, suggesting an additional function of specific oligosaccharides (66–68). However, if these effects also relate to improved infection susceptibility in infants remains to be established. From the *in vitro* based human milk immune cell interaction studies some specific anti-inflammatory effects have been identified.

Galectins are another class of lectins involved in the regulation of immune and inflammatory processes (55). Interestingly, HMOS are reported to bind to various recombinant human galectins like hGal-1, -3, -4, -7, -8, and -9 in a very structure dependent and selective way. Human milk glycans with terminal type I sequences (Gal\beta1-3 GlcNAc) preferentially bind to hGal-7, whereas hGal-2 did not bind to human milk glyco-types but to a human blood group A Type 2 determinant (55). Beyond serving as a glycan receptor, galectins can also be secreted as soluble mediators and affect immune function. In this regard, IEC derived galectin-9 was increased after exposure of IEC to a mixture of scGOS/lcFOS in combination with a TLR-9 ligand in an in vitro co-culture model of IEC and activated immune cells (69). Galectin-9 played a key role in enhancing IFNy and IL-10 production by immune cells underlying the IEC in this model (55). Further research will reveal the specific role of galectins in immunomodulation after exposure to HMOS, as well as their similarities with the immunomodulatory properties seen by scGOS/lcFOS. However, it is important to realize that an efficient immune response remains to be mounted against the intruding pathogen. Providing efficient protection, in most cases, will go hand in hand with the induction of inflammation. If an anti-inflammatory response is beneficial in relation to the protection against pathogens, will be pathogen and host specific, and can only be elucidated in vivo.

HUMAN MILK OLIGOSACCHARIDE IMPACT IN VIVO

It is the unique complexity of human milk oligosaccharides which leads to the speculation that these abundantly available structures in human milk play a key role in providing protection against infections in neonates. From the limited in vivo studies, we know that specific HMOS structures can reduce the interaction of specific pathogens like Salmonella, Shigella, Vibrio cholerae, E. coli, Polioviruses, Rotavirus and Respiratory Syncytial virus (RSV) with the host (11, 70). Within some studies, levels of 2'-FL, lacto-N-difucohexaose (LNDFH I), (α 2linked fucosyloligosaccharide) and ratios between 2-linked and 3-/4-linked oligosaccharide were associated, with presence of specific pathogens like E. coli, Campylobacter and Norovirus (35, 43). Interestingly, the provision of secretory type related complex mixtures of HMOS, have been associated with a direct protection against specific infections (71). Fucosyltransferase 2 non-secretor and low secretor status seems to associate with severe outcomes in premature infants. Meaning that within this study a low secretor phenotype was associated with the onset of NEC, and non-secretor genotype was associated with gram negative sepsis (71). In addition, it has been suggested that FUT2, the regulator of Lewis and ABO(H) antigens in the intestinal mucosa, could be a host genotypic feature affecting

HMOS Diversity and Infection Susceptibility

susceptibility to ETEC infection (72). Several intervention studies have reported the functional benefit of adding prebiotic oligosaccharides to infant formula. More specifically, specific prebiotic oligosaccharides have been shown to ameliorate the development of allergies as well as reduce the impact of pediatric infections (4, 5, 73-75). In this regard, the immune modulating effect that seems to decrease the risk on developing atopy and allergy, also may lower the infection risk in neonates, which is suggestive for basic immune modulation early in life. The clinical consequences of specific individual HMOS structures however, remain to be further elucidated (76). The first clinical safety studies are now reported on the use of specific HMOS combinations i.e., 2'-FL and scGOS (60) or the combination of two single oligosaccharides 2'-FL and LNnT (68, 77). Although growth and 2'-FL uptake were similar between formula receiving infants and as seen in breastfed infants, the possible functional benefits regarding immune development and/or infection susceptibility related to a single oligosaccharide are however not extractable from these studies. Therefore, the identification and understanding of protective elements in human breast milk decreasing infant's susceptibility to infection remains limited (75).

In conclusion, components of breast milk (including HMOS) play a key role in the development of the neonatal

REFERENCES

- Duijts L, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Moll HA. Prolonged and exclusive breastfeeding reduces the risk of infectious diseases in infancy. *Pediatrics* (2010) 126:e18–25. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-3256
- Ajetunmobi OM, Whyte B, Chalmers J, Tappin DM, Wolfson L, Fleming M, et al. Breastfeeding is associated with reduced childhood hospitalization: evidence from a Scottish Birth Cohort (1997-2009). *J Pediatr.* (2015) 166:620– 5 e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.11.013
- Shi T, Balsells E, Wastnedge E, Singleton R, Rasmussen ZA, Zar HJ, et al. Risk factors for respiratory syncytial virus associated with acute lower respiratory infection in children under five years: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health (2015) 5:020416. doi: 10.7189/jogh.05.020416
- Moro G, Arslanoglu S, Stahl B, Jelinek J, Wahn U, Boehm G. A mixture of prebiotic oligosaccharides reduces the incidence of atopic dermatitis during the first six months of age. *Arch Dis Child*. (2006) 91:814–9. doi: 10.1136/adc.2006.098251
- Arslanoglu S, Moro GE, Boehm G. Early supplementation of prebiotic oligosaccharides protects formula-fed infants against infections during the first 6 months of life. J Nutr. (2007) 137:2420–4. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.11.2420
- Ruiz L, Espinosa-Martos I, Garcia-Carral C, Manzano S, McGuire MK, Meehan CL, et al. What's normal? Immune profiling of human milk from healthy women living in different geographical and socioeconomic settings. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:696. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00696
- Martin R, Nauta AJ, Ben Amor K, Knippels LM, Knol J, Garssen J. Early life: gut microbiota and immune development in infancy. *Benef Microbes*. (2010) 1:367–82. doi: 10.3920/BM2010.0027
- Walker WA, Iyengar RS. Breast milk, microbiota, and intestinal immune homeostasis. *Pediatr Res.* (2015) 77:220–8. doi: 10.1038/pr.2014.160
- 9. Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C. The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med. (2016) 8:51. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0307-y
- Torow N, Marsland BJ, Hornef MW, Gollwitzer ES. Neonatal mucosal immunology. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:5–17. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.81
- Turfkruyer M, Verhasselt V. Breast milk and its impact on maturation of the neonatal immune system. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.* (2015) 28:199–206. doi: 10.1097/QCO.00000000000165

immune system by preventing pathogen replication, promoting healthy microbial diversity, inducing maturation of intestinal mucosa and by modulation of immune cells as well as pathogen recognition receptors. Currently, there is little understanding about the role of the diverse HMOS structures in optimally inducing microbiome and immune development and consequently how they may provide protection against infections. Therefore, we postulate that HMOS are involved in regulation of mucosal immune and barrier function in multiple ways, although the specific mechanisms remain poorly understood and may be a compilation of the biological functions of individual structures and their interactions. Further investigation into the components of breast milk and their roles in providing protection to infants is required, irrespective of the mechanism by which specific HMOS structures can provide protection toward certain pathogens.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VA-M, AvS, and MM have written the review. LW, JG, and BvL supervised the program. BS made specific contributions to the program with regard to human milk and in particular functional oligosaccharides. All authors listed have approved it for publication.

- Renz H, Holt PG, Inouye M, Logan AC, Prescott SL, Sly PD. An exposome perspective: early-life events and immune development in a changing world. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:24–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017. 05.015
- Hanson LA, Korotkova M, Lundin S, Haversen L, Silfverdal SA, Mattsby-Baltzer I, et al. The transfer of immunity from mother to child. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2003) 987:199–206. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb06049.x
- Peterson R, Cheah WY, Grinyer J, Packer N. Glycoconjugates in human milk: protecting infants from disease. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:1425–38. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt072
- Gollwitzer ES, Marsland BJ. Impact of early-life exposures on immune maturation and susceptibility to disease. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:684–96. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.09.009
- Newburg DS, Walker WA. Protection of the neonate by the innate immune system of developing gut and of human milk. *Pediatr Res.* (2007) 61:2–8. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000250274.68571.18
- He Y, Liu S, Kling DE, Leone S, Lawlor NT, Huang Y, et al. The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose modulates CD14 expression in human enterocytes, thereby attenuating LPS-induced inflammation. *Gut* (2016) 65:33–46. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307544
- He Y, Liu S, Leone S, Newburg DS. Human colostrum oligosaccharides modulate major immunologic pathways of immature human intestine. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1326–39. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.20
- Kulinich A, Liu L. Human milk oligosaccharides: the role in the finetuning of innate immune responses. *Carbohydr Res.* (2016) 432:62–70. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2016.07.009
- Xiao L, Leusink-Muis T, Kettelarij N, van Ark I, Blijenberg B, Hesen NA, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose improves innate and adaptive immunity in an influenza-specific murine vaccination model. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:452. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00452
- Thurl S, Munzert M, Boehm G, Matthews C, Stahl B. Systematic review of the concentrations of oligosaccharides in human milk. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:920–33. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux044
- 22. Urashima T, Asakuma S, Leo F, Fukuda K, Messer M, Oftedal OT. The predominance of type I oligosaccharides is a feature specific to human breast milk. *Adv Nutr.* (2012) 3:473S–82S. doi: 10.3945/an.111.001412

- Goehring KC, Kennedy AD, Prieto PA, Buck RH. Direct evidence for the presence of human milk oligosaccharides in the circulation of breastfed infants. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e101692. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0101692
- 24. Boehm G, Stahl B. Oligosaccharides from milk. J Nutr. (2007) 137(3 Suppl 2):847S-9S. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.3.847S
- Davidson B, Meinzen-Derr JK, Wagner CL, Newburg DS, Morrow AL. Fucosylated oligosaccharides in human milk in relation to gestational age and stage of lactation. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2004) 554:427–30. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-4242-8_56
- Charbonneau MR, O'Donnell D, Blanton LV, Totten SM, Davis JC, Barratt MJ, et al. Sialylated milk oligosaccharides promote microbiotadependent growth in models of infant undernutrition. *Cell* (2016) 164:859–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.024
- Thurl S, Henker J, Siegel M, Tovar K, Sawatzki G. Detection of four human milk groups with respect to Lewis blood group dependent oligosaccharides. *Glycoconj J.* (1997) 14:795–9. doi: 10.1023/A:1018529703106
- McGuire MK, Meehan CL, McGuire MA, Williams JE, Foster J, Sellen DW, et al. What's normal? Oligosaccharide concentrations and profiles in milk produced by healthy women vary geographically. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:1086–1100. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.139980
- Varki A, Cummings RD, Aebi M, Packer NH, Seeberger PH, Esko JD, et al. Symbol nomenclature for graphical representations of glycans. *Glycobiology* (2015) 25:1323–4. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwv091
- Kuhn NJ, Carrick DT, Wilde CJ. Lactose synthesis: the possibilities of regulation. J Dairy Sci. (1980) 63:328–36. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(80)82934-1
- Oriol R, Le Pendu J, Mollicone R. Genetics of ABO, H, Lewis, X and related antigens. Vox Sang. (1986) 51:161–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1423-0410.1986.tb01946.x
- Finke B, Mank M, Daniel H, Stahl B. Offline coupling of low-pressure anion-exchange chromatography with MALDI-MS to determine the elution order of human milk oligosaccharides. *Anal Biochem.* (2000) 284:256–65. doi: 10.1006/abio.2000.4680
- 33. Stahl B, Thurl S, Zeng JR, Karas M, Hillenkamp F, Steup M, et al. Oligosaccharides from human-milk as revealed by matrix-assisted laserdesorption ionization mass-spectrometry. *Anal Biochem.* (1994) 223:218–26. doi: 10.1006/abio.1994.1577
- 34. Iskarpatyoti JA, Morse EA, McClung RP, Ikizler M, Wetzel JD, Contractor N, et al. Serotype-specific differences in inhibition of reovirus infectivity by human-milk glycans are determined by viral attachment protein sigma1. *Virology* (2012) 433:489–97. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.08.036
- Shang J, Piskarev VE, Xia M, Huang P, Jiang X, Likhosherstov LM, et al. Identifying human milk glycans that inhibit norovirus binding using surface plasmon resonance. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:1491–8. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt077
- 36. Pandey RP, Kim DH, Woo J, Song J, Jang SH, Kim JB, et al. Broad-spectrum neutralization of avian influenza viruses by sialylated human milk oligosaccharides: *in vivo* assessment of 3'-sialyllactose against H9N2 in chickens. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2563. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20955-4
- Weichert S, Koromyslova A, Singh BK, Hansman S, Jennewein S, Schroten H, et al. Structural basis for norovirus inhibition by human milk oligosaccharides. *J Virol.* (2016) 90:4843–8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03223-15
- Laucirica DR, Triantis V, Schoemaker R, Estes MK, Ramani S. Milk oligosaccharides inhibit human rotavirus infectivity in MA104 cells. J Nutr. (2017) 147:1709–14. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.246090
- Naarding MA, Ludwig IS, Groot F, Berkhout B, Geijtenbeek TB, Pollakis G, et al. Lewis X component in human milk binds DC-SIGN and inhibits HIV-1 transfer to CD4+ T lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest.* (2005) 115:3256–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI25105
- Manthey CF, Autran CA, Eckmann L, Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides protect against enteropathogenic Escherichia coli attachment *in vitro* and EPEC colonization in suckling mice. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2014) 58:165–8. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000172
- Lin AE, Autran CA, Szyszka A, Escajadillo T, Huang M, Godula K, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit growth of group B Streptococcus. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:11243–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.789974

- Andreas NJ, Al-Khalidi A, Jaiteh M, Clarke E, Hyde MJ, Modi N, et al. Role of human milk oligosaccharides in Group B Streptococcus colonisation. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2016) 5:e99. doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.43
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Morrow AL. Human milk glycans protect infants against enteric pathogens. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2005) 25:37–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.25.050304.092553
- Marcobal A, Barboza M, Froehlich JW, Block DE, German JB, Lebrilla CB, et al. Consumption of human milk oligosaccharides by gut-related microbes. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2010) 58:5334–40. doi: 10.1021/jf9044205
- 45. Lewis ZT, Totten SM, Smilowitz JT, Popovic M, Parker E, Lemay DG, et al. Maternal fucosyltransferase 2 status affects the gut bifidobacterial communities of breastfed infants. *Microbiome* (2015) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0071-z
- Sela DA, Li Y, Lerno L, Wu S, Marcobal AM, German JB, et al. An infantassociated bacterial commensal utilizes breast milk sialyloligosaccharides. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:11909–18. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.193359
- Asakuma S, Hatakeyama E, Urashima T, Yoshida E, Katayama T, Yamamoto K, et al. Physiology of consumption of human milk oligosaccharides by infant gut-associated bifidobacteria. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:34583–92. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.248138
- Hoeflinger JL, Davis SR, Chow J, Miller MJ. In vitro impact of human milk oligosaccharides on Enterobacteriaceae growth. J Agric Food Chem. (2015) 63:3295–302. doi: 10.1021/jf505721p
- Yu ZT, Chen C, Kling DE, Liu B, McCoy JM, Merighi M, et al. The principal fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk exhibit prebiotic properties on cultured infant microbiota. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:169–77. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws138
- Holscher HD, Bode L, Tappenden KA. Human milk oligosaccharides influence intestinal epithelial cell maturation *in vitro*. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2017) 64:296–301. doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000001274
- Kuntz S, Kunz C, Rudloff S. Oligosaccharides from human milk induce growth arrest via G2/M by influencing growth-related cell cycle genes in intestinal epithelial cells. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101:1306–15. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508079622
- He Y, Lawlor NT, Newburg DS. Human milk components modulate toll-like receptor-mediated inflammation. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:102–11. doi: 10.3945/an.115.010090
- Stowell SR, Arthur CM, McBride R, Berger O, Razi N, Heimburg-Molinaro J, et al. Microbial glycan microarrays define key features of host-microbial interactions. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2014) 10:470–6. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1525
- Noll AJ, Yu Y, Lasanajak Y, Duska-McEwen G, Buck RH, Smith DF, et al. Human DC-SIGN binds specific human milk glycans. *Biochem J.* (2016) 473:1343–53. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160046
- Noll AJ, Gourdine JP, Yu Y, Lasanajak Y, Smith DF, Cummings RD. Galectins are human milk glycan receptors. *Glycobiology* (2016) 26:655–69. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cww002
- Lehmann S, Hiller J, van Bergenhenegouwen J, Knippels LM, Garssen J, Traidl-Hoffmann C. *In vitro* evidence for immune-modulatory properties of non-digestible oligosaccharides: direct effect on human monocyte derived dendritic cells. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0132304. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132304
- 57. Knol J, Boehm G, Lidestri M, Negretti F, Jelinek J, Agosti M, et al. Increase of faecal bifidobacteria due to dietary oligosaccharides induces a reduction of clinically relevant pathogen germs in the faeces of formula-fed preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr Suppl.* (2005) 94:31–3. doi: 10.1080/08035320510043529
- Schumacher G, Bendas G, Stahl B, Beermann C. Human milk oligosaccharides affect P-selectin binding capacities: *in vitro* investigation. *Nutrition* (2006) 22:620–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2005.12.009
- Dotz V, Rudloff S, Blank D, Lochnit G, Geyer R, Kunz C. 13C-labeled oligosaccharides in breastfed infants' urine: individual-, structure- and timedependent differences in the excretion. *Glycobiology* (2014) 24:185–94. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt099
- Marriage BJ, Buck RH, Goehring KC, Oliver JS, Williams JA. Infants fed a lower calorie formula with 2'FL show growth and 2'FL uptake like breast-fed infants. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2015) 61:649–58. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0000000000889
- 61. Newburg DS, Ko JS, Leone S, Nanthakumar NN. Human milk oligosaccharides and synthetic galactosyloligosaccharides contain 3'-, 4-,

and 6-galactosyllactose and attenuate inflammation in human T84, NCM-460, and H4 cells and intestinal tissue *ex vivo*. *J Nutr.* (2016) 146:358–67. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.220749

- 62. Sotgiu S, Arru G, Fois ML, Sanna A, Musumeci M, Rosati G, et al. Immunomodulation of fucosyl-lactose and lacto-N-fucopentaose on mononuclear cells from multiple sclerosis and healthy subjects. *Int J Biomed Sci.* (2006) 2:114–20.
- 63. Schijf MA, Kerperien J, Bastiaans J, Szklany K, Meerding J, Hofman G, et al. Alterations in regulatory T cells induced by specific oligosaccharides improve vaccine responsiveness in mice. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e75148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075148
- 64. Schijf MA, Kruijsen D, Bastiaans J, Coenjaerts FE, Garssen J, van Bleek GM, et al. Specific dietary oligosaccharides increase Th1 responses in a mouse respiratory syncytial virus infection model. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:11472–82. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06708-11
- van't Land B, Schijf M, van Esch BC, van Bergenhenegouwen J, Bastiaans J, Schouten B, et al. Regulatory T-cells have a prominent role in the immune modulated vaccine response by specific oligosaccharides. *Vaccine* (2010) 28:5711–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.046
- 66. Xiao L, Van't Land B, Engen PA, Naqib A, Green SJ, Nato A, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides protect against the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD-mice. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:3829. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22052-y
- Koning N, Kessen SF, Van Der Voorn JP, Appelmelk BJ, Jeurink PV, Knippels LM, et al. Human milk blocks DC-SIGN-pathogen interaction via MUC1. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:112. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00112
- Goehring KC, Marriage BJ, Oliver JS, Wilder JA, Barrett EG, Buck RH. Similar to those who are breastfed, infants fed a formula containing 2'-fucosyllactose have lower inflammatory cytokines in a randomized controlled trial. *J Nutr.* (2016) 146:2559–66. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.236919
- 69. de Kivit S, Kraneveld AD, Knippels LM, van Kooyk Y, Garssen J, Willemsen LE. Intestinal epithelium-derived galectin-9 is involved in the immunomodulating effects of nondigestible oligosaccharides. J Innate Immun. (2013) 5:625–38. doi: 10.1159/000350515
- Goldman AS. The immune system in human milk and the developing infant. Breastfeed Med. (2007) 2:195–204. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2007.0024
- Morrow AL, Meinzen-Derr J, Huang P, Schibler KR, Cahill T, Keddache M, et al. Fucosyltransferase 2 non-secretor and low secretor status predicts severe outcomes in premature infants. *J Pediatr.* (2011) 158:745–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.043
- 72. Mottram L, Wiklund G, Larson G, Qadri F, Svennerholm AM. FUT2 non-secretor status is associated with altered susceptibility to symptomatic

enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection in Bangladeshis. Sci Rep. (2017) 7:10649. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10854-5

- Arslanoglu S, Moro GE, Boehm G, Wienz F, Stahl B, Bertino E. Early neutral prebiotic oligosaccharide supplementation reduces the incidence of some allergic manifestations in the first 5 years of life. *J Biol Regul Homeost Agents* (2012) 26(3 Suppl):49–59.
- 74. Gruber C, van Stuijvenberg M, Mosca F, Moro G, Chirico G, Braegger CP, et al. Reduced occurrence of early atopic dermatitis because of immunoactive prebiotics among low-atopy-risk infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2010) 126:791–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.07.022
- 75. Ranucci G, Buccigrossi V, Borgia E, Piacentini D, Visentin F, Cantarutti L, et al. Galacto-oligosaccharide/polidextrose enriched formula protects against respiratory infections in infants at high risk of atopy: a randomized clinical trial. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:E286. doi: 10.3390/nu10 030286
- Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amoros A, Hsu PS, Van't Land B, Gay MCL, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:E894. doi: 10.3390/nu9080894
- Puccio G, Alliet P, Cajozzo C, Janssens E, Corsello G, Sprenger N, et al. Effects of infant formula with human milk oligosaccharides on growth and morbidity: a randomized multicenter trial. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2017) 64:624–31. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001520

Conflict of Interest Statement: JG is head of the Division of Pharmacology, Utrecht Institute for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Faculty of Science at the Utrecht University and partly employed by Nutricia Research. BvL is leading a strategic alliance between University Medical Centre Utrecht/Wilhelmina Children's Hospital and Nutricia Research. BS, MM, and BvL are employed by Nutricia Research.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ayechu-Muruzabal, van Stigt, Mank, Willemsen, Stahl, Garssen and van't Land. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immunologically Active Components in Human Milk and Development of Atopic Disease, With Emphasis on Food Allergy, in the Pediatric Population

Puja S. Rajani, Antti E. Seppo and Kirsi M. Järvinen*

Division of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology and Center for Food Allergy, University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry, Rochester, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Munblit, I. M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Yoshinori Morita, Chiba University, Japan Meghan B. Azad, University of Manitoba, Canada

> *Correspondence: Kirsi M. Järvinen Kirsi_jarvinen-seppo@ URMC.Rochester.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 01 May 2018 Accepted: 16 July 2018 Published: 07 August 2018

Citation:

Rajani PS, Seppo AE and Järvinen KM (2018) Immunologically Active Components in Human Milk and Development of Atopic Disease, With Emphasis on Food Allergy, in the Pediatric Population. Front. Pediatr. 6:218. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00218

Breast-feeding is currently recommended to prevent the development of allergic diseases; however, data are conflicting and mechanisms are unclear. The immunomodulatory composition of human milk is poorly characterized and varies between mothers. We and others have shown that high levels of human milk IgA and certain cytokines and human milk oligosaccharides are associated with protection against food allergy in the infant, but it is unclear whether they are responsible for or simply biomarkers of the vertical transfer of protection. Because human milk has pre- and probiotic properties, the anti-allergy protection afforded by human milk may be due to its control on the developing gut microbiome. In mice, murine milk IgA supports gut homeostasis and shapes the microbiota, which in turn diversifies the intestinal IgA repertoire that reciprocally promotes the diversity of gut microbiome; these mechanisms are poorly understood in humans. In addition, several human milk bioactives are immunostimulatory, which may in part provide protection against allergic diseases. The regulation of immunologically active components in human milk is incompletely understood, although accumulating evidence suggests that IgA and cytokines in human milk reflect maternal exposures. This review summarizes the current literature on human milk components that have been associated with protection against food allergy and related allergic disorders in early childhood and discusses the work relating to regulation of these levels in human milk and possible mechanisms of action.

Keywords: breast milk composition, breast feeding, atopic development, IgA, breast milk microbiome, cytokines, human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), fatty acids

INTRODUCTION

Breast-feeding is a natural process of providing nourishment to offspring. Human milk is the optimal source of nutrition for term infants during the first 6 months of life as it provides nutrients, antimicrobial factors, and exposure to important immunomodulatory factors infants need to grow, develop, and thrive (1). There are various studies showing that human milk provides defense against infections and development of allergic disease (2, 3). The first few months of life are a crucial window in which the still-developing infant immune system can be influenced, with

breast-feeding allowing for continued exposure to the mother's immune system. This can impact oral tolerance induction and development of allergy (**Figure 1**). However, the immunomodulatory composition of human milk is poorly characterized and varies between mothers.

Many studies have been published investigating the effect of breastfeeding on atopic diseases, though conclusions from these studies were conflicting, with some authors claiming a protective effect, some remaining undecided, and a few even suspecting that breastfeeding might promote the development of atopic diseases (4-6). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have concluded an overall protective effect of breastfeeding against atopic dermatitis, wheezing/asthma, allergic rhinitis and cow's milk allergy (CMA) in early childhood (7-10), and breast-feeding is currently recommended to prevent allergic diseases (11). A multidisciplinary review of the literature from 1966-2001 by van Odijk et al. reviewed 132 articles discussing early feeding methods and outcome of atopic disease (7). Only 56 of these articles were conclusive and the conclusion of the reviewers was that breastfeeding is protective of atopic diseases (asthma, recurrent wheezing, atopic dermatitis), and the protective impact is stronger in children with atopic heredity. The review also concluded that exposure to small doses of cow's milk during first days of life predisposes to cow's milk allergy (CMA), and in children with atopic heredity, breastfeeding and extensively hydrolyzed formula protect against CMA. A meta-analysis by Gdalevich et al. in 2001 showed that at least 3 months of exclusive breastfeeding protected from eczema and asthma in children with a family history of atopy (12, 13). Development of food allergy was not assessed. This has been reproduced in various other

observational studies from Australia, Sweden, and Denmark. (14-16). The Promotion of Breastfeeding Intervention Trial (PROBIT), a large randomized trial from Belarus, was able to promote breastfeeding duration and exclusivity of breastfeeding at 16 hospitals and found that at these sites, infants had fewer gastrointestinal infections and lower incidence of eczema in the first year of life (17). However, the follow-up at 6 years of this same cohort showed a lack of protective effect with this intervention on asthma, eczema, or hay fever (5). The American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition and Section on Allergy and Immunology published a clinical report in 2008 concluding that there is evidence that breastfeeding until 4 months, compared with feeding formula made with intact cow's milk protein, prevents (or delays) the occurrence of atopic dermatitis, wheezing and cow's milk allergy in early childhood (9). Interestingly, Katz et al. reported in 2010 in a large-scale prospective population-based study that early exposure to cow's milk protein as supplementation to breastfeeding might prevent IgE-mediated cow's milk protein allergy (18). The Cochrane Database Systematic Review in 2012 by Kramer and Kakuma (3) concluded that with breastfeeding beyond 3-4 months, there is no significant reduction in risk of atopic eczema, asthma, or other atopic outcomes demonstrated in studies from Finland, Australia, and Belarus. This was confirmed to be the case for eczema in the retrospective ISAAC Phase Two Study of >51,000 children randomly selected in 21 countries (19). The most recent systematic review by Lodge et al. from 2015 showed the protective effect of more vs. less breastfeeding against risk of asthma in children 5-18 years, especially in lower income countries, and against allergic rhinitis in children ≤ 5 years (10). There was a



significant effect of protection against eczema for children ≤ 2 years by exclusive breastfeeding for 3-4 months. Estimate for an effect of breastfeeding on food allergy had high heterogeneity and low quality. Most recently, a retrospective study in 2016 from Japan noted that cow's milk formula exposure during the first 3 months of life may also have a protective effect on CMA (20). However, data are conflicting, especially given the lack of randomized controlled trials and varied definitions of breastfeeding and allergic outcomes. Unfortunately, most studies have been underpowered for food allergies or not assessed at all due to methodologic problems of making the firm diagnosis. However, among all the atopic diseases, breastfeeding may have the most impact on development of oral tolerance to foods, which develops in the gastrointestinal tract. Epidemiologic studies have not accounted for the human milk composition, which varies from one mother to another, and may be a remarkable confounder impacting its protective properties.

Human milk impacts the development of the infant gut microbiome, along with other maternal and environmental factors. At birth the infant transitions from a highly regulated maternal, microbiota-scarce environment to becoming colonized with ex utero microbiota (21). With vaginal birth, the infant microbiota originates mainly from the mother's intestine, vagina and skin, while the hospital environment and the mother's skin provide the first colonizing microbes with C-section birth (21-23). The bacterial colonization of the newborn intestine may contribute to development of the neonatal immune functions or susceptibility to immune-mediated disorders in early (and later) life (6, 24, 25). Evidence from both animal (26) and human studies (27-31) have reported that gut dysbiosis precedes the development of atopy, atopic eczema and food allergy/sensitization. In the past year, several studies have linked the importance of gut microbiome and food allergy. Kourosh et al. sought to better understand fecal microbiome in children with IgE mediated food allergy and were able to show that there were significant differences in microbial composition amongst food-allergic children, especially in the Clostridia class, compared with healthy siblings and healthy children (32). Fieten et al. looked for differences in fecal microbiome in children with or without food allergy in the setting of atopic dermatitis (33). Their pilot study showed significant differences in the microbiome profile between these two groups, specifically with Bifidobacterium breve, Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum, Bifidobacterium adolescentis, Escherichia coli, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, and Akkermansia muciniphila. Finally, Fazlollahi et al. looked at the role of gut microbiota in egg allergic children and found a distinction in diversity of microbial flora compared to non-food allergic controls (34). While this data is important for our discovery of the end outcome of atopy, the specific human milk components on microbiome and atopy development are discussed in this review.

Human milk originates in the lactating mammary tissue. Milk lipid, lactose, and the majority of milk proteins are produced in the lactating cells (35). Human milk contains immune cells, immunoglobulins, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, lactoferrin, oligosaccharides, enzymes (peroxidases, lysozymes), secretory components, and hormones, along with foreign food antigens, bacteria and viruses (6, 36). Several of these bioactive factors have been assessed in relation to development of allergies in the infant, and many of these immunologically active factors in human milk are missing in processed cow's milk and infant formulas, in which the whey to casein ratio is markedly lower than in human milk (37, 38). This review summarizes the current literature on human milk components that have been associated with protection against food allergy and related allergic disorders in early childhood and discusses the work relating to regulation of these levels in human milk and possible mechanisms of action.

CYTOKINES, CHEMOKINES, AND GROWTH FACTORS

Cytokines, which include chemokines, interleukins, interferons, and growth factors, are signaling molecules that function in cellular communication. Human milk is a rich source of immunostimulatory and immunoregulatory cytokines (6, 39). There is variation in the concentration of cytokines among mothers, and overall concentrations for several of those are relatively low in human milk, causing debate in the clinical significance of cytokine levels on health outcomes. Some of the variation in cytokine levels is thought to be due to varying maternal (microbial) exposures. Milk interleukin (IL)-10, interferon (IFN)- γ (40) and transforming growth factor (TGF) β (41) levels have been shown to vary depending on mothers' country of residence, and country of birth (42), and TGF β as an example is in human milk at a biologically meaningful concentration.

TGFB is an important regulatory cytokine involved in suppression of both Th1 and Th2 pathways, and is the molecule that has been most studied. The three isoforms of TGFB combined make it the most prevalent cytokine in human milk, with the most abundant being TGF β -2 (43, 44). Immunomodulatory cytokines in murine milk, including TGF^β have been shown to influence the development and maturation of the mucosal immune system in neonatal mice and to be associated with the protection against allergic asthma (45). Some studies have confirmed that milk TGF β is immunologically active, and involved in the induction of oral tolerance, perhaps by inducing increased production of specific IgA (46, 47). Alternatively, TGF β -2 has been shown to induce maturation of immature intestinal epithelial cells (48). Protection induced by human milk TGF β has especially been noted in the development of atopic dermatitis (43). This was supported in a review in 2010 by Oddy and Rosales of twelve human studies that determined that 67% of the studies showed a positive association of TGFβ-1 or TGFβ-2 preventing atopic outcomes in infancy and early childhood (49). The study concluded that TGF^β is likely essential in the development of immune responses in infants and may provide protection against adverse immunological outcomes (49). Overall, however, there is conflicting data regarding the role TGF β in the development of atopic disease in humans (41, 50-56). Most recently, a study by Morita et al. showed that lower concentration of TGF β -1 in human milk at 1 month, but not TGFβ-2, may be linked to development of eczema (57).

In another study of food allergy, the concentration of TGF β -1 in colostrum from mothers of infants with IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy was lower than from mothers of infants with non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy; however, the levels in healthy controls were found in between (58). The studies are summarized in **Table 1**. A recent study showed that human milk TGF β was associated with increased richness, evenness and diversity of infant gut microbiome composition (61).

Emerging data regarding the role of other human milk cytokines and chemokines on allergic disease development has been variable. A summary of association between cytokines and the development of food allergy can be found in Table 2. Earlier studies using ELISA found that levels of IL-4 are lower and IL-8 and CCL5 (RANTES) are higher in human milk from atopic compared to non-atopic mothers (63, 64), though others found that cytokine levels were largely not related to maternal atopy (6, 65). Various studies report low to undetectable levels of other cytokines and chemokines including IFNy, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, CCL5, CXCL8, CXCL10, and TNF- α and have found no association with development of atopic disease despite their involvement in immune and intestinal development (39, 50, 53, 55, 66, 67). Pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8 are also found in human milk in low concentrations. IL-6, IL-8, CXCL8, and CXCL10 in human milk have been shown to be affected by factors such as gestational smoking, maternal race, and season (68) and exercise has been associated with elevated levels of IL-1 β and IL-17 (69). There are studies showing that some of these cytokine levels in milk may impact allergic outcomes in offspring. Increased levels of IL-1β in human milk have been shown to be associated with protection against eczema (55). Soto-Ramirez et al. showed that IL-5 and IL-13 levels in milk, although extremely low, are risk factors for asthma at 12 months of age (67). CCL5 in milk was the strongest risk factor for development of atopic dermatitis in the study by Ochiai et al. (65). Because food allergy represents a failure in development of mucosal tolerance to foods, immune factors in human milk may have a more direct effect on development of food allergy (62). In fact, our study showed that a panel of pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines including IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10, and TGFβ-1 in human milk were associated with protection against CMA (6, 62). These cytokines promote IgA production, Th17 differentiation and microbiota-driven crosstalk between gut macrophages and RORyt⁺ ILC-3 population (70). It is unclear whether these bioactive factors are directly related to protection or whether they are biomarkers of another protective mechanism (6).

Other growth factors have also been shown to be present in high concentrations in human milk, including vascular endothelial growth factor, hepatic growth factor, and epidermal growth factor, though the clinical importance is unknown (56, 62, 71). Most recently, a study was conducted by Munblit et al. in which 398 pregnant/lactating women in the United Kingdom, Russia, and Italy were followed prospectively to look for an association between levels of immune mediators in colostrum/mature human milk and allergic outcomes in infants during the first year of life (56). Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) in mature human milk was protective against common cold incidence at 12 months. Other study outcomes in infants included eczema symptoms, parental-reported food allergy, and recurrent cough/wheeze at 6 and 12 months of age. Results showed higher levels of IL-13 in the colostrum and mature human milk were protective against parent reported food allergy and eczema respectively. IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-12, and IFN γ showed no significant association with eczema, wheeze or food allergy (56).

SOLUBLE CD14/TLR

Human milk may also influence neonatal microbial recognition by modulating Toll-like receptor (TLR)-mediated responses specifically and differentially (72). Necrotizing enterocolitis has been shown to be reduced in infants who are breastfed, mediated likely via the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) receptor TLR4 preventing mucosal injury and promotion of repair (73). CD14 is the soluble component (sCD14) of the TLR4, which has a role in innate immunity. It binds to LPS from gram-negative bacteria and intestinal enterocytes. The absence of sCD14 reduces the TLR4 response to LPS. Colostrum is rich in sCD14 with levels decreasing over time whereas neonates lack CD14. Soluble CD14 levels have been found to be lower in colostrum and human milk of mothers with children who develop atopy or eczema, sensitization (6, 74). Later studies, however, deny an association between levels of sCD14 and development of atopy (52, 54). In 2015, Savilahti et al. showed that elevated sCD14 in human milk 3 months post-partum was associated with development of IgE-mediated allergic disease by 5 years of age in children who had hereditary risk of atopy, suggesting that sCD14 in milk influences the emergence of allergy in children with atopic heredity (75). This study contrasted with a study by the same group from 2005 that showed sCD14 levels were lower in colostrum of mothers with infants developing atopic symptoms and IgE sensitization than of those of infants with no atopy (51). Studies regarding sCD14 in human milk are summarized in Table 3. The conclusions are mixed and there does not appear to be a clear relationship between sCD14 levels in human milk and development of atopic disease.

IMMUNOGLOBULIN A (IgA)

The predominant immunoglobulin in human milk is IgA, most of which is in the form of secretory IgA (SIgA), with smaller amounts of IgG and IgM (6, 76). An older study utilized human milk from a prospective birth cohort of 145 motherinfant dyads oversampled for high risk of food allergies and followed for 12-18 months for development of CMA. The study showed that high levels of human milk total (77) and cow's milk-specific IgA (78) were associated with protection against CMA, consistent with other reports (79, 80). While the exact function of IgA in human milk is unknown, it is thought to supplement infant IgA production, which only commences after birth (78, 81). Data from several studies support a role for maternal environment (geographic location, microbial pressure, exposure to farm animals and cats) in driving milk IgA levels and

TABLE 1 Studies pertaining to TGFβ in human milk and development of atopic α	disease.
--	----------

Study	Year	Location	Size	Duration/Age	Outcomes
Kalliomaki et al. (43)	1999	Finland	n = 47	Up to 12 months	Increased TGFβ-1 and 2 levels in colostrum were associated with higher post weaning-onset atopic disease
Saarinen et al. (58)	1999	Finland	<i>n</i> = 6209 Up to 12.7 months		Increased TGFβ-1 levels in colostrum are associated with infants who develop IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy versus non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy; healthy controls were found in between
Bottcher et al. (50)	2003	Sweden	n = 53	Up to 2 years	TGFβ-1 and 2 levels were not significantly associated with eczema, salivary IgA, or allergic sensitization
Oddy et al. (59)	2003	Australia	n = 243	Infancy	Increased TGF β -1 is associated with lower risk of wheeze in infancy
Savilahti et al. (51)	2005	Finland	n = 4674	Up to age 4 years	TGFβ-1 and 2 levels were not significantly associated with atopy development
Snijders et al. (52)	2006	Netherlands	n = 315	Eczema (up to 12 months), Wheezing (up to 2 years), Allergic sensitization (up to 2 years)	No significant association of with TGFβ-1 and development of eczema, wheezing or allergic sensitization
Bottcher et al. (60)	2008	Sweden	n = 54 (<i>L. reuteri</i>) n = 55 (control)	Up to 2 yeas	Decreased TGFβ-2 in colostrum is associated with lower incidence of allergic sensitization and a trend of protective effect on eczema development
Kuitunen et al. (53)	2012	Finland	n = 364 (colostrum) n = 321 (BM)	At 2 years of age	Increased TGF β -2 is associated with higher risk of allergic disease and eczema
Ismail et al. (54)	2013	Australia	n = 79	Up to 12 months	TGFβ-1 level was not significantly associated with eczema or allergic sensitization
Orivuori et al. (41)	2014	Finland, France, Germany and Switzerland	<i>n</i> = 610	Eczema (up to 4 years), asthma (up to 6 years), allergic sensitization (up to 6 years)	TGFβ-1 level was not significantly associated with eczema, asthma, or allergic sensitization
Jepsen et al. (55)	2016	Denmark	n = 223	Up to 3 years	TGFβ-1 level was not significantly associated with recurrent eczema or wheeze
Munblit et al. (56)	2017	United Kingdom, Russia and Italy	n = 398	Up to 6 months	Increased TGF β -2 is associated with higher risk of eczema
Morita et al. (57)	2018	Japan	n = 43 (eczema) $n = 53$ (control)	Up to 6 months	Lower TGFβ-1 ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) is associated with higher risk of eczema

specificity (40, 41, 82). Some studies have shown a link between high IgA levels and protection for the development of atopic dermatitis (41, 51) while other studies show no link between sIgA and development of other atopic diseases (41, 50, 54).

Mucosal IgAs are produced by plasma cells in the gut lamina propria and are transported across epithelial cells by the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) (83). Human milk IgA is produced by mammary gland B cells that have migrated from the mother's intestine via the "enteromammary link" (84, 85), as shown in animal studies (86–89). This is controlled by the mucosal vascular addressin MadCAM-1 or mucosaassociated epithelial chemokine CCL28, which interacts with the gut homing receptor $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin (90) and mucosa-associated CCR10 (91). Consistent with this, in a rabbit model either oral or inhaled RSV resulted in RSV-IgA production in milk, bronchial and enteral secretions, whereas systemic immunization did not (92). Studies in humans (93) showed that oral immunization in women resulted in an increase in plasma cells in milk, but not in saliva or serum, (85). This forms the hypothesis that human milk IgA reflects the antigenic exposure of the mother's gut to dietary proteins as well. Using the cohort mentioned above, it was shown that a strict maternal diet restricting cow's milk was associated with lower levels of sIgA levels in human milk than cow's milk-containing diet (78). This implies that the antigenic stimulation encountered by the maternal gut directs the antibody specificity of human milk (85). In order to further understand the regulation of IgA in milk, epitope-specific binding of IgA in milk was compared to paired maternal serum samples (85). This revealed that IgA in human milk had partially different epitope specificity to cow's milk antigens than IgA in serum, suggesting different pools of antibody-producing lymphocytes controlling serum and human milk antibodies, respectively, and therefore supporting evidence for enteromammary milk. In summary, IgA levels expressed in human milk are influenced by many maternal factors, including diet, location, exposures, microbiota, and likely plays a protective role against development of cow's milk allergy.

TABLE 2 | Summary of association between cytokines and the development of food sensitization/allergy.

Study	Year	Location	Size	Duration/Age	Cytokines assessed	Food allergy development
Bottcher et al. (50)	2003	Sweden	n = 53	Up to 2 years	IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IL-16, IFN-γ, TGFβ-1, TGFβ-2, RANTES, eotaxin	No significant association
Snijders et al. (52)	2006	Netherlands	n = 315	Up to 2 years	IL-12 or TGFβ-1 (IL-10 undetectable)	No significant association
Kuitunen et al. (53)	2012	Finland	n = 364 (colostrum) n = 321 (3 month HM)	At 2 years of age	IL-10, TGFβ-1	No significant association
Järvinen et al. (62)	2015	Finland	n = 145	Up to 2 years	IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10 PDGF-BB, CCL27, VEGF, TSLP, CCL11, CXCL10, and CXCL11, CCL22, TGFβ-1, (TNF-a and -b, CCL1, CCL17, IL-31, eotaxin 3, CXCL9, IL-5, GM-CSF, and IL-12p70 undetectable)	IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10, and TGFβ-1 in human milk showed association with cow's milk tolerance
Munblit et al. (56)	2017	United Kingdom, Russia and Italy	n = 398	Up to 6 months	IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IFNγ, IL-12, IL-13, HGF, TGFβ-1, TGFβ-2, TGFβ-3	IL-13 associated with protection, otherwise no significant association

HM, Human milk.

TABLE 3 Studies pertaining to sCD14 in human milk and development of ato	opic disease.
--	---------------

Study	Year	Location	Size	Duration/Age	Outcomes
Jones et al. (74)	2002	United Kingdom	Varies (multiple cohorts)	At 6 months	Decreased sCD14 in 3 month HM is associated with higher eczema incidence
Oddy et al. (59)	2003	Australia	n = 243	Up to 12 months	sCD14 levels in 2 week HM showed no significant association with infant wheeze
Savilahti et al. (51)	2005	Finland	n = 4674	Up to 4 years	Decreased sCD14 levels in colostrum were associated with a higher incidence of allergic sensitization and eczema
Snijders et al. (52)	2006	Netherlands	n = 315	Eczema (up to 12 months), wheeze (up to 2 years), or allergic sensitization (up to 2 years)	sCD14 level in 1 month HM was not significantly associated with eczema, wheeze, or allergic sensitization
Ismail et al. (54)	2013	Australia	n = 79	Up to 12 months	sCD14 level in 1 and 4 week HM was not significantly associated with eczema or allergic sensitization
Savilahti et al. (75)	2015	Finland	n = 260	Up to 5 years	Increased sCD14 level in 3 month HM is associated with higher incidence of allergic sensitization and eczema

HM, Human milk.

MICROBIOME

Infant microbiome composition is influenced by breastfeeding (94, 95). Human milk can modify the infant microbiome directly through seeding from the maternal microbiome and through the other effects of human milk. Diversity of the infant gut microbiome develops in the first 2 years of life and *Bifidobacteria* dominate throughout the first year (96). Recent studies have shown that host genetics, prenatal environment and delivery mode can shape the newborn microbiome at birth [reviewed in (97)]. Following this, postnatal factors, such as antibiotic treatment, diet and environmental exposure, further modulate the development of the infant's microbiome and immune system.

Living on farms, avoiding antibiotics, vaginal delivery, and other environmental factors leading to greater diversity in the microbiome have been associated with a major reduction in the risk of atopic diseases(98, 99). Several large studies have confirmed the role of breastfeeding in determining the gut microbiome. Initially there is lower microbiome diversity with breastfeeding, as human milk selects for a highly adapted intestinal microbiota, and when breastfeeding is ceased and complementary feeds start, *Lactobacilli, Bifdobacteria*, and *Enterobacteriaceae* are replaced with a microbiota dominated by *Clostridium* and *Bacteroides* species(100–103). The WHEALS birth cohort confirmed that together with the mode of delivery, breastfeeding is one of the most important factors impacting

infant microbiome (95). Interestingly, however, only 12–14% of variability was explained by maternal mode of delivery, exposure to pets, demographics and breastfeeding. This may be partly due to the fact that the human milk biologically active components such as IgA and HMOs, which can modulate microbial composition and function, were not specifically considered. Their concentrations vary between mothers, and this variation is not captured in a coarse definition of breastfeeding.

Several culture-dependent and-independent studies have revealed that colostrum and human milk contain a variety of bacterial communities that colonize the infant's gut. The initial studies demonstrated predominance of staphylococci, lactobacilli, streptococci and propionibacterium, and closely related gram-positive bacteria (104). Culture-independent molecular techniques, especially those utilizing 16S rRNA sequencing have confirmed a similar diversity of bacteria, but also presence of several others including Gram-negative bacteria (6, 105–109). Milk bacterial communities vary between mothers but are relatively stable within individuals (106). Human milk microbiota has been shown to act as a source of bacterial species that colonize the infant gut (110), to be but different from skin suggesting an endogenous route for human milk colonization (105, 111). The amount of bacteria ingested by an infant per 800 mL of milk consumed daily is estimated at 1×10^5 - 1×10^7 , though this is likely an underestimation (112). Recently, it was shown that human milk provides a source of about one-fourth of infant gut microbiota (113).

HUMAN MILK OLIGOSACCHARIDES

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) provide the main substrate for an infant's gut microbiota during exclusive breastfeeding, particularly promoting bifidobacteria and Bacteroides (114-116). Some HMOs have anti-inflammatory properties, and support maturation of the gut mucosal immune system (117). Some also have an inhibitory effect on intestinal cell growth (118), and some bind to dendritic cells through the lectin receptor DC-SIGN (119) inhibiting HIV transfer to T-cells. These oligosaccharides are not digestible by the infant and are extensions of lactose generated by the action of a series of glycosyltransferases. For fucose, two fucosyltransferases FUT2 (secretor gene) and FUT3 (Lewis gene) are implicated. Depending on the Lewis blood group and secretor status, different enzymes are available for the synthesis of HMOs. As a result, human milk from different mothers have significant variations in qualitative and quantitative composition of HMOs. HMO composition is relatively stable during the course of lactation, although it is not known whether minor daily variations are due to the mother's diet (120). This heterogeneity implies that some breast-fed infants are not being exposed to certain structures. Non-secretor mothers, lacking a functional FUT2 enzyme (FUT2-/-), represent 15-25% of mothers depending on their ethnic background (121, 122), and their milk is missing all alpha-2 linked fucose oligosaccharides (21). Infants fed by non-secretor mothers are delayed in establishment of bifidobacteria-laden microbiota

(123). Differences in HMOs have also been associated with susceptibility to infectious gastroenteritis (124, 125) and HIV (126-128). In our previous studies, certain HMO profiles were associated with protection against cow's milk allergy (129). Infants who received human milk with low Lacto-Nfucopentaose (LNFP) III concentrations were more likely to become affected with CMA when compared to those receiving milk with high levels (p = 0.00036, odds ratio 6.7, 95% CI 2.0– 22). Two other studies have assessed the association between HMO and atopic diseases. A study that followed 20 infants for the first 18 months for development of FA, and measured HMOs using HPLC was powered to only find major effects, and indeed did not find a significant difference in HMOs between mothers of allergic and non-allergic children (130). In a second study, infants fed by non-secretor mothers had delayed development of bifidobacteria-laden microbiota (123) and if also born via c-section had a higher risk to manifest IgE-associated eczema (21). However, development of food allergy or composition of individual HMOs were not assessed. These data support the role of HMOs in protection against CMA, possibly through their effect on infant gut microbiome. Most recently, the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) study, compared HMO profiles with food sensitization at 1 year of age (131). The study found that lower risk for food sensitization was associated with higher concentrations of fucosyl-disialyllacto-N-hexaose (FDSLNH), lacto-N-fucopentaose II (LNFPII), lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT), lacto-N-fucopentaose I (LNFPI), sialyllacto-N-tetraose c (LSTc), and fucosyllacto-N-hexaose (FLNH), and relatively lower concentrations of lacto-N-hexaose (LNH), lacto-N-tetraose (LNT), 2'-fucosyllactose (2'FL), and disialyllacto-N-hexaose (DSLNH). Further investigation into HMO composition is necessary to better understand the role of HMOs in pathophysiology and possibly future therapeutics for prevention of atopic disease.

FATTY ACIDS

Milk lipids are principal macronutrients in human milk and studies have shown that milk from atopic mothers varies in fatty acid content. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), more specifically the omega-3 (ω -3) fatty acids, e.g., docosahexaenoic (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic (EPA), have been recently shown to have anti-inflammatory effects in chronic inflammatory diseases, such as asthma (132). On a maternal fish oil supplementation trial, omega-3 PUFA levels were positively associated with IgA and sCD14 levels, suggesting a relationship between fatty acid status and mucosal immune function (133). Another study has shown that atopic mothers' milk has lower levels of n-3 longchain PUFA at 1 month of lactation than non-atopic mothers (134). Overall, the studies examining the fatty acid profile in human milk as a risk factor for subsequent atopic disease have been mixed, though generally found that n-3 PUFAs in human milk possibly protect against atopic diseases (134-139). The conflicting findings may be due to the complex interactions between different fatty acids types and the divergent functions on immune system based on the dose (6, 140).

More recently, the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), including acetate, butyrate and propionate, have been demonstrated as possibly important mediators of allergic inflammation. Inflammation is likely a by-product of the metabolic activity of gut microbiota given that SCFAs are altered in children who are or become overweight or atopic (141). SCFAs are the first metabolites produced by the gut microbiota of newborns, with synthesis increasing rapidly after birth (142). As commensal microbiome has been shown to be protective against food sensitization in animal models (26), this may be due to the SCFAs produced by these commensal bacteria. In mice, experimental data has shown that increased SCFAs, especially acetate and butyrate, may prevent development of food allergy by way of promoting the tolerogenic effect of CD103⁺ dendritic cells (143). Initial studies have shown that in term infants, total gut SCFA levels are elevated in formula-fed vs. breastfed infants, however acetate levels in particular are highest with exclusive breastfeeding (141, 144). There are no published studies of SCFA levels in human milk.

HUMAN MILK CELLS

A variety of other factors have yet to be better investigated in terms of the impact on the development of inflammation and immunity. Extremely interesting is recent data suggesting that up to 6% of cells in human milk are stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human milk are potentially reprogrammable to many types of tissue (145, 146). These cells may play a role in development of immune cells, including regulatory T cell, which may suppress antimaternal immunity and lead to microchimerism that induce intestinal tissue repair and immune protection (146). Colostrum is specifically also rich in leukocytes, with breastfed infants being exposed to as much as 10¹⁰ maternal leukocytes per day, and the role of this exposure in immune development in infants is not yet clear (44). One study of 61 mothers and infants did show that macrophage proportion was significantly smaller in the milk of mothers who had infants with cow's milk allergy compared to mothers who had healthy infants, whereas neutrophil, eosinophil or lymphocyte abundant milk noted significantly more often being received by infants with cow's milk allergy (147). There is still much to learn about the effect of these factors in prevention of allergic disease.

DIETARY ANTIGENS

Maternal dietary antigens, including ovalbumin, β -lactoglobulin, gliadin and peanut, have been detected in human milk generally in quantities varying from undetectable levels to 430 ng/ml

REFERENCES

- Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJ, Franca GV, Horton S, Krasevec J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet* (2016) 387:475–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7
- Bachrach VR, Schwarz E, Bachrach L. Breastfeeding and the risk of hospitalization for respiratory disease in infancy: a meta-analysis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (2003) 157:237–43. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.157.3.237

(148–155). Although their role in inducing symptoms in already sensitized infants has been shown (150), and the ingestion of egg has been associated with immune markers in infants (155), their role in initial sensitization or tolerance development in humans is still debated.

CONCLUSIONS

The immunomodulatory composition of human milk is surprisingly poorly characterized and varies between mothers. The coarse definition of breastfeeding used in epidemiologic studies does not take into consideration the variability in the numerous immunologically active factors in human milk, which may lead to conflicting data regarding the impact of breastfeeding on immune development and downstream implications on development of prevention of allergic disease. Whereas one mother's milk may be rich is immunoprotective factors, another mother's milk may not; however epidemiologic studies do not differentiate between these two very different infant dietary (and microbial) exposures. In addition, randomized controlled trials, with assignments to either breastfeed or not, are lacking, and definitions of breastfeeding and allergic outcomes vary. Unfortunately, most studies have been underpowered for food allergies or not assessed at all due to methodologic problems of making the firm diagnosis.

The studies above suggest that, upon a closer look, the milieu of biomarkers in human milk varies between mothers and the composition may play a function in progression to or prevention against atopy. The impact of human milk biologically active components can be direct or perhaps due to modulation of intestinal microbial composition and function. Most importantly, the factors do not act in isolation, and the study into the impact of a combination or networks of immune factors in human milk on infant microbiome and immune development is still "in its infancy." Better elucidation of the role of these factors could lead to early targets for treatment and prevention of allergic disease. Further and larger wellcharacterized studies using prospective cohort data would be extremely helpful in determining the most important factors that likely play a role in development of atopic diseases. The above studies shed a guiding light for future areas of research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PR wrote sections including introduction, cytokines, soluble as CD14/TLR, fatty acids, human milk cells, and conclusions. AS and KJ mentors and editors, wrote abstract and sections on HMOs, IgA, and microbiome.

- Kramer MS, Kakuma R. Optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2012) 8:CD003517. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003517.pub2
- Kramer MS. Does breast feeding help protect against atopic disease? Biology, methodology, and a golden jubilee of controversy. *J Pediatr.* (1988) 112:181– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(88)80054-4
- 5. Kramer MS, Matush L, Vanilovich I, Platt R, Bogdanovich N, Sevkovskaya Z, et al. Effect of prolonged and exclusive breast feeding on risk

of allergy and asthma: cluster randomised trial. *BMJ* (2007) 335:815. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39304.464016.AE

- Järvinen KM, Bergmann KE, Bergmann R. Breast—Always Best? In: Allergy, Immunity and Tolerance in Early Childhood: The First Steps of the Atopic. (New York, NY: Elsevier) (2015), p. 235–260.
- van Odijk J, Kull I, Borres MP, Brandtzaeg P, Edberg U, Hanson LA, et al. Breastfeeding and allergic disease: a multidisciplinary review of the literature (1966-2001) on the mode of early feeding in infancy and its impact on later atopic manifestations. *Allergy* (2003) 58:833–43. doi: 10.1034/j.1398-9995.2003.00264.x
- Muraro A, Dreborg S, Halken S, Host A, Niggemann B, Aalberse R, et al. Dietary prevention of allergic diseases in infants and small children. Part I: immunologic background and criteria for hypoallergenicity Pediatric allergy and immunology. *Eur Soc Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2004) 15:103–11. doi: 10.1046/j.1399-3038.2003.00129.x
- Greer FR, Sicherer SH, Burks AW, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition, American Academy of Pediatrics Section on Allergy and Immunology. Effects of early nutritional interventions on the development of atopic disease in infants and children: the role of maternal dietary restriction, breastfeeding, timing of introduction of complementary foods, and hydrolyzed formulas. *Pediatrics* (2008) 121:183–91. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3022.
- Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:38–53. doi: 10.1111/apa.13132
- Fleischer DM, Spergel JM, Assa'ad AH, Pongracic JA. Primary prevention of allergic disease through nutritional interventions. *Journal Allergy Clin. Immunol Pract.* (2013) 1, 29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2012.09.003
- Gdalevich M, Mimouni D, David M, Mimouni M. Breast-feeding and the onset of atopic dermatitis in childhood: a systematic review and metaanalysis of prospective studies. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2001) 45:520–7. doi: 10.1067/mjd.2001.114741
- Gdalevich M, Mimouni D, Mimouni M. Breast-feeding and the risk of bronchial asthma in childhood: a systematic review with meta-analysis of prospective studies. *J Pediatr.* (2001) 139:261–6. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2001.117006
- Kull I, Bohme M, Wahlgren CF, Nordvall L, Pershagen G, Wickman M. Breast-feeding reduces the risk for childhood eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2005) 116:657–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.04.028
- Lowe AJ, Carlin JB, Bennett CM, Abramson MJ, Hosking CS, Hill DJ, et al. Atopic disease and breast-feeding-cause or consequence? J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2006) 117:682–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.10.027
- Giwercman C, Halkjaer LB, Jensen SM, Bonnelykke K, Lauritzen L, Bisgaard H. Increased risk of eczema but reduced risk of early wheezy disorder from exclusive breast-feeding in high-risk infants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2010) 125:866–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.01.026
- Kramer MS, Chalmers B, Hodnett ED, Sevkovskaya Z, Dzikovich I, Shapiro S, et al. Promotion of Breastfeeding Intervention Trial (PROBIT): a randomized trial in the Republic of Belarus. *JAMA* (2001) 285:413–20. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.4.413
- Katz Y, Rajuan N, Goldberg MR, Eisenberg E, Heyman E, Cohen A, et al. Early exposure to cow's milk protein is protective against IgE-mediated cow's milk protein allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2010) 126:77–82 e71. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.04.020
- Flohr C, Nagel G, Weinmayr G, Kleiner A, Strachan DP, Williams HC, et al. Lack of evidence for a protective effect of prolonged breastfeeding on childhood eczema: lessons from the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Phase Two. *Br J Dermatol.* (2011) 165:1280–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011. 10588.x
- Sakihara T, Sugiura S, Ito K. The ingestion of cow's milk formula in the first 3 months of life prevents the development of cow's milk allergy. *Asia Pac Allergy* (2016) 6:207–12. doi: 10.5415/apallergy.2016.6.4.207
- Sprenger N, Odenwald H, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E, Kunz C. FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5 years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk. *Eur J Nutr.* 56:1293–1301 (2016). doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1180-6

- Mackie RI, Sghir A, Gaskins HR. Developmental microbial ecology of the neonatal gastrointestinal tract. Am J Clin Nutr (1999) 69:1035S-1045S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/69.5.1035s
- Macfarlane GT, Macfarlane LE. Acquisition, evolution and maintenance of the normal gut microbiota. *Dig Dis.* (2009) 27(Suppl. 1):90–8. doi: 10.1159/000268127
- Morelli L. Postnatal development of intestinal microflora as influenced by infant nutrition. J Nutr. (2008) 138:17915–55. doi: 10.1093/jn/138.9.17915
- 25. Young VB. The intestinal microbiota in health and disease. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.* (2012) 28:63–9. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e32834d61e9
- Stefka AT, Feehley T, Tripathi P, Qiu J, McCoy K, Mazmanian SK, et al. Commensal bacteria protect against food allergen sensitization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:13145–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412008111
- Abrahamsson TR, Jakobsson HE, Andersson AF, Bjorksten B, Engstrand L, Jenmalm MC. Low diversity of the gut microbiota in infants with atopic eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 129:434–40, 440 e431–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.10.025
- Kalliomaki M, Kirjavainen P, Eerola E, Kero P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Distinct patterns of neonatal gut microflora in infants in whom atopy was and was not developing. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2001) 107:129–34. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.111237
- Ismail IH, Oppedisano F, Joseph SJ, Boyle RJ, Licciardi PV, Robins-Browne RM, et al. Reduced gut microbial diversity in early life is associated with later development of eczema but not atopy in high-risk infants. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2012) 23:674–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2012.01328.x
- Ling Z, Li Z, Liu X, Cheng Y, Luo Y, Tong X, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition associated with food allergy in infants. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80:2546–54. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00003-14
- Azad MB, Konya T, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Sears MR, HayGlass KT, et al. Infant gut microbiota and food sensitization: associations in the first year of life. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2015) 45:632–43. doi: 10.1111/cea.12487
- 32. Kourosh A, Luna RA, Balderas M, Nance C, Anagnostou A, Devaraj S, et al. Fecal microbiome signatures are different in food-allergic children compared to siblings and healthy children. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2018). doi: 10.1111/pai.12904. [Epub ahead of print].
- 33. Fieten KB, Totte JEE, Levin E, Reyman M, Meijer Y, Knulst A, et al. Fecal microbiome and food allergy in pediatric atopic dermatitis: a cross-sectional pilot study. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 175:77–84. doi: 10.1159/000484897
- Fazlollahi M, Chun Y, Grishin A, Wood RA, Burks AW, Dawson P, et al. Early-life gut microbiome and egg allergy. *Allergy* (2018) 73:1515–24. doi: 10.1111/all.13389
- Gao X, McMahon RJ, Woo JG, Davidson BS, Morrow AL, Zhang Q. Temporal changes in milk proteomes reveal developing milk functions. J Proteome Res. (2012) 11:3897–907. doi: 10.1021/pr3004002
- Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: a review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:629–35. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.08.013
- Oddy WH. The impact of breastmilk on infant and child health. *Breastfeed Rev.* (2002) 10:5–18.
- Lonnerdal B. Nutritional and physiologic significance of human milk proteins. Am J Clin Nutr. (2003) 77:1537S-1543S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.6.1537S
- Agarwal S, Karmaus W, Davis S, Gangur V. Immune markers in breast milk and fetal and maternal body fluids: a systematic review of perinatal concentrations. J Hum Lact. (2011) 27:171–86. doi: 10.1177/0890334410395761
- Tomicic S, Johansson G, Voor T, Bjorksten B, Bottcher MF, Jenmalm MC. Breast milk cytokine and IgA composition differ in Estonian and Swedish mothers-relationship to microbial pressure and infant allergy. *Pediatr Res.* (2010) 68:330–4. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181ee049d
- Orivuori L, Loss G, Roduit C, Dalphin JC, Depner M, Genuneit J, et al. Soluble immunoglobulin A in breast milk is inversely associated with atopic dermatitis at early age: the PASTURE cohort study. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:102–12. doi: 10.1111/cea.12199
- 42. Amoudruz P, Holmlund U, Schollin J, Sverremark-Ekstrom E, Montgomery SM. Maternal country of birth and previous pregnancies are associated
with breast milk characteristics. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2009) 20:19–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2008.00754.x

- Kalliomaki M, Ouwehand A, Arvilommi H, Kero P, Isolauri E. Transforming growth factor-beta in breast milk: a potential regulator of atopic disease at an early age. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1999) 104:1251–7. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(99)70021-7
- Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* (2013) 60:49–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002
- Verhasselt V, Milcent V, Cazareth J, Kanda A, Fleury S, Dombrowicz D, et al. Breast milk-mediated transfer of an antigen induces tolerance and protection from allergic asthma. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:170–5. doi: 10.1038/nm1718
- 46. Ogawa J, Sasahara A, Yoshida T, Sira MM, Futatani T, Kanegane H, et al. Role of transforming growth factor-beta in breast milk for initiation of IgA production in newborn infants. *Early Hum Dev.* (2004) 77:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2004.01.005
- 47. Ando T, Hatsushika K, Wako M, Ohba T, Koyama K, Ohnuma Y, et al. Orally administered TGF-beta is biologically active in the intestinal mucosa and enhances oral tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2007) 120:916–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.05.023
- Rautava S, Lu L, Nanthakumar NN, Dubert-Ferrandon A, Walker WA. TGF-beta2 induces maturation of immature human intestinal epithelial cells and inhibits inflammatory cytokine responses induced via the NF-kappaB pathway. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2012) 54:630–8. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31823e7c29
- Oddy WH, Rosales F. A systematic review of the importance of milk TGF-beta on immunological outcomes in the infant and young child. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21(1 Pt.1):47–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00913.x
- Bottcher MF, Jenmalm MC, Bjorksten B. Cytokine, chemokine and secretory IgA levels in human milk in relation to atopic disease and IgA production in infants. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2003) 14:35–41. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3038.2003.02120.x
- Savilahti E, Siltanen M, Kajosaari M, Vaarala O, Saarinen KM. IgA antibodies, TGF- β1 and - β2, and soluble CD14 in the colostrum and development of atopy by age 4. *Pediatr Res.* (2005) 58:1300–5. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000183784.87452.c6
- Snijders BE, Damoiseaux JG, Penders J, Kummeling I, Stelma FF, van Ree R, et al. Cytokines and soluble CD14 in breast milk in relation with atopic manifestations in mother and infant (KOALA Study). *Clin Exp Allergy* (2006) 36:1609–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02613.x
- Kuitunen M, Kukkonen AK, Savilahti E. Impact of maternal allergy and use of probiotics during pregnancy on breast milk cytokines and food antibodies and development of allergy in children until 5 years. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2012) 159:162–70. doi: 10.1159/000336157
- Ismail IH, Licciardi PV, Oppedisano F, Boyle RJ, Tang ML. Relationship between breast milk sCD14, TGF-beta1 and total IgA in the first month and development of eczema during infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 24:352–60. doi: 10.1111/pai.12075
- 55. Jepsen AA, Chawes BL, Carson CG, Schoos AM, Thysen AH, Waage J, et al. High breast milk IL-1beta level is associated with reduced risk of childhood eczema. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2016) 46:1344–54. doi: 10.1111/cea.12770
- Munblit D, Treneva M, Peroni DG, Colicino S, Chow LY, Dissanayeke S, et al. Immune components in human milk are associated with early infant immunological health outcomes: a prospective three-country analysis. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:E532. doi: 10.3390/nu9060532
- 57. Morita Y, Campos-Alberto E, Yamaide F, Nakano T, Ohnisi H, Kawamoto M, et al. TGF-beta concentration in breast milk is associated with the development of eczema in infants. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:162. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00162
- Saarinen KM, Vaarala O, Klemetti P, Savilahti E. Transforming growth factor-beta1 in mothers' colostrum and immune responses to cows' milk proteins in infants with cows' milk allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1999) 104:1093–8. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(99)70094-1
- Oddy WH, Halonen M, Martinez FD, Lohman IC, Stern DA, Kurzius-Spencer M, et al. TGF-beta in human milk is associated with wheeze in infancy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2003) 112:723–8. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(03)01941-9

- Bottcher MF, Abrahamsson TR, Fredriksson M, Jakobsson T, Bjorksten B. Low breast milk TGF-beta2 is induced by Lactobacillus reuteri supplementation and associates with reduced risk of sensitization during infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2008) 19:497–504. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2007.00687.x
- Sitarik AR, Bobbitt KR, Havstad SL, Fujimura KE, Levin AM, Zoratti EM, et al. Breast milk transforming growth factor beta is associated with neonatal gut microbial composition. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2017) 65:e60–e67. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001585
- Jarvinen KM, Suarez-Farinas M, Savilahti E, Sampson HA, Berin MC. Immune factors in breast milk related to infant milk allergy are independent of maternal atopy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 135:1390–3 e1391–1396. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.10.051
- Bottcher MF, Jenmalm MC, Bjorksten B, Garofalo RP. Chemoattractant factors in breast milk from allergic and nonallergic mothers. *Pediatr Res.* (2000) 47:592–7. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200005000-00006
- Bottcher MF, Jenmalm MC, Garofalo RP, Bjorksten B. Cytokines in breast milk from allergic and nonallergic mothers. *Pediatr Res.* (2000) 47:157–62. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200001000-00026
- Ochiai S, Shimojo N, Morita Y, Tomiita M, Arima T, Inoue Y, et al. Cytokine biomarker candidates in breast milk associated with the development of atopic dermatitis in 6-month-old infants. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 160:401–8. doi: 10.1159/000342995
- 66. Ustundag B, Yilmaz E, Dogan Y, Akarsu S, Canatan H, Halifeoglu I, et al. Levels of cytokines (IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, TNF-alpha) and trace elements (Zn, Cu) in breast milk from mothers of preterm and term infants. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2005) 2005:331–6. doi: 10.1155/MI.2005.331
- 67. Soto-Ramirez N, Karmaus W, Yousefi M, Zhang H, Liu J, Gangur V. Maternal immune markers in serum during gestation and in breast milk and the risk of asthma-like symptoms at ages 6 and 12 months: a longitudinal study. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol.* (2012) 8:11. doi: 10.1186/1710-1492-8-11
- Burch J, Karmaus W, Gangur V, Soto-Ramirez N, Yousefi M, Goetzl LM. Preand perinatal characteristics and breast milk immune markers. *Pediatr Res.* (2013) 74:615–21. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.141
- Groer MW, Shelton MM. Exercise is associated with elevated proinflammatory cytokines in human milk. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. (2009) 38:35–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2008.00303.x
- Mortha A, Chudnovskiy A, Hashimoto D, Bogunovic M, Spencer SP, Belkaid Y, et al. Microbiota-dependent crosstalk between macrophages and ILC3 promotes intestinal homeostasis. *Science* (2014) 343:1249288. doi: 10.1126/science.1249288
- Kobata R, Tsukahara H, Ohshima Y, Ohta N, Tokuriki S, Tamura S, et al. High levels of growth factors in human breast milk. *Early Hum Dev.* (2008) 84:67–9. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2007.07.005
- LeBouder E, Rey-Nores JE, Raby AC, Affolter M, Vidal K, Thornton CA, et al. Modulation of neonatal microbial recognition: TLR-mediated innate immune responses are specifically and differentially modulated by human milk. J Immunol. (2006) 176:3742–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3742
- 73. Good M, Sodhi CP, Egan CE, Afrazi A, Jia H, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Breast milk protects against the development of necrotizing enterocolitis through inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4 in the intestinal epithelium via activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:1166–79. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.30
- 74. Jones CA, Holloway JA, Popplewell EJ, Diaper ND, Holloway JW, Vance GH, et al. Reduced soluble CD14 levels in amniotic fluid and breast milk are associated with the subsequent development of atopy, eczema, or both. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2002) 109:858–66. doi: 10.1067/mai.2002.123535
- Savilahti EM, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E. Soluble CD14, alpha-and beta-defensins in breast milk: association with the emergence of allergy in a high-risk population. *Innate Immun.* (2015) 21:332–7. doi: 10.1177/1753425914541560
- 76. Koenig A, de Albuquerque Diniz EM, Barbosa SF, Vaz FA. Immunologic factors in human milk: the effects of gestational age and pasteurization. J Hum Lact. (2005) 21:439–43. doi: 10.1177/0890334405 280652
- 77. Jarvinen KM, Laine ST, Jarvenpaa AL, Suomalainen HK. Does low IgA in human milk predispose the infant to development of cow's milk

allergy? Pediatr Res. (2000) 48:457-62. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200010000-00007

- Jarvinen KM, Westfall JE, Seppo MS, James AK, Tsuang AJ, Feustel PJ, et al. Role of maternal elimination diets and human milk IgA in the development of cow's milk allergy in the infants. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:69–78. doi: 10.1111/cea.12228
- Machtinger S, Moss R. Cow's milk allergy in breast-fed infants: the role of allergen and maternal secretory IgA antibody. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (1986) 77:341–7. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(86)80115-4
- Savilahti E, Tainio VM, Salmenpera L, Arjomaa P, Kallio M, Perheentupa J, et al. Low colostral IgA associated with cow's milk allergy. *Acta Paediatr Scand*. (1991) 80:1207–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1991.tb11810.x
- Renz H, Brandtzaeg P, Hornef M. The impact of perinatal immune development on mucosal homeostasis and chronic inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 12:9–23. doi: 10.1038/nri3112
- Munblit D, Sheth S, Abrol P, Treneva M, Peroni DG, Chow LY, et al. Exposures influencing total IgA level in colostrum. J Dev Orig Health Dis. (2016) 7:61–7. doi: 10.1017/S2040174415001476
- Kaetzel CS. Cooperativity among secretory IgA, the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor, and the gut microbiota promotes hostmicrobial mutualism. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 162(2 Pt. A):10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.05.008
- Hanson LA, Korotkova M. The role of breastfeeding in prevention of neonatal infection. *Semin Neonatol.* (2002) 7:275–81. doi: 10.1053/siny.2002.0124
- Seppo AE, Savilahti EM, Berin MC, Sampson HA, Jarvinen KM. Breast milk IgA to foods has different epitope specificity than serum IgA-Evidence for entero-mammary link for food-specific IgA? *Clin Exp Allergy* (2017) 47:1275–84. doi: 10.1111/cea.12945
- Roux ME, McWilliams M, Phillips-Quagliata JM, Weisz-Carrington P, Lamm ME. Origin of IgA-secreting plasma cells in the mammary gland. J Exp Med. (1977) 146:1311–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.146.5.1311
- Hanson LA, Ahlstedt S, Carlsson B, Fallstrom SP, Kaijser B, Lindblad BS, et al. New knowledge in human milk immunoglobulin. *Acta Paediatr Scand*. (1978) 67:577–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1978.tb17805.x
- Roux ME, McWilliams M, Phillips-Quagliata JM, Lamm ME. Differentiation pathway of Peyer's patch precursors of IgA plasma cells in the secretory immune system. *Cell Immunol.* (1981) 61:141–53. doi: 10.1016/0008-8749(81)90361-0
- Dahlgren UI, Ahlstedt S, Hanson LA. The localization of the antibody response in milk or bile depends on the nature of the antigen. *J Immunol.* (1987) 138:1397–402.
- Tanneau GM, Hibrand-Saint Oyant L, Chevaleyre CC, Salmon HP. Differential recruitment of T- and IgA B-lymphocytes in the developing mammary gland in relation to homing receptors and vascular addressins. J Histochem Cytochem. (1999) 47:1581–92. doi: 10.1177/002215549904701210
- Morteau O, Gerard C, Lu B, Ghiran S, Rits M, Fujiwara Y, et al. An indispensable role for the chemokine receptor CCR10 in IgA antibody-secreting cell accumulation. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:6309–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.6309
- Peri BA, Theodore CM, Losonsky GA, Fishaut JM, Rothberg RM, Ogra PL. Antibody content of rabbit milk and serum following inhalation or ingestion of respiratory syncytial virus and bovine serum albumin. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1982) 48:91–101.
- Goldblum RM, Ahlstedt S, Carlsson B, Hanson LA, Jodal U, Lidin-Janson G, et al. Antibody-forming cells in human colostrum after oral immunisation. *Nature* (1975) 257:797–8. doi: 10.1038/257797a0
- Azad MB, Konya T, Maughan H, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Chari RS, et al. Gut microbiota of healthy Canadian infants: profiles by mode of delivery and infant diet at 4 months. *CMAJ* (2013) 185:385–94. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.121189
- 95. Levin AM, Sitarik AR, Havstad SL, Fujimura KE, Wegienka G, Cassidy-Bushrow AE, et al. Joint effects of pregnancy, sociocultural, and environmental factors on early life gut microbiome structure and diversity. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:31775. doi: 10.1038/srep31775
- Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature* (2012) 486:222–7. doi: 10.1038/nature11053

- Tamburini S, Shen N, Wu HC, Clemente JC. The microbiome in early life: implications for health outcomes. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:713–22. doi: 10.1038/nm.4142
- Martina C, Looney RJ, Marcus C, Allen M, Stahlhut R. Prevalence of allergic disease in old order mennonites in New York. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2016). 117:562–3.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2016.08.023
- Stein MM, Hrusch CL, Gozdz J, Igartua C, Pivniouk V, Murray SE, et al. Innate immunity and asthma risk in amish and hutterite farm children. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:411–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1508749
- 100. Bergstrom A, Skov TH, Bahl MI, Roager HM, Christensen LB, Ejlerskov KT, et al. Establishment of intestinal microbiota during early life: a longitudinal, explorative study of a large cohort of Danish infants. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80:2889–900. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 00342-14
- 101. Subramanian S, Huq S, Yatsunenko T, Haque R, Mahfuz M, Alam MA, et al. Persistent gut microbiota immaturity in malnourished Bangladeshi children. *Nature* (2014) 510:417–21. doi: 10.1038/nature 13421
- Voreades N, Kozil A, Weir TL. Diet and the development of the human intestinal microbiome. *Front Microbiol.* (2014) 5:494. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00494
- 103. Backhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and Stabilization of the Human Gut Microbiome during the First Year of Life. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 17:690–703. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.004
- 104. Fernandez L, Langa S, Martin V, Maldonado A, Jimenez E, Martin R, et al. The human milk microbiota: origin and potential roles in health and disease. *Pharmacol Res.* (2013) 69:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2012. 09.001
- 105. Martin R, Heilig HG, Zoetendal EG, Jimenez E, Fernandez L, Smidt H, et al. Cultivation-independent assessment of the bacterial diversity of breast milk among healthy women. *Res Microbiol.* (2007) 158:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2006.11.004
- 106. Hunt KM, Foster JA, Forney LJ, Schutte UM, Beck DL, Abdo Z, et al. Characterization of the diversity and temporal stability of bacterial communities in human milk. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e21313. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021313
- 107. Cabrera-Rubio R, Collado MC, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri E, Mira A. The human milk microbiome changes over lactation and is shaped by maternal weight and mode of delivery. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:544–51. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.037382
- Jost T, Lacroix C, Braegger C, Chassard C. Assessment of bacterial diversity in breast milk using culture-dependent and culture-independent approaches. Br J Nutr. (2013) 110:1253–62. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513 000597
- 109. Ward TL, Hosid S, Ioshikhes I, Altosaar I. Human milk metagenome: a functional capacity analysis. *BMC Microbiol.* (2013) 13:116. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-13-116
- Favier CF, Vaughan EE, De Vos WM, Akkermans AD. Molecular monitoring of succession of bacterial communities in human neonates. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2002) 68:219–26. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.1.219-226.2002
- 111. Martin R, Langa S, Reviriego C, Jiminez E, Marin ML, Xaus J, et al. Human milk is a source of lactic acid bacteria for the infant gut. J Pediatr. (2003) 143:754–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2003.09.028
- 112. Heikkila MP, Saris PE. Inhibition of *Staphylococcus aureus* by the commensal bacteria of human milk. *J Appl Microbiol.* (2003) 95:471–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02002.x
- 113. Pannaraj PS, Li F, Cerini C, Bender JM, Yang S, Rollie A, et al. Association between breast milk bacterial communities and establishment and development of the infant gut microbiome. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:647–54. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0378
- 114. Sela DA, Chapman J, Adeuya A, Kim JH, Chen F, Whitehead TR, et al. The genome sequence of Bifidobacterium longum subsp. infantis reveals adaptations for milk utilization within the infant microbiome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:18964–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809584105
- 115. Turroni F, Bottacini F, Foroni E, Mulder I, Kim JH, Zomer A, et al. Genome analysis of Bifidobacterium bifidum PRL2010 reveals metabolic pathways for

host-derived glycan foraging. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2010) 107:19514–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011100107

- 116. Yu ZT, Chen C, Kling DE, Liu B, McCoy JM, Merighi M, et al. The principal fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk exhibit prebiotic properties on cultured infant microbiota. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:169–77. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws138
- 117. He Y, Liu S, Leone S, Newburg DS. Human colostrum oligosaccharides modulate major immunologic pathways of immature human intestine. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1326–39. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.20
- 118. Kuntz S, Kunz C, Rudloff S. Oligosaccharides from human milk induce growth arrest via G2/M by influencing growth-related cell cycle genes in intestinal epithelial cells. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101:1306–15. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508079622
- 119. Naarding MA, Ludwig IS, Groot F, Berkhout B, Geijtenbeek TB, Pollakis G, et al. Lewis X component in human milk binds DC-SIGN and inhibits HIV-1 transfer to CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3256–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI25105
- 120. Ninonuevo MR, Perkins PD, Francis J, Lamotte LM, LoCascio RG, Freeman SL, et al. Daily variations in oligosaccharides of human milk determined by microfluidic chips and mass spectrometry. J Agric Food Chem. (2008) 56:618–26. doi: 10.1021/jf071972u
- 121. Erney RM, Malone WT, Skelding MB, Marcon AA, Kleman-Leyer KM, O'Ryan ML, et al. Variability of human milk neutral oligosaccharides in a diverse population. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2000) 30:181–92. doi: 10.1097/00005176-200002000-00016
- Castanys-Munoz E, Martin MJ, Prieto PA. 2'-fucosyllactose: an abundant, genetically determined soluble glycan present in human milk. *Nutr Rev.* (2013) 71:773–89. doi: 10.1111/nure.12079
- 123. Lewis ZT, Totten SM, Smilowitz JT, Popovic M, Parker E, Lemay DG, et al. Maternal fucosyltransferase 2 status affects the gut bifidobacterial communities of breastfed infants. *Microbiome* (2015) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0071-z
- 124. Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Chaturvedi P, Meinzen-Derr J, Guerrero Mde L, et al. Innate protection conferred by fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk against diarrhea in breastfed infants. *Glycobiology* (2004) 14:253–63. doi: 10.1093/glycob/ cwh020
- 125. Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Jiang X, Newburg DS. Human-milk glycans that inhibit pathogen binding protect breast-feeding infants against infectious diarrhea. J Nutr. (2005) 135:1304–7. doi: 10.1093/jn/135. 5.1304
- 126. Bode L, Kuhn L, Kim HY, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Sinkala M, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide concentration and risk of postnatal transmission of HIV through breastfeeding. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:831–9. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.039503
- 127. Van Niekerk E, Autran CA, Nel DG, Kirsten GF, Blaauw R, Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides differ between HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected mothers and are related to necrotizing enterocolitis incidence in their preterm very-low-birth-weight infants. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:1227–33. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.187799
- 128. Kuhn L, Kim HY, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Kankasa C, Mwiya M, et al. Oligosaccharide composition of breast milk influences survival of uninfected children born to HIV-infected mothers in Lusaka, Zambia. J Nutr. (2015) 145:66–72. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.199794
- Seppo AE, Autran CA, Bode L, Jarvinen KM. Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:708–11 e705. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.031
- 130. Sjögren YM, Duchén K, Lindh F, Björkstén B, Sverremark-Ekström E. Neutral oligosaccharides in colostrum in relation to maternal allergy and allergy development in children up to 18 months of age. *Pediatric Allergy Immunol.* (2007) 18:20–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2006.00486.x
- Miliku K, Robertson B, Sharma AK, Subbarao P, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide profiles and food sensitization among infants in the CHILD Study. *Allergy* (2018). doi: 10.1111/all.13476
- Cacho NT, Lawrence RM. Innate immunity and breast milk. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:584. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00584
- 133. Dunstan JA, Roper J, Mitoulas L, Hartmann PE, Simmer K, Prescott SL. The effect of supplementation with fish oil during pregnancy

on breast milk immunoglobulin A, soluble CD14, cytokine levels and fatty acid composition. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2004) 34:1237–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.02028.x

- 134. Yu G, Duchen K, Bjorksten B. Fatty acid composition in colostrum and mature milk from non-atopic and atopic mothers during the first 6 months of lactation. *Acta Paediatr.* (1998) 87:729–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1998.tb01738.x
- 135. Reichardt P, Muller D, Posselt U, Vorberg B, Diez U, Schlink U, et al. Fatty acids in colostrum from mothers of children at high risk of atopy in relation to clinical and laboratory signs of allergy in the first year of life. *Allergy* (2004) 59:394–400. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2003.00429.x
- 136. Stoney RM, Woods RK, Hosking CS, Hill DJ, Abramson MJ, Thien FC. Maternal breast milk long-chain n-3 fatty acids are associated with increased risk of atopy in breastfed infants. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2004) 34:194–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.01852.x
- 137. Laitinen K, Sallinen J, Linderborg K, Isolauri E. Serum, cheek cell and breast milk fatty acid compositions in infants with atopic and non-atopic eczema. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2006) 36:166–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006. 02417.x
- 138. Oddy WH, Pal S, Kusel MM, Vine D, de Klerk NH, Hartmann P, et al. Atopy, eczema and breast milk fatty acids in a high-risk cohort of children followed from birth to 5 yr. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2006) 17:4–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2005.00340.x
- 139. Wijga AH, van Houwelingen AC, Kerkhof M, Tabak C, de Jongste JC, Gerritsen J, et al. Breast milk fatty acids and allergic disease in preschool children: the prevention and incidence of asthma and mite allergy birth cohort study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2006) 117:440–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.10.022
- 140. Harbige LS. Fatty acids, the immune response, and autoimmunity: a question of n-6 essentiality and the balance between n-6 and n-3. *Lipids* (2003) 38:323–41. doi: 10.1007/s11745-003-1067-z
- 141. Kumari M, Kozyrskyj AL. Gut microbial metabolism defines host metabolism: an emerging perspective in obesity and allergic inflammation. *Obes Rev.* (2017) 18:18–31. doi: 10.1111/obr.12484
- 142. Rasmussen HS, Holtug K, Ynggard C, Mortensen PB. Faecal concentrations and production rates of short chain fatty acids in normal neonates. *Acta Paediatr Scand.* (1988) 77:365–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1988.tb10661.x
- 143. Tan J, McKenzie C, Vuillermin PJ, Goverse G, Vinuesa CG, Mebius RE, et al. Dietary fiber and bacterial SCFA enhance oral tolerance and protect against food allergy through diverse cellular pathways. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 15:2809–24. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.047
- 144. Bridgman SL, Azad MB, Field CJ, Haqq AM, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Fecal Short-Chain Fatty Acid Variations by Breastfeeding Status in Infants at 4 Months: Differences in Relative versus Absolute Concentrations. *Front Nutr.* (2017) 4:11. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2017.00011
- 145. Patki S, Kadam S, Chandra V, Bhonde R. Human breast milk is a rich source of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells. *Hum Cell* (2010) 23:35–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-0774.2010.00083.x
- 146. Moles JP, Tuaillon E, Kankasa C, Bedin AS, Nagot N, Marchant A, et al. Breastmilk cell trafficking induces microchimerism-mediated immune system maturation in the infant. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 29:133–43. doi: 10.1111/pai.12841
- Jarvinen KM, Suomalainen H. Leucocytes in human milk and lymphocyte subsets in cow's milk-allergic infants. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2002) 13:243–54. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3038.2002.00087.x
- 148. Troncone R, Scarcella A, Donatiello A, Cannataro P, Tarabuso A, Auricchio S. Passage of gliadin into human breast milk. *Acta Paediatr Scand.* (1987) 76:453–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1987.tb10498.x
- 149. Sorva R, Makinen-Kiljunen S, Juntunen-Backman K. Beta-lactoglobulin secretion in human milk varies widely after cow's milk ingestion in mothers of infants with cow's milk allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1994) 93:787–92. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(94)90259-3
- Jarvinen KM, Makinen-Kiljunen S, Suomalainen H. Cow's milk challenge through human milk evokes immune responses in infants with cow's milk allergy. J Pediatr. (1999) 135:506–12. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(99)70175-7
- 151. Vadas P, Wai Y, Burks W, Perelman B. Detection of peanut allergens in breast milk of lactating women. JAMA (2001) 285:1746–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.13.1746

- 152. Palmer DJ, Gold MS, Makrides M. Effect of cooked and raw egg consumption on ovalbumin content of human milk: a randomized, double-blind, cross-over trial. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2005) 35:173–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2005.02170.x
- 153. Palmer DJ, Gold MS, Makrides M. Effect of maternal egg consumption on breast milk ovalbumin concentration. *Clin Exp* Allergy (2008) 38:1186–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008. 03014.x
- 154. Bernard H, Ah-Leung S, Drumare MF, Feraudet-Tarisse C, Verhasselt V, Wal JM, et al. Peanut allergens are rapidly transferred in human breast milk and can prevent sensitization in mice. *Allergy* (2014) 69:888–97. doi: 10.1111/all.12411
- 155. Metcalfe JR, Marsh JA, D'Vaz N, Geddes DT, Lai CT, Prescott SL, et al. Effects of maternal dietary egg intake during early lactation on human milk

ovalbumin concentration: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2016) 46:1605–13. doi: 10.1111/cea.12806

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Rajani, Seppo and Järvinen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Human Breast Milk: Exploring the Linking Ring Among Emerging Components

Flaminia Bardanzellu^{1*}, Vassilios Fanos¹, Francesca A. L. Strigini², Paolo G. Artini² and Diego G. Peroni³

¹ Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, Neonatal Pathology and Neonatal Section, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria di Cagliari, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ² Gynecology and Obstetrics, Università degli Studi di Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ³ Section of Pediatric, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Maternal breast milk (BM) is a complex and unique fluid that evolution adapted to satisfy neonatal needs; in addition to classical nutrients, it contains several bioactive components. BM characteristically shows inter-individual variability, modifying its composition during different phases of lactation. BM composition, determining important consequences on neonatal gut colonization, influences both short and long-term development. Maternal milk can also shape neonatal microbiota, through its glycobiome rich in Lactobacilli spp. and Bifidobacteria spp. Therefore, neonatal nourishment during the first months of life seems the most important determinant of individual's outcomes. Our manuscript aims to provide new evidence in the characterization of BM metabolome and microbiome, and its comparison to formula milk, allowing the evaluation of each nutrient's influence on neonatal metabolism. This result very interesting since potentially offers an innovative approach to investigate the complex relationship between BM components and infant's health, also providing the chance to intervene in a sartorial way on diet composition, according to the nutritional requests. Future research, integrating metabolomics, microbiomics and stem cells knowledge, could make significant steps forward in understanding BM extraordinary properties and functions.

Keywords: human milk, metabolomics, microbiota, microbiomics, human milk oligosaccharides, preterm, newborn

INTRODUCTION

Breast Milk (BM) is a precious fluid which has been considered miraculous since ancient times. Its extraordinary properties have been studied in detail, not resulting fully clarified yet. It can confer protection against a large number of pathologies and exerts a beneficial effect on breastfed newborn's development (1, 2).

BM is the most suitable choice for neonatal nutrition, highly recommended as the exclusive component of the infant's diet for almost 6 months of life (3).

Nutrition in the early neonatal period influences the successive whole life, due to its role in the activation of several metabolic processes, for example, microanatomy development, growth, metabolism, gut microbiological colonization and maturation, immunological system development, brain maturation, and organization (1, 4).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Valerie Verhasselt, University of Western Australia, Australia

Reviewed by:

Niels Van Best, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands Laila N. Abudulai, University of Western Australia, Australia,

*Correspondence:

Flaminia Bardanzellu bardanzellu.flaminia@virgilio.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 20 April 2018 Accepted: 13 July 2018 Published: 07 August 2018

Citation:

Bardanzellu F, Fanos V, Strigini FAL, Artini PG and Peroni DG (2018) Human Breast Milk: Exploring the Linking Ring Among Emerging Components. Front. Pediatr. 6:215. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00215

76

In fact, BM has been associated to many beneficial short-term effects, such as a reduction in necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) and sepsis (5); a positive influence on long-term outcome (such as neurodevelopment) and a protective effect against infections, overweight, obesity, diabetes and malignant diseases incidence have also been described (6).

BM beneficial effects do not regard exclusively infants' health but could also be exerted on lactating mothers, improving their outcome (6).

BM contains several components, such as lipids, carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, minerals. Oligosaccharides, the third most abundant constituents of BM, which represent a highly variable fraction of BM, exert several important functions, such as the modulation of neonatal gut microbiota composition, influencing many physiological processes (7).

BM is also defined an "alive" fluid, since it provides to the breastfed newborn maternal soluble bioactive components, growth-factors (GFs), hormones, cytokines, chemokines, immunoglobulins (Ig), and immunological-related cells as leucocytes, cells of both bacterial and maternal origin and finally, as recently demonstrated, also multipotent Stem Cells (SCs) able to integrate *in vivo* in many neonatal tissues and differentiate into mature cells. Finally, great relevance can also be attributed to the presence of maternal milk microbiota (1, 2, 5, 7-9).

BM composition has the extraordinary property to vary according to gestational age (GA) of the neonate and to the lactation phase (5, 6, 10).

Since the degree of prematurity highly influences BM features, the resulting composition is optimal for preterm newborns needs. Macro- and micronutrients levels vary and determine advantages regarding immunity, neurological development, gastrointestinal maturation (9, 11–17).

The presence of several cytokines and chemokines, showing a higher concentration in colostrum, has been widely evidenced and could represent an additional mechanism of protection, especially against NEC and sepsis (17, 18).

It is not fully known how maternal or pregnancy factors could modify their level, although in peripartum infections, in spontaneous preterm delivery and in VLBW neonates lower concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines have been measured, potentially protecting against mucosal damage or pathogens (19).

Even the cellular composition of BM varies among samples deriving from mothers of preterm and full-term newborns, meeting the necessities showed by premature neonates during the first phases of life (9) and confirming the extraordinary ability of this liquid to modify itself according to the newborns features and assuming the best qualities for his optimal development (5).

BM related SCs belong to different lineages such as mammary epithelial cells, neuroepitelial-like SCs and mesenchimal SCs (10-15%) (20).

It seems that, among large amount of SCs ingested by the newborns each day, some can pass from BM through neonatal gut and migrate into brain and other organs; there, they can persist and proliferate as in a microchimerism, restoring the involved organs, potentially even after a damage (1, 5, 21). This interaction between the dyad mother-child result very interesting but all the implications should be deeper clarified.

METABOLOMICS

The great relevance of micronutrients in BM is highlighted by the increasing number of metabolomic studies performed to characterize its metabolic profile and inter- and intra- individual variations (8, 10, 16, 22–30).

BM can be analyzed through nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and liquid or gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS or GC-MS), to evaluate its unique profile (5).

The first metabolomic study investigating BM composition was conducted by Cesare Marincola et al in 2012 (22). This group demonstrated different metabolic features characterizing subsequent lactation stages. Moreover, they found higher levels of lactose and lower levels of maltose in BM samples, compared to formula milk (FM) (1, 17, 22).

Interesting results were also obtained by the numerous successive studies, performed by several groups. The most relevant findings are reported below, and they can be found in a more detailed way and summarized in 2 tables in the recent papers published by Fanos et al. (5) and Bardanzellu et al. (17).

According to the findings of Spevacek and colleagues, (23) the highest variability can be found in preterm samples. They identified and measured variations in 69 metabolites and also demonstrated that lacto-N-tetraose and lysine decreased during the maturation of full-term milk (23).

Another group (10) demonstrated that preterm BM metabolome mostly varies within 5–7 weeks postpartum; after this period it would probably obtain the composition of term milk after this time and BM dependence on GA seems to be reduced (5, 10, 17, 31).

Moreover, in colostrum samples from preterm delivering mothers, an increased level of fucosylated oligosaccharides, fucose, N-acetylneuramic acid and N-acetylglucosamine, citrate and creatinine have been shown (10).

The group of Villasenor et al. also demonstrated a different composition between full term colostrum and mature milk and moreover, our research group detected a higher sample variability in colostrum instead of mature milk belonging to extremely preterms (27).

Summarizing these findings, the highest variability has been evidenced during the first three months of lactation (25), with a high dependence on GA (28); a different metabolitic pattern comparing human colostrum with transition milk and mature was observed (23).

BM from mothers of preterm neonates showed a different composition if compared with full-term newborn mothers' BM. In particular, a higher concentration of proteins and aminoacids, promoting cerebral development and energy production, was observed. This reinforces the concept of BM variability according to the breastfed newborn's peculiarities (17). Among the genetic factors highly influencing BM composition, four maternal phenotypes, depending on both blood group and expression of two specific genes, were identified.

This influence in particular regards human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), which constitute the third most abundant solid fraction of BM, following lactose and lipids (1.9-4.5%) (7).

These genes are, firstly, alpha-1-2-fucosyltransferase (secretor gene, FUT2) which is codified by *Se* gene and allows the classification of secretors (*Se*⁺) and non-secretors (*Se*⁻) mothers. Secondly, it is considered alpha-1-3-4-fucosyltransferase gene(Lewis gene, FUT3); it indicates positivity or negativity for Lewis Group (*Le*⁺ or *Le*⁻). According to these considerations, maternal phenotypes can be divided in: Se^+/Le^+ , Se^+/Le^- , Se^-/Le^+ , and $Se-/Le^-$, showing significant differences in BM metabolites (1, 17, 32, 33).

In fact, Se^+/Le^+ mother's BM exhibits all the fucosylated oligosaccharides (2'fucosyl-lactose 2'FL, lactodifucotetraose LDFT, Lacto-N-fucopentaose I LNFPI, Lactodifucoesaose I LNDFHI), while the Se^-/Le^+ mother's phenotype determines the production of samples containing a high concentration of HMOs with (α 1-3) and (α 1-4)-linked fucose residue, in absence of α 1,2-fucosylated structures (32, 34–36).

The great interest concerning BM HMOs composition is also related to their potential influence on microbiota (10, 37, 38).

It has been estimated that FUT2 is expressed in more than 70% of the Caucasian women (34). The absence of α 1-2-fucosylated oligosaccharides in BM can lead to several pathophysiological consequences, such as a delayed colonization by *Bifidobacteria* spp., a higher abundance of *Streptococcus* spp. and also functional differences of microbiota metabolic activity. According to some authors, Se^+/Le^+ phenotype results protective against some infections, such as *E. coli* and *Campylobacter* spp. and preventive of NEC (35), while infants fed with BM from Se^- mothers would show a higher risk for diarrheal diseases (11, 39, 40).

In accordance with these data, Bazanella and colleagues analyzed BM samples from Se^+ mothers, demonstrating a higher percentage of fucosylated oligosaccharides instead of $Se^$ mothers, and the presence of *B. longum* exclusively in the stools of Se^+ breastfed neonates (41).

HMOs are known to decrease with milk maturation (10, 27). According to many studies, total HMOs content, sialic acid, lacto-N-tetraose, LNDFH I, 3'- sialyllactose, 6'-siallylactose, fucose, Nacetylglucosamine, N-acetylneuraminic acid resulted higher in preterm milk (10, 23, 42).

In addition to HMO's, also amino acids and lipids showed a great variability across lactation stages and a great dependence on prematurity. Some amino acids increase, while other reduce their concentration during BM maturation (10, 17, 43).

The studies performed in this field allow to conclude that BM, in particular in the first phases and in the samples obtained by premature delivering mothers, is extremely rich in creatinine and amino acids. These factors are involved in two crucial processes, especially for the vulnerable category of preterm babies: brain development and energetic metabolism (17).

In particular, creatinine, betaine, coline, leucine, isoleucine, and valine take part in cerebral maturation (10, 26, 28, 44, 45), while energy production is closely related to the presence of alanine, glutamate, methionine and creatinine (23, 26, 28, 46, 47).

Coline and betaine could play a role in the reduction of cardiovascular diseases (28, 48). Moreover, acetylcarnitine, betaine, lysine, isoleucine, and taurine levels seem to decrease during milk maturation in samples of mother of full term neonates and not in preterm samples (17).

Other detected metabolites may also take part in several immunity processes, hepatic regeneration, lipid and glucidic metabolism (17, 45, 49–51).

It is also been demonstrated that fatty acids' (FA) composition in BM can be influenced by many factors, not fully understood up to now. Among these, maternal age, nationality, parity, body mass index (BMI), diet, newborn's GA, lactation stage, maternal gestational diabetes mellitus, number and duration of breastfed meals and delivery route can be mentioned, although the entity of their influence is not currently attested. The most represented fractions are tryglicerides, palmitic, oleic, linoleic and alphalinolenic acids (17, 52–60).

FA's content seems to be higher in colostrum from mothers whose neonates' weight was lower than the 20° centile (52, 61, 62) and this mechanism may probably help to compensate the intrauterine growth restriction occurred in these neonates.

According to the analysis of Collado et al. (63), evaluating BM from preterms and full-term delivering mothers, the content of FAs resulted comparable among colostrum and mature milk samples, although different qualitative profiles were found.

Recently, interesting results confirmed the importance of a metabolomic approach to evaluate the differences occurring in newborns fed with BM or formula milk during the early life. Cesare Marincola et al. (64) detected variable urinary profiles in relation to the kind of diet; several and more numerous trials would be needed to fully understand the clinical implications of these findings, improving our knowledge on BM's effects.

Metabolomics also gave promising results analyzing urine and/or blood samples of breastfed neonates or those from their mothers, to understand biological effects of maternal BM. Two recent studies evidenced as different metabolites can be found in urine or blood of breastfed newborns, instead of those described in samples belonging to FM fed newborns (31, 65).

Moreover, the analysis of urine from breastfeeding mothers revealed different profiles too (5, 66).

In conclusion, BM metabolome varies according to GA and lactation phase, depending on neonatal necessities and especially meeting the peculiar requests of the vulnerable category of premature newborns.

MICROBIOMICS

Even if BM was considered sterile for long time, it has recently been demonstrated, through culture-dependent and independent techniques, that the microbial community in BM from healthy mothers can contain more than 200 phylotypes, belonging to about 50 different genera (2, 67, 68). The technological advances, particularly the cultivation independent methods, such as 16S gene sequencing, allowed a deeper analysis of bacterial diversity, giving more detailed information on the populations present in several human fluids, such as BM.

In this sampling, although they permitted to demonstrate a bacterial load between two and three orders of magnitude, which resulted higher than those estimated by cultures, from a critical point of view these technique are not able to discriminate DNA sequences from non-vital bacteria and extracellular DNA that could interfere the amplification by quantitative PCR (qPCR). However, it is also clear that the early stimulations coming from all the microbial products, alive or residual, could influence the newborn immune system (69).

According to the current knowledge, how maternal microbes can reach mammary epithelium and undergo secretion in BM, is still matter of debate. Milk harbored bacteria may derive from the contamination with bacteria from mother's skin (such as S. epidermidis) and from infant's oral cavity. On the other side it has been postulated that microorganisms from maternal intestinal tract can reach the mammary gland through a vascular transport via intestinal immune cells, especially dendritic cells (the so-called entero-mammary pathway hypothesis). This entero-mammary pathway allows to consider as maternal gastrointestinal bacteria during pregnancy and lactation could directly influence the infant's immune system. Moreover, a retrograde flow of newborn's microbes could occur during nursing (17, 67, 68, 70, 71). However, due to its peculiar characterization, this community is even more considered as a site-specific microbiota, as demonstrated by several anaerobic species that are identifiable and that are not present both in the skin or in the oral cavity (2, 67, 68).

This community is represented, for about half, by a constant core microbiota with a limited variability, being BM microbiota dominated by *Staphylococcus* spp., *Pseudomonas* spp., *Streptococcus* spp., *Acinetobacter* spp., *Finegoldia* spp., *Anaerococcus* spp., *Actinomyces* spp., and *Enterobacter* spp. (67, 69), with huge differences between colostrum and mature milk (68, 69, 72–77).

On the contrary, the other half seems to be highly dependent on maternal factors, such as ethnicity, diet, drug exposure, environmental factor exposure, mode of delivery (67, 69).

BM is an exceptional source of commensal bacteria for breastfed newborns, representing a dynamic ecosystem for several species, which can modify itself during milk maturation, according to the infant's needs (67, 72). In fact, microbiota shows high variability during the subsequent lactation stages, also highlighted by the possibility to detect different microbialrelated metabolites (69, 78). After about one month of lactation, BM microbiota reaches the full maturation and its definitive composition, maintaining therefore a relative stability (67).

Composition and metabolic network of BM microbiota may be considered as an epigenetic determinant of neonatal health (78, 79). Moreover, many microbic-related metabolites represent a linking ring between metabolomics and microbiomics. In particular, BM microbiota is known to shape the newborn intestinal microbiota since the early phases of life. Bacterial genera and species present in colostrum and then in mature milk can positively influence intestinal bacterial network, highly rich in *Bifidobacteria* spp. and *Lactobacilli* spp. Bacterial communities produce metabolites, such as short chain fatty acids (SCFA), mostly butyrate, that may be detected in the fluids by metabolomics and are able to influence several health outcomes of the child.

Moreover, an active role is played by sialylated BM HMOs, which can induce transcriptional responses in the intestinal microbiota (i.e., *B. Fragilis*) potentially influencing even other microbial members, such as *E. coli*. Therefore, through several routes and deep interactions not fully clarified yet, this leads to infant growth promotion, beneficial metabolic pathways and effects on several organs (brain, liver, respiratory, and urinary tract) (36, 80).

The effect of early diet on pigs' intestinal microbiota has been also evaluated by Piccolo et al. (81), demonstrating that neonatal nutrition could characteristically induce different effects according to the different small bowel's region, mostly influencing duodenum microbial composition, since microbial network seems to be functionally defined by the intestinal segment (81).

This bioregional effect of nutrition on the shape of intestinal microbiota also influences the production of different molecules, highlighting the strict dependence of metabolic profile from microbial communities and the influence played by microbiota itself on the host tissue metabolism, as demonstrated through metabolomic analysis (81).

Hunt et al. (68) observed as BM microbial community represents a unique fingerprint characterizing each mother's sample. BM and therefore neonatal intestinal microbiota can be influenced by several factors, as reported in Table 1, including genetics (such as secretor status, as previously described), delivery route (in relation to newborn's colonization with maternal vaginal microbiota during spontaneous delivery), maternal weight, diet and lifestyle (in relation to ingested foods and even to maternal diseases or metabolic status), antibiotic therapy administered just before delivery (influencing maternal intestinal microbes), environmental factors, lactation stage or GA (recognized as actors influencing intestinal metabolites and HMOs and thus, indirectly, newborn's microbial community), mastitis or maternal dysbiosis (allowing the newborn to become in contact with potentially dangerous microbial communities) (2, 17, 67, 72, 82, 84, 87).

Due to such reasons, maternal intestinal microbiota influences breastfed newborn, modulating its intestinal microbial community. In fact, several factors leading to maternal dysbiosis (such as an overgrowth of a microbial species instead of the others) and/or breast infection, which has been associated to a reduced variability in microbiota composition, can show direct effects on breastfed neonate's health (2, 73, 74).

Among the other factors, even BM lipid composition, in addition to maternal BMI, seems potentially influence BM microbiota (72, 74).

Finally, even the modality of delivery can modify qualitative bacterial composition of BM. For example, *S. Salivarius*, an oral commensal, was detected only in samples collected from mothers who underwent cesarean section (72, 85).

TABLE 1 | Factors influencing the composition of breast milk and/or neonatal intestinal microbiota and some of proposed mechanisms and exerted effects.

Maternal factors	Effects on BM and/or neonatal gut microbiota
Genetics (1, 16, 26, 27)	Secretor status Se ⁺ (associated with high presence of <i>Bifidobacteria</i> spp. in neonatal stools) and non secretor status Se ⁻ (higher percentage of <i>Streptococcus</i> spp.), Lewis gene; ethnicity; other factors not completely known.
Lactation phase (54, 57–59, 63)	Modulation of BM metabolites and microbial community, directly influencing neonatal gut microbiota and metabolic network
Breast milk composition (such as oligosaccharides, lipids) (10, 37, 38, 72)	Modulation of BM metabolites and microbial community, directly influencing neonatal gut microbiota and metabolic network. HMOs influence <i>B. Fragilis</i> , <i>E. coli etc</i> HMOs and FAs influence <i>Bifidobacteria</i> spp. and <i>Staphylococci</i> spp. in neonatal gut
Body mass index (5, 82, 83)	Influence on maternal metabolic status
Diet, lifestyle and habits (2, 5, 17, 67, 82)	Influence played by ingested foods, maternal diseases or metabolic status
Delivery route (vaginal, elective or emergency cesarean section) (5, 72, 82–85)	Induce neonatal colonization with maternal vaginal microbiota during spontaneous delivery. <i>S. Salivarius</i> detected only in BM samples from mothers undergone cesarean section. Other factors not completely known
Gestational age at delivery (86)	Modulation of BM metabolites and microbial community, directly influencing neonatal gut microbiota and metabolic network
Administration of antibiotics (17, 33)	Influence on maternal intestinal microbiota
Dysbiosis and/or mastitis (2, 17, 73, 74)	Neonatal contact with potentially dangerous microbial communities

It is clear that BM microbiota plays a central role even in the early colonization of neonatal gastro-enteric tract (67, 88), considering that the breastfed newborn swallows about $1 \times 10^{5-8}$ bacteria/day (67–69, 71, 72, 88, 89). Since BM contains both probiotics (such as *Bifidobacteria* spp. and *Lactobacilli* spp.) and prebiotics (mostly HMOs) it can be considered a natural symbiotic mixture (72, 75).

Thus, neonatal commensal bacteria could be involved in gut tolerance modulation, immune system stimulation and may even inhibit reactions vs. some DNA fragments (78, 90, 91). This would result in a greater protection against several diseases, reducing the rate of enteric and respiratory infections (67, 71, 92).

Moreover, in BM, there are many anaerobic and lactic acid bacteria (69), which could confer further anti-microbial protection and improve nutrients' absorption (67, 68, 71, 72, 88–91, 93).

The recent study of Damaceno et al. (72), investigating BM microbiota in healthy mothers, revealed a bacterial concentration ranging from 1.5 to 4.0 \log_{10} CFU/mL, with the highest concentration in colostrum. In their sample, *S. epidermidis* resulted the predominant species.

Our group (67) evaluated microbiota network in italian mothers, detecting a variable microbial composition

duringprogressive lactation stages and even some differences occurring among different populations. In particular, colostrum of Italian mothers mostly contained *Abiotrophia* spp., *Actynomicetospora* spp., *Aerococcus* spp., *Alloicoccus* spp., *Amaricoccus* spp., *Bergeyella* spp., *Citrobacter* spp., *Desulfovibrio* spp., *Dolosigranulum* spp., *Faecalibacterium* spp., *Parasutterella* spp., *Rhodanobacter* spp., *Rubellimicrobium* spp. (67, 88, 94). Other authors also demonstrated a high prevalence of *Weisella* spp., *Leuconostoc* spp., *Staphylococci* spp., *Streptococci* spp., and *Lactobacilli* spp. (82).

In mature BM from italian mothers, *Abiotrophia* spp. and *Aerococcus* spp. were also present, in addition to *Acetanaerobacterium* spp., *Aciditerrimonas* spp., *Acidocella* spp., *Aminobacter* spp., *Bacillus* spp., *Caryophanon* spp., *Delftia* spp., *Microvirga* spp., *Parabacteroides* spp., *Phascolarctobacterium* spp., and *Alistipes* spp. (67). Other authors also reported the presence of *Veillonella* spp., *Leptotrichia* spp., *Prevotella* spp. (82)., *Enterococcus* spp., *Lactococcus* spp., *Actinomyces* spp., *Corynebacterium* spp., *Kecuria* spp., *Escherichia* coli spp., *Klebsiella* spp., and *Raistonia* spp. species (88).

In the same study evaluations were conducted in colostrum and mature milk from mothers living in Burundi, where so many genetic but also environmental factors can be taken into account to explain huge differences in microbial composition. Several differences in the microbiota network have been observed also in different lactation stages of the same population and it is clear that the differences between these two populations may influence the findings (67).

Analyzing the gut microbiota of breastfed neonates, and comparing it to FM fed infants, different levels of *Proteobacteria* spp., *Bacteroides* spp., *Actinobacteria* spp., and *Firmicutes* spp. were detected (95); moreover, *Bifidobacteria* spp. resulted one of the most represented species, especially *Bifidobacterium longum* subsp. *longum* and *infantis*, and *B. breve* (96), which also showed a high concentration in breastfed neonate's stools (2, 86).

Bifidobacteria spp., *Lactobacilli* spp., *and Bacteroides* spp. proliferation is useful to face intestinal aggressive pathogens' invasion (such as *Salmonella* spp., *Lysteria* spp., and *Campilobacter* spp. (97, 98). Moreover, BM has a buffering capacity, that allows acidifying the intestinal content in order to make it more fermentable by the bacteria of the proximal colon. BM shows an inhibitory effect on the growth of *Clostridi* spp., *Bacteriodes* spp. and other anaerobic bacteria.

The great influence exerted by BM on neonatal intestinal microbial composition allow to indicate this community with the expression milk-oriented microbiota (MOM) (1).

This effect mainly occurs through the action of the glycans, constituted by free HMOs, glycolipids and glycoproteins and highly contained in BM. In fact, as previously reported, they act as prebiotics, since they do not undergo absorption in proximal gut (38, 99) and represent growth substrates for specific hugs (67, 68, 71, 72, 88, 96, 100–103).

Therefore HMOs, and even FAs, influence the growth of some beneficial species in neonatal gut, such as *Bifidobacteria* spp. and *Staphylococci* spp., related to several positive effects (38, 96, 104–106). For example, a better response to vaccines, an improved function of the intestinal barrier and a protection against intestinal infections (38, 107–109).

Moreover, bacterial species like *Bacteroides* spp., *Bifidobacteria* spp. and *Lactobacilli* spp. are very important for HMOs' metabolism (72), promoting their degradation into sugars available for energy production. In addition, *Bifidobacteria* spp., *Lactobacilli* spp., *and Bacteroides* spp. can induce short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) production, playing a role in gut mucosa homeostasis and in lipid metabolism (97, 98).

A recent study of Karav et al. (96) demonstrated that a endo- β -N-acetylglucosaminidase (EndoBI-1) found in several *Bifidobacteria* spp. promotes the cleavage of N-linked glycans fragments. These can influence bacterial selective growth, especially allowing *Bifidobacterium longum* subsp. *Infantis* (*B. infantis*) proliferation and even interfering with other subspecies' metabolism. On the contrary, in the same study, *B. infantis* did not result able to grow exclusively in presence of the deglycosylated protein fraction, confirming the role played by glycans in bacterial growth.

In this perspective, *Bifidobacteria* spp. and other species able to perform the initial de-glycosylation seem advantaged, since this represents a key passage. In fact, many studies demonstrated that the shape of gut microbiota, through the influence of microbial growth, is better promoted by HMOs and deconjugated glycans instead of the whole glycoprotein or glycolipid (96, 110–120).

This topic represents an interesting field of research, being not full clarified up to now. It would be very promising to find a link among the exact and inter-individual BM composition, the exerted influence on intestinal microbiota of the newborn and its resulting clinical phenotype. In fact it could be a suitable substrate for therapeutic beneficial applications modifying the final outcomes.

For example, BM content in HMOs and even neonatal gut microbiota showed some differences in under nutrition models, leading to an impaired infantile development. Therefore, it could be very useful to perform some dietetic strategies, adapted to these needs, which could treat or prevents several disorders, including under nutrition (38, 121).

CONCLUSIONS

BM exceptional features make it a very precious fluid, whose extraordinary properties and functions have not

REFERENCES

- Fanos V. Metabolomics, milk-oriented microbiota (MOM) and multipotent stem cells: the future of research on breast milk. J Pediatr Neonat Individual Med. (2015) 4:e040115. doi: 10.7363/ 040115
- Bode L, McGuire M, Rodriguez JM, Geddes DT, Hassiotou F, Hartmann PE, et al. It's alive: microbes and cells in human milk and their potential benefits to mother and infant. *Am Soc Nutr Adv Nutr.* (2014) 5:571–3. doi: 10.3945/an.114.006643
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Section on breastfeeding, breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics* (2012) 129, 827–41. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3552
- 4. German BJ, Smilowitz JT, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA, Freeman SL. Metabolomics and milk: the development of the microbiota in breastfed infants. In:

been fully clarified yet. It would be very interesting to understand all maternal factors influencing BM composition, also regarding SCs, in terms of quality and quantity (21, 122).

In the last years the importance of metabolomics has been highlighted, especially due to its role in characterizing metabolites related to microbial network. This integrated approach to the triad nutrients-microbes-metabolites can allow the identification of the effective bacterial taxa in BM and therefore transferred to the newborn (78, 123, 124), since we know that BM is the best modulator of neonatal microbiota (125).These findings would help to clarify, and even predict, BM influence on neonatal short- and longterm outcomes. Moreover, such observations may result useful to perform a sartorial approach through targeted strategies which potentially could, improve neonatal or even maternal health through the modulation of BM microbiota (2).

Finally, these evidences suggest the possible importance of bacterial supplementation of FM. The detailed knowledge of BM composition could allow to produce the best artificial products to provide to the nourished newborn a FM resembling, in the most accurate way, BM characteristics (78, 126).

AUTHOR'S NOTE

DP is affiliated with the International Inflammation Network (in-FLAME) of the World Universities Network.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FB made the selection of the papers from the literature. FB wrote the paper. VF and DP conceived the paper and FS and PA revisioned the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded in part by Progetto Ricerca Ateneo 2017 – 2018, University of Pisa, Project number PRA_2017_38, DR n.83/2017.

Kochhar S, Martin F-P editors. *Metabonomics and Gut Microbiota in Nutrition and Disease (Molecular and integrative toxicology).* London: Humana Press (Springer) (2015). p. 147–67.

- Fanos V, Pintus R, Reali A, Dessì A. Miracles and mysteries of breast milk: from Egyptians to the 3 M's (Metabolomics, Microbiomics, Multipotent stem cells). J Pediatr Neonat Individual Med. (2017) 6:e060204. doi: 10.7363/060204
- Anatolitou F. Human milk benefits and breastfeeding. J Pediat Neonat Individ Med. (2012) 1:11–8. doi: 10.7363/010113
- Fanos V, Reali A, Marcialis MA, Bardanzellu F. What you have to know about human milk oligosaccharides. J Pediatr Neonat Individual Med. (2018) 7:e070137. doi: 10.7363/070137
- Cesare Marincola F, Dessì A, Corbu S, Reali A, Fanos V. Clinical impact of human breast milk metabolomics. *Clin Chim Acta* (2015) 451:103–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.02.021

- Kaingade P, Somasundaram I, Nikam A, Behera P, Kulkarni S, PatelJ. Breast milk cell components and its beneficial effects on neonates: need for breast milk cell banking. *J Ped Neonat Individual Med.* (2017) 6:060115. doi: 10.7363/060115
- Sundekilde UK, Downey E, O'Mahony JA, O'Shea CA, Ryan CA, Kelly AL, et al. The effect of gestational and lactational age on the human milk metabolome. *Nutrients* (2016) 8:304. doi: 10.3390/nu8050304
- Hurst NM. The 3 M's of breast-feeding the preterm infant. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs. (2007) 21:234–9. doi: 10.1097/01.JPN.0000285813.59269.6e
- Kobata R, Tsukahara H, Ohshima Y, Ohta N, Tokuriki S, Tamura S, et al. High levels of growth factors in human breast milk. *Early Hum Dev.* (2008) 84:67–9. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2007.07.005
- Underwood MA. Human milk for the premature infant. *Pediatr Clin North* Am. (2013) 60:189–207. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.09.008
- Bhatia J. Human milk and the premature infant. Ann Nutr Metab. (2013) 62:8–14. doi: 10.1159/000351537
- Paul VK, Singh M, Srivastava LM, Arora NK, Deorari AK. Macronutrient and energy content of breast milk of mothers delivering prematurely. *Indian J. Pediatr.* (1997) 64:379–82. doi: 10.1007/BF02845209
- Bauer J, Gerss J. Longitudinal analysis of macronutrients and minerals in human milk produced by mothers of preterm infants. *Clin Nutr.* (2011) 30:215–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.08.003
- Bardanzellu F, Fanos V, Reali A. "Omics" in human colostrum and mature milk: looking to old data with new eyes. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:843. doi: 10.3390/nu9080843
- Yang M, Cao X, Wu R, Liu B, Ye W, Yue X, et al. Comparative proteomic exploration of whey proteins in human and bovine colostrum and mature milk using iTRAQ-coupled LC-MS/MS. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2017) 68:671– 81. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2017.1279129
- Zambruni M, Villalobos A, Somasunderam A, Westergaard S, Nigalye M, Turin CG, et al. Maternal and pregnancy-related factors affecting human milk cytokines among Peruvian mothers bearing low-birth-weight neonates. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 120:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.04.001
- Reali A, Puddu M, Pintus MC, Marcialis MA, Pichiri G, Coni P, Manus D, et al. Multipotent stem cells of mother's milk. *J Pediatr Neonatal Individ Med.* (2016) 5:1 e50103. doi: 10.7363/050103
- Briere CE, McGrath JM, Jensen T, Matson A, Finck C. Breast milk stem cells. *Clin Issues Neonat Care* (2016) 16:410–9. doi: 10.1097/ANC.00000000000338
- Cesare Marincola F, Noto A, Caboni P, Reali A, Barberini L, Lussu M, et al. A metabolomic study of preterm human and formula milk by high resolution NMR and GC/MS analysis: preliminary results. J Matern Fet Neonat Med. (2012) 25:62–7. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012.715436
- Spevacek AR, Smilowitz JT, Chin EL, Underwood MA, German JB, Slupsky CM. Infant maturity at birth reveals minor differences in the maternal milk metabolome in the first month of lactation. *J Nutr.* (2015) 145:1698–708. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.210252
- Longini M, Tataranno ML, Proietti F, Tortoriello M, Belvisi E, Vivi A. A metabolomic study of preterm and term human and formula milk by proton MRS analysis: preliminary results. J Matern Fet Neonat Med. (2014) 27:27–33. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2014.955958
- Wu J, Domellöf M, Zivkovic AM, Larsson G, Öhman A, Nording ML. NMRbased metabolite profiling of human milk: a pilot study of methods for investigating compositional changes during lactation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2015) 469:626–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.11.114
- Andreas NJ, Hyde MJ, Gomez-Romero M, Lopez-Gonzalvez MA, Villaseor A, Wijeyesekera A, et al. Multiplatform characterization of dynamic changes in breast milk during lactation. *Electrophoresis* (2015) 36:2269–85. doi: 10.1002/elps.201500011
- Villase-or A, Garcia-Perez I, Garcia A, Posma JM, Fernández-López M, Nicholas AJ, et al. Breast milk metabolome characterization in a singlephase extraction, multiplatform analytical approach. *Anal Chem.* (2014) 86:8245–52. doi: 10.1021/ac501853d
- Ghisu A, Fanos V. Metabolomic Longitudinal Analysis Longitudinale of Breast Milk from Mothers Delivering Preterm Newborns of Different Gestational Ages. Bachelor's Thesis, University of Cagliari, Cagliari (2016).
- Praticò G, Capuani G, Tomassini A, Baldassarre ME, Delfini, M, Miccheli A. Exploring human breast milk composition by NMR-based metabolomics. *Nat Prod Res.* (2014) 28:95–101. doi: 10.1080/14786419.2013.843180

- Smilowitz JT, O'Sullivan A, Barile D, German JB, Lonnerdal, B, Slupsky CM. The human milk metabolome reveals diverse oligosaccharide profiles. *J Nutr.* (2013) 143:1709–18. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.178772
- Dessi A, Murgia A, Agostino R, Pattumelli MG, Schirru A, Scano P, et al. Exploring the role of different neonatal nutrition regimens during the first week of life by urinary GC-MS metabolomics. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:265. doi: 10.3390/ijms17020265
- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology* (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074
- Urbaniak C, McMillan A, Angelini M, Gloor GB, Sumarah M, Burton JP, et al. Effect of chemotherapy on the microbiota and metabolome of human milk, a case report. *Microbiome* (2014) 2:24. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-2-24
- Bode L. The functional biology of human milk oligosaccharides. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:619–22. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.09.001
- 35. Pruneddu G, Cesare Marincola F, Briana DD, Gavrili S, Georgantzi S, Dessi A, et al. Metabolomics of human breast milk: preliminary results on the importance of secretor phenotype. In: Selected Abstracts of the 13th International Workshop on Neonatology; Cagliari (Italy); October 25-28, 2017 (2017).
- Donovan SM, Comstock SS. Human milk oligosaccharides influence neonatal mucosal and systemic immunity. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2016) 69:42–51. doi: 10.1159/000452818
- 37. Jantscher-Krenn E, Zherebtsov M, Nissan C, Goth K, Guner YS, Naidu N, et al. The human milk oligosaccharide disialyllacto-N-tetraose prevents necrotising enterocolitis in neonatal rats. *Gut* (2012) 61:1417–25. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301404
- Charbonneau MR, O'Donnell D, Blanton LV, Totten SM, Davis JC, Barratt MJ, et al. Sialylated milk oligosaccharides promote microbiotadependent growth in models of infant undernutrition. *Cell* (2016) 164:859– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.024
- Lewis ZT, Totten SM, Smilowitz JT, Popovic M, Parker E, Lemay DG, et al. Maternal fucosyltransferase 2 status affects the gut bifidobacterial communities of breastfed infants. *Microbiome* (2015) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0071-z
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Morrow AL. Human milk glycans protect infants against enteric pathogens. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2005) 25:37–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.25.050304.092553
- Bazanella M, Maier TV, Clavel T, Lagkouvardos I, Lucio M, Maldonado-Gomez MX, et al. Randomized controlled trial on the impact of early-life intervention with bifidobacteria on the healthy infant fecal microbiota and metabolome. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 106:1274–86. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.117.157529
- 42. De Leoz MLA, Gaerlan SC, Strum JS, Dimapasoc LM, Mirmiran M, Tancredi DJ, et al. Lacto-N-tetraose, fucosylation, and secretor status are highly variable in human milk oligosaccharides from women delivering preterm. *J Proteome Res.* (2012) 11:4662–72. doi: 10.1021/pr3004979
- Holmes-McNary MQ, Cheng WL, Mar MH, Fussell S, Zeisel SH. Choline and choline esters in human and rat milk and in infant formulas. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1996) 64, 572–6. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/64.4.572
- Kinney HC, Harthigasan J, Borenshteyn NI, Flax, J.D, Kirschner DA. Myelination in the developing human brain: biochemical correlates. *Neurochem Res.* (1994) 19:983–96. doi: 10.1007/BF00968708
- Jakobsen LH. Effect of a high protein meat diet on muscle and cognitive functions: a randomized controlled dietary intervention trial in healthy men. *Clin Nutr.* (2011) 30:303–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.12.010
- Fritz IB, Yue KT. Long-chain carnitine acyltransferase and the role of acylcarnitine derivatives in the catalytic increase of fatty acid oxidation induced by carnitine. *J Lipid Res.* (1963) 4:279–88.
- 47. Stephens FB, Wall BT, Marimuthu K, Shannon CE, Constantin-Teodosiu D, Macdonald IA, et al. Skeletal muscle carnitine loading increases energy expenditure, modulates fuel metabolism gene networks and prevents body fat accumulation in humans. *J Physiol.* (2013) 591:4655–66. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.255364
- Obeid R. The metabolic burden of methyl donor deficiency with focus on the betaine homocysteine methyltransferase pathways Metabolic. *Nutrients* (2013) 5:3481–95. doi: 10.3390/nu5093481
- Negro M. Branched-chain amino acid supplementation does not enhance athletic performance but affects muscle recovery and the immune system. J Sports Med Phys Fit. (2008) 48:347–51.

- Tajiri K, Shimizu Y. Branched-chain amino acids in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol. (2013) 43:7620–9. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7620
- Nagata C, Nakamura K, Wada K, Tsuji M, Tamai, Y, Kawachi T. Branched-chain amino acid intake and the risk of diabetes in a Japanese community: the Takayama study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2013) 178:1226–32. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwt112
- Sinanoglou VJ, Cavouras, D, Boutsikou T. Factors affecting human colostrum fatty acid profile: a case study. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 14:12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175817
- Salamon, S, Csapo J. Composition of the mothers' milk. protein contents, amino acid composition, biological value. a review. Acta Univ Sapientae Alimentaria (2009) 2:174–195.
- Koletzko B, Rodriguez-Palmero M, Demmelmair H, Fidler N, Jensen, R, Sauerwald T. Physiological aspects of human milk lipids. *Early Hum Dev.* (2001) 65:3–18. doi: 10.1016/S0378-3782(01)00204-3
- 55. Marin MC, Sanjurjo A, Rodrigo MA, De Alaniz MJT. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in breast milk in La Plata, Argentina: relationship with maternal nutritional status. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes Essent Fatty Acids* (2005) 73:355–60. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2005.07.005
- Da Cunha J, Macedo Da Costa TH, Ito MK. Influences of maternal dietary intake and suckling on breast milk lipid and fatty acid composition in lowincome women from Brasilia, Brazil. *Early Hum Dev.* (2005) 81:303–11. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2004.08.004
- Innis SM. Fatty acids and early human development. Early Hum Dev J Immunol. (2007) 83:761–6. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2007.09.004
- Smit EN, Martini IA, Mulder H, Boersma ER, Muskiet FAJ. Estimated biological variation of the mature human milk fatty acid composition. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes Essent Fatty Acids* (2002) 66:549–55. doi: 10.1054/plef.2002.0398
- Azulay Chertok IR, Haile ZT, Eventov-Friedman S, Silani Kove N, Argov-Argaman N. Influence of gestational diabetes mellitus on fatty acid concentrations in human colostrum. *Nutrition* (2017) 36:17–21. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2016.12.001
- Zhao JP, Levy E, Fraser WD, Julien P, Delvin E, Montoudis A, et al. Circulating docosahexaenoic acid levels are associated with fetal insulin sensitivity. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:85054. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085054
- Armoni DK, Mandel D, Hausman KM, Lubetzky R. Breast milk fat content of mothers to small-for-gestational-age infants. *J Perinatol.* (2015) 35:444–6. doi: 10.1038/jp.2014.200
- Lubetzky R, Argov-Argaman, N, Mimouni FB. Fatty acids composition of human milk fed to small for gestational age infants. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2016) 29, 3041–4. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015.1114082
- 63. Collado MC, Santaella M, Mira-Pascual L, Martinez, Arias E, Khodayar-Pardo P, et al. Longitudinal study of cytokine expression, lipid profile and neuronal growth factors in human breast milk from term and preterm deliveries. *Nutrients* (2015) 7:577–91. doi: 10.3390/nu7105415
- Cesare Marincola F, Corbu S, Lussu M, Noto A, Dessi A, Longo S, et al. Impact of early post natal nutrition on the NMR urinary metabolic profile of infant. J. Prot. Res. (2016) 15:3712–23. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00537
- Acharjee A, Prentice P, Acerini C, Smith J, Hughes IA, Ong K, et al. The translation of lipid profiles to nutritional biomarkers in the study of infant metabolism. *Metabolomics* (2017) 13:25. doi: 10.1007/s11306-017-1166-2
- 66. Sachse D, Bærug A, Sletner L, Birkeland KI, Nakstad B, Jenum AK, et al. Urine NMR metabolomics analysis of breastfeeding biomarkers during and after pregnancy in a large prospective cohort study. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (2014) 74:264–72. doi: 10.3109/00365513.2014.884240
- Drago L, Toscano M, De Grandi R, Grossi E, Padovani EM, Peroni DG. Microbiota network and mathematic microbe mutualism in colostrum and mature milk collected in two different geographic areas: Italy vs. Burundi. *ISME J.* (2016) 11:1–10. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2016.183
- Hunt KM, Foster JA, Forney LJ, Schutte UME, Back DI, Abdo Z, et al. Characterization of the diversity and temporal stability of bacterial communities in human milk. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e21313. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021313
- Boix-Amoros A, Collado MC, Mira A. Relationship between milk microbiota, bacterial load, macronutrients, and human cells during lactation. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:492. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00492
- Rodriguez JM. The origin of human milk bacteria: is there a bacterial enteromammary pathway during late pregnancy and lactation? *Adv Nutr.* (2014) 5:779–84. doi: 10.3945/an.114.007229

- Fernández L, Langa S, Martín V, Maldonado A, Jiménez E, Martín R, et al. The human milk microbiota: origin and potential roles in health and disease. *Pharmacol Res.* (2013) 69:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2012.09.001
- Damaceno QS, Souza JP, Nicoli JR, Paula RL, Assis GB, Figueiredo HC, et al. Evaluation of potential probiotics isolated from human milk and colostrum. *Prob Antimicro Prot.* (2017) 9:371–9. doi: 10.1007/s12602-017-9270-1
- Obermajer T, Lipoglavsek L, Tompa G, Treven P, Lorbeg PM, Matijasic BB, et al. Colostrum of healthy Slovenian mothers: microbiota composition and bacteriocin gene prevalence. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0123324. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123324
- 74. Jiménez E, Andrés J, Manrique M, Pareja-Tobes P, Tobes R, Martinez-Blanch JF, et al. Metagenomic analysis of milk of healthy and mastitis-suffering women. J Hum Lact. (2015) 31:406. doi: 10.1177/0890334415585078
- Coppa GV, Bruni S, Morelli L, Soldi, S, Gabrielli O. The first prebiotico in humans. human milk oligosaccharides. J Clin Gastroenterol. (2004) 38:580–3.
- McGuire MK, McGuire MA. Human milk: mother nature's prototypical probiotic food? *Adv Nutr.* (2015) 6:112–23. doi: 10.3945/an.114.007435
- Jiménez E, Delgado S, Fernandez L, Garcia N, Albujar M, Gomez A, et al. Assessment of the bacterial diversity of human colostrum and screening of staphylococcal and enterococcal populations for potential virulence factors. *Res Microbiol.* (2008) 159:595–601. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2008.09.001
- Obermajer T, Pogacic T. Commentary: relationship between milk microbiota, bacterial load, macronutrients, and human cells during lactation. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:1281. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01281
- Moya A, Ferrer M. Functional redundancy-induced stability of gut microbiota subjected to disturbance. *Trends Microbiol.* (2016) 24:402–13. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.02.002
- Leviton A, Dammann O, Engelke S, Allred E, Kuban KC, O'Shea TM, et al. The clustering of disorders in infants born before the 28th week of gestation. *Acta Paediatr.* (2010) 99:1795–800. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01973.x
- Piccolo BD, Mercer KE, Bhattacharyya S, Bowlin AK, Saraf MK, Pack L, et al. Early postnatal diets affect the bioregional small intestine Microbiome and Ileal Metabolome in neonatal pigs. J Nutr. (2017) 147:1499–509. doi: 10.3945/jn.117.252767
- Cabrera-Rubio R, Collado MC, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri, E, Mira A. The human milk microbiome changes over lactation and is shaped by maternal weight and mode of delivery. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:544–51. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.037382
- Fanos V. Diet and Microbiota. Foods, Bacteria, Probiotics and Health. Cagliari: Hygeia Press (2017).
- Toscano M, De Grandi R, Peroni DG, Grossi E, Facchin V, Comberiati P, et al. Impact of delivery mode on the colostrum microbiota composition. *BMC Microbiol.* (2017) 17:205. doi: 10.1186/s12866-017-1109-0
- Burton JP, Cowley S, Simon RR, McKinney J, Wescombe PA, Tagg JR. Evaluation of safetyand human tolerance of the oral probiotic Streptococcus salivarius K12: a randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind study. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (2011) 49:2356–64. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2011.06.038
- Khodayar-Pardo P, Mira-Pascual I, Collado MC, Martinez-Costa C. Impact of lactation stage, gestational age and mode of delivery on breast milk microbiota. J Perinatol. (2014) 34:599–605. doi: 10.1038/jp.2014.47
- De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14691–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005963107
- Martín R, Langa S, Reviriego C, Jimínez E, Marin ML, Xaus J, et al. Human milk is a source of lactic acid bacteria for the infant gut. *J Pediatr.* (2003) 143:754–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2003.09.028
- Heikkila MP, Saris PE. Inhibition of *Staphylococcus aureus* by the commensal bacteria of human milk. *J Appl Microbiol.* (2003) 95:471–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02002.x
- Dogra S, Sakwinska O, Soh SE, Ngom-Bru C, Brück WM, Berger B, et al. Rate of establishing the gut microbiota in infancy has consequences for future health. *Gut Microbes* (2015) 6:321–5. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1078051
- Ward TL, Hosid S, Loshikhes I, Altosaar I. Human milk metagenome: a functional capacity analysis. *BMC Microbiol.* (2013) 13:116. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-13-116
- Bergmann H, Rodríguez JM, Salminen S, Szajewska, H. Probiotics in human milk and probiotic supplementation in infant nutrition: a workshop report. *BR J Nutr.* (2014) 112:1119–28. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514001949

- Gilliland SE. Health and nutritional benefits from lactic acid bacteria. FEMS Microb Rev. (1990) 7:175–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1990.tb04887.x
- Ling Z, Kong J, Liu F, Zhu H, Chen X, Wang Y, et al. Molecular analysis of the diversity of vaginal microbiota associated with bacterial vaginosis. *BMC Genomics* (2010) 11:488. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-488
- Donovan SM, Wang M, Li M, Friedberg I, Schwartz SL, Chapkin RS. Host-microbe interaction in the neonatal intestine: role of human milk oligosaccharides. Adv Nutr. (2012) 3:450S-5S. doi: 10.3945/an.112.001859
- Karav S, Le Park A, Leite Nobrega de Moura Bell JM, Freese SA, Kirmiz N, Block DE, Barile D, et al. Oligosaccharides released from milk glycoproteins are selective growth substrates for infant-associated bifdobacteria. *Am Soc Microbiol.* (2016) 82:3622–30. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00547-16
- Gura T. Nature's first functional food. Science (2014) 345:747–9. doi: 10.1126/science.345.6198.747
- den Besten G, van Eunen K, Groen AK, Venema K, Reijngoud DJ, Bakker, B.M.The role of short chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *J Lipid Res.* (2013) 54:2325–40. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R036012
- 99. Engfer MB, Stahl B, Finke B, Sawatzki G, Danial H. Human milk oligosaccharides are resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis in the upper gastrointestinal tract. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:1589–96. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.6.1589
- 100. Solis G, Reyes-Gavilan CG, Fernandez N, Margolles A, Gueimonde M. Establishment and development of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria microbiota in breast milk and the infant gut. *Anaerobe* (2010) 16:307–10. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.02.004
- Patras KA, Wescombe PA, Rosler B, Hale JD, Tagg JR, Doran KS. Streptococcus salivarius K12 limits group B streptococcus vaginal colonization. Infect Immun. (2015) 83:3438–44. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00409-15
- Thomas DW, Greer FR. Committee on nutrition: section on gastroenterology, hepatology and nutrition probiotics and prebiotics in pediatrics. *Pediatrics* (2010) 126:1217–31. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2548
- 103. Li Y, Shimuzu T, Hosaka A, Kanedo N, Ohtsuka Y, Yamashiro Y. Effects of Bifidobacterium breve supplementation on intestinal flora of low birth weight infants. *Pediat Int.* (2004) 46:509–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200x.2004.01953.x
- 104. Garrido D, Dallas DC, Mills DA. Consumption of human milk glycoconjugates by infant-associated bifidobacteria: mechanisms and implications. *Microbiology* (2013) 159:649–64. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.064113-0
- 105. Smilowitz JT, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA, German JB, and Freeman SL. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2014) 34:143. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105721
- Kunz C, Rudloff S, Baier W, Klein N, Strobel S. Oligosaccharides in human milk: structural, functional, and metabolic aspects. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2000) 20:699–722. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.20.1.699
- 107. Huda MS, Lewis Z, Kalanetra KM, Rashid M, Ahmad SM, Raqib R, et al. Stool microbiota and vaccine responses of infants. *Pediatrics* (2014) 134:362–72. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3937
- Fukuda S, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, et al. Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature* (2011) 469:543–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09646
- 109. Ewaschuk JB, Diaz H, Meddings L, Diederichs B, Dmytrash A, Backer J, et al. Secreted bioactive factors from Bifidobacterium infantis enhance epithelial cell barrier function. Am J Physiol Gastroenterol. (2008) 295:1025–34. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.90227.2008
- Collin M, Olsén A. EndoS: a novel secreted protein from streptococcus pyogenes with endoglycosidase activity on human IgG. *EMBO J.* (2001) 20:3046–55. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.12.3046
- Collin M, Fischetti VA. A novel secreted endoglycosidase from enterococcus faecalis with activity on human immunoglobulin G and ribonuclease B. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:22558–70. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402156200
- 112. Muramatsu H, Tachikui H, Ushida H, Song XJ, Qiu Y, Yamamoto S, et al. Molecular cloning and expression of endo-β-N-acetylglucosaminidase D, which acts on the core structure of complex type asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. J Biochem. (2001) 129:923–8. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a002938
- 113. Garrido D, Nwosu C, Ruiz-Moyano S, Aldredge D, German JB, Lebrilla, CB, et al. Endo-beta-N-acetylglucosaminidases from infant gut-associated

bifidobacteria release complex N-glycans from human milk glycoproteins. *Mol Cell Proteom.* (2012) 11:775–85. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M112.018119

- 114. Byers HL, Tarelli E, Homer KA, Beighhton D. Sequential deglycosylation and utilization of the N-linked, complex-type glycans of human a1-acid glycoprotein mediates growth of *Streptococcus oralis*. *Glycobiology* (1999) 9:469–79. doi: 10.1093/glycob/9.5.469
- 115. Ward RE, Ni-onuevo M, Mills DA, Lebrilla CB, German JB. In vitro fermentability of human milk oligosaccharides by several strains of bifidobacteria. Mol Nutr Food Res. (2007) 51:1398–405. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200700150
- 116. Lo Cascio RG, Ni-onuevo MR, Kronewitter SR, Freeman SL, German JB, Lebrilla CB, et al. A versatile and scalable strategy for glycoprofiling bifidobacterial consumption of human milk oligosaccharides. *Microb Biotechnol.* (2009) 2:333–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7915.2008. 00072.x
- 117. Asakuma S, Hatakeyama E, Urashima T, Yoshida E, Katayama T, Yamamoto K, et al. Physiology of consumption of human milk oligosaccharides by infant gut-associated bifidobacteria. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:34583–92. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.248138
- 118. Ruiz-Moyano S, Totten SM, Garrido DA, Smilowitz JT, German JB, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA. Variation in consumption of human milk oligosaccharides by infant gut-associated strains of Bifidobacterium breve. *Appl Envir Microbiol.* (2013) 79:6040–9. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 01843-13
- Ruas-Madiedo P, Gueimonde M, Fernandez-Garcia M, Clara G, Margolles A. Mucin degradation by Bifidobacterium strains isolated from the human intestinal microbiota. *Appl Envir Microbiol.* (2008) 74:1936–40. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02509-07
- 120. Kiyohara M, Nakatomi T, Kurihara S, Fushinobu S, Suzuki H, Tanaka T, et al. α -N-Acetylgalactosaminidase from infant associated bifidobacteria belonging to novel glycoside hydrolase family 129 is implicated in alternative mucin degradation pathway. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:693–700. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.277384
- 121. Subramanian S, Huq S, Yatsunenko T, Haque R, Mahfuz M, Alam MA, et al. Persistent gut microbioma immaturity in malnourished Bangladeshi children. *Nature* (2014) 510:417–21. doi: 10.1038/ nature13421
- 122. Twigger AJ, Hodgetts S, Filgueira L, Hartmann PE, Hassiotou F. From breast milk to brains: the potential of stem cells in human milk. *J Hum Lact.* (2013) 29:136–9. doi: 10.1177/0890334413475528
- 123. Chow J, Panasevich MR, Alexander D, Vester Boler BM, Rossoni Serao MC, Faber TA, et al. Fecal metabolomics of healthy breast-fed vs. formula-fed infants before and during *in vitro* batch culture fermentation. *J Prot Res.* (2014) 13:2534–42. doi: 10.1021/pr500011w
- 124. Scano P, Murgia A, Demuru M, Consonni R, Caboni P. Metabolite profiles of formula milk compared to breast milk. *Food Res Int.* (2016) 87:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2016.06.024
- 125. Bashiardes S, Thaiss CA, Elinav, E. It's in the milk: feeding the microbiome to promote infant growth. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 23:393–4. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.02.015
- 126. Backhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. *Cell Host Microb.* (2015) 17:690–703. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer LA and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Bardanzellu, Fanos, Strigini, Artini and Peroni. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Prebiotic and Probiotic Properties of Human Milk: Implications for Infant Immune Development and Pediatric Asthma

Shirin Moossavi^{1,2,3,4}, Kozeta Miliku^{2,3,5}, Shadi Sepehri², Ehsan Khafipour^{1,2,6} and Meghan B. Azad^{2,3,5*}

¹ Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ² Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ³ Developmental Origins of Chronic Diseases in Children Network (DEVOTION), Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁴ Digestive Oncology Research Center, Digestive Disease Research Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁵ Pediatrics and Child Health, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁶ Department of Animal Science, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Munblit, I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Yuying Liu, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Rita Carsetti, Bambino Gesù Ospedale Pediatrico (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Meghan B. Azad meghan.azad@umanitoba.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 01 May 2018 **Accepted:** 19 June 2018 **Published:** 24 July 2018

Citation:

Moossavi S, Miliku K, Sepehri S, Khafipour E and Azad MB (2018) The Prebiotic and Probiotic Properties of Human Milk: Implications for Infant Immune Development and Pediatric Asthma. Front. Pediatr. 6:197. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00197

The incidence of pediatric asthma has increased substantially in recent decades, reaching a worldwide prevalence of 14%. This rapid increase may be attributed to the loss of "Old Friend" microbes from the human microbiota resulting in a less diverse and "dysbiotic" gut microbiota, which fails to optimally stimulate immune development during infancy. This hypothesis is supported by observations that the gut microbiota is different in infants who develop asthma later in life compared to those who remain healthy. Thus, early life exposures that influence gut microbiota play a crucial role in asthma development. Breastfeeding is one such exposure; it is generally considered protective against pediatric asthma, although conflicting results have been reported, potentially due to variations in milk composition between individuals and across populations. Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) and milk microbiota are two major milk components that influence the infant gut microbiota and hence, development of the immune system. Among their many immunomodulatory functions, HMOs exert a selective pressure within the infant gut microbial niche, preferentially promoting the proliferation of specific bacteria including Bifidobacteria. Milk is also a source of viable bacteria originating from the maternal gut and infant oral cavity. As such, breastmilk has prebiotic and probiotic properties that can modulate two of the main forces controlling the gut microbial community assembly, i.e., dispersal and selection. Here, we review the latest evidence, mechanisms and hypotheses for the synergistic and/or additive effects of milk microbiota and HMOs in protecting against pediatric asthma.

Keywords: human milk, microbiota, human milk oligosaccharides, immune development, asthma, pediatrics, probiotic, prebiotic

85

BREASTFEEDING, ASTHMA, AND THE MICROBIOTA

Breastfeeding has many established benefits for maternal and child health (1), including a potentially protective effect against pediatric asthma development. In a meta-analysis of 117 studies, Dogaru et al. found that breastfeeding was associated with a 22% reduced risk of asthma, with the strongest effects observed during early childhood (2). This association was not seen among adults in the population-based UK Biobank study (3); however, breastfeeding data were self-reported and did not account for duration or exclusivity. Several plausible mechanisms have been proposed to explain how breastfeeding might protect against asthma (4). For example, breastfeeding appears to mitigate the harmful effects of asthmogenic exposures including air pollution (5) and psychosocial stress (6). In addition, breastfeeding has been shown to support lung growth (7) and enhance lung function (8). Recently in the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study, we reported a dosedependent reduced risk of wheezing (9) and asthma (10) among breastfed children. These associations were stronger among infants fed at the breast compared to those receiving pumped breast milk, although both were superior to infant formula (10). This suggests that the act of suckling and/or skin-to-skin contact may contribute to the protective effect of breastfeeding. Alternatively or in addition, this finding could reflect a role for bioactive components in human milk, which may be altered during the pumping and storage process.

Breastfeeding also profoundly influences development of the infant oral and gut microbiota (11), which have been independently linked with asthma development (12, 13). Recent increases in asthma prevalence (14) have been attributed to a loss of diversity within the human microbiota due to the dramatic lifestyle changes in the last century (15). "Old Friend" and "missing microbe" hypotheses speculate that our increasingly hygienic lifestyle and overuse of antibiotics have resulted in the loss of specific bacteria from the modern day human microbiota (15, 16). Given the co-adaptation and co-evolution of the "ancient" microbiota with the human immune system, it is plausible that their loss could result in aberrant immune responses leading to allergic, autoimmune, and inflammatory diseases, including asthma (16). This hypothesis is supported by evidence that skin and nasal microbiota differ between adjacent but socioeconomically contrasting regions of Finnish and Russian Karelia with discordant prevalence of asthma and allergy (17). Consistent with this line of evidence, gut microbiota profiles have also been shown to differ between infants who do or do not develop asthma in the CHILD cohort and other longitudinal studies (12, 13). In addition, early life exposures that alter the microbiota (such as antibiotic use, cesarean delivery, and formula feeding) have been linked to asthma development (18).

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) and microbiota are two major milk components that influence infant gut microbiota and hence, development of the immune system. As such, breastmilk has prebiotic and probiotic properties that can modulate two of the main forces controlling the gut microbial community assembly, i.e., dispersal (acquiring new bacterial species) and selection (achieving a permissive environment to facilitate sustainable colonization). If these processes are disrupted, the infant gut microbiota developmental trajectory will be altered, potentially leading to a suboptimal final composition. This could be one of the underlying mechanisms of predisposition to a range of chronic diseases including allergy and asthma (19) (**Figure 1**). Here, we review the latest evidence and hypothesized mechanisms for the synergistic and/or additive effects of HMOs and milk microbiota in protecting against pediatric asthma.

PREBIOTIC AND PROBIOTIC PROPERTIES OF HUMAN MILK

Breastfeeding affects both gut microbiota and immune system development (20, 21). Human milk functions as a bioactive food consisting of all essential nutrients plus immune components, hormones, HMOs, and microbiota, which serve crucial roles in early life metabolic and immune system homeostasis and development (22). HMOs and the microbiota are of particular interest because of their influence on the infant gut microbiota and potential long-term health importance (22) (**Table 1**).

Human Milk Oligosaccharides

HMOs constitute the third largest component of human milk (31). These structurally diverse carbohydrates are synthesized by sequential addition of monosaccharides to lactose, and various α-glycosidic linkages of fucose and/or sialic acid to the core molecules (23, 36). More than 100 different HMOs have been identified, with the amount and composition varying substantially between women and over the course of lactation (25, 28, 37, 38). HMO fucosylation is regulated by enzymes encoded by the fucosyltransferase 2 (FUT2) and FUT3 genes, which determine secretor status and Lewis blood group status, respectively (23, 24). However, geographical variation in HMO composition suggests that non-genetic factors such as sociocultural and environmental factors may also play a role (24, 25). In the CHILD cohort we have observed that, beyond genetic FUT2 secretor status, HMO composition is associated with ethnicity, lactation stage, parity, geographic location, season of collection, and breastfeeding exclusivity (26).

Although still an emerging field of research, many biological functions have been attributed to HMOs (24, 31). The majority of ingested HMOs reach the lower intestinal tract where they can function as prebiotics, providing selective substrates for gut bacteria (30), as discussed below. Preliminary evidence also suggests that specific HMOs could directly modulate the immune response, with studies in pigs (39) and mice (40, 41) demonstrating direct effects on viral pathogens as well as host immune cells. In breastfed infants, approximately 1% of HMOs are absorbed into the peripheral circulation, potentially reaching all organs including the lungs (31), thus it is plausible that HMOs could affect lung mucosal immunity by interacting with airway



during the critical developmental period in early life via two of its main components: human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) and milk microbiota development and selective pressure within the infant gut microbial niche, preferentially promoting the proliferation of specific bacteria including *Bifdobacteria*. Milk is also a source of viable bacteria originating from the maternal gut and infant oral cavity. HMO composition is influenced by maternal genetics, geography, and season while microbiota is affected by maternal weight status, mode of breastfeeding and infant sex (**Table 1**). Variations in HMOs and milk microbiota could modulate the effect of breastfeeding on the infant gut microbiota, which in turn shapes the infant immune system and could ultimately influence lung health and asthma development.

TABLE 1 | Evidence on factors influencing the composition of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) and milk microbiota and their association with pediatric asthma.

Milk components	Influenced by	Impact on gut microbiota	Association with asthma
Human milk oligosaccharides	Host genetics (23, 24) Geography (24, 25) Season (26, 27) Parity (26) Lactation stage (28) Birth mode (29)	Influence nutrient availability for gut bacteria (30) Enrich <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Bifidobacterium</i> spp. (30) Prevent pathogen colonization (31) Modify host-microbe interaction (32)	No published evidence, but associations found for atopic sensitization and food allergy (26, 33)
Milk microbiota	Birth mode (22) Mode of breastfeeding (22) Maternal BMI (34) Infant sex (34)	Provide pioneering species (11) Enrich "beneficial" bacteria (35) Increase colonization efficiency	No published evidence

epithelia, immune cells, potential pathogens or resident microbes, providing another mechanism for protecting against asthma.

While the mechanisms are not fully elucidated, there is some evidence that supplementation with prebiotics (42, 43) or HMOs (44) may be protective against allergy and asthma in animal models and human studies. A recent systematic review reported a reduction in asthma among high-risk infants given prebiotics, such as galacto-oligosaccharide (GOS) and fructo-oligosaccharide (FOS) (45). However, GOS and FOS are structurally distinct from HMOs, which have not been widely studied in relation to asthma, although a few studies have examined their association with allergic disease. One study found that infants receiving milk with low Lacto-Nfucopentaose III concentrations were more likely to develop cow's milk allergy (33), an effect that might be modulated by birth mode (29). In the CHILD cohort, we have observed that HMO composition (but not any individual HMO) is associated with the development of allergic sensitization during infancy (26). Associations with asthma during early childhood are currently being explored. Altogether, epidemiological and experimental studies support the prebiotic effects of HMOs and suggest a potential role in asthma development (Table 1), but further research is needed to confirm and characterize this relationship.

Milk Microbiota

Culture-dependent and independent studies have confirmed the presence of bacteria in human milk (46). It is estimated that breastfed infants receive 10⁴-10⁶ bacteria per day (based on an average daily consumption of 800 mL of milk) with most isolated species belonging to the genera Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Lactobacillus, and Bifidobacterium (47). Cultureindependent (DNA sequencing-based) approaches in the CHILD cohort (34) and others (48) have recovered a higher diversity of bacteria in breast milk including lactic acid bacteria (Enterococcus and Lactococcus), oral-derived (Veillonella and Gemella), skin-associated (Cutibacterium and Staphylococcus), and environmental bacteria (Pseudomonas and Sphingomonas) with a high degree of inter-individual variability. While bacterial load appears to remain constant during milk maturation (49), it gradually decreases during one feed (50).

The milk microbiota is suggested to originate from the maternal gut, breast tissue, or infant oral cavity (51). Depending on the source of bacteria, different factors may contribute to shaping the milk microbiota (Table 1). For example, while maternal factors could influence the mother's gut bacteria, early life factors such as mode of delivery and mode of breastfeeding (directly at the breast vs. expressed and bottled breast milk) could potentially alter the exogenous bacteria derived from the infant (22). In the CHILD cohort, we have found that mode of breastfeeding was significantly associated with milk microbiota composition, with expressed milk feeding favoring depletion of Bifidobacteria and enrichment with potential pathogens and environmental bacteria (34). We also observed some sexspecific associations (e.g., maternal BMI associated with milk microbiota only if the infant is female) while other factors demonstrated a phylum-specific effect (e.g., maternal atopy associated with Actinobacteria richness) (34). As discussed below, the milk microbiota is suggested to provide a mechanism of vertical microbial transmission from the mother to the infant.

To the best of our knowledge, no study to date has directly linked milk microbiota with pediatric asthma and allergy. However, we have previously reported that indirect breastfeeding was associated with higher risk of pediatric asthma in the CHILD study (10), and we have also observed that mode of breastfeeding is consistently associated with milk microbiota composition in this cohort (34). It is plausible that the milk microbiota could play a role in asthma development, conceivably via the modulation of gut microbiota. Studies to date have been inconclusive regarding the use of commercial probiotics for preventing asthma (52); however, the natural milk microbiota is a complex community, and hence, may be more effective in this regard, as it has presumably evolved to optimally support infant gut microbiota and immune development.

CONTRIBUTION OF HMOS AND MILK MICROBIOTA TO INFANT GUT MICROBIOTA DEVELOPMENT

Dietary exposures are among the most influential factors shaping the infant gut microbiota. Breastmilk not only provides nutrients to the infant, but is also a source of probiotics (milk microbiota) and prebiotics (HMOs) contributing to the establishment of the infant gut microbiota (11). The human gut microbiota develops through a complex process of stepwise successions beginning at birth (53). First colonizers of the infant gut are facultative anaerobes, including the Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, and Enterococcus genera, and the Enterobacteriaceae family. These pioneering bacteria reduce the redox potential and hence, create a favorable condition for the growth of obligate anaerobes such as the Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides, Clostridium, and Eubacterium genera (53). In contrast to the mature gut microbiota, the infant gut is dominated by Bifidobacterium species prior to weaning, including B. longum, B. breve, and B. bifidum (35, 54). HMOs are specifically utilized by Bacteroides and Bifidobacterium spp. (30) leading to dominance of these taxa in breastfed infants (55), with different Bifidobacterium species and strains demonstrating different preferences for specific HMOs (56). Furthermore, rates of absorption and excretion are different for different categories of HMOs (57), resulting in different amounts reaching the colon; further highlighting the nuanced impact of the HMO composition on the infant gut microbiota. HMOs could also indirectly affect the gut microbiota composition through their decoy activity that prevents pathogen colonization (31). Additionally, HMOs can modify host-microbe interactions by affecting epithelial cell turnover (32) and glycocalyx mucus formation (58).

In addition to the prebiotic role of HMOs, the viability of milk bacteria suggests that human milk could function as a probiotic shaping the infant gut microbiota by facilitating dispersal (22). Milk microbiota may provide pioneering species and impact the final gut microbiota composition (59). Human microbiota studies demonstrating strain similarities between maternal gut, milk, and infant gut support this hypothesis (54), and find that *Bifidobacterium* spp. constitute the majority of shared taxa between maternal milk and infant stool (35). It is plausible that human milk specifically enriches and protects "beneficial" bacteria as they are transported through the infant's acidic stomach environment to the lower intestinal tract. Milk could also function as an incubator of bacteria to increase their "dose," thereby increasing the likelihood of successful colonization in the infant gut (60).

INFANT GUT MICROBIOTA, IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT, AND ASTHMA

The precise role of milk microbiota and HMOs in shaping the infant gut microbiota and immune development is an active area of research with potential implications for asthma prevention. The gastrointestinal tract is the largest immune organ in the human body and it plays a crucial role in the education and subsequent maturation of immune system by (i) maintaining immunological tolerance to food components as well as the commensal microbiota, and (ii) acquiring the capacity to appropriately respond to pathogenic microbes (61, 62). Moreover, the immune system is essential in keeping the balance of bacterial communities and preventing dysbiosis (61, 63). This host-microbiota crosstalk is shaped early in life (63, 64). It has been hypothesized and experimentally demonstrated that alteration of the early gut microbiota can disrupt the microbiallymediated mechanisms of immunological tolerance, resulting in predisposition to allergic disorders including asthma (61, 65).

Development of the immune system begins in utero, and continues during infancy (18). At birth, the adaptive immune system is dominated by the T-helper cell type 2 (Th2) which will later shift to Th1 and Th17 phenotype (66, 67). Delayed or impaired Th2/Th1 transition during early infancy is associated with increased risk of atopic disorders, including asthma (18). It has been shown that the gut microbiota stimulates regulatory T cells that help monitor the Th1/Th2 balance (18, 61, 62). Furthermore, exposure to microbes or microbial products such as microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) or short chain fatty acids (SCFA) during the early infancy is essential for stimulating the infant's naïve and immature immune system (53, 67), gut-associated lymphoid tissue development (64, 66), and B cell maturation (68). Thus, early life microbiota disruption could lead to alterations in several immune parameters including regulatory T cells proliferation, Th17 response, and IgE response (53), all of which contribute to asthma development.

A growing body of evidence supports the role of gut microbiota in the development of allergic disorders (64, 69, 70). However, it is not clear whether the risk of asthma development is modulated by presence of specific bacteria, temporal succession patterns, or the overall taxonomic and functional diversity of the microbial community (53). Observational human studies have indicated that lower gut microbiota diversity early in life could be associated with higher risk of asthma at later time points (12). In contrast, gut microbiota diversity and overall community composition were not associated with atopic wheezing in the CHILD cohort, although lower relative abundances of specific bacterial genera including Faecalibacterium, Lachnospira, Veillonella, and Rothia were associated with this phenotype (13). These genera were further shown to reduce clinical features of asthma including respiratory tract neutrophil and lymphocyte infiltrations and histopathological alterations in a mouse model of ovalbumin-induced asthma (13). Similarly, other studies have found that higher relative abundances of specific taxa including Clostridium difficile and Clostridium neonatale in the infant gut microbiota are associated with an increased risk of asthma (18, 71-74). Despite the discrepancies between studies on the important microbial features potentially associated with asthma, they have consistently shown that gut microbiota status in infancy, more so than early childhood, is associated with an altered risk of asthma. Collectively, this evidence supports the existence of a "critical period" during which the gut microbiota shapes the infant immune landscape and thus susceptibility to asthma later in life (70, 75).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Breastfeeding profoundly influences the infant gut microbiota, and emerging evidence indicates that divergence from this evolutionarily conserved process can alter immune system maturation and influence asthma development. However, much remains to be discovered about the underlying mechanisms, including the prebiotic and probiotic properties of human milk. For example, we do not fully understand how HMOs and milk microbiota modulate the overall gut microbial community and whether this involves many or just a few key taxa. Moreover, there is tremendous variation in HMO utilization by different bacterial strains, and some HMOs are not utilized by the gut microbiota. The source and fate of bacteria in human milk is also uncertain. HMOs and milk microbiota may influence infant microbial communities at body sites other than the gut, including the airways and nasopharyngeal cavity, which may also play a role in asthma development. In addition to HMOs and microbiota, other milk components likely also impact the gut microbiota and/or the immune system, including cytokines, antimicrobial compounds, and immunoglobulins. These diverse components have largely been studied in isolation, yet they co-exist and interact in the mammary gland and the infant gut. New methods and integrated approaches will be required to disentangle the complex and dynamic interactions between HMOs, milk microbiota, and other milk components and their collective impact on the infant gut microbiota, immune function, and pediatric asthma. Understanding these processes will help define the role of breastfeeding and human milk in normal development, and could ultimately inform new microbiota-based strategies for asthma prevention.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the conception and design of this review and wrote sections of the manuscript. SM and MA compiled and integrated the individual sections. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

MA holds a Canada Research Chair in the Developmental Origins of Chronic Disease. SM holds a Research Manitoba Doctoral Studentship. Our human milk research program is supported by the Heart and Stroke Foundation and Canadian Lung Association Emerging Research Leaders Initiative, in partnership with the Canadian Respiratory Research Network and the Allergy, Genes and Environment Network of Centers of Excellence (AllerGen NCE), and by Research Manitoba. These entities had no role in the design and conduct of this review, or approval of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We have used the following Creative Commons icons from the Noun Project (https://thenounproject.com). Artists' names are

REFERENCES

- Binns C, Lee M, Low WY. The long-term public health benefits of breastfeeding. Asia Pac J Public Health (2016) 28:7–14. doi: 10.1177/1010539515624964
- Dogaru CM, Nyffenegger D, Pescatore AM, Spycher BD, Kuehni CE. Breastfeeding and childhood asthma: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2014) 179:1153–67. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu072
- Ek WE, Karlsson T, Hernándes CA, Rask-Andersen M, Johansson Å. Breastfeeding and risk of asthma, hay fever, and eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1157–9.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.10.022
- Oddy WH. Breastfeeding, Childhood Asthma, and Allergic Disease. Ann Nutr Metab. (2017) 70 (Suppl. 2):26–36. doi: 10.1159/000457920
- Dong GH, Qian ZM, Liu MM, Wang D, Ren WH, Bawa S, et al. Breastfeeding as a modifier of the respiratory effects of air pollution in children. *Epidemiology* (2013) 24:387–94. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3182877eb8
- Montgomery SM, Ehlin A, Sacker A. Breast feeding and resilience against psychosocial stress. Arch Dis Child. (2006) 91:990–4. doi: 10.1136/adc.2006.096826
- Dogaru CM, Narayanan M, Spycher BD, Pescatore AM, Owers-Bradley J, Beardsmore CS, et al. Breastfeeding, lung volumes and alveolar size at school-age. *BMJ Open Respir Res.* (2015) 2:e000081. doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2015-000081
- Waidyatillake NT, Allen KJ, Lodge CJ, Dharmage SC, Abramson MJ, Simpson JA, et al. The impact of breastfeeding on lung development and function: a systematic review. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2013) 9:1253–65. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2013.851005
- 9. Azad MB, Vehling L, Lu Z, Dai D, Subbarao P, Becker AB, et al. Breastfeeding, maternal asthma and wheezing in the first year of life: a longitudinal birth cohort study. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 49:1602019. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02019-2016
- Klopp A, Vehling L, Becker AB, Subbarao P, Mandhane PJ, Turvey SE, et al. Modes of infant feeding and the risk of childhood asthma: a prospective birth cohort study. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 190:192–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.07.012.
- Bode L, McGuire M, Rodriguez JM, Geddes DT, Hassiotou F, Hartmann PE, et al. It's alive: microbes and cells in human milk and their potential benefits to mother and infant. *Adv Nutr.* (2014) 5:571–3. doi: 10.3945/an.114.006643
- Abrahamsson TR, Jakobsson HE, Andersson AF, Bjorksten B, Engstrand L, Jenmalm MC. Low gut microbiota diversity in early infancy precedes asthma at school age. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:842–50. doi: 10.1111/cea.12253
- Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Dimitriu PA, Thorson L, Russell S, Yurist-Doutsch S, et al. Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:307ra152. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aab2271
- Subbarao P, Mandhane PJ, Sears MR. Asthma: epidemiology, etiology and risk factors. CMAJ (2009) 181:E181–90. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.080612
- Blaser MJ, Falkow S. What are the consequences of the disappearing human microbiota? *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2009) 7:887–94. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2245
- Rook GA. 99th Dahlem conference on infection, inflammation and chronic inflammatory disorders: darwinian medicine and the 'hygiene' or 'old friends' hypothesis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2010) 160:70–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04133.x
- Ruokolainen L, Paalanen L, Karkman A, Laatikainen T, von Hertzen L, Vlasoff T, et al. Significant disparities in allergy prevalence and microbiota between the young people in Finnish and Russian Karelia. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2017) 47:665–74. doi: 10.1111/cea.12895
- Azad MB, Kozyrskyj AL. Perinatal programming of asthma: the role of gut microbiota. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2012) 2012:932072. doi: 10.1155/2012/932072
- Gomez-Gallego C, Garcia-Mantrana I, Salminen S, Collado MC. The human milk microbiome and factors influencing its composition and activity. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2016) 21:400–5. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2016.05.003

in brackets: baby (James Bickerton), DNA (Lloyd Humphreys), gender symbols (Guilhem), globe (Ben Davis), increase (Gregor Cresnar), lungs (Brennan Novak), obesity and 1 month baby (Gan Khoon Lay), and seasons (Marie Van den Broeck).

- Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: a review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:629–35. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.08.013
- Ardeshir A, Narayan NR, Mendez-Lagares G, Lu D, Rauch M, Huang Y, et al. Breast-fed and bottle-fed infant rhesus macaques develop distinct gut microbiotas and immune systems. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:252ra120. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008791
- Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amoros A, Hsu PS, Van't Land B, Gay MCL, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:E894. doi: 10.3390/nu9080894
- Kunz C, Rudloff S, Baier W, Klein N, Strobel S. Oligosaccharides in human milk: structural, functional, and metabolic aspects. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2000) 20:699–722. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.20.1.699
- Smilowitz JT, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA, German JB, Freeman SL. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2014) 34:143–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105721
- McGuire MK, Meehan CL, McGuire MA, Williams JE, Foster J, Sellen DW, et al. What's normal? Oligosaccharide concentrations and profiles in milk produced by healthy women vary geographically. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:1086–100. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.139980
- Miliku K, Robertson B, Sharma AK, Subbarao P, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide profiles and food sensitization among infants in the CHILD Study. *Allergy* (2018) doi: 10.1111/all.13476. [Epub ahead of print].
- Davis JC, Lewis ZT, Krishnan S, Bernstein RM, Moore SE, Prentice AM, et al. Growth and morbidity of gambian infants are influenced by maternal milk oligosaccharides and infant gut microbiota. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:40466. doi: 10.1038/srep40466
- Chaturvedi P, Warren CD, Altaye M, Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GP, L. K. Newburg, D. S. Fucosylated human milk oligosaccharides vary between individuals and over the course of lactation. *Glycobiology* (2001) 11:365–72. doi: 10.1093/glycob/11.5.365
- Sprenger N, Odenwald H, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E, Kunz C. FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5 years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:1293–301. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1180-6
- Marcobal A, Sonnenburg JL. Human milk oligosaccharide consumption by intestinal microbiota. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2012) 18(Suppl. 4):12–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03863.x
- Bode L. The functional biology of human milk oligosaccharides. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:619–22. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.09.001
- Kuntz S, Rudloff S, Kunz C. Oligosaccharides from human milk influence growth-related characteristics of intestinally transformed and non-transformed intestinal cells. *Br J Nutr.* (2008) 99:462–71. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507824068
- Seppo AE, Autran CA, Bode L, Jarvinen KM. Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:708–11.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.031
- 34. Moossavi S, Khafipour E, Sepehri S, Robertson B, Bode L, Becker AB, et al. Maternal and early life factors influencing the human milk microbiota in the child cohort. In: *Poster Session Presented at: Canadian Society of Microbiololists.* Waterloo, ON (2017).
- Biagi E, Quercia S, Aceti A, Beghetti I, Rampelli S, Turroni S, et al. The bacterial ecosystem of mother's milk and infant's mouth and gut. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:1214. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01214
- Boehm G, Stahl B. Oligosaccharides from milk. J Nutr. (2007) 137(3 Suppl. 2):847s-9s. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.3.847S
- Xu G, Davis JC, Goonatilleke E, Smilowitz JT, German JB, Lebrilla CB. Absolute quantitation of human milk oligosaccharides reveals phenotypic variations during lactation. J Nutr. (2017) 147:117–24. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.238279

- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology* (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074
- Comstock SS, Wang M, Hester SN, Li M, Donovan SM. Select human milk oligosaccharides directly modulate peripheral blood mononuclear cells isolated from 10-d-old pigs. Br J Nutr. (2014) 111:819–28. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513003267
- Schijf MA, Kruijsen D, Bastiaans J, Coenjaerts FE, Garssen J, van Bleek GM, et al. Specific dietary oligosaccharides increase Th1 responses in a mouse respiratory syncytial virus infection model. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:11472–82. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06708-11
- Pandey RP, Kim DH, Woo J, Song J, Jang SH, Kim JB, et al. Broadspectrum neutralization of avian influenza viruses by sialylated human milk oligosaccharides: *in vivo* assessment of 3'-sialyllactose against H9N2 in chickens. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2563. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20955-4
- 42. Vos AP, van Esch BC, Stahl B, M'Rabet L, Folkerts G, Nijkamp FP, et al. Dietary supplementation with specific oligosaccharide mixtures decreases parameters of allergic asthma in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2007) 7:1582– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2007.07.024
- 43. Arslanoglu S, Moro GE, Boehm G, Wienz F, Stahl B, Bertino E. Early neutral prebiotic oligosaccharide supplementation reduces the incidence of some allergic manifestations in the first 5 years of life. J Biol Regulators Homeost Agents (2012) 26(3 Suppl.):49–59. doi: 10.1088/2058-7058/26/08/11
- 44. Castillo-Courtade L, Han S, Lee S, Mian FM, Buck R, Forsythe P. Attenuation of food allergy symptoms following treatment with human milk oligosaccharides in a mouse model. *Allergy* (2015) 70:1091–102. doi: 10.1111/all.12650
- Osborn DA, Sinn JK. Prebiotics in infants for prevention of allergy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. (2013) CD006474. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006474
- Fitzstevens JL, Smith KC, Hagadorn JI, Caimano MJ, Matson AP, Brownell EA. Systematic review of the human milk microbiota. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2016) 32:354–64. doi: 10.1177/0884533616670150
- Heikkila MP, Saris PEJ. Inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus by the commensal bacteria of human milk. J Appl Microbiol. (2003) 95:471–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02002.x
- McGuire MK, McGuire MA. Got bacteria? The astounding, yet not-sosurprising, microbiome of human milk. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (2017) 44:63–8. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2016.11.013
- Collado MC, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Maternal weight and excessive weight gain during pregnancy modify the immunomodulatory potential of breast milk. *Pediatr Res.* (2012) 72:77–85. doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.42
- West PA, Hewitt JH, Murphy OM. The influence of methods of collection and storage on the bacteriology of human milk. J Appl Bacteriol. (1979) 46:269–77.
- Fernandez L, Langa S, Martin V, Maldonado A, Jimenez E, Martin R, et al. The human milk microbiota: origin and potential roles in health and disease. *Pharmacol Res.* (2013) 69:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2012. 09.001
- Azad MB, Coneys JG, Kozyrskyj AL, Field CJ, Ramsey CD, Becker AB, et al. Probiotic supplementation during pregnancy or infancy for the prevention of asthma and wheeze: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* (2013) 347:f6471. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f6471
- Laforest-Lapointe I, Arrieta MC. Patterns of early-life gut microbial colonization during human immune development: an ecological perspective. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:788. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00788
- Asnicar F, Manara S, Zolfo M, Truong DT, Scholz M, Armanini F, et al. Studying vertical microbiome transmission from mothers to infants by strain-level metagenomic profiling. *mSystems* (2017) 2:e00164-16. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00164-16
- 55. Wang M, Li M, Wu S, Lebrilla CB, Chapkin RS, Ivanov I, et al. Fecal microbiota composition of breast-fed infants is correlated with human milk oligosaccharides consumed. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2015) 60:825–33. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000752
- Ruiz-Moyano S, Totten SM, Garrido DA, Smilowitz JT, German JB, Lebrilla CB, et al. Variation in consumption of human milk oligosaccharides by infant gut-associated strains of bifidobacterium breve. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2013) 79:6040–9. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01843-13
- Davis JC, Totten SM, Huang JO, Nagshbandi S, Kirmiz N, Garrido DA, et al. Identification of oligosaccharides in feces of breast-fed infants and their correlation with the gut microbial community. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2016) 15:2987–3002.

- Angeloni S, Ridet JL, Kusy N, Gao H, Crevoisier F, Guinchard S, et al. Glycoprofiling with micro-arrays of glycoconjugates and lectins. *Glycobiology* (2005) 15:31–41. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwh143
- Fukami T. Historical contingency in community assembly: integrating niches, species pools, and priority effects. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* (2015) 46:1–23. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110411-160340
- Obadia B, Guvener ZT, Zhang V, Ceja-Navarro JA, Brodie EL, Ja WW, et al. Probabilistic Invasion Underlies Natural Gut Microbiome Stability. *Curr Biol.* (2017) 27:1999–2006 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.034
- Li M, Wang M, Donovan SM. Early development of the gut microbiome and immune-mediated childhood disorders. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2014) 32:74–86. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1361825
- Kaplan JL, Shi HN, Walker WA. The role of microbes in developmental immunologic programming. *Pediatr Res.* (2011) 69:465–72. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e318217638a
- Wang M, Monaco MH, Donovan SM. Impact of early gut microbiota on immune and metabolic development and function. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2016) 21:380–7. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2016.04.004
- 64. Tanaka M, Nakayama J. Development of the gut microbiota in infancy and its impact on health in later life. *Allergol Int.* (2017) 66:515–22. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2017.07.010
- Huffnagle GB. The microbiota and allergies/asthma. PLoS Pathog. (2010) 6:e1000549. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000549
- Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Amenyogbe N, Brown EM, Finlay B. The intestinal microbiome in early life: health and disease. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:427. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00427
- Gollwitzer ES, Marsland BJ. Impact of early-life exposures on immune maturation and susceptibility to disease. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:684–96. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.09.009
- Lundell AC, Bjornsson V, Ljung A, Ceder M, Johansen S, Lindhagen G, et al. Infant B cell memory differentiation and early gut bacterial colonization. J Immunol. (2012) 188:4315–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103223
- Fujimura KE, Lynch SV. Microbiota in allergy and asthma and the emerging relationship with the gut microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2015) 17:592–602. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.007
- Gensollen T, Blumberg RS. Correlation between early-life regulation of the immune system by microbiota and allergy development. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:1084–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.02.011
- Penders J, Thijs C, van den Brandt PA, Kummeling I, Snijders B, Stelma F, et al. Gut microbiota composition and development of atopic manifestations in infancy: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. *Gut* (2007) 56:661–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.100164
- 72. Vael C, Vanheirstraeten L, Desager KN, Goossens H. Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of neonatal intestinal microbiota in relation to the development of asthma. *BMC Microbiol.* (2011) 11:68. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-11-68
- 73. Stiemsma LT, Arrieta MC, Dimitriu PA, Cheng J, Thorson L, Lefebvre DL, et al. Shifts in *Lachnospira* and *Clostridium* sp. in the 3-month stool microbiome are associated with preschool age asthma. *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130:2199–207. doi: 10.1042/CS20160349
- Kalliomaki M, Kirjavainen P, Eerola E, Kero P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Distinct patterns of neonatal gut microflora in infants in whom atopy was and was not developing. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2001) 107:129–34. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.111237
- Stiemsma LT, Turvey SE. Asthma and the microbiome: defining the critical window in early life. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol.* (2017) 13:3. doi: 10.1186/s13223-016-0173-6

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Moossavi, Miliku, Sepehri, Khafipour and Azad. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immunological Effects of Human Milk Oligosaccharides

Vassilis Triantis¹, Lars Bode² and R. J. Joost van Neerven^{1,3*}

¹ FrieslandCampina, Amersfoort, Netherlands, ² Department of Pediatrics, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ³ Wageningen University and Research, Cell Biology and Immunology, Wageningen, Netherlands

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) comprise a group of structurally complex, unconjugated glycans that are highly abundant in human milk. HMOs are minimally digested in the gastrointestinal tract and reach the colon intact, where they shape the microbiota. A small fraction of HMOs is absorbed, reaches the systemic circulation, and is excreted in urine. HMOs can bind to cell surface receptors expressed on epithelial cells and cells of the immune system and thus modulate neonatal immunity in the infant gut, and possibly also sites throughout the body. In addition, they have been shown to act as soluble decoy receptors to block the attachment of various microbial pathogens to cells. This review summarizes the current knowledge of the effects HMOs can have on infections, allergies, auto-immune diseases and inflammation, and will focus on the role of HMOs in altering immune responses through binding to immune-related receptors.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Munblit, I. M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Belinda van't Land, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Gert Folkerts, Utrecht University, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

R. J. Joost van Neerven joost.vanneerven @frieslandcampina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 25 April 2018 **Accepted:** 08 June 2018 **Published:** 02 July 2018

Citation:

Triantis V, Bode L and van Neerven RJJ (2018) Immunological Effects of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. Front. Pediatr. 6:190. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00190 Keywords: human milk oligosaccharides, HMO, infection, immunity, infant, allergy, benefit, health

INTRODUCTION

Based on its richness in immune-related components like human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), milk proteins and lipids, breastmilk can be seen as the first functional food humans encounter during their life (1). HMOs comprise a group of structurally complex, unconjugated glycans found in human breastmilk (see Figure 1). Although the amount and precise composition of HMOs varies depending on time of lactation and the genetic makeup of each woman as well as potential environmental exposures, human breast milk contains an average of 5-15 g of oligosaccharides per liter, making HMOs the third most abundant solid component of breast milk after lactose and lipids (2). Each oligosaccharide is built on a lactose backbone expanded by the addition of galactose, N-acetylglucosamine, fucose or sialic acid, branched and elongated in different ways, generating approximately 200 different structures identified to-date (3). As they are only minimally digested in the gastrointestinal tract, HMOs reach the colon intact or are absorbed in small quantities, reach the systemic circulation and are excreted in urine (4). In this way, they may exert a plethora of functions at multiple sites throughout the body and beyond the intestinal lumen and intestinal mucosal surfaces, including the urinary tract or the immune system. HMOs were first described as prebiotic substrates for the infant gut microbiota, promoting the establishment of bifidobacteria and lactobacilli, based on striking differences in microbiota composition between breastfed and bottle fed infants (5).

However, HMOs are now recognized to have various additional benefits for the developing neonate. HMOs may modulate neonatal immunity by altering host epithelial and immune cell responses in the infant gut (6), modify immune responses systemically or act as soluble decoy receptors to block the attachment of various microbial pathogens to cell surface receptors (7), not only in the intestine but also in other sites such as the urinary tract (8). The benefits of HMOs can

92

extend to health outcomes beyond infancy such as allergies (9) or cognitive functions (10), making HMOs the focus of intense current scientific research with increasing number of studies unraveling their role in human physiology.

This review summarizes recent findings, discusses the proposed modes of action, and identifies future prospects and scientific challenges, with a focus on immunity and infection.

HMO ABSORPTION

HMOs are resistant to digestion in the infant GI tract (11). Both neutral and acidic HMOs can cross the epithelial barrier, but active transport over intestinal epithelial monolayers has only been demonstrated for neutral HMOs (12). These findings suggest that HMOs may be taken up into the human body. Indeed, HMOs have been detected in feces and urine of breastfed infants (13–17), but also directly in the peripheral blood (18–21). However, lower concentrations of HMOs are detected in blood compared to urine, which may be a reflection of accumulation in urine from a larger volume of blood. For example, concentrations of 2'-fucosyllactose (2'FL), were around 1.5 mg/l in peripheral blood and 100 mg/l in urine (20).

Absorption of orally administrated single HMOs was also shown in an adult rat model showing indeed that the intestinal epithelium is permeable to HMOs although to a different extent in infancy and adulthood (22). Therefore, these publications indicate that HMOs may, in addition to effects in the GI tract, have effects throughout the human body. Such effects can be conveyed directly through binding to receptors for HMOs, or indirectly via induction of short chain fatty acids and other metabolites produced by the microbiota.

POTENTIAL HMO RECEPTORS, THEIR EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION

Potential HMO Receptors

Several classes of lectins (glycan-binding proteins) have been described in the literature that have different functions and ligand specificities, namely galectins, siglecs, c- type lectins, and selectins. Different HMOs can bind to these different types of receptors on human cells, primarily expressed on cells of the immune system.

Galectins are lectins that bind N-acetyllactosamine or lactose containing sugars (23–25). Galectins can also bind sulfated, sialylated or fucosylated galactose moieties (25). The work of Hirabayashi et al elegantly shows the oligosaccharide specificity of galectins for several HMO structures (23, 25, 26). More recently, Prudden et al. confirmed binding of HMOs with a terminal type 1 and 2 LacNAc to galectin 9 with a preference for type 1 structures on a solid surface (27). Similar findings were reported for HMO binding specificity for galectins in solution, corroborating these initial studies (28, 29).

Another family of lectins involved in HMO binding are the sialic acid binding immunoglobulin- like lectins (Siglecs). Siglecs have been shown to bind sialylated HMOs (30). Sialyllactose has been shown to bind to sialoadhesin (Siglec-1) (31), but also

to Siglec-5 and Siglec-10 (32), Siglec-7 (33), and Siglec-9 (34). However, the affinity of sialyllactoses for Siglecs are relatively low.

In addition to galectins and siglecs, HMOs also interfere with another family of lectins involved in cell adhesion, the selectins (2, 35). Selectins bind to glycans that carry sialylated Le bloodgroup epitopes (36), which are sialylated and fucosylated lacto-N-bioses (Gal β 1-3GlcNAc) or N-acetyllactosamines (Gal β 1-4GlcNAc)—very similar to HMOs. In fact, HMOs contain Le blood group antigens (37) and are able to reduce selectin-mediated cell–cell interactions (38, 39). In addition, HMOs have been shown to interact with selectins (40), and integrins (39).

Finally, HMOs can bind to C-type lectins like DC-SIGN and Dectin-1. C-type lectins containing an EPN-motif (Glu-Pro-Asn) have high specificity for mannose- and fucose terminating glycans, whereas the presence of a QPD-motif (GlnPro-Asp) is important for galactose-or N-acetylgalactosamine(GalNAc) terminating glycans (41). HMOs were shown to bind specifically to DC-SIGN expressed by DCs (42). Although HMO binding to DC-SIGN seems to be weaker than binding to galectins, it was shown that structures containing α -linked fucose could bind to DC-SIGN (34). The results were also confirmed by binding of DC-SIGN to beads derivatized with 2'-FL or 3-FL, but not with LNT.

A limited number of reports have also discussed the possibility of binding of HMOs to other receptors belonging to the Toll like receptor (TLR) family that typically bind to pathogenrelated molecules. TLR-4 dependent effects of HMOs have been described in two papers in which HMOs tested *in vivo* required the expression of TLR-4 for their effect (43, 44). However, formal demonstration of the binding of the HMOs (3'SL and LNFPIII) to TLR-4 in direct binding assays was not provided. In addition, in relation to TLR-signaling of HMOs, a recent paper highlighted the effect that low level LPS contamination of the commercially available HMO 3'SL can have in these studies, indicating that caution is warranted when studying TLR-mediated effects (45).

An overview of putative receptors for HMO is shown in Table 1.

Expression Profiles and Functions of Potential HMO Receptors

Galectins are mainly expressed on T cells, and can regulate T cell function (46), but are also present on intestinal epithelial cells (47–49), and on antigen presenting cells and granulocytes (25). Galectins can convert signals into the cell after binding to their ligands directly, but galectins can also be secreted, after which they bind to glycoproteins or receptors at cell surfaces and hence can regulate cell functions (50–52). Binding of HMOs or lactose can thus have direct effects or inhibit the interaction of galectins with their ligands on other cells.

Siglecs are involved in the immune system in multiple ways (53). Siglecs 1–16 are expressed on a variety of blood cells, including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, and NK cells (53, 54). In contrast to galectins and Dectin-1, Siglecs are not expressed by intestinal epithelial cells. Many of the Siglecs have an intracellular



sialic acid (purple diamond). All HMOs carry lactose at the reducing end. Lactose can be fucosylated or sialylated to generate the small HMOs 2'-fucosyllactose and 3-fucosyllactose or 3'-sialyllactose and 6'-sialyllactose, respectively (upper left corner). Alternatively, lactose can be elongated with type 1 or type 2 disaccharide units to form linear or branched HMOs (upper right corner). Elongated HMOs then can be sialylated (lower left corner) or fucosylated (lower right corner) or both sialylated and fucosylated (not shown). The HMOs in this figure are only a few relatively simple examples. So far, more than 150 different HMO structures have been identified.

immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM), and are thus known as regulators of immune responses.

Selectins are cell adhesion molecules that mediate the earliest stages of leukocyte trafficking. At sites of inflammation, leukocytes need to migrate from the blood stream through the endothelium into sub endothelial regions of inflammation (55, 56). Induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines, endothelial cells express P- and E-selectin, which bind to glyco-conjugates on leukocytes passing by with the blood stream. This initial contact decelerates the leukocytes and makes them roll over the endothelial cell layer. Subsequently, additional adhesion molecules bring leukocytes to a complete stop and facilitate their transmigration into sub endothelial regions. Initial selectin-mediated rolling is essential for leukocyte extravasation and mucosal infiltration.

Sialylated HMOs have been shown to interact with selectins (40), and integrins (39), and affect leukocyte-endothelial cell and leukocyte-platelet interactions (39, 57–59). Similarly, sialylated HMOs reduce PNC formation and subsequent neutrophil

activation in an *ex vivo* model with whole human blood (38). In both cases, non-sialylated HMOs are ineffective and pooled HMOs are more effective than monovalent sialyl-Le X, indicating the importance of Sia and suggesting potential multivalent interactions with higher molecular HMOs that carry more than one sialylated blood group epitope.

C-type lectins are primarily expressed by antigen presenting cells (monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells) and are of crucial importance for regulating immune responses to pathogens. The can be divided into four subgroups, the sialo-glycoprotein receptor family (e.g., DC-SIGN), the dectin-1 subfamily of asialo glycoprotein receptors (e.g., Dectin-1), the DCIR subfamily (e.g., DCIR), and the Mannose receptor family (e.g., CD206) for a review see Geijtenbeek and Gringhuis (60).

In general, c- type lectins are primarily expressed on dendritic cells and macrophages, and play a role in the internalization of saccharide-containing antigens, resulting in antigen presentation (41). However, dectin-1 can also be detected on intestinal epithelial and on M cells, and play a role in IgA transcytosis

Type of lectin	Name	Function of receptor	Ligand specificity	Known HMO ligands	Expression	Reference
C-type lectins	DC-SIGN	Immune (Antigen presentation)	α-fucosylated structures, mannose	2'-FL, 3FL, LNFP-III, LNFP-IV, LNDFH-I	Antigen presenting cells	(34)
Siglecs	Siglec-5, Siglec-9	Immune	sialylated HMO, $\alpha 2,3$ - and $\alpha 2,6$ -linked sialic acids	3' and 6' Sialyllactose	Neutrophils, monocytes, dendritic cells	(34)
Galectins	Galectins 1, 2, 3, 7, 8. 9	Immune	N-acetyllactosamine or lactose	LNnT LNT NFP-I LNFP-II LNFP-III LNDFH FucLac a-GalLac but not 6SL	Intestinal cells, lymphocytes, antigen presenting cells	(23, 25, 26)
Selectins		Leucocyte adhesion	Sialylated and fucosylated lacto-N-bioses (Galβ1-3GlcNAc) or N-acetyllactosamines	sialyl-Lewis x	Leucocytes, endothelium	(37, 39)

TABLE 1	Putative receptors for HMOs on the immune	system.
---------	---	---------

(61–63). Apart from promoting antigen presentation, some c- type lectins like DCIR may—just like Siglecs—contain an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) -motif in their intracellular domains, that inhibit immune activation.

DC-SIGN interacts with a variety of pathogens, including HIV-1, and binding of HMOs inhibited the transfer of HIV-1 to CD4+ T lymphocytes. These data may suggest that oligosaccharides act systemically and are thereby modulating the immune response in a microbiota-independent manner. In addition, recent publications have also demonstrated that the c-type lectin Dectin-1 can modulate innate immune function, possibly explaining the cross-protection against other pathogens seen after vaccination (64, 65).

The functions of these receptors thus indicates that binding of HMOs to these structures may result in regulation of adaptive and innate immune protection against infection and inflammation.

EFFECTS OF HMOS ON INFECTION, ALLERGY AND IMMUNE PARAMETERS IN HUMAN STUDIES

As can be seen in **Table 2**, there are currently only a few infant studies on effects of HMOs on infection and immune function. Most of these studies are observational studies on breastfeeding infants, correlating HMOs in breastmilk with these outcomes. Placebo controlled studies with HMOs have been performed but have to date focused on safety rather than on anti-infective and immunomodulatory effects (18, 77).

Four of these studies showed an effect of HMOs on prevention of diarrhea (67, 69), respiratory tract infections (69), and severe outcomes like sepsis and death (75). Morrow et al. showed in another study that HIV exposed, non-infected children receiving breastmilk of secretor+ mothers have a reduced risk of early mortality compared to secretor—breastfeeding (66).

Also, in relation to cow's milk allergy, the level of Lacto-N-fucopentaose (LNFP) III in breast milk correlated with the prevalence of cow's milk allergy (9). Similarly, Sprenger et al. reported that FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides, with the levels of 2'FL as proxy for secretor status, were associated with lower levels of IgE-mediated allergies and eczema (70).

Finally, Biesbroek et al. reported recently that 6 week old breastfed children have a different nasopharyngeal microbiota, suggesting that milk components like HMOs may influence the nasopharyngeal microbiota composition—which may contribute to the protective effect of breastfeeding on decreased respiratory infections (76).

It should be stressed that none of these studies have formally demonstrated direct effects of HMOs, and that other breastfeeding components may be associated with the effects described. Only in a recent study (71) the administration of 2'-FL in combination with LNnT could reversely correlate with parentally reported episodes of bronchitis, lower respiratory tract infections, and use of antipyretics or antibiotics at different ages.

However, as reviewed in detail in section Effects of HMOs on Infection, Allergy and Immune Parameters in Human Studies and in several recent reviews (2, 35, 78–88), quite some information is available of effects of effects of HMOs on microbiota composition, pathogens, and pathogen adhesion *in vitro*, as well as on infection *in vivo*. In addition, effects on intestinal epithelium and barrier function, as well as immune function have been described in these reviews and the underlying literature.

In infants another study showed that the secretor or nonsecretor genotype of mothers of infants that were breastfed correlated with enterocolitis (low secretor) and sepsis (nonsecretor) (66).

It has been shown as well that the amount of 2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides in breast milk inversely correlates with the incidence of diarrhea in infants (89), and similarly the amount of fucosyl oligosaccharides in breast milk inversely correlates with the severity of infection with E coli that has a stable (68). Similarly, the amount of 2FL inversely correlated with Campylobacter diarrhea (89).

Bode et al demonstrated that the risk of HIV transmission in breastfeeding children of HIV infected mothers inversely correlates with HMO concentration (73). In another study the amount of LDFH-1 in breast milk inversely correlated with norovirus diarrhea (67). In addition to effects of HMOs on

S.
and measured outcomes
Ired
measu
and
HMOs ar
with
1 studies
Humar
2
TABLE 2

Title of study	Health-related effects	HMO used	Target group	Study setup	Outcome of effect HMO (Short)	Reference
Fucosyltransferase 2 non-secretor and low secretor status predicts severe outcornes in premature infants.	Mortality, necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), sepsis	Breastmilk	Infants ($n = 410$)	Observational study	Mortality, NEC and gram - sepsis increased in infants receiving low secretoe status breast milk	(66)
Human milk oligosaccharides are associated with protection against diarrhea in breast-fed infants.	Diarrhea	Breastmilk	Infants ($n = 93$)	Observational study	(1) High levels of 2-FL in breastmilk protective against Campylobacter diarrhea (2) High levels of lacto-N-diftocohexaose (LDFH-I), also a 2-linked fucosyloligosaccharide, protective against calicivirus diarrhea	(67)
Innate protection conferred by fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk against cliarrhea in breastfed infants	Diarrhea	Breastmilk	Infants ($n = 93$)	Observational study	Breast milk with higher 2-linked to non-2-linked fucosyloligosaccharide ratios affords greater protection against infant diarrhea	(68)
Early consumption of human milk oligosaccharides is inversely related to subsequent risk of respiratory and enteric disease in infants.	Diarrhea and respiratory infection	Breastmilk	Infants ($n = 49$)	Observational pilot study	LNF-II levels in breast milk and in infant feces at 2 weeks of age (as representative of total HMO) associated with fewer infant respiratory problems and gastropintestinal problems by week 6 and week 12	(69)
FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5 years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk	Eczema	Breastmilk	Infants at risk for allergy $(n = 266)$	Observational study (in placebo arm of controlled study)	At 2 years, but not at 5 years, FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides associated with lower IgE-associated eczema manifestations. Only in C-section-born infants with high allergy risk	(02)
Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants	CMA	Breastmilk	Infants with $(n = 35)$ and children without CMA $(n = 39)$	Observational study	Infants receiving breast milk with low LNFP III levels more likely to become affected with CMA than infants receiving higher levels of LNFP III	(6)
Effects of infant formula with human milk oligosaccharides on growth and morbidity: A randomized multicenter trial	Respiratory infection (bronccitis) and antibiotic use	Formula containing 2/fucosyllactose (2/FL) + lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT)	Infants receiving cow's milk-based infant formula (n = 87) vs. the same formula with 2'FL and LNnT (n = 88)	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind trial	Infant formula supplemented with 2/FL and LNnT associated with lower parent-reported morbidity (particularly bronchitis) and medication use (antipyretics and antibiotics)	(71)
Infants fed a lower calorie formula with 2'-fucosyllactose (2'FL) Show Growth and 2'FL Uptake Like Breast-Fed Infants	Growth	Formula supplemented with 2-Fucosyllactose (2'FL) and galactooligosaccharides (GOS)	Infants exclusively formula-fed in 3 groups: (1; $n = 101$ control formula GOS 2; $n = 104$ formula high GOS and low 2/FL 3; n = 109 medium GOS and medium 2/FL) or breastfed ($n = 106$) from enrollment to 4 mo of age	A prospective, randomized, controlled, multicenter growth and tolerance study	Growth and 2'FL uptake similar to breast milk	(18)

(Continued)

Frontiers in Pediatrics | www.frontiersin.org

Title of study	Health-related effects	HMO used	Target group	Study setup	Outcome of effect HMO (Short)	Reference
Similar to those who are breastfed, infants fed a formula containing 2'-fucosyllactose have lower inflammatory cytokines in a randomized controlled trial	Immune parameters	Formula supplemented with 2-FL and GOS	Infants exclusively formula-fed in 3 groups: (1; $n = 75$ control formula GOS 2; $n = 76$ formula high GOS and low 2'FL 3; $n = 78$ medium GOS and medium 2'FL) or breastfed ($n = 86$) from enrollment to 4 mo of age	Observational substudy nested within a randomized, double-blind, controlled study	Infants fed formula supplemented with 2'-FL exhibit lower plasma and ex vivo inflammatory cytokine profiles, similar to those of a breastfed reference group	(72)
Human milk oligosaccharide concentration and risk of postnatal transmission of HIV through breastfeeding.	HIV transmission	Breastmilk	Breast milk of HIV-infected women who did not transmit HIV despite breastfeeding ($n = 86$), and uninfected women ($n = 36$)	Nested case-control study was conducted within a larger cohort study	(1) Higher concentrations of non-3'-SL HMOs were associated with protection against postnatal HIV transmission (2) A trend toward higher concentrations of lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) being associated with reduced transmission	(73)
Human milk oligosaccharides differ between hiv-infected and hiv-uninfected mothers and are related to necrotizing enterocolitis incidence in their preterm very-low-birth-weight infants	NEC, HIV infection	Breastmilk (secretor/nonsecretor)	HIV infected mothers ($n = 41$ of which 22 secretor, 19 non-secretor) and non-infected mothers ($n = 41$ of which 20 secretor, 21 non-secretor)	Substudy of a larger clinical trial on HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected mothers and their preterm infants	(1) HIV-infected mothers have higher relative abundances of 3'-SL in breastmilk (2) Low concentrations of DSLNT in brestmilk increased infant's risk of NEC	(74)
Growth and Morbidity of Gambian Infants are Influenced by Maternal Milk Oligosaccharides and Infant Gut Microbiota.	Morbidity	Breastmilk	Mother/infant pairs (<i>n</i> = 33, of which 21 secretors and 22 non-secretors)	Sub-study embedded within a randomized trial	(1) Higher breast milk levels of lacto-N-fucopentaose I (secretor) associated with decreased infant morbidity (2) Higher breast milk levels of LNT (non-secretor) associated with higher infant morbidity 3) Breast milk levels of 3'-sialyllactose indicator of infant weicht-for-age	(2)
Oligosaccharide composition of breast milk influences survival of uninfected children born to hiv-infected mothers in Lusaka, Zambia	HIV infection, mortality	Breastmilk	HIV-infected children ($n = 103$) and HIV exposed uninfected children ($n = 143$).	Nested case-cohort study	High levels of fucosylated HMOs in breastmilk of mothers of HEU children protective against mortality	(75)
The impact of breastfeeding on nasopharyngeal microbial communities in infants.	Respiratory infection	Breastmilk	Infants receiving exclusive breastfeeding ($n = 101$) vs. and exclusive formula feeding ($n = 101$)	Case-cohort analysis	(1) Association between breastfeeding and microbial community composition in the upper respiratory tract (2) Possible link to protective effect of breastfeeding on respiratory infections and wheezing in early infancy	(76)

intestinal infections, HMOs have been linked to other infections such as infections of the urogenital tract (8, 90), and airway infection (69, 91, 92).

Such results were expanded lately with measuring inflammatory cytokines in systemic circulation if infants receiving infant formula supplemented with 2'-FL (72).

Much more is known about the direct effects of HMOs on pathogens, on adhesion and infection in *in vitro* models, and in animal models.

EFFECTS OF HMOS ON IMMUNE FUNCTION AND INFECTION IN *IN VITRO* AND ANIMAL STUDIES

Effects on Bacterial Adhesion and Infection

HMOs have been shown to prevent adhesion of several potential pathogens to epithelial surfaces in the intestine and other organs by acting as decoy receptors for bacterial pathogens like Campylobacter or *E. coli* (86, 93–95).

Several recent manuscripts report specific effects of isolated HMOs. For example, Weichert et al. showed that 2'FL, and to a lesser extent 3FL, reduce the adhesion of Campylobacter, EPEC, Salmonella and Pseudomonas, although the inhibitory effects were very small (96). Sialylated oligosaccharides were shown to reduce adhesion of EPEC (97, 98). In addition to reducing the adhesion of entire bacteria, HMOs may also compete with binding of bacterial toxins and mitigate their diarrheal activity (99, 100).

However, not always is the beneficial effect of HMOs to bacterial infection arising from preventing association or invasion of the pathogen. For example, HMOs can alter gene expression in intestinal cells that can block infection of Listeria monocytogenes (101), or have a direct effect on the growth of pathogens as was shown for neutral HMOs and especially LNT and LNFP I against group B Streptococcus (102). Similarly, HMOs were shown to modulate hyphal induction in Candida albicans, which is necessary for invasion of the intestinal epithelium (103). Another mechanism could be attenuation of pathogenic virulence through metabolites from fermentation of HMOs from the intestinal microflora. That seems to be at least partially the case for Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella typhimurium (104). When bifidobacteria of human and bovine origin were grown on medium containing 3'-SL, they could produce metabolites that could block expression of virulence genes in both pathogens. In addition, HMOs may have an indirect effect on bacterial infection by reducing epithelial inflammatory responses as it has been shown for 2'-FL and Campylobacter-induced inflammation (105).

While 2'-FL protected against adherent-invasive *E. coli*induced pathology in mice (106), it failed to improve *E. coli*induced diarrhea in piglets (107). These contradicting results could be explained by the difference in model, virulence of different *E. coli* strains, dosage and timing of administration of pathogens and HMOs, etc.

Effects on Intestinal Viruses

Shang et al. demonstrated that different HMOs can bind to norovirus (LNFPII and 2'FL) and Norwalk virus (LNFP I and LNDFHI), indicating that several potential Noro- and Norwalk virus-binding glycans are present in HMOs that can play a role in viral infection (108). Notably, they also showed that LNFP III-HSA and 2'-FL-BSA – but not heir monovalent forms (LNFP III-Gly and 2'-FL-Gly) bound to VA287 capsids. This suggests that polyvalent oligosaccharides on a carrier protein may be more potent in anti-adhesion effects than their monovalent sugars themselves. However, recently it was also shown that 2'-FL can block both the GI.1 and GII.17 noroviruses from binding to HBGAs (109).

In addition to effects on gut bacteria, HMOs can also have effects on viral pathogens as rotavirus, norovirus, and HIV [reviewed in (85)].

In Rotavirus infected piglets, HMO-supplemented piglets had a shorter duration of diarrhea compared to the control Group (110, 111). There have been several HMO structures identified that bind the glycan rotaviral receptor VP8*. The sialic acid containing HMOs inhibited rotavirus infection *in vitro*, but *in vivo* both neutral HMOs and sialic acid containing HMOs decreased replication during acute RV infection *in situ*. These data are confirmed by recent *in vitro* findings where 2'-FL, 3'-SL, and 6'-SL could block infectivity of human rotaviral strains in cells (7). Apparently simple HMO structures can act as decoy receptors for viruses. However, since there are differences in the infectious mechanism of porcine and human rotaviral strains extrapolation from porcine to human models can be treacherous and more research is needed to clarify the role of HMOs in rotaviral infections.

Effects on Respiratory Viruses

In addition to effects on intestinal pathogens, HMOs have been suggested to also play a role in infections from respiratory viruses. For example, 2'FL was shown to decrease RSV viral load, whereas LNnT and 6'SL decreased influenza viral load. Also effects were observed on innate cytokines in response to both viruses (92) suggesting an effect of HMOs on respiratory virus infection. This is supported by an early study by Stepans-Flanders on the fact that HMO consumption is inversely linked to respiratory infection (69). In this study higher LNFPII levels in breastmilk correlated with decreased respiratory and gastrointestinal infections in early infancy.

Immobilized 3'SL and 6'SL haven been shown to prevent infectivity of influenza viruses as a result of blocking the haemagglutins of influenza viruses (112, 113), and Yu et al. identified a number of additional sialic acid containing HMOs that bind to influenza virus (114). The effects of these HMOs was confirmed in a functional infection assay *in vitro*, where 6'SL and LNnT were shown to reduce the viral load of influenza in airway epithelial cells, and 2'FL did the same for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) (92). In one recent *in vivo* study 2'FL enhanced responses to vaccination in mice (115). The mechanism was postulated to involve also a direct effect of 2'FL on dendritic cells as shown *in vitro*. However, concentrations used in their experiments were more than 1000-fold higher than what has been described to be found in circulation (20), warranting further clarification and research on the mechanism of action and relevance to human breast-fed infants.

Enterocolitis

In relation to necrotizing enterocolitis, Jantscher-Krenn et al. noted in a rat model that disialylated LNT (DSLNT) increased survival rates and improved pathology scores (116), while low amounts of DSLNT in mother's milk could be a predicting risk factor for the development of NEC in premature infants (117) corroborating the previous findings. More HMOs could have a beneficial effect in NEC as it was shown also in a rat study where 2'-FL ameliorated the pathology of NEC, however there was no association between 2'FL and NEC risk in the corresponding human cohort (115). Similar observations were made for rats fed sialvlated galacto-oligosaccharides (Sia-GOS) (118). Studies in mice have also shown a beneficial effect of 2'-FL in an induced NEC model (119). However such effect could not be seen in a piglet model where piglets born with caesarian section were fed control formula or formula supplemented with 2'-FL and were let to develop NEC spontaneously (120). Differences between induction vs. natural progression to NEC or species differences could account for such outcomes. In infants another study showed that the secretor or non-secretor genotype of mothers of infants that were breastfed correlated with enterocolitis (low secretor) and sepsis (non-secretor) (66).

Effects of HMOs on Intestinal Epithelium

In another study immunomodulation by 2'FL *in vivo* was shown to be dependent on the downregulation of CD14 on intestinal epithelial cells (106). As CD14 is a co-receptor for LPS and is involved in TLR-4 signaling, this may lead to decreased inflammatory responses in the intestine after exposure to LPS.

In a recent study by He et al. the effect of colostrum oligosaccharides on gene expression in fetal immature intestinal mucosa was tested (121). They identified several immune related pathways were induced by HMOs, such as Immune cell communication, homeostasis, and intestinal immune differentiation. HMOs could reduce the response to TLR stimuli, and induced cytokines that are involved in tissue repair. 3', 4', and 6' galatosyllactoses were the most potent oligosaccharides.

Sialyllactose has been described to be able to promote the differentiation and growth of human intestinal epithelial cells as measured by upregulation of expression of alkaline phosphatase (122). Alkaline phosphatase is a molecule that is important in maintaining gut barrier function, possibly through the inactivation of LPS, by cleaving of a phosphate group from LPS. This suggests that on the one hand epithelial cells may yet have a receptor that recognizes Sialyllactose, and that Sialyllactose may be beneficial for promoting a good epithelial barrier in the gut.

In addition, two recent papers suggest that SL or goat milk oligosaccharides containing SL may have an effect on epithelial cells via activating through TLR4 (43, 123).

In contrast, another paper showed that 3'SL had antiinflammatory activity by reducing the expression of IL-12 and IL-8 in Caco-2 cells, mediated via NFkB, and stimulates the antiinflammatory nuclear receptor PPARg (124). Especially neutral HMOs have been shown to have an anti-inflammatory effects on the intestinal epithelium in *in vitro* inflammatory models (106, 121).

Lane compared effects of HMOs and BMOs on gene expression in HT-29 cells, noting that "both treatments including a response to stimulus, signaling, locomotion, and multicellular, developmental and immune system processes" (125).

Combined, these studies suggests that milk oligosaccharides contribute to the development and maturation of the intestinal immune response.

Effects of HMOs on Immune Function

Acidic HMOs (but not acidic cow's milk oligosaccharides) were shown to induce IFN-g and IL-10 in human cord blood T cells, and could decrease IL-4 production in allergen-specific T cells (126). These data suggest that acidic HMOs may downregulate Th2 responses in infants as well.

Such results were expanded lately with measuring inflammatory cytokines in systemic circulation if infants receiving infant formula supplemented with 2'-FL (72). In this study, supplementation of 2'-FL alone could lower levels of TNF α , IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 resembling those found in breast fed infants. In early studies LNFP III and LNnT were shown to have immunosuppressive effects (127, 128), and LNFPIII can induce IL-10 in macrophages (129, 130). Unexpectedly, a link with helminth infections exists. It is now known that upon infection with helminths confers a protective effect on allergy development (131, 132). Schistosoma eggs, but not the helminth itself, induce potent IL-10 responses that inhibit Th2 responses (133, 134). These effects are at least in part mediated by the oligosaccharides LNFPIII GalNAcβ1-4(Fucα1-2Fucα1-3) GlcNAc (LDN-DF) and Lewis-X that is present in the egg shells. These oligosaccharides are also found in breast milk, suggesting a functional anti-allergic/anti-inflammatory role of these HMOs. Likewise, Comstock et al. demonstrated a similar effect of HMOs in vivo in piglets, where HMOs induced IL-10 levels and inhibited T cell proliferation (135). The same was noted by Hester et al that showed enhanced T helper type 1 (interferon-gamma) and anti-inflammatory (interleukin-10) cytokines in the ileum in response to HMO supplementation of piglets in a rotavirus infection model (110).

Interestingly, LNFPIII and Lewis X glycoconjugates can also inhibit TLR signaling in innate immune cells through possible involvement of c-type lectins (132). LNFPIII is a very well-studied HMO that has been linked to many different effects including hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance (136), autoimmunity (137), and transplantation (138). Especially in the case of insulin resistance and autoimmunity, HMOs have been shown to elicit a protective effect in a murine model of Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) (139). The paper shows that supplementation of HMOs can alter microbiota composition and SCFA production in a NOD-mouse model that can prevent spontaneous progression to diabetes. The protective effect of SCFA-producing diets on T1D has been documented beforehand (140, 141). On the other hand, by increasing barrier integrity HMOs may also reduce gut permeability, which has been argued to contribute to the onset of T1D (142).

Indirect Effects of HMOs on Intestinal Epithelium and Immune Function via SCFA

Another important role of HMOs is establishing and maintaining the intestinal microbiota. Breastfed infants have higher numbers of beneficial bifidobacteria and lactobaccilli than bottle fed infants. This is the result of preferential fermentation of HMOs by the microbiota by bifidobacterial and lactobacilli (143–145). Upon fermentation of HMOs these bacteria produce, in addition to lactic acid, the short chain fatty acids (SCFA) butyrate, actetate, and propionate. These SCFA improve intestinal barrier function (146) lower the pH in the colon, and have well established anti-inflammatory properties (147).

The notion that composition and metabolic activity of the intestinal microbiota affects the development of allergies has become clearer over the last years (148–151). Exactly how the microbiota composition influences allergy development is not clear at this point, but data from animal models strongly suggest a protective role for SCFA (152–155). A similar role was shown for the SCFA receptors GPR43 in asthma, arthritis, and colitis models (156), and for GPR41 in allergic airway inflammation.

Taken together, these data suggests that HMOs may also have an indirect effect on allergy.

HMOs AND ALLERGY

Several, but not all, studies on the association between breastfeeding and allergy have shown effects on allergic outcomes (157–159). One of the factors that may explain the conflicting findings described above may be the result of differences in breastmilk composition (in relation to milk proteins) (160). None of these studies have correlated their findings with HMO composition.

However, two studies have done just this. In a cohort study of cow's milk allergy (CMA) (9) it was observed that the concentration of 6SL, DSLNT, LNFPI, and LNFPIII was lower in the breast milk of mothers having infants with CMA. After further corrections, only breast milk levels of LNFPIII associated reversely and significantly with development of CMA. In the same study it was observed that FUT2 status of mothers correlated with a delayed onset of CMA while CMA infants born to non-secretor mothers (FUT2 negative) were prone to acute CMA (IgE-mediated). FUT2 status seemed to play a role also in IgE-mediated eczema developed in infants born with C-section (70). In a study of 266 infants followed for 5 years, they observed that infants born to secretor mothers had lower incidence of IgEmediated eczema. That effect was evident at 2 years but not at 5 years of age though. 2'-FL (one of the main HMOs produced by secretor mothers) was shown to have a significant association with any allergic disease, acute or delayed in infants born with Csection in the same study. 2'-FL and 6'SL had also a beneficial



FIGURE 2 | Role of HMOs in developmental physiology of infants: Depending on the genetic background of the mother, HMO composition may differ. Depending on the HMO composition in breast milk, benefits of HMOs span a broad range from shaping the infant microbiome to preventing infections and having systemic effects in the infant after absorption in the intestine.

effect in a mouse model of OVA-induced allergy (161). Both HMOs could increase numbers of IL10 producing Treg cells and alleviate allergic symptoms but through different mechanisms.

CONCLUSIONS

HMOs contribute to the development of the microbiota and the immune system of newborn infants. The mechanisms by which HMOs contribute have become clearer over the past few years, and our current knowledge is summarized in **Figure 2**.

However, despite many *in vitro*- and animal experiments, HMOs have not been tested extensively in placebo controlled infant studies. It is clear that several HMOs will be introduced in the near future into infant nutrition to supplement or replace non-human prebiotics like galactooligosaccharides and/or fructooligosaccharides. Prebiotics have been added to infant nutrition in the early 2000's as non-digestible oligosaccharides in an attempt to mimic some of the function of HMOs. With these prebiotics a large number of studies have shown effects on intestinal infection, respiratory infection and allergy (162–167). As the selection of prebiotics is based on functional similarities with HMOs, and extrapolating from *in vitro* and animal experiments with HMOs, it is to be expected

REFERENCES

- Gura T. Nature's first functional food. Science (2014) 345:747–9. doi: 10.1126/science.345.6198.747
- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides : every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology* (2012) 22:1147–62. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws074
- Ninonuevo MR, Park Y, Yin H, Zhang J, Ward RE, Clowers BH, et al. A strategy for annotating the human milk glycome. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2006) 54:7471–80. doi: 10.1021/jf0615810
- Rudloff S, Pohlentz G, Borsch C, Lentze MJ, Kunz C. Urinary excretion of *in vivo* 13C-labelled milk oligosaccharides in breastfed infants. *Br J Nutr.* (2012) 107:957–63. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511004016
- Davis EC, Wang M, Donovan SM. The role of early life nutrition in the establishment of gastrointestinal microbial composition and function. *Gut Microbes* (2017) 8:143–71. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1278104
- Newburg DS, Ko JS, Leone S, Nanthakumar NN. Human milk oligosaccharides and synthetic galactosyloligosaccharides contain 3'-, 4-, and 6'-galactosyllactose and attenuate inflammation in human T84, NCM-460, and H4 cells and intestinal tissue *ex vivo*. J Nutr. (2016) 146:358–67. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.220749
- Laucirica DR, Triantis V, Schoemaker R, Estes MK, Ramani S. Milk oligosaccharides inhibit human rotavirus infectivity in MA104 cells. *J Nutr.* (2017) 147:1709–14. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.246090
- Lin AE, Autran CA, Espanola SD, Bode L, Nizet V. Human milk oligosaccharides protect bladder epithelial cells against uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* invasion and cytotoxicity. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209:389–98. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit464
- Seppo AE, Autran CA, Bode L, Järvinen KM. Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:708–11.doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.031
- Oliveros E, Ramirez M, Vazquez E, Barranco A, Gruart A, Delgado-Garcia JM, et al. Oral Supplementation of 2'-fucosyllactose during lactation improves memory and learning in rats. J Nutr Biochem. (2016) 31:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.12.014
- 11. Engfer MB, Stahl B, Finke B, Sawatzki G, Daniel H. Human milk oligosaccharides are resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis in the

that inclusion of HMOs to infant formula will have additional benefits to infant health, and may supplement the functionality of the prebiotics that are already used. Still more research is needed to clarify whether HMOs may also have a therapeutic rather than a protective effect in human immune disorders. Our emerging evidence for the beneficial effects of HMOs once again provide a powerful rationale to encourage women to breastfeed their infants to provide the full scope of benefits that stem from a diverse composition of HMOs that is provided through mother's milk and could potentially be personalized to match the genetic context and environmental exposures of the mother-infant dyad.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank D. Delsing for critically reviewing the manuscript and I. van Neerven for help with **Figure 2**.

upper gastrointestinal tract. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:1589–96. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.6.1589

- Gnoth MJ, Rudloff S, Kunz C, Kinne RK. Investigations of the *in vitro* transport of human milk oligosaccharides by a Caco-2 monolayer using a novel high performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry technique. *J Biol Chem.* (2001) 276:34363–70. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104805200
- Dotz V, Rudloff S, Meyer C, Lochnit G, Kunz C. Metabolic fate of neutral human milk oligosaccharides in exclusively breast-fed infants. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2015) 59:355–64. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201400160
- Albrecht S, Schols H A., Van Den Heuvel EGHM, Voragen AGJ, Gruppen H. Occurrence of oligosaccharides in feces of breast-fed babies in their first six months of life and the corresponding breast milk. *Carbohydr Res.* (2011) 346:2540–50. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2011.08.009
- Albrecht S, Schols H A, van Zoeren D, van Lingen R A, Groot Jebbink LJM, van den Heuvel EGHM, et al. Oligosaccharides in feces of breast- and formula-fed babies. *Carbohydr Res.* (2011) 346:2173–81. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2011.06.034
- Rudloff S, Pohlentz G, Diekmann L, Egge H, Kunz C. Urinary excretion of lactose and oligosaccharides in preterm infants fed human milk or infant formula. *Acta Paediatr.* (1996) 85:598–03. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1996.tb14095.x
- Rudloff S, Kunz C. Milk oligosaccharides and metabolism in infants. Adv Nutr. (2012) 3:3988–05S. doi: 10.3945/an.111.001594
- Marriage BJ, Buck RH, Goehring KC, Oliver JS, Williams JA. Infants fed a lower calorie formula with 2'FL show growth and 2'FL uptake like breast-fed infants. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol.* (2015) 61:649–58. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000889
- Ruhaak LR, Stroble C, Underwood MA, Lebrilla CB. Detection of milk oligosaccharides in plasma of infants. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* (2014) 406:5775– 84. doi: 10.1007/s00216-014-8025-z
- Goehring KC, Kennedy AD, Prieto PA, Buck RH. Direct evidence for the presence of human milk oligosaccharides in the circulation of breastfed infants. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e101692. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101692
- Radzanowski G, Garrett P, Li X, Anita M. Short-chain milk oligosaccharide levels in human milk and infant plasma. *FASEB J.* (2013) 27:Abstract 629.16

- 22. Vazquez E, Santos-Fandila A, Buck R, Rueda R, Ramirez M. Major human milk oligosaccharides are absorbed into the systemic circulation after oral administration in rats. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 117:237–47. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516004554
- Hirabayashi J, Hashidate T, Arata Y, Nishi N, Nakamura T, Hirashima M, et al. Oligosaccharide specificity of galectins: a search by frontal affinity chromatography. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2002) 1572:232–254. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4165(02)00311-2
- Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y, Poirier F. Introduction to galectins. *Glycoconj J* (2002) 19:433–40. doi: 10.1023/B:GLYC.0000014072.34840.04
- Rapoport EM, Kurmyshkina OV, Bovin NV. Mammalian galectins: structure, carbohydrate specificity, and functions. *Biochemistry* (2008) 73:393–05. doi: 10.1134/S0006297908040032
- Shams-ud-doha K, Kitova EN, Kitov PI, St-pierre Y, Klassen JS. Human milk oligosaccharide specificities of human galectins. comparison of electrospray ionization mass spectrometry and glycan microarray screening results. *Anal Chem.* (2017) 89:4914–21. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.6b05169
- Prudden AR, Liu L, Capicciotti CJ, Wolfert MA, Wang S, Gao Z, et al. Synthesis of asymmetrical multiantennary human milk oligosaccharides. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017). 114:6954–59. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1701785114
- El-Hawiet A, Chen Y, Shams-Ud-Doha K, Kitova E, Kitov P, Bode L, et al. Screening natural libraries of human milk oligosaccharides against lectins using CaR-ESI-MS. *Analyst* (2018) 143:536–48. doi: 10.1039/C7AN01397C
- El-Hawiet A, Chen Y, Shams-Ud-Doha K, Kitova EN, St-Pierre Y, Klassen JS. High-throughput label- and immobilization-free screening of human milk oligosaccharides against lectins. *Anal Chem.* (2017) 89:8713–22. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.7b00542
- Koliwer-Brandl H, Siegert N, Umnus K, Kelm A, Tolkach A, Kulozik U, et al. Lectin inhibition assay for the analysis of bioactive milk sialo glycoconjugates. *Int Dairy J.* (2011) 21:413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2011.01.005
- Bhunia A, Jayalakshmi V, Benie AJ, Schuster O, Kelm SÃ, Krishna NR, et al. Saturation transfer difference NMR and computational modeling of a sialoadhesin-sialyl lactose complex. *Carbohydr Res.* (2004) 339:259–67. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2003.09.021
- 32. Li N, Zhang W, Wan T, Zhang J, Chen T, Yu Y, et al. Cloning and Characterization of Siglec-10, a novel sialic acid binding member of the ig superfamily, from human dendritic cells *. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:28106– 12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100467200
- Alphey MS, Attrill H, Crocker PR, van Aalten DMF. High resolution crystal structures of Siglec-7. Insights into ligand specificity in the Siglec family. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:3372–77. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M210602200
- Noll AJ, Yu Y, Lasanajak Y, Duska-McEwen G, Buck RH, Smith DF, et al. Human DC-SIGN binds specific human milk glycans. *Biochem J.* (2016) 473:1343–53. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160046
- Chichlowski M, German JB, Lebrilla CB, Mills D A. The influence of milk oligosaccharides on microbiota of infants: opportunities for formulas. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol.* (2011) 2:331–51. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-022510-133743
- Varki A. Selectin ligands: will the real ones please stand up? J Clin Invest. (1997) 100:S31–5. doi: 10.1172/JCI119142
- Rudloff S, Stefan C, Pohlentz G, Kunz C. Detection of ligands for selectins in the oligosaccharide fraction of human milk. *Eur J Nutr.* (2002) 41:85–92. doi: 10.1007/s003940200012
- Bode L, Rudloff S, Kunz C, Strobel S, Klein N. Human milk oligosaccharides reduce platelet-neutrophil complex formation leading to a decrease in neutrophil beta 2 integrin expression. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2004) 76:820–6. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0304198
- Bode L, Kunz C, Muhly-Reinholz M, Mayer K, Seeger W, Rudloff S. Inhibition of monocyte, lymphocyte, and neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells by human milk oligosaccharides. *Thromb Haemost.* (2004) 92:1402–10. doi: 10.1160/TH04-01-0055
- Schumacher G, Bendas G, Stahl B, Beermann C. Human milk oligosaccharides affect P-selectin binding capacities: *in vitro* investigation. *Nutrition* (2006) 22:620–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2005.12.009

- van Kooyk Y, Rabinovich GA. Protein-glycan interactions in the control of innate and adaptive immune responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:593–601. doi: 10.1038/ni.f.203
- Naarding MA, Ludwig IS, Groot F, Berkhout B, Geijtenbeek TBH, Pollakis G, Paxton WA. Lewis X component in human milk binds DC-SIGN and inhibits HIV-1 transfer to CD4 + T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3256–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI25105
- Kurakevich E, Hennet T, Hausmann M, Rogler G, Borsig L. Milk oligosaccharide sialyl(α)lactose activates intestinal CD11c+ cells through TLR4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:17444–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1306322110
- 44. Thomas PG, Carter MR, Atochina O, 'Dara AA, Piskorska D, McGuire E, Harn DA. Maturation of dendritic cell 2 phenotype by a helminth glycan uses a Toll-like receptor 4-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:5837– 41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5837
- Perdijk O, van Neerven RJJ, Meijer B, Savelkoul HFJ, Brugman S. Induction of human tolerogenic dendritic cells by 3'-sialyllactose via TLR4 is explained by LPS contamination. *Glycobiology* (2018) 28:126–30. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwx106
- Rabinovich, GA. and Toscano, MA. Turning sweet on immunity : galectin glycan interactions in immune tolerance and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:338–52. doi: 10.1038/nri2536
- Delacour D, Koch A, Ackermann W, Eude-Le Parco I, Elsasser H-P, Poirier F, et al. Loss of galectin-3 impairs membrane polarisation of mouse enterocytes *in vivo. J Cell Sci.* (2008) 121:458–65. doi: 10.1242/jcs.020800
- Huflejt ME, Jordan ET, Gitt MA, Barondes SH, Leffler H. Strikingly different localization of galectin-3 and galectin-4 in human colon adenocarcinoma T84 cells. Galectin-4 is localized at sites of cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem.* (1997) 272:14294–303. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.22.14294
- Wasano K, Hirakawa Y. Recombinant galectin-1 recognizes mucin and epithelial cell surface glycocalyces of gastrointestinal tract. J Histochem Cytochem. (1997) 45:275–83. doi: 10.1177/00221554970 4500212
- Lahm H, Andre S, Hoeflich A, Fischer JR, Sordat B, Kaltner H, et al. Comprehensive galectin fingerprinting in a panel of 61 human tumor cell lines by RT-PCR and its implications for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2001) 127:375–86. doi: 10.1007/s004320000207
- Lippert E, Falk W, Bataille F, Kaehne T, Naumann M, Goeke M, et al. Soluble galectin-3 is a strong, colonic epithelial-cell-derived, lamina propria fibroblast-stimulating factor. *Gut* (2007) 56:43–51. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.081646
- Nio-Kobayashi J, Takahashi-Iwanaga H, Iwanaga T. Immunohistochemical localization of six galectin subtypes in the mouse digestive tract. J Histochem Cytochem. (2009) 57:41–50. doi: 10.1369/jhc.2008.952317
- Crocker PR, Paulson JC, Varki A. Siglecs and their roles in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2007) 7:255–66. doi: 10.1038/nri2056
- Reilly MKO, Paulson JC, O'Reilly MK. Siglecs as targets for therapy in immune-cell-mediated disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2009) 30:240–48. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2009.02.005
- Osborn L. Leukocyte adhesion to endothelium in inflammation. *Cell* (1990) 62:3–6. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90230-C
- Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* (1994) 76:301–14. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90337-9
- Lasky LA. Selectin-carbohydrate interactions and the initiation of the inflammatory response. *Annu Rev Biochem.* (1995) 64:113–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.64.070195.000553
- McEver RP. Role of selectins in leukocyte adhesion to platelets and endothelium. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1994) 714:185–89. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb12043.x
- Schwertmann A, Rudloff S, Kunz C. Potential ligands for cell adhesion molecules in human milk. Ann Nutr Metab. (1996) 40:252–62. doi: 10.1159/000177965
- Geijtenbeek TBH, Gringhuis SI. Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:465–79. doi: 10.1038/nri2569

- Cohen-Kedar S, Baram L, Elad H, Brazowski E, Guzner-Gur H, Dotan I. Human intestinal epithelial cells respond to beta-glucans via Dectin-1 and Syk. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:3729–40. doi: 10.1002/eji. 201444876
- Volman JJ, Mensink RP, Buurman WA, Onning G, Plat J. The absence of functional dectin-1 on enterocytes may serve to prevent intestinal damage. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2010) 22:88–94. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e32832a20dc
- Rochereau N, Drocourt D, Perouzel E, Pavot V, Redelinghuys P, Brown GD, et al. Dectin-1 is essential for reverse transcytosis of glycosylated SIgAantigen complexes by intestinal M cells. *PLoS Biol.* (2013) 11:e1001658. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001658
- Quintin J, Saeed S, Martens JHA, Giamarellos-bourboulis EJ, Ifrim DC, Logie C, et al. *Candida albicans* infection affords protection against reinfection via functional reprogramming of monocytes. (2012) 12:223–32. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.06.006
- Quintin J, Cheng S-C, van der Meer JW, Netea MG. Innate immune memory: towards a better understanding of host defense mechanisms. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2014) 29C:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.02.006
- Morrow AL, Meinzen-Derr J, Huang P, Schibler KR, Cahill T, Keddache M, et al. Fucosyltransferase 2 non-secretor and low secretor status predicts severe outcomes in premature infants. *J Pediatr.* (2011) 158:745–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.043
- Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Jiang X, Lourdes Guerrero M, Meinzen-Derr JK, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides are associated with protection against diarrhea in breast-fed infants. *J Pediatr.* (2004) 145:297– 303. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.04.054
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Chaturvedi P, Meinzen-Derr J, Guerrero M de L, et al. Innate protection conferred by fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk against diarrhea in breastfed infants. *Glycobiology* (2004) 14:253–63. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwh020
- Stepans MB, Wilhelm SL, Hertzog M, Rodehorst TK, Blaney S, Clemens B, et al. Early consumption of human milk oligosaccharides is inversely related to subsequent risk of respiratory and enteric disease in infants. *Breastfeed Med.* (2006) 1:207–15. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2006.1.207
- Sprenger N, Odenwald H, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E, Kunz C. FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5 years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk. (2017) 56:1293–301. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1180-6
- Puccio G, Alliet P, Cajozzo C, Janssens E, Corsello G, Sprenger N, et al. Effects of Infant formula with human milk oligosaccharides on growth and morbidity: a randomized multicenter trial. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2017) 64:624–31. doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000001520
- 72. Goehring KC, Marriage BJ, Oliver JS, Wilder JA, Barrett EG, Buck RH. Similar to those who are breastfed, infants fed a formula containing 2'-fucosyllactose have lower inflammatory cytokines in a randomized controlled trial. J Nutr. (2016) 146:2559–66.doi: 10.3945/jn.116.236919
- Bode L, Kuhn L, Kim HY, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Sinkala M, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide concentration and risk of postnatal transmission of HIV through breastfeeding. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:831–39. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.039503
- 74. Van Niekerk E, Autran CA, Nel DG, Kirsten GF, Blaauw R, Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides differ between HIV-infected and HIVuninfected mothers and are related to necrotizing enterocolitis incidence in their preterm very-low-birth-weight infants. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:1227–33. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.187799
- Kuhn L, Kim H-Y, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Kankasa C, Mwiya M, et al. Oligosaccharide composition of breast milk influences survival of uninfected children born to HIV-infected mothers in Lusaka, Zambia. J Nutr. (2015) 145:66–72. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.199794
- 76. Biesbroek G, Bosch AA, Wang X, Keijser BJ, Veenhoven RH, Sanders EA, et al. The impact of breastfeeding on nasopharyngeal microbial communities in infants. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2014) 190:298–308. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201401-0073OC
- Meli F, Puccio G, Cajozzo C, Ricottone GL, Pecquet S, Sprenger N, et al. Growth and safety evaluation of infant formulae containing oligosaccharides derived from bovine milk: a randomized, double-blind, noninferiority trial. *BMC Pediatr.* (2014) 14:306. doi: 10.1186/s12887-014-0306-3

- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: prebiotics and beyond. Nutr Rev. (2009) 67(Suppl. 2):S183–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00239.x
- Bode L, Jantscher-Krenn E. Structure-function relationships of human milk oligosaccharides. Adv Nutr. (2012) 3:383S–391S. doi: 10.3945/an.111.001404
- Smilowitz JT, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA, German JB, Freeman SL. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. (2014) 34:143–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105721
- Barile D, Rastall R A. Human milk and related oligosaccharides as prebiotics. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (2013) 24:214–9. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2013.01.008
- ten Bruggencate SJM, Bovee-Oudenhoven IMJ, Feitsma AL, van Hoffen E, Schoterman MHC. Functional role and mechanisms of sialyllactose and other sialylated milk oligosaccharides. *Nutr Rev.* (2014) 72:377–89. doi: 10.1111/nure.12106
- Jeurink PV, van Esch BC, Rijnierse A, Garssen J, Knippels LM. Mechanisms underlying immune effects of dietary oligosaccharides. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 98:572S-7S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.038596
- Peterson R, Cheah WY, Grinyer J, Packer N. Glycoconjugates in human milk: protecting infants from disease. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:1425–38. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt072
- Etzold S, Bode L. Glycan-dependent viral infection in infants and the role of human milk oligosaccharides. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2014) 7:101–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2014.06.005
- Newburg DS. Neonatal protection by an innate immune system of human milk consisting of oligosaccharides and glycans. *J Anim Sci.* (2009) 87:26–34. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1347
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Morrow AL. Human milk glycans protect infants against enteric pathogens. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2005) 25:37–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.25.050304.092553
- Kunz C, Kunz S, Rudloff S. Bioactivity of human milk oligosaccharides. In: Moreno FJ, Sanz ML, editors. *Food Oligosaccharides: Production, Analysis and Bioactivity.* Chichester; Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons Ltd (2014) p. 5–20.
- Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Jiang X, Guerrero ML, Meinzen-Derr JK, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide blood group epitopes and innate immune protection against campylobacter and calicivirus diarrhea in breastfed infants. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2004) 554:443–6. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-4242-8_61
- Martín-Sosa S, Martín M-J, Hueso P, MartĂ-n-sosa S, MartĂ-n M J, Martin-Sosa S, et al. The sialylated fraction of milk oligosaccharides is partially responsible for binding to enterotoxigenic and uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* human strains. J Nutr. (2002) 132:3067–72. doi: 10.1093/jn/131.10.3067
- Schijf MA, Kerperien J, Bastiaans J, Szklany K, Meerding J, Boon L, et al. Alterations in regulatory T cells induced by specific oligosaccharides improve vaccine responsiveness in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e75148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075148
- Duska-mcewen G, Senft AP, Ruetschilling TL, Barrett EG, Buck RH. Human milk oligosaccharides enhance innate immunity to respiratory syncytial virus and influenza *in vitro. Food Nutr Sci.* (2014) 5:1387–98. doi: 10.4236/fns.2014.514151
- Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Jiang X, Newburg DS. Symposium : innate immunity and human milk human-milk glycans that inhibit pathogen binding protect breast-feeding infants against infectious diarrhea 1, 2. J Nutr. (2005) 135:1304–07. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.5.1304
- 94. Coppa G V., Zampini L, Galeazzi T, Facinelli B, Ferrante L, Capretti R, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit the adhesion to Caco-2 cells of diarrheal pathogens: *Escherichia coli, Vibrio cholerae*, and *Salmonella fyris*. *Pediatr Res.* (2006) 59:377–82. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000200805.45593.17
- Hickey RM. The role of oligosaccharides from human milk and other sources in prevention of pathogen adhesion. *Int Dairy J.* (2012) 22:141–46. doi: 10.1016/j.idairyj.2011.09.012
- 96. Weichert S, Jennewein S, Hüfner E, Weiss C, Borkowski J, Putze J, et al. Bioengineered 2'-fucosyllactose and 3-fucosyllactose inhibit the adhesion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and enteric pathogens to human intestinal and respiratory cell lines. *Nutr Res.* (2013) 33:831–38. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2013.07.009
- Angeloni S, Ridet JL, Kusy N, Gao H, Crevoisier F, Guinchard S, et al. Glycoprofiling with micro-arrays of glycoconjugates and lectins. *Glycobiology* (2005) 15:31–41. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwh143

- Facinelli B, Marini E, Magi G, Zampini L, Santoro L, Catassi C, et al. Breast milk oligosaccharides : effects of 2 '-fucosyllactose and 6 '-sialyllactose on the adhesion of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella fyris* to Caco-2 cells. J Matern Neonatal Med. (2018) 21:1–3 doi: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1450864
- El-Hawiet A, Kitova EN, Klassen JS. Recognition of human milk oligosaccharides by bacterial exotoxins. *Glycobiology* (2015) 25:845–54. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwv025
- 100. Nguyen TT, Kim JW, Park JS, Hwang KH, Jang TS, Kim CH, et al. Identification of oligosaccharides in human milk bound onto the toxin a carbohydrate binding site of clostridium difficile. J Microbiol Biotechnol. (2016) 26:659–65. doi: 10.4014/jmb.1509.09034
- 101. Chen P, Reiter T, Huang B, Kong N, Weimer B. Prebiotic oligosaccharides potentiate host protective responses against *L. Monocytogenes* infection. *Pathogens* (2017) 6:E68. doi: 10.3390/pathogens6040068
- 102. Lin AE, Autran CA, Szyszka A, Escajadillo T, Huang M, Godula K, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit growth of group *B Streptococcus. J Biol Chem.* (2017) 292:11243–249. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.789974
- 103. Gonia S, Tuepker M, Heisel T, Autran C, Bode L, Gale CA. Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit *Candida albicans* invasion of human premature intestinal epithelial cells. *J Nutr.* (2015) 145:1992–8. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.214940
- 104. Bondue P, Crèvecoeur S, Brose F, Daube G, Seghaye MC, Griffiths MW, et al. Cell-free spent media obtained from *Bifidobacterium bifidum* and *Bifidobacterium crudilactis* grown in media supplemented with 3'-sialyllactose modulate virulence gene expression in *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 and *Salmonella Typhimurium. Front. Microbiol.* (2016). 7:1460. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01460
- 105. Yu Z-T, Nanthakumar NN, Newburg DS. The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose quenches *Campylobacter jejuni*-induced inflammation in human epithelial cells HEp-2 and HT-29 and in mouse intestinal mucosa. *J Nutr.* (2016) 146:1980–90. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.230706
- 106. He Y, Liu S, Kling DE, Leone S, Lawlor NT, Huang Y, et al. The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose modulates CD14 expression in human enterocytes, thereby attenuating LPS-induced inflammation. *Gut* (2016) 65:33–46. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307544
- 107. Cilieborg MS, Sangild PT, Jensen ML, Østergaard M V., Christensen L, Rasmussen SO, et al. α1,2-Fucosyllactose does not improve intestinal function or prevent *Escherichia coli* F18 diarrhea in newborn pigs. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2017) 64:310–18. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001276
- 108. Shang J, Piskarev VE, Xia M, Huang P, Jiang X, Likhosherstov LM, et al. Identifying human milk glycans that inhibit norovirus binding using surface plasmon resonance. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:1491–8. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt077
- Koromyslova A, Tripathi S, Morozov V, Schroten H, Hansman GS. Human norovirus inhibition by a human milk oligosaccharide. *Virology* (2017) 508:81–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2017.04.032
- 110. Hester SN, Chen X, Li M, Monaco MH, Comstock SS, Kuhlenschmidt TB et al. Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit rotavirus infectivity *in vitro* and in acutely infected piglets. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 110:1233–42. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513000391
- 111. Li M, Monaco MH, Wang M, Comstock SS, Kuhlenschmidt TB, Fahey Jr GC, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides shorten rotavirus-induced diarrhea and modulate piglet mucosal immunity and colonic microbiota. *ISME J.* (2014) 8:1609–20. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2014.10
- 112. Kwon SJ, Na DH, Kwak JH, Douaisi M, Zhang F, Park EJ, et al. Nanostructured glycan architecture is important in the inhibition of influenza A virus infection. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2017) 12:48–54. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2016.181
- 113. Zevgiti S, Zabala JG, Darji A, Dietrich U, Panou-Pomonis E, Sakarellos-Daitsiotis M. Sialic acid and sialyl-lactose glyco-conjugates: design, synthesis and binding assays to lectins and swine influenza H1N1 virus. *J Pept Sci.* (2012) 18:52–58. doi: 10.1002/psc.1415
- 114. Yu Y, Mishra S, Song X, Lasanajak Y, Bradley KC, Tappert MM, et al. Functional glycomic analysis of human milk glycans reveals the presence of virus receptors and embryonic stem cell biomarkers. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:44784–99. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.425819
- 115. Xiao L, Leusink-Muis T, Kettelarij N, van Ark I, Blijenberg B, Hesen NA, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose improves innate and

adaptive immunity in an influenza-specific murine vaccination model. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:452. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00452

- 116. Jantscher-Krenn E, Zherebtsov M, Nissan C, Goth K, Guner YS, Naidu N, et al. The human milk oligosaccharide disialyllacto-N-tetraose prevents necrotising enterocolitis in neonatal rats. *Gut* (2012) 61:1417–25. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301404
- 117. Autran CA, Kellman BP, Kim JH, Asztalos E, Blood AB, Spence ECH, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide composition predicts risk of necrotising enterocolitis in preterm infants. *Gut* (2018) 67:1064–70. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312819
- 118. Autran CA, Schoterman MHC, Jantscher-Krenn E, Kamerling JP, Bode L. Sialylated galacto-oligosaccharides and 2'-fucosyllactose reduce necrotising enterocolitis in neonatal rats. Br J Nutr. (2016) 116:294–9. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516002038
- 119. Good M, Sodhi CP, Yamaguchi Y, Jia H, Lu P, Fulton WB, et al. The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose attenuates the severity of experimental necrotising enterocolitis by enhancing mesenteric perfusion in the neonatal intestine. *Br J Nutr.* (2016) 116:1175–87. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516002944
- 120. Cilieborg MS, Bering SB, Ostergaard MV, Jensen ML, Krych L, Newburg DS, et al. Minimal short-term effect of dietary 2'-fucosyllactose on bacterial colonisation, intestinal function and necrotising enterocolitis in preterm pigs. *Br J Nutr.* (2016) 116:834–41. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516002646
- 121. He Y, Liu S, Leone S, Newburg DS. Human colostrum oligosaccharides modulate major immunologic pathways of immature human intestine. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1326–39. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.20
- 122. Kuntz S, Rudloff S, Kunz C. Oligosaccharides from human milk influence growth-related characteristics of intestinally transformed and non-transformed intestinal cells. Br J Nutr. (2008) 99:462–71. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507824068
- 123. Ortega-González M, Ocón B, Romero-Calvo I, Anzola A, Guadix E, Zarzuelo A, et al. Nondigestible oligosaccharides exert nonprebiotic effects on intestinal epithelial cells enhancing the immune response via activation of TLR4-NFκB. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2014) 58:384–93. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201300296
- 124. Zenhom, M. Hyder A, de Vrese M, Heller KJ, Roeder T, Schrezenmeir J. Prebiotic oligosaccharides reduce proinflammatory cytokines in intestinal caco-2 cells via activation of PPARg and peptidoglycan recognition protein. *J. Nutr.* (2011) 141:971–7. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.136176
- 125. Lane JA, O'Callaghan J, Carrington SD, Hickey RM. Transcriptional response of HT-29 intestinal epithelial cells to human and bovine milk oligosaccharides. Br J Nutr. (2013) 110:2127–37. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513001591
- 126. Eiwegger T, Stahl B, Haidl P, Schmitt J, Boehm GG, Dehlink E, et al. Prebiotic oligosaccharides: *in vitro* evidence for gastrointestinal epithelial transfer and immunomodulatory properties. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21:1179– 88. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2010.01062.x
- 127. Atochina O, Da'dara A, Walker M, Harn DA. The immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII initiates alternative activation of murine macrophages *in vivo*. *Immunology* (2008) 125:111–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008. 02826.x
- 128. Atochina O, Daly-Engel T, Piskorska D, McGuire E, Harn DA. A schistosome-expressed immunomodulatory glycoconjugate expands peritoneal Gr1(+) macrophages that suppress naive CD4(+) T cell proliferation via an IFN-gamma and nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. J Immunol. (2001) 167:4293–302. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4293
- Atochina O, Harn D. LNFPIII/LeX-stimulated macrophages activate natural killer cells via CD40-CD40L interaction. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (2005) 12:1041–49. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.12.9.1041-1049.2005
- Velupillai P, Harn DA. Oligosaccharide-specific induction of interleukin 10 production by B220+ cells from schistosome-infected mice: a mechanism for regulation of CD4+ T-cell subsets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1994) 91:18–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.1.18
- Yazdanbakhsh M, Kremsner PG, Van Ree R. Immunology: allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis. *Science* (2002) 296:490–4. DOI: 10.1126/science.296.5567.490
- Harn DA., McDonald J, Atochina O, Da'dara A. Modulation of host immune responses by helminth glycans. *Immunol Rev.* (2009) 230:247–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00799.x

- 133. Velupillai P, dos Reis EA, dos Reis MG, Harn DA. Lewis(x)-containing oligosaccharide attenuates schistosome egg antigen-induced immune depression in human schistosomiasis. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:225–32. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(99)00136-6
- 134. Van der Kleij D, Van Remoortere A, Schuitemaker JHN, Kapsenberg ML, Deelder AM, Tielens AGM, et al. Triggering of innate immune responses by schistosome egg glycolipids and their carbohydrate epitope GalNAc beta 1-4(Fuc alpha 1-2Fuc alpha 1-3)GlcNAc. J Infect Dis. (2002) 185:531–9. doi: 10.1086/338574
- 135. Comstock SS, Wang M, Hester SN, Li M, Donovan SM. Select human milk oligosaccharides directly modulate peripheral blood mononuclear cells isolated from 10-d-old pigs. Br J Nutr. (2014) 111:819–28. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513003267
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, et al. Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1665– 72. doi: 10.1038/nm.2962
- 137. Zhu B, Trikudanathan S, Zozulya A, Sandoval-Garcia C, Kennedy J, Atochina O, et al. Immune modulation by Lacto-N-fucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Immunol.* (2012) 142:351–61. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2011.12.006
- 138. Dutta P, Hullett DA, Roenneburg DA, Torrealba JR, Sollinger HW, Harn DA, et al. Lacto-N-fucopentaose III, a pentasaccharide, prolongs heart transplant survival. *Transplantation* (2010) 90:1071–78. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181f8f296
- 139. Xiao L, Land BV, Engen PA, Naqib A, Green SJ, Nato A et al. Human milk oligosaccharides protect against the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD-mice. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:3829. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22052-y
- Marino E, Richards JL, McLeod KH, Stanley D, Yap YA, Knight J, et al. Gut microbial metabolites limit the frequency of autoimmune T cells and protect against type 1 diabetes. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:552–62. doi: 10.1038/ni.3713
- 141. Xiao L, Van't Land B, van de Worp WRPH, Stahl B, Folkerts G, Garssen J. Early-life nutritional factors and mucosal immunity in the development of autoimmune diabetes. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1219. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01219
- 142. Vaarala O, Atkinson MA, Neu J. The "perfect storm" for type 1 diabetes: the complex interplay between intestinal microbiota, gut permeability, and mucosal immunity. *Diabetes* (2008) 57:2555–62. doi: 10.2337/db08-0331
- 143. Garrido D, Dallas DC, Mills DA. Consumption of human milk glycoconjugates by infant-associated bifidobacteria: mechanisms and implications. *Microbiology* (2013) 159:649–64. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.06 4113-0
- Yu ZT, Chen C, Newburg DS. Utilization of major fucosylated and sialylated human milk oligosaccharides by isolated human gut microbes. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23:1281–92. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt065
- 145. Matsuki T, Yahagi K, Mori H, Matsumoto H, Hara T, Tajima S, et al. A key genetic factor for fucosyllactose utilization affects infant gut microbiota development. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11939. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11939
- 146. Fukuda S, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, et al. Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature* (2011) 469:543–47. doi: 10.1038/nature09646
- Kim CH. Immune regulation by microbiome metabolites. *Immunology* (2018) 154:220–9. doi: 10.1111/imm.12930
- 148. Penders J, Thijs C, Piet A Van Den Brandt, Kummeling I, Snijders B, Stelma F, et al. Gut microbiota composition and development of atopic manifestations in infancy: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. *Gut* (2007) 56:661–67. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.100164
- 149. van Nimwegen FA, Penders J, Stobberingh EE, Postma DS, Koppelman GH, Kerkhof M, et al. Mode and place of delivery, gastrointestinal microbiota, and their influence on asthma and atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2011) 128:948–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.07.027
- Wopereis H, Oozeer R, Knipping K, Belzer C, Knol J. The first thousand days

 intestinal microbiology of early life: establishing a symbiosis. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2014) 25:428–38. doi: 10.1111/pai.12232
- 151. Johansson MA, Sjogren YM, Persson JO, Nilsson C, Sverremark-Ekstrom E. Early colonization with a group of lactobacilli decreases the risk for allergy at five years of age despite allergic heredity. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e23031. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023031

- 152. Thorburn AN, Mckenzie CI, Shen S, Stanley D, Macia L, Mason LJ, et al. Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8320
- 153. Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngombru C, et al. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:159–66. doi: 10.1038/nm.3444
- 154. Marsland BJ, Gollwitzer ES. Host-microorganism interactions in lung diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:827–35. doi: 10.1038/nri3769
- 155. Tan J, McKenzie C, Vuillermin PJ, Goverse G, Vinuesa CG, Mebius RE, et al. Dietary fiber and bacterial SCFA enhance oral tolerance and protect against food allergy through diverse cellular pathways. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 15:2809–24. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.047
- Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, et al. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. *Nature* (2010) 461:1282–86. doi: 10.1038/nature08530
- 157. Matheson MC, Allen KJ, Tang MLK. Understanding the evidence for and against the role of breastfeeding in allergy prevention. *Clin. Exp Allergy* (2012) 42:827–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2011.03925.x
- 158. Van Odijk JV, Kull I, Borres MP, Brandtzaeg P, Edberg U, Kuitunen M, et al. Breastfeeding and allergic disease : a multidisciplinary review of the literature (1966-2001) on the mode of early feeding in infancy and its impact on later atopic manifestations. *Allergy* (2003) 58:833–43. doi: 10.1034/j.1398-9995.2003.00264.x
- Lodge C, Tan D, Lau M, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe A, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:38–53. doi: 10.1111/apa.13132
- Munblit D, Boyle RJ, Warner JO. Factors affecting breast milk composition and potential consequences for development of the allergic phenotype. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 45:583–601. doi: 10.1111/cea.12381
- 161. Castillo-Courtade L, Han S, Lee S, Mian FM, Buck R, Forsythe P. Attenuation of food allergy symptoms following treatment with human milk oligosaccharides in a mouse model. *Allergy* (2015) 70:1091–102. doi: 10.1111/all.12650
- Eigenmann PA. Evidence of preventive effect of probiotics and prebiotics for infantile eczema. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 13:426–31. doi: 10.1097/ACI.0b013e3283630bad
- 163. Bruzzese E, Volpicelli M, Squeglia V, Bruzzese D, Salvini F, Bisceglia M, et al. A formula containing galacto- and fructo-oligosaccharides prevents intestinal and extra-intestinal infections: an observational study. *Clin Nutr.* (2009) 28:156–61. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2009.01.008
- 164. Bruzzese E, Volpicelli M, Squaglia M, Tartaglione A., Guarino A. Impact of prebiotics on human health. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2006) 38:S283–87. doi: 10.1016/S1590-8658(07)60011-5
- 165. Arslanoglu S, Moro GE, Boehm G. Early supplementation of prebiotic oligosaccharides protects formula-fed infants against infections during the first 6 months of life. J Nutr. (2007) 137:2420–4. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.11.2420
- 166. Osborn DA, Sinn JKH. Prebiotics in infants for prevention of allergy. *Cochrane database Syst Rev.* (2013) 3:CD006474. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006474.pub3
- 167. Lomax AR, Calder PC. Prebiotics, immune function, infection and inflammation: a review of the evidence. Br J Nutr. (2009) 101:633–58. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508055608

Conflict of Interest Statement: VT and RvN are employees of FrieslandCampina.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Triantis, Bode and van Neerven. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





TGF-β Concentration in Breast Milk is Associated With the Development of Eczema in Infants

Yoshinori Morita^{1*}, Eduardo Campos-Alberto¹, Fumiya Yamaide¹, Taiji Nakano¹, Hidenori Ohnisi², Minako Kawamoto², Norio Kawamoto², Eiko Matsui², Naomi Kondo², Yoichi Kohno¹ and Naoki Shimojo¹

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Graduate School of Medicine, Chiba University, Chiba, Japan, ² Department of Pediatrics, Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan

Background: Transforming growth factor (TGF)- β in breast milk is crucial for mucosal immune system in the neonatal period. We hypothesized that the level of exposure to TGF- β from breast milk in the first month of life is related to the development of eczema later in life. Thus, the present study investigated whether changes in TGF- β levels between colostrum and mature milk are associated with such occurrence in a birth cohort study.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Munblit, I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Melanie Rae Simpson, NTNU–Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway Antonio Condino-Neto, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Yoshinori Morita m0ritan@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 25 February 2018 Accepted: 15 May 2018 Published: 01 June 2018

Citation:

Morita Y, Campos-Alberto E, Yamaide F, Nakano T, Ohnisi H, Kawamoto M, Kawamoto N, Matsui E, Kondo N, Kohno Y and Shimojo N (2018) TGF-β Concentration in Breast Milk is Associated With the Development of Eczema in Infants Front. Pediatr. 6:162. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00162 **Methods:** Colostrum and 1-month breast milk samples were collected from mothers who participated in our birth cohort study. TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels in breast milk were measured using a commercial ELISA kit. The development of eczema in the first 6 months after birth was assessed based on parent's response to a questionnaire. Levels of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 were compared in breast milk from mothers of infants with and without eczema.

Results: In children with eczema, TGF- β 1 levels were higher in colostrum, but lower in 1-month milk. A lower TGF- β 1 ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) was related to the development of eczema during the first 6 months of life. There was no difference in TGF- β 2 ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) between eczema group and control group.

Conclusions: Concentration of TGF- β 1 but not TGF- β 2 in breast milk during the first month after birth may be associated with eczema later in life. Factors that increase TGF- β 1 levels in breast milk may play a role in preventing allergic disease.

Keywords: TGF- $\beta,$ breast milk, infants, allergy, eczema

INTRODUCTION

Breast milk contains a wide variety of immune mediators, such as secretory immunoglobulin A, soluble CD14, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β (1). These mediators are crucial for mucosal immune system in the neonatal period.

TGF- β may play a role in preventing allergic diseases. In animal models, the oral administration of TGF- β 1 maintained the biological activity in the intestinal mucosa and enhanced the induction of oral tolerance (2). It has also been reported to inhibit inflammation in the intestinal epithelium and systemic production of interleukin-6 and interferon- γ , reducing the incidence of

necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) (3). In contrast, developmental defects rather than immunological dysregulation were observed in TGF- β 2- and TGF- β 3-deficient mice (4, 5).

Several studies have been conducted to address whether the levels of TGF- β in breast milk are related to the development of allergic diseases. Although a review article reported TGF- β in breast milk is an effective cytokine in preventing allergic disease (6), the results of several other studies were controversial (7–9). Hence, we hypothesized that the amount of TGF- β received in the first month of life is important in the prevention of allergy, and in the present study we investigated whether changes in the TGF- β cytokine level in breast milk from colostrum to mature milk were related to the future development of eczema in infants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This study is part of a birth cohort study of 500 newborn infants, which was conducted in Kawatetsu-Chiba Hospital from January 2007 to May 2008. The study design has been described in detail elsewhere (10). Briefly, all participants received a questionnaire when their infants were born. Data on parental allergic disease and various exposures were obtained. The parents also answered questionnaires on symptoms related to eczema in their infant at 1, 4, and 6 months of age. Eczema was defined as itchy skin rashes lasting >2 months in 6-month-old children.

Infants who presented with eczema at 6 months were included in the eczema group. As for the control group, we randomly selected infants who did not have eczema at 6 months. Both groups were matched in terms of feeding methods and history of atopic dermatitis or other allergic diseases in the mother (asthma, allergic rhinitis, food allergy, and pollen hypersensitivity). Levels of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 in breast milk were measured in both groups.

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Chiba University Graduate School of Medicine (No. 570). All parents provided written informed consent.

Breast Milk Collection and Processing of Breast Milk

Colostrum samples were collected within 5 days post-partum and mature milk samples were collected 1 month after delivery. Each sample was frozen within 12 h of collection and kept at -80° C. After thawing, the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 g for 10 min, the cellular debris and fat layer were discarded, and the clear middle layer was used for analyses.

Measurements of TGF- $\beta 1$ and TGF- $\beta 2$ in Breast Milk

TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels in breast milk were measured with the Quantikine Human TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 Immunoassays (R&D Systems Inc, MN, USA). Activation of TGF- β in breast milk was performed using 1N HCl and neutralized with 1N NaOH. The sensitivity threshold for both the TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 assays were 31.25 pg/mL. TGF- β 1 levels below 31.25 pg/mL were also measured since we could confirm linearity with sequential dilution down to 1.95 pg/mL. We therefore defined 3.9 pg/mL

as the detection limit of the TGF- β 1 assay in this study. Since the clear middle layer was diluted 40 times in the neutralization step for TGF- β 1 analysis, 156 pg/mL was defined as the detection limit. Undetectable levels of TGF- β 1 were set as half the value of the minimum detectable level at 78 pg/mL. The clear middle layer was diluted 7.8 times in the neutralization step for TGF- β 2 analysis, 243.75 pg/mL was defined as the detection limit. Undetectable levels of TGF- β 2 were set as half the value of the minimum detectable level at 121.9 pg/mL.

Statistical Analysis

Differences in the characteristics of the participants were assessed by using chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test and expressed as p values. Mann-Whitney *U*-test was used to compare TGF- β levels in both colostrum and mature milk and TGF- β ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) between eczema and control group. Changes in TGF- β levels from colostrum to mature milk was assessed with the Wilcoxon signed rank test. Adjusted logistic regression analyses were conducted to evaluate the association between eczema and TGF- β ratio. The TGF- β ratio was categorized into tertile as low, medium, or high levels.

For all analyses, p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS software ver. 11.0 (SPSS INC., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Study Subjects

Fifty-one infants developed eczema at 6 months of age. Because of the lack of mother's milk, 8 infants with eczema were excluded from the study, leaving 43 subjects for final analysis. As controls, 53 children without eczema were randomly selected. **Table 1** shows the characteristics of the participants. The only difference between the two groups was gender proportion, with a higher number of girls in the control group.

TABLE 1 | Characteristic of the participants.

	Eczema group (n = 43)	Control group (n = 53)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex (boy: girl)	30:13	21:32	<0.05
Father allergy	26	40	0.12
Mother allergy	28	38	0.49
Mother atopic dermatitis	11	12	0.74
Mother smoking	2	5	0.37
Pet	11	16	0.62
Feeding methods			
Mixed	22	30	0.59
Breast feeding			
0–1 months	6	3	0.15
1–5 months	4	4	0.52
\geq 6 months	11	16	0.62
TGF- β Levels in Colostrum and Infant Eczema

In colostrum, TGF- β 1 was undetectable in 29 samples of the control group, but only in 6 samples from the eczema group. TGF- β 2 was detectable in all 96 samples. Undetectable TGF- β 1 level in colostrum was set at 78 pg/mL.

Figure 1 shows the comparison of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels in colostrum in both groups. TGF- β 1 levels were significantly higher in the eczema group with a median 878.8 pg/mL (range 78–2,921 pg/mL) than that of control group (median: 78 pg/ml, range 78–5,538 pg/ml, p < 0.01, **Figure 1A**), while the levels of TGF- β 2 was not significantly different between eczema group and control group (median: 4,129 pg/mL, range 1,175–31,900 pg/mL; and median: 4,977 pg/mL, range 721.2–26,260 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.92, **Figure 1B**).

TGF- β Levels in 1-Month Milk and Infant Eczema

In 1-month milk, TGF- β 1 were undetectable in 19 samples from the control group and 24 in the eczema group. TGF- β 2 were undetectable only in 4 samples of the eczema group. Undetectable levels of either TGF- β 1 in 1-month milk was also set at 78 pg/mL. Undetectable levels of TGF- β 2 in 1-month milk was also set at 121.9 pg/mL.

Figure 2 shows the comparison of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels in 1-month milk in both groups. In contrast to colostrum, TGF- β 1 levels in the eczema group was lower than those in the control group (median: 78 pg/mL, range 78–1,768 pg/mL; and median: 311.2 pg/mL, range 78–3,903 pg/mL, respectively, p < 0.01, **Figure 2A**), while there was no significant difference in the TGF- β 2 levels between eczema group and control group (median:1,692 pg/mL, range 121.9–12,370 pg/mL; and median 1,550 pg/mL, range 255.2–8,273 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.65, **Figure 2B**).

TGF-β Levels Ratio and Eczema in Infants

Figure 3 shows the change in TGF- β levels in colostrum vs. 1-month milk in both groups. TGF- β 1 concentration did not decrease in the control group (p = 0.21); however, there was a significant reduction in the eczema group (p < 0.01, **Figure 3A**). TGF- β 2 concentration significantly decreased in both groups (p < 0.01, **Figure 3B**).

TGF- β 1 ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) was lower in the eczema group than in the control group (p < 0.01, **Figure 4A**).









FIGURE 3 | Individual values of TGF-β1 (A) and TGF-β2 (B) in colostrum and 1-month milk in eczema group (43 subjects) and control group (53 subjects).



The TGF- β 2 ratio was not statistically different between the two groups (p = 0.33, **Figure 4B**).

Multivariable Analysis

Table 2 describes the results of multivariate analysis with logistic regression. The risk of eczema was inversely related to TGF- β 1 ratio.

Effect of Maternal Allergic History on TGF-β Levels in Breast Milk

We also compared TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels in both colostrum and 1-month milk in allergic mothers. The levels of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 in colostrum were not significantly different between allergic mothers (median: 511.1 pg/mL, range 78– 5,538 pg/mL; and median: 4,826 pg/mL, range 721.2–31,900 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.56), and in non-allergic mothers (median: 511.1 pg/mL, range 78–2,799 pg/mL; and median: 4,553 pg/mL, range 1,402–16,650 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.55), neither were their concentrations in 1-month milk in allergic (median: 169.1 pg/mL, range 78–3,903 pg/mL; and median: 1,678 pg/mL, range 121.9–12,370 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.4) TABLE 2 | Multiple regression analysis for the effect of TGF- β ratio on eczema.

Factor		Adjusted odds ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Sex (Male)		2.084	0.774 ~ 5.610	0.146
Mother allergy		0.560	$0.185 \sim 1.699$	0.306
Breast feeding by 1 month		1.203	$0.444 \sim 3.288$	0.711
TGF-β1	RATIO (1-MONTH	/COLOSTRUM)		
Low	0.0267-0.224	1		
Middle	0.229–1	0.161	$0.049~\sim~0.534$	< 0.01
High	1.013–49.585	0.035	$0.006 \sim 0.188$	< 0.01
TGF-β2	RATIO (1-MONTH	/COLOSTRUM)		
Low	0.0182-0.214	1		
Middle	0.231-0.464	0.848	$0.250 \sim 2.878$	0.792
High	0.473–3.731	2.959	$0.702 \sim 12.467$	0.139

Logistic regression models adjusted for sex, maternal history of allergies, breast feeding by 1 month and TGF- β ratio.

and non-allergic mothers (median: 183.4 pg/mL, range 78–3,119 pg/mL; and median: 1,129 pg/mL, range 121.9–7,852, respectively, p = 0.28).

DISCUSSION

We demonstrated that principally a lower TGF- β 1 ratio (1-month milk/colostrum) was related to later eczema in infants.

Reports on the relationship between TGF- β in breast milk and onset of allergic diseases are controversial. Some studies have reported that neither TGF- β 1 nor TGF- β 2 was associated with the onset of allergic disease (7–9, 11), while others have demonstrated such an association (12–14). In the present study, we found a significant relationship between TGF- β 1 levels in breast milk and the development of eczema. In the eczema group, the TGF- β 1 concentration was higher in colostrum, but lower in 1-month milk. In contrast with previous reports, we measured TGF- β at multiple time points and assessed the TGF- β ratio.

The higher dose of TGF- β 1 (long breast feeding and mediumhigh TGF- β 1) in breast milk were shown to have a protective effect against wheezing (12); although the outcome was different, we saw a similar pattern with eczema in our study. Riggoti et al. reported that TGF- β 1 was significantly higher in the mature milk of non-allergic mothers, and infants fed with this TGF- β 1rich breast milk had less risk of developing atopic diseases (15), further emphasizing the protective effects of this cytokine against eczema. Their results might be due to genetic causes as they had grouped their cohort based on the mother's allergic background. Levels of TGF- β 1 reportedly decreases from colostrum to mature milk in urban mothers but not in rural mothers (16). These findings and our results suggest that a significant decrease in TGF- β 1 in colostrum to mature milk is associated with later allergic disease.

Lower levels of TGF- $\beta 2$ in colostrum were observed with *Lactobacillus reuteri* supplementation during pregnancy, leading to less sensitization in children of those mothers during the first 2 years of life (13). Nonetheless, higher levels of TGF- $\beta 2$ in breast milk were reportedly related to higher risk of eczema (14). In our study, both TGF- $\beta 2$ levels and 1-month/colostrum ratio for TGF- $\beta 2$ were not different between eczema group and control group.

The factors influencing the levels of TGF- β in breast milk are not well known. TGF- β levels in breast milk differed between countries (17, 18), and even races in the same country (19, 20). Similar to our results, no difference was observed in the allergic

REFERENCES

- Hanson LA. Session 1: feeding and infant development breastfeeding and immune function. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2007) 66:384–96. doi: 10.1017/S0029665107005654
- Ando T, Hatsushika K, Wako M, Ohba T, Koyama K, Ohnuma Y, et al. Orally administered TGF-beta is biologically active in the intestinal mucosa and enhances oral tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2007) 120:916–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.05.023
- Shiou SR, Yu Y, Guo Y, Westerhoff M, Lu L, Petrof EO, et al. Oral administration of transforming growth Factor-β1 (TGF-β1) protects the immature gut from injury via smad proteindependent suppression of epithelial nuclear factor κb (NF-κB) signaling and proinflammatory cytokine production. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:34757–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 503946

history of mothers (21). There have been conflicting results between the supplementation of probiotics during pregnancy and TGF- β 1 levels, with a previous study reporting a significant increase in TGF- β 1 levels (22); although, other investigations did not support such a result (23–27). Further studies are needed to clarify the factors influencing the levels of TGF- β in breast milk.

As for the limitations of this study; first, in our recruitment, we had more boys in the eczema group. And second, we could not evaluate long-term outcomes. Nonetheless, the present study suggests that TGF- β 1 levels in breast milk are related to the occurrence of eczema later in life.

In conclusion, the present investigation suggested that a higher 1-month/colostrum ratio for TGF- β 1 is associated with a more consistent concentration or an increase of TGF- β 1 across the first month, which has a protective effect in reducing the risk of eczema. Additional studies are needed to evaluate the relationship between TGF- β levels in breast milk and the development of allergic disease. Identifying factors that increase TGF- β 1 levels in breast milk may contribute to preventing allergic diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YM wrote this manuscript and did statistical analysis. EC-A wrote this manuscript. FY, TN and NoK provided critical advice. YK and NaK conducted study. HO, MK and EM measured TGF- β . NS conducted study and wrote this manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported in part by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Technology, the ministry of Health Labor and Welfare, Japan and the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED)—Innovative Advanced Research and Development (AMED-CREST).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We express our gratitude to all the children and families that participated in our study.

- Sanford LP, Ormsby I, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Sariola H, Friedman R, Boivin GP, et al. TGFbeta2 knockout mice have multiple developmental defects that are non-overlapping with other TGFbeta knockout phenotypes. *Development* (1997) 124:2659–70. doi: 10.3816/CLM.2009.n.003.Novel
- Kaartinen V, Voncken JW, Shuler C, Warburton D, Bu D, Heisterkamp N, et al. Abnormal lung development and cleft palate in mice lacking TGF-beta 3 indicates defects of epithelial-mesenchymal interaction. *Nat Genet.* (1995) 11:415–21. doi: 10.1038/ng1295–1415
- Oddy WH, Rosales F. A systematic review of the importance of milk TGF-beta on immunological outcomes in the infant and young child. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21:47–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00913.x
- Savilahti E, Siltanen M, Kajosaari M, Vaarala O, Saarinen KM. IgA antibodies, TGF-beta1 and -beta2, and soluble CD14 in the colostrum and development of atopy by age 4. *Pediatr Res.* (2005) 58:1300–5. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000183784.87452.c6

- Snijders BEP, Damoiseaux JGMC, Penders J, Kummeling I, Stelma FF, van Ree R, et al. Cytokines and soluble CD14 in breast milk in relation with atopic manifestations in mother and infant (KOALA Study). *Clin Exp Allergy* (2006) 36:1609–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02613.x
- Ismail IH, Licciardi P V, Oppedisano F, Boyle RJ, Tang MLK. Relationship between breast milk sCD14, TGF-β1 and total IgA in the first month and development of eczema during infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 24:352–60. doi: 10.1111/pai.12075
- Ozawa N, Shimojo N, Suzuki Y, Ochiai S, Nakano T, Morita Y, et al. Maternal intake of natto, a Japan's traditional fermented soybean food, during pregnancy and the risk of eczema in Japanese babies. *Allergol Int.* (2014) 63:261–6. doi: 10.2332/allergolint.13-OA-0613
- Orivuori L, Loss G, Roduit C, Dalphin JC, Depner M, Genuneit J, et al. Soluble immunoglobulin A in breast milk is inversely associated with atopic dermatitis at early age: the PASTURE cohort study. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:102–12. doi: 10.1111/cea.12199
- Oddy WH, Halonen M, Martinez FD, Lohman IC, Stern DA, Kurzius-Spencer M, et al. TGF-beta in human milk is associated with wheeze in infancy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2003) 112:723–8. doi: 10.1016/S0091
- Böttcher MF, Abrahamsson TR, Fredriksson M, Jakobsson T, Björkstén B. Low breast milk TGF-beta2 is induced by *Lactobacillus reuteri* supplementation and associates with reduced risk of sensitization during infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2008) 19:497–504. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2007.00687.x
- Munblit D, Treneva M, Peroni DG, Colicino S, Chow LY, Dissanayeke S, et al. Immune components in human milk are associated with early infant immunological health outcomes: a prospective three-country analysis. *Nutrients* (2017) 9:1–14. doi: 10.3390/nu9060532
- Rigotti E, Piacentini GL, Ress M, Pigozzi R, Boner AL, Peroni DG. Transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-10 in breast milk and development of atopic diseases in infants. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2006) 36:614–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02483.x
- Peroni DG, Pescollderungg L, Piacentini GL, Rigotti E, Maselli M, Watschinger K, et al. Immune regulatory cytokines in the milk of lactating women from farming and urban environments. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21:977–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2010.00995.x
- Tomičić S, Johansson G, Voor T, Björkstén B, Böttcher MF, Jenmalm MC. Breast milk cytokine and IgA composition differ in estonian and swedish mothers-relationship to microbial pressure and infant allergy. *Pediatr Res.* (2010) 68:330–4. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181ee049d
- Aihara Y, Oh-oka K, Kondo N, Sharma J, Ishimaru K, Hara M, et al. Comparison of colostrum TGF-β2 levels between lactating women in Japan and Nepal. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. (2014) 32:178–84. doi: 10.12932/AP0367.32.2.2013
- Amoudruz P, Holmlund U, Schollin J, Sverremark-Ekström E, Montgomery SM. Maternal country of birth and previous pregnancies are associated with breast milk characteristics. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2009) 20:19–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2008.00754.x

- Joseph CLM, Havstad S, Bobbitt K, Woodcroft K, Zoratti EM, Nageotte C, et al. Transforming growth factor beta (TGFβ1) in breast milk and indicators of infant atopy in a birth cohort. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2014) 25:257–63. doi: 10.1111/pai.12205
- Prokesová L, Lodinová-Zádníková R, Zizka J, Kocourková I, Novotná O, Petrásková P, et al. Cytokine levels in healthy and allergic mothers and their children during the first year of life. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol Off Publ Eur Soc Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2006) 17:175–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2006.00395.x
- 22. Prescott SL, Wickens K, Westcott L, Jung W, Currie H, Black PN, et al. Supplementation with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* or *Bifidobacterium lactis* probiotics in pregnancy increases cord blood interferon-gamma and breast milk transforming growth factor-beta and immunoglobin A detection. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2008) **38**:1606–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03061.x
- Huurre A, Laitinen K, Rautava S, Korkeamäki M, Isolauri E. Impact of maternal atopy and probiotic supplementation during pregnancy on infant sensitization: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2008) 38:1342–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03008.x
- Boyle RJ, Ismail IH, Kivivuori S, Licciardi PV, Robins-Browne RM, Mah LJ, et al. Lactobacillus GG treatment during pregnancy for the prevention of eczema: a randomized controlled trial. *Allergy* (2011) 66:509– 16. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02507.x
- Kuitunen M, Kukkonen AK, Savilahti E. Impact of maternal allergy and use of probiotics during pregnancy on breast milk cytokines and food antibodies and development of allergy in children until 5 years. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2012) 159:162–70. doi: 10.1159/000336157
- 26. Simpson MR, Rø ADB, Grimstad Ø, Johnsen R, Storrø O, Øien T. Atopic dermatitis prevention in children following maternal probiotic supplementation does not appear to be mediated by breast milk TSLP or TGF-β. *Clin Transl Allergy* (2016) 6:27. doi: 10.1186/s13601-016-0119-6
- Wickens K, Barthow C, Mitchell EA, Stanley TV, Purdie G, Rowden J, et al. Maternal supplementation alone with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HN001 during pregnancy and breastfeeding does not reduce infant eczema. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 29:296–302. doi: 10.1111/pai.12874

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Morita, Campos-Alberto, Yamaide, Nakano, Ohnisi, Kawamoto, Kawamoto, Matsui, Kondo, Kohno and Shimojo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Associations With Immune-Mediated Disease and Infection in Childhood: A Systematic Review

Alice M. Doherty¹, Caroline J. Lodge^{1,2}, Shyamali C. Dharmage^{1,2}, Xin Dai¹, Lars Bode^{3,4†} and Adrian J. Lowe^{1,2*†}

¹ Allergy and Lung Health Unit, Centre for Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³ Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics and Larsson-Rosenquist Foundation Mother-Milk-Infant Center of Research Excellence (LRF MoMI CoRE), University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States, ⁴ Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Department of Pediatrics and Larsson-Rosenquist Foundation Mother-Milk-Infant Center of Research Excellence (LRF MoMI CoRE), University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Munblit, I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Diego G. Peroni, Università degli Studi di Pisa, Italy Antonio Condino-Neto, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil Magda Carneiro-Sampaio, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Adrian J. Lowe lowea@unimelb.edu.au †Equal senior authors.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 01 December 2017 Accepted: 23 March 2018 Published: 20 April 2018

Citation:

Doherty AM, Lodge CJ, Dharmage SC, Dai X, Bode L and Lowe AJ (2018) Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Associations With Immune-Mediated Disease and Infection in Childhood: A Systematic Review. Front. Pediatr. 6:91. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00091 Complex sugars found in breastmilk, human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), may assist in early-life immune programming and prevention against infectious diseases. This study aimed to systematically review the associations between maternal levels of HMOs and development of immune-mediated or infectious diseases in the offspring. PubMed and EMBASE databases were searched (last search on 22 February 2018) according to a predetermined search strategy. Original studies published in English examining the effect of HMOs on immune-mediated and infectious disease were eligible for inclusion. Of 847 identified records, 10 articles from 6 original studies were included, with study guality ranging from low to high. Of three studies to examine allergic disease outcomes, one reported a protective effect against cow's milk allergy (CMA) by 18 months of age associated with lower lacto-N-fucopentaose (LNFP) III concentrations (OR: 6.7, 95% Cl 2.0-22). Another study found higher relative abundance of fucosyloligosaccharides was associated with reduced diarrhea incidence by 2 years, due to (i) stable toxin-*E. coli* infection (p = 0.04) and (ii) "all causes" (p = 0.042). Higher LNFP-II concentrations were associated with (i) reduced cases of gastroenteritis and respiratory tract infections at 6 weeks (p = 0.004, p = 0.010) and 12 weeks (p = 0.038, p = 0.038) and (ii) reduced HIV transmission (OR: 0.45; 95% CI: 0.21–0.97) and mortality risk among HIV-exposed, uninfected infants (HR: 0.33; 95% CI: 0.14-0.74) by 24 months. Due to heterogeneity of the outcomes reported, pooling of results was not possible. There was limited evidence that low concentrations of LNFP-III are associated with CMA and that higher fucosyloligosaccharide levels protect infants against infectious disease. Further research is needed.

Keywords: oligosaccharides, human milk, breastfeeding, infants, allergy and immunology, respiratory tract infections, diarrhea, HIV

INTRODUCTION

Human milk contains a wide range of immunologically active components with the potential to protect against disease (1, 2). Research has emphasized the importance of human milk as an influential early-life exposure for the development of a healthy immune system; however, the mechanisms for this are still not clearly understood. Some studies have shown positive immunological effects and anti-infectious properties of human milk, particularly in the prevention of respiratory and gastrointestinal infections (3, 4). Other research suggests that breastfeeding influences the intestinal microbiome, which may in turn influence autoimmune and allergic disease development (4). The association between human milk and allergic disease is controversial, with numerous studies reporting inconsistent results (5). A possible explanation for the contradictory findings may lie in the diverse composition of bioactive factors present in human milk (6) and even when specific milk components are addressed, there may be significant differences in both quantity and variety between human milk from different mothers.

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) are a key constituent of human milk. They are a structurally and biologically diverse group of complex indigestible sugars (7, 8). To date, more than 200 different oligosaccharides have been identified, varying in size from 3 to 22 monosaccharide units (9).

The most common HMOs are the neutral fucosylated and non-fucosylated oligosaccharides (10–13). The quantity and structure of these HMOs differs significantly among women and is dependent upon Secretor and Lewis blood group status (14, 15). Mutations in the fucosyltransferase 2 (FUT2) secretor gene results in human milk that is deficient in α 1,2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides (12).

Human milk oligosaccharides provide no direct nutritional value to the infant, and there is only minor absorption across the intestinal wall with approximately 1-5% detectable in serum and urine (8). It is proposed, instead, that HMOs have many different roles to play for the infant. They are preferred substrates for several species of gut bacteria and act as prebiotics, promoting the growth of beneficial intestinal flora and shaping the gut microbiome, thereby affecting immune responses (8, 16, 17). Short-chain fatty acids generated by the gut microbiome breaking down HMOs are critical for intestinal health. They further favor the growth of benign gut commensals along with providing nourishment for epithelial cells lining the intestine (18). HMOs also directly modulate host-epithelial responses, favoring reduced binding of pathogenic microbiota to the gut epithelium. Gut microbiota composition differs between formula-fed and breastfed infants, possibly due to the absence of HMOs in infant formula milk (19). There is also evidence that HMOs act as decoy receptors, inhibiting the binding of enteric pathogens to prevent infection and subsequent illness (20). Furthermore, HMOs provide a selective advantage for colonization by favorable bacteria, thereby inhibiting the growth of pathogenic species.

Despite substantial interest in this area, to date no systematic review has been undertaken to assess the effects of HMOs on disease prevention. This systematic review aims to identify and summarize the current evidence of the associations between HMOs and immune-mediated or infectious diseases in early childhood. Establishing a clear link between HMOs and disease outcomes may lead to intervention strategies.

METHODS

Search Strategy

PubMed and EMBASE electronic databases were systematically searched (last search date 22 February 2018) for original studies

examining the effect of HMOs on childhood immune-mediated and infectious disease outcomes. The search strategy included MeSH and free text terms for HMOs, allergic disease, immunemediated disorders and clinical infections (see Table E1 in Supplementary Material). All original studies published in English were included. Papers that did not report original results, or outcome data of interest, were excluded.

Titles and abstracts of papers were screened by two authors (Alice M. Doherty and Xin Dai) for inclusion. Reference lists of primary articles and related reviews were checked to identify any other studies appropriate for inclusion. Studies assessed as eligible, potentially eligible or unclear, were retrieved in full text where available. Any uncertainty concerning inclusion of specific studies was resolved by discussion with a third author (Adrian J. Lowe). Outcomes of interest were the development of any immune-mediated diseases (allergic or autoimmune disorders) or clinical infections in childhood.

Data Extraction

Study characteristics were extracted and tabulated from each of the included studies. The data extracted included the following: author's name, date of publication, study design, location, population, exposure classification, outcome definitions, effect sizes, confounders and tests for potential effect modification, and potential sources of bias.

Quality Assessment

The Newcastle-Ottawa scale was used to assess the quality of individual studies (21). The quality assessment was performed independently by two authors (AD, XD) to meet PRISMA guidelines. Each study was scored using a star (*) method to report the quality based on selection of sample, comparability, and the ascertainment of the exposure or outcome measures for case-control or cohort studies, respectively. Included studies were graded on total score: unsatisfactory = 0-3; low = 4-5; moderate = 6-7; and high = 8-9 (see Table E2 in Supplementary Material). Studies were not excluded based on quality assessment.

Statistical Analysis

Where two or more papers reported the association between the same HMO and outcome, we pooled results using meta-analysis. The I^2 statistic was used to document heterogeneity of study results, and random effect models were used where there was wide spread differences between studies ($I^2 > 80\%$).

RESULTS

The search identified 847 articles (see **Figure 1**). After title and abstract screening, 48 articles were selected for full-text assessment. In total, 10 records were included (see Table E3 in Supplementary Material for reasons for exclusion), from 6 original studies. Three articles reported on allergic disease outcomes (22–24), four articles on diarrheal disease outcomes, all from a single study (11, 25–27), one article on respiratory and gastrointestinal tract infections (28), and two articles on HIV outcomes from a single study (29, 30).



Study Characteristics

Three prospective cohort studies assessed associations with allergic disease outcomes, all from Scandinavia, with sample sizes ranging from 20 (22) to 266 (23) mother-infant pairs (see Table 1). One study was population based (22), while the other two cohort studies sampled participants with parental allergic disease (23, 24). A prospective cohort of 93 mother-infant pairs conducted in Mexico City investigated associations between HMOs and infectious diarrhea (25). One prospective cohort study, of 73 participants, examined associations between HMOs and respiratory tract infections and gastroenteritis (28). The two publications examining associations with HIV outcomes were from one nested case-control study conducted in Lusaka, Zambia (29). Bode et al. reported HIV transmission from HIV-infected mothers to their exposed infants (29), and Kuhn et al. recorded mortality rates among HIV-exposed infants (30). Participants comprise 103 HIV infected and 143 HIV exposed but uninfected (HEU) children were randomly selected from an early weaning trial comprising of 958 HIV-infected mother-infant pairs (31).

HMO Assessment

Human milk oligosaccharides were quantified by high-performance liquid chromatography in all included studies. Sjögren and colleagues collected milk samples 2–4 days postpartum and reported exposure as median concentrations (nmol/mL) of nine common neutral oligosaccharides in colostrum (see Table E4 in Supplementary Material) (22). Sprenger et al. measured the

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of studies included examining the association between maternal levels of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) and allergic and infectious diseases.

Reference	Design	Location	Sample size	HMO exposure	Outcome
Allergic disease					
Sjögren et al. (22)	Prospective cohort	Sweden	20 mother–infant pairs	Concentration of 9 HMOs ^a at 2–4 days of age	Any allergic disease ^b at 18 months of age
Sprenger et al. (23)	Prospective cohort	Finland	266 mother–infant pairs	Levels of FUT2-dependent HMOs measured at mean 2.6 days of age	 Any allergic disease^c and/or sensitization^d Eczema and/or sensitization At 2 and 5 years of age
Seppo et al. (24)	Prospective cohort	Finland	145 mother–infant pairs	Concentration of 19 HMOs ^a at median 1.0–1.4 months of age	Cow's milk allergy by 18 months of age
Infectious disease					
Newburg et al. (25)	Prospective cohort	Mexico	93 mother–infant pairs	Mean fucosyloligosaccharide ratios at 1–5 weeks postpartum	Diarrheal symptomsClinical diarrhea
					At 2 years of age
Stepans et al. (28)	Prospective cohort	USA	73 mother–infant pairs	Levels of HMO <i>LNFP-II</i> at 2 weeks postpartum	 Respiratory problems Gastrointestinal tract problems Ear infections At 2, 6, and 12 weeks of age
Bode et al. (29) and Kuhn et al. (30)	Nested case-control	Zambia	203 mother–infant pairs	Fucosyloligosaccharide concentration at 1 month postpartum	HIV infection (29) and mortality (30) at 24 months c age in children born to HIV-infected mothers

HMO, human milk oligosaccharide; FUT2, fucosyltransferase 2; 2'FL, 2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides; LNFP-II, lacto-N-fucopentaose II.

^aRefer to Table E2 in Supplementary Material.

^bAllergic disease defined as bronchial asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, atopic eczema, and food allergy.

°Allergic disease defined as asthma, allergic rhinitis, and eczema.

^dSensitization defined as any positive skin prick test.

presence or absence of FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides in mothers' milk, collected at a mean postpartum day of 2.6; infants were classified as either FUT2-positive (had consumed levels of any FUT2-dependent HMOs) or as FUT2-negative (no FUT2dependent HMOs) (23). Seppo et al. assessed concentration of 19 HMOs in milk samples at a median 1.0 month in mothers of non-cow's milk allergy (CMA) infants and at median 1.4 months in mothers of CMA infants (24). An internal standard (Raffinose) was added to milk samples to allow for absolute quantification. Newburg et al. examined variations in fucosyloligosaccharides in human milk collected at 1-5 weeks postpartum (25). Exposure to HMOs was measured as the mean fucosylated oligosaccharide ratio: the concentrations of *α*1,2-linked fucosyloligosaccharides compared with oligosaccharides that contain only α 1,3- and α 1,4linked fucose. Stepans et al. measured HMO exposure as levels of a major oligosaccharide, lacto-N-fucopentaose II (LNFP-II), at 2 weeks postpartum as a representative of HMO consumption (28). The HIV study defined the exposure of interest as HMO concentration, measured first as a continuous variable and second as a dichotomous variable with infants categorized as above or below the median HMO concentration (1.87 g/L) (29). Several different HMO groups were assessed. Human milk samples were collected at 1-month postpartum and were analyzed for HMO composition.

Outcome Assessment

Allergic Disease

Sjögren et al. characterized children as "allergic" if clinical symptoms of allergic disease at 18 months of age were present and "non-allergic" if no clinical symptoms of allergic disease were apparent, along with a negative skin prick test (SPT) (22). Allergic disease was defined as bronchial asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, atopic eczema, and food allergy, although it was not clear if this was based on parent report or clinical examination. Sprenger measured the associations with any physician diagnosed allergic disease (food allergy, eczema, asthma, and allergic rhinitis) and/ or IgE-associated disease (any allergic disease and sensitization as assessed by SPT) at 2 and 5 years of age (23). Seppo et al. measured outcomes of CMA by 18 months of age (24). Cases of CMA were confirmed by a positive oral food challenge at median 6 months of age.

Diarrhea

Outcomes reported were all diarrhea episodes due to stable toxin (ST)-*E. coli* infection and diarrhea as a result of all causes (25). Diarrheal episodes were determined by the study physician. All diarrheal episodes were assessed using a standardized scoring system (32, 33). ST-*E. coli* related diarrhea was tested in a laboratory according to previously published methods (34).

Respiratory and Gastrointestinal Tract Infections

Outcomes were cumulative occurrences of either (a) respiratory problems, consisting of upper respiratory infections (runny nose or cold), cough, or pneumonia; (b) gastrointestinal tract problems, which included vomiting, diarrhea, or colic; and (c) ear infections; by 2, 6, 12, and 24 weeks (28). Associations with ear infection outcomes were reported as not significant.

HIV

Bode et al. (29) reported the outcome measure as HIV transmission postpartum. The same study population was used to measure mortality in infants exposed to HIV infection during and after breastfeeding (30). HIV infection was established by heel-stick blood samples collected first at birth, then at 1 week of age, then monthly to 6 months of age, and subsequently every 3–24 months of age (29). HIV DNA was tested by polymerase chain reaction. Causes of deaths were ascertained *via* verbal autopsy and a review of medical records. Death after weaning was defined if breastfeeding had ceased independently of events before death (30).

Study Quality

The included studies ranged from low to high quality (see Table E5 in Supplementary Material). Selection of participants was adequately reported for all included papers. The ascertainment of HMO exposure was based on laboratory assays for all included studies. Allergic disease outcomes were determined via parental reports in one study (22) and medical diagnosis for two studies (23, 24). While Newburg et al. reported physician confirmed diarrhea episodes (25), Stepans et al. used respiratory and gastrointestinal infections as reported by mothers (28). HIV status was confirmed via blood samples collected at several age intervals (29). Loss to follow-up was only reported in one study (28). Four of the six original studies considered possible bias as a result of confounding or effect modification (23, 24, 28, 29). One of the papers investigating allergic disease outcomes adjusted for potential confounders (siblings, delivery mode, gender, allergic parents, and gestational age) and tested for interactions (FUT2 status and delivery mode; and FUT2 status and siblings) (23), while another study adjusted for the age of the infant, maternal atopy, duration of lactation and Secretor status (24). Stepans et al. adjusted for breastfeeding behavior (28). Measures of association between HMOs and HIV transmission were adjusted for two potential confounders identified in the study, white blood cell count and human milk HIV RNA viral load at 1 month (29). Potential confounders and interaction terms for the association between HMOs and diarrheal diseases were reported as not significant; however, the authors did not discuss what covariates were tested (25). Sjögren et al. did not discuss confounding (22).

Study Findings

Allergic Disease

One of the three allergic disease studies found evidence of an association between HMOs and allergic disease (22, 24). Sjögren reported a weak trend for higher total concentrations of neutral oligosaccharides in the breastmilk consumed by infants who developed allergic disease by 18 months (p = 0.12) (22) (see **Table 2**). Seppo observed that infants who consumed breastmilk with low lacto-*N*-fucopentaose (LNFP) III concentrations (<60 nM) had an increased likelihood of CMA compared with higher concentrations of LNFP-III (OR 6.7, 95% CI 2.0–22) (24). Seppo also noted that infants who received human milk with lower levels of LS-tetrasaccharide c, disialyllacto-*N*-tetraose (DSLNT) and 6'-sialyllactose were more likely to develop atopic dermatitis. Although Sprenger reported a significant interaction with mode of delivery (C-section or vaginal birth) (p = 0.016)

Reference	Age (months)	Allergy status at	18 months	п	Conc. (g/L) ^a	p-Value
Sjögren et al. (22)	18	No allergy		11	7.53 (5.94–11.01)	0.12
		Allergy		9	9.88 (4.90–13.90)	
Reference	Age (years)	Delivery mode	FUT2-positive (%)	FUT2-negative (%)	OR (95% CI) ^b	p-Value
Sprenger et al. (23)	2	Vaginal	32	27	1.3 (0.52–3.24)	0.658
		C-section	30	57	0.32 (0.06–1.6)	0.203
	5	Vaginal	52	42	1.47 (0.64–3.37)	0.406
		C-section	57	57	0.98 (0.20-4.94)	1.0
Reference	I	/ledian (IQR) age in m	nonths	n	Median conc. (nM) LNFPII ^a	p-Value
Seppo et al. (24)	C	MA	1.4 (0.7–2.8)	39	29	0.007
	No	CMA	1.0 (0.12–1.9)	40	57	
	Atopic	dermatitis	LSTc			0.019
			DSLNT			0.028
			6'SL			0.044

TABLE 2 | Associations between HMO concentration and allergic disease outcomes.

FUT2, fucosyltransferase 2; CMA, cow's milk allergy; LSTc, LS-tetrasaccharide c.

^aMedian concentration of HMOs.

^bUnadjusted odds ratio.

TABLE 3 | Associations between human milk oligosaccharide concentration and diarrhea infection.

Reference	Cause of diarrhea infection		Mean fucosyloligosaccharide ratio ^a	SE	p-Value
Newburg et al. (25)	Stable toxin-E. coli infection	Infected, symptomatic	4.4	±0.8	
		Infected, asymptomatic	8.4	±1.0	0.04
		Uninfected	8.6	±1.1	0.04
	All causes	Moderate/severe symptoms	6.1	±0.9	
		No symptoms	10.5	±1.9	0.042

^aMean fucosyloligosaccharide ratio refers to the concentrations of α 1,2-linked fucosyloligosaccharides compared with oligosaccharides that contain only α 1,3- and α 1,4-linked fucose.

(23), an adjusted regression model found no statistically significant association between oligosaccharide status and allergic disease, regardless of mode of delivery.

Diarrhea

It was found that infants with diarrhea due to ST-*E. coli* infection had a significantly lower mean fucosyloligosaccharide ratio than asymptomatically infected infants or uninfected infants (25) (see **Table 3**). In addition, lower fucosyloligosaccharide ratios were associated with more severe diarrheal disease due to any cause. Infants who developed moderate to severe diarrhea of any cause were fed with human milk that had lower fucosyloligosaccharides ratios than infants with no symptoms (25).

Respiratory and Gastrointestinal Tract Infections

Higher levels of LNFP-II in colostrum were associated with reduced respiratory infections by 6 and 12 weeks, after controlling for breastfeeding behavior (see **Table 4**).

Increasing LNFP-II concentration was also associated with reduced gastrointestinal illness in infants at 6 and 12 weeks (26). No significant results were reported at 24 weeks postpartum.

HIV

There was a non-significant trend toward a reduction in HIV transmission risk postpartum (29). An association was found

 TABLE 4 | The effect of HMO concentration on respiratory and gastrointestinal tract infections.

Reference	нмо	Time (weeks)	N	Odds ratio ^a	95% CI	<i>p-</i> Value			
Stepans et al.	Respiratory tract infection								
(28)	LNFP-II	6	45	0.672	0.457, 0.989	0.01			
		12	42	0.797	0.620, 1.026	0.04			
		24	33	0.882	0.697, 1.115	0.28			
	Gastrointestinal tract infections								
	LNFP-II	6	44	0.662	0.468, 0.935	0.004			
		12	42	0.806	0.632, 1.029	0.04			
		24	34	1.048	0.928, 1.182	0.41			

HMO, human milk oligosaccharide; LNFP-II, lacto-N-fucopentaose II.

 $^{\rm a}\!Associated$ change of odds due to a 1 μm LNFP-II change/mL milk.

between higher total HMO concentration and reduced risk of HIV transmission after adjustment for maternal CD4 cell count and human milk HIV RNA viral load at 1 month (see **Table 5**). Assessment of individual oligosaccharides found non-3'-sialyllactose HMOs to reduce HIV transmission at concentrations above the median (OR 0.38; 95% CI: 0.17–0.82). No other significant reductions in HIV transmission were reported for the other oligosaccharides, instead higher concentrations of 3'-sialyllactose oligosaccharides were associated with an approximately 2-fold increased risk of transmission (adjusted OR: 2.21; 95% CI: TABLE 5 | Associations between HMO concentration and HIV transmission and mortality in children born to HIV-infected mothers.

			5			
HIV transmission			TR	NTR	OR (95% CI)	
Reference			n(%)	n(%)	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^a
Bode et al. (29)	Total log₁₀ HMO conc.				0.43 (0.14–1.32)	0.31 (0.08–1.21)
	Median HMO conc. (g/L)	≥1.87 <1.87	31 (41.9) 50 (53.8)	43 (58.1) 43 (46.2)	0.62 (0.34–1.15)	0.45 (0.21–0.97)
Mortality					Adjusted HR (95% CI) ^b	
Reference	Oligosaccharide				HIV infected	HEU
Kuhn et al. (30)	Non-2'FL HMOs (LNFP-II/III + 3FL) > 200 mg/L 2'FL + LNFP I > 550 mg/L LNT > 585 mg/L				0.89 (0.38–2.08) 1.44 (0.64–3.21) 1.43 (0.77–2.67)	0.28 (0.13–0.67) 0.33 (0.14–0.74) 0.58 (0.34–0.98)

TR, HIV transmitting; NTR, HIV-non-transmitting; HEU, HIV-exposed uninfected; 2'FL, 2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides; LNFP, lacto-N-fucopentaose; LNT, lacto-N-tetraose; 3FL, 3-fucosyllactose; HMO, human milk oligosaccharide.

^aORs adjusted for maternal CD4 cell count and log₁₀ breast-milk HIV RNA viral load at 1 month.

^bHRs adjusted for maternal CD4 cell count, mother symptomatic, maternal death, more than 2 other children aged <5 years in household, sex, and breastfeeding status.

1.04–4.73) (29). For HEU infants, higher HMO concentrations were found to reduce mortality during, not after, breastfeeding for both 2-linked fucosylated as well as non-2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides, following control for maternal CD4 cell count and human milk HIV RNA viral load at 1 month (30). No significant associations between HMOs and mortality were observed for HIV-infected children.

DISCUSSION

The six studies included in this systematic review have published 10 articles but provide only limited evidence that HMOs are associated with allergic and infectious diseases in early life. No studies were published on the associations between HMOs and other immune-mediated conditions. In terms of allergic disease, only one study showed that LNFP III was associated with increased risk of CMA. For infectious disease, the evidence was stronger although still limited with one study reporting that increased maternal levels of fucosyloligosaccharides were associated with reduced risk of diarrhea up to 2 years of age, as well as respiratory and gastrointestinal tract infections at 6 and 12 weeks of age. Evidence for an association between high HMO concentration and HIV outcomes was reported in two studies. In infants with a HIV positive mother, HMOs above the median concentration $(\geq 1.87 \text{ g/L})$ had reduced risk of HIV infection. In addition, high concentrations of HMOs during breastfeeding were associated with a lower mortality rate for HIV-exposed, uninfected (HEU) infants but not for HIV-exposed infected infants.

Despite the recent interest and discussion surrounding breastmilk oligosaccharides and their potential impact on disease outcomes, very little original research has been conducted in this field. Furthermore, there are a number of important limitations with the available evidence, which prohibit strong conclusions being made at this time. Where two or more studies examined associations with similar outcomes, different measures of association were used (odds ratios versus mean differences in maternal HMO between affected and unaffected infants), preventing any pooling of the results in a meta-analysis. Most of the included studies measured disease outcomes from very small sample sizes (between 20 and 266 mother–infant pairs) both affecting the precision of the effect estimates and limiting the statistical power to detect important associations.

There were disparate HMO exposure classifications between the studies, making it difficult to compare the results of each study. Sprenger et al. measured exposure to HMOs as presence or absence of FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides (23). Using this dichotomy assumes that infants who consume high concentrations of FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides are just as likely to develop allergic disease as those exposed to low concentrations. Newburg et al. defined exposure to HMOs in terms of fucosylated oligosaccharide ratios (concentrations of *α*1,2-linked fucosyloligosaccharides compared with oligosaccharides that contain only α 1,3- and α 1,4-linked fucose), thus grouping a range of HMOs (25), whereas the remaining four studies measured associations with several specific common HMOs (22, 24, 28, 29). Furthermore, most of the techniques used to measure levels of HMO are unable to quantify absolute levels of HMO. Only three papers discussed using an internal standard in the HMO quantification process (23, 24, 29).

With over 200 structurally unique HMOs, it is possible that other important oligosaccharides not considered in the six studies may have important biological effects. It remains possible that the included studies have not measured the important HMO for each of the assessed outcomes. However, with so many different forms of HMOs, testing associations for each HMO will result in multiple comparisons, leading to spurious associations. As this area is novel, such exploratory "hypothesis generating" studies are still needed, but, care should be taken not to over-interpret any one finding in the absence of replication across cohorts.

Potential confounding was accounted for differently in each study. Four of the six original studies adjusted for potential confounders (see Figures E1–E3 in Supplementary Material) (23, 24, 28, 29). The remaining articles failed to acknowledge possible confounding (22) or stated confounding was not significant, with no description of how this was confirmed (25). Two of the allergic disease studies adjusted for a range of potential confounders in their analysis including siblings, gender, allergic parents/maternal atopy, and gestational age, which largely

appears appropriate (23, 24). Bode et al. noted that associations between advanced maternal HIV infection, including low maternal CD4 counts and viral load, and higher HEU mortality were confined to breastfed children, thus CD4 counts and viral load were controlled for in the regression model (29). Stepans et al. controlled for breastfeeding behavior in the analysis; defined as the proportion of days breastfed (28), but it is unlikely that the duration of breastfeeding would confound the relationship between HMO consumption and disease outcomes as maternal levels of HMOs were measured for all women at one fixed time window—2 weeks after recruitment. As all of the available evidence is derived from observational studies (cohort and nested case–control), it is subject to potential unmeasured confounding factors.

It is possible that a range of factors modify the effects of HMOs, and this has been examined in some of the included studies. Delivery mode was reported to be a significant modifier of the association between the presence of FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides and allergic disease development, although the strata-specific effects were quite weak (23). It is possible that breastfeeding duration is an effect modifier; longer breastfeeding duration may result in a larger amount of HMOs consumed by the infant, thereby affecting outcomes. Similarly, total volume of breastmilk consumed may also vary between infants and could modify these associations. This possibility has not been examined previously.

Follow-up was complete for five of the six studies (22–25, 29). However, it is not clear whether the authors only reported results on participants with outcome data. Stepans reported that only 34 participants from the original sample of 73 (46%) remained after 24 weeks, leading to a high risk of attrition bias.

The generalizability of results may be affected by population homogeneity in the regions in which participants were recruited. As the proportion of women with FUT2 gene mutations varies in different ethnic populations, lack of genetic diversity among study participants may result in associations that are unique to that specific population. For example, in the study by Newburg et al., all participants secreted fucosylated HMOs (no mutations in the FUT2 gene in the Mexican population). This meant that there was less variation in the levels of FUT2-dependent oligosaccharides and hence higher fucosyloligosaccharide ratios were reported than would potentially be found in other ethnic populations. Therefore, these results cannot be directly translated to European populations where there is a higher proportion of non-secretors (35, 36). An additional limitation in these studies is that while the Secretor status of the mother is often known, based on expressed breastmilk HMOs, the status of the infant has not been measured. Secretor status of the child may also modify the associations between HMO and clinical outcomes. However, infant Secretor status is difficult to measure.

REFERENCES

- Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. Pediatr Clin North Am (2013) 60(1):49–74. doi:10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002
- Duijts L, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Moll HA. Prolonged and exclusive breastfeeding reduces the risk of infectious diseases in infancy. *Pediatrics* (2010) 126(1):e18–25. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-3256

This review has a number of strengths and limitations. We prospectively registered the review, searched multiple databases, had duplicate study selection, and listed reasons for excluding studies and quality assessed the included papers. While only published works were included in the predetermined search strategy, additional sources in the form of conversations with colleagues were used to identify possible unpublished manuscripts. Publication bias may have influenced the results of this review, although this seems unlikely given the preponderance of negative associations that have been reported to date. While our search strategy allowed for their inclusion, none of the published papers reported outcomes beyond infancy or reported autoimmune disease outcomes, which are areas for future research.

CONCLUSION

We identified limited evidence to support a possible role for HMOs to influence cows' milk allergy, diarrheal diseases, respiratory, gastrointestinal tract infections, and HIV infection in the infant in early life. Despite these positive findings, the evidence base is very limited and has numerous issues, with varying quality of the included studies from low to high. Further research into this area is needed, using larger observational studies with appropriate measures of outcomes and exposures and better control for confounding. Future research would benefit from considering multiple HMO exposures, which could be grouped appropriately, either by similar biological effects or by patterns of associations. Improved understanding of the complex chemical structures of oligosaccharides in milk may potentially allow for the design of intervention studies, to increase exposure to specific HMOs, which may reduce the burden of these conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL and LB conceived the work. AD developed the search strategy and AD, AL, and XD systematically assessed studies for inclusion. AD developed the first draft manuscript, with input from AL, and all authors drafted and revised the manuscript and approved the final submitted version.

FUNDING

AL, SD, and CL are supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), and CL was supported by Asthma Australia to undertake this work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped.2018.00091/ full#supplementary-material.

- Duijts L, Ramadhani MK, Moll HA. Breastfeeding protects against infectious diseases during infancy in industrialized countries. A systematic review. *Matern Child Nutr* (2009) 5(3):199–210. doi:10.1111/j.1740-8709.2008. 00176.x
- Hoppu U, Kalliomaki M, Laiho K, Isolauri E. Breast milk immunomodulatory signals against allergic diseases. *Allergy* (2001) 56(Suppl 67):23–6. doi:10.1034/j.1398-9995.2001.00908.x

- Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr* (2015) 104(467):38–53. doi:10.1111/apa.13132
- Munblit D, Peroni DG, Boix-Amorós A, Hsu PS, Van't Land B, Gay MCL, et al. Human milk and allergic diseases: an unsolved puzzle. *Nutrients* (2017) 9(8):E894. doi:10.3390/nu9080894
- Bode L. Recent advances on structure, metabolism, and function of human milk oligosaccharides. J Nutr (2006) 136(8):2127–30. doi:10.1093/jn/136.8.2127
- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. Glycobiology (2012) 22(9):1147–62. doi:10.1093/glycob/cws074
- German JB, Freeman SL, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA. Human milk oligosaccharides: evolution, structures and bioselectivity as substrates for intestinal bacteria. Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser Pediatr Program (2008) 62:205–22. doi:10.1159/000146322
- Boehm G, Stahl B. Oligosaccharides from milk. J Nutr (2007) 137(3):847S–9S. doi:10.1093/jn/137.3.847S
- Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Jiang X, Newburg DS. Human-milk glycans that inhibit pathogen binding protect breast-feeding infants against infectious diarrhea. J Nutr (2005) 135(5):1304–7. doi:10.1093/jn/135.5.1304
- Erney RM, Malone WT, Skelding MB, Marcon AA, Kleman-Leyer KM, O'Ryan ML, et al. Variability of human milk neutral oligosaccharides in a diverse population. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2000) 30(2):181–92. doi:10.1097/00005176-200002000-00016
- Sumiyoshi W, Urashima T, Nakamura T, Arai I, Saito T, Tsumura N, et al. Determination of each neutral oligosaccharide in the milk of Japanese women during the course of lactation. *Br J Nutr* (2003) 89(1):61–9. doi:10.1079/ BJN2002746
- Stahl B, Thurl S, Henker J, Siegel M, Finke B, Sawatzki G. Detection of four human milk groups with respect to Lewis-blood-group-dependent oligosaccharides by serologic and chromatographic analysis. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2001) 501:299–306. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-1371-1_37
- Thurl S, Henker J, Siegel M, Tovar K, Sawatzki G. Detection of four human milk groups with respect to Lewis blood group dependent oligosaccharides. *Glycoconj J* (1997) 14(7):795–9. doi:10.1023/A:1018529703106
- Chichlowski M, German JB, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA. The influence of milk oligosaccharides on microbiota of infants: opportunities for formulas. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol* (2011) 2:331–51. doi:10.1146/annurev-food-022510-133743
- Yu ZT, Chen C, Kling DE, Liu B, McCoy JM, Merighi M, et al. The principal fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk exhibit prebiotic properties on cultured infant microbiota. *Glycobiology* (2013) 23(2):169–77. doi:10.1093/ glycob/cws138
- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngom-Bru C, et al. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(2):159–66. doi:10.1038/ nm.3444
- De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(33):14691–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1005963107
- Smilowitz JT, Lebrilla CB, Mills DA, German JB, Freeman SL. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. *Annu Rev Nutr* (2014) 34:143–69. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105721
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson JA, Welch V, Losos M. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses (2013). Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/ clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp (Accessed: May 13, 2016).
- Sjögren YM, Duchen K, Lindh F, Bjorksten B, Sverremark-Ekstrom E. Neutral oligosaccharides in colostrum in relation to maternal allergy and allergy development in children up to 18 months of age. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2007) 18(1):20–6. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3038.2006.00486.x
- Sprenger N, Odenwald H, Kukkonen AK, Kuitunen M, Savilahti E, Kunz C. FUT2-dependent breast milk oligosaccharides and allergy at 2 and 5

years of age in infants with high hereditary allergy risk. *Eur J Nutr* (2017) 56(3):1293–301. doi:10.1007/s00394-016-1180-6

- Seppo AE, Autran CA, Bode L, Jarvinen KM. Human milk oligosaccharides and development of cow's milk allergy in infants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2017) 139(2):708–11. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.031
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Chaturvedi P, Meinzen-Derr J, de Lourdes Guerrero M, et al. Innate protection conferred by fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk against diarrhea in breastfed infants. *Glycobiology* (2004) 14(3):253–63. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwh020
- Newburg DS, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Chaturvedi P, Guerrero ML, Meinzen-Derr JK, et al. Human milk alphal,2-linked fucosylated oligosaccharides decrease risk of diarrhea due to stable toxin of *E. coli* in breastfed infants. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2004) 554:457–61. doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-4242-8_64
- Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Altaye M, Jiang X, Guerrero ML, Meinzen-Derr JK, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides are associated with protection against diarrhea in breast-fed infants. *J Pediatr* (2004) 145(3):297–303. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.04.054
- Stepans MB, Wilhelm SL, Hertzog M, Rodehorst TK, Blaney S, Clemens B, et al. Early consumption of human milk oligosaccharides is inversely related to subsequent risk of respiratory and enteric disease in infants. *Breastfeed Med* (2006) 1(4):207–15. doi:10.1089/bfm.2006.1.207
- Bode L, Kuhn L, Kim HY, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Sinkala M, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide concentration and risk of postnatal transmission of HIV through breastfeeding. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2012) 96(4):831–9. doi:10.3945/ajcn. 112.039503
- Kuhn L, Kim HY, Hsiao L, Nissan C, Kankasa C, Mwiya M, et al. Oligosaccharide composition of breast milk influences survival of uninfected children born to HIV-infected mothers in Lusaka. *Zambia J Nutr* (2015) 145(1):66–72. doi:10.3945/jn.114.199794
- Kuhn L, Aldrovandi GM, Sinkala M, Kankasa C, Semrau K, Mwiya M, et al. Effects of early, abrupt weaning on HIV-free survival of children in Zambia. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(2):130–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa073788
- Ruuska T, Vesikari T. Rotavirus disease in Finnish children: use of numerical scores for clinical severity of diarrhoeal episodes. *Scand J Infect Dis* (1990) 22(3):259–67. doi:10.3109/00365549009027046
- Velazquez FR, Matson DO, Calva JJ, Guerrero L, Morrow AL, Carter-Campbell S, et al. Rotavirus infections in infants as protection against subsequent infections. N Engl J Med (1996) 335(14):1022–8. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199610033351404
- Lopez-VidalY, CalvaJJ, Trujillo A, Poncede Leon A, Ramos A, Svennerholm AM, et al. Enterotoxins and adhesins of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: are they risk factors for acute diarrhea in the community? *J Infect Dis* (1990) 162(2):442–7. doi:10.1093/infdis/162.2.442
- Lopman BA, Trivedi T, Vicuna Y, Costantini V, Collins N, Gregoricus N, et al. Norovirus infection and disease in an Ecuadorian birth cohort: association of certain norovirus genotypes with host FUT2 secretor status. J Infect Dis (2015) 211(11):1813–21. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu672
- Bucardo F, Kindberg E, Paniagua M, Grahn A, Larson G, Vildevall M, et al. Genetic susceptibility to symptomatic norovirus infection in Nicaragua. J Med Virol (2009) 81(4):728–35. doi:10.1002/jmv.21426

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Doherty, Lodge, Dharmage, Dai, Bode and Lowe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Commentary: Association of Breast Milk Fatty Acids With Allergic Disease Outcomes—A Systematic Review

Chad A. Logan¹ and Jon Genuneit^{1,2*}

¹ Institute of Epidemiology and Medical Biometry, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ² 'In-FLAME' the International Inflammation Network, World Universities Network (WUN), Ulm, Germany

Keywords: human milk, fatty acids, wheeze, asthma, allergic diseases

A commentary on

OPEN ACCESS

Association of Breast Milk Fatty Acids With Allergic Disease Outcomes—A Systematic Review by Waidyatillake NT, Dharmage SC, Allen KJ, Lodge CJ, Simpson JA, Bowatte G, et al. Allergy (2018) 73:295–312. doi: 10.1111/all.13300

Edited by: Daniel Munblit,

I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

Reviewed by:

Wilfried Joachim Juergen Karmaus, University of Memphis, United States Maria Carmen Collado, Instituto de Agroquímica y Tecnología de Alimentos (CSIC), Spain

*Correspondence: Jon Genuneit jon.genuneit@uni-ulm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 30 January 2018 Accepted: 23 March 2018 Published: 09 April 2018

Citation:

Logan CA and Genuneit J (2018) Commentary: Association of Breast Milk Fatty Acids With Allergic Disease Outcomes— A Systematic Review. Front. Pediatr. 6:94. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00094 We were pleased to read the systematic review of studies investigating associations between breast milk fatty acids and allergic disease outcomes by Waidyatillake et al. (1). A comprehensive overview of systematic reviews in allergy epidemiology (2) up to 2014 has identified several systematic reviews on the association of fatty acid intake with allergic disease risk (3–8). We are aware of two further systematic reviews on this topic published in 2015 (9, 10). While these previous reviews have largely synthesized evidence on fatty acid supplementation, also during lactation, only one of them has explicitly synthesized studies ascertaining evidence on breast milk fatty acid levels—but only for asthma as an outcome (8). We thus hope that this systematic review by Waidyatillake et al. will help to spur interest on this potentially important topic.

We have published an original study (11) after the search period of the most recent systematic review which offers additional insight and may thus provide further guidance for future investigations. In our study (11), we investigated associations between breast milk fatty acid composition and several wheeze phenotypes as well as asthma diagnosis up to age 13 years. Here, we addressed several limitations implicated by Waidyatillake et al. (1) as cause for further study (i.e., large sample size, analysis of diverse outcomes, comprehensive statistical analysis, and adjustment for multiple potential covariates or confounders but not for potential mediators). We also improved upon previous studies by employing statistical methodology to account for constant-sum constraint (11), a potentially serious issue when analyzing concentration data (12, 13).

As in the majority of the studies reviewed by Waidyatillake et al. (1), we identified no convincing evidence of association between fatty acid composition and childhood respiratory outcomes (11). Furthermore, we showed that previously reported significant associations for omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids may have been overstated due to spurious correlation between fatty acids which was not accounted for (11). Yet despite our null findings, we also do not believe that this is the end of the story. Further study of breast milk fatty acids may shed light on potentially more complex relationships between breastfeeding and disease.

Since our results diverge from previous studies likely due to different statistical methodology, we believe a good first step could be to re-examine existing data using simple statistical methodology similar to our own (11). As the sum concentration of all fatty acids within any breast milk sample is bound at 100% of total fat weight, known as the constant-sum constraint, analysis of raw data

120

may often result in spurious correlations (12, 13). Interestingly, though these analytical methods for compositional data analysis have been used extensively in investigations of bovine milk (14), few previous studies of human breast milk constituents have truly accounted for compositionality (15). Results from appropriate reanalyses of existing data would serve to test the validity of previous findings. Moreover, they could be used to identify correlations between fatty acid constituents which may be more meaningful to infant and childhood health and disease outcomes than total fat proportions of single fatty acids or fatty acids grouped based on chemical similarities (like grouping all omega-3 fatty acids). Importantly, we show that associations may be attenuated toward the null if negatively correlated (or non-correlated) fatty acids are grouped and analyzed as such (11).

In addition, breastfed children often constitute their own specific subgroup who may be more likely to have healthier and more educated mothers than children who were never breastfed or were breastfed for only a short period of time (16). To overcome this potential selection bias, it may be important to investigate those children not receiving breast milk alone or at all. In early infancy, before introduction of solids, infant formula will be their source of nutrition. Thus, future studies could embark on the strategy of investigating the association of fatty acid profiles of both breast milk and infant formulas forming the diet of an unselected study population with allergic outcomes.

Furthermore, fatty acid concentrations in breast milk have been shown to vary over the course of lactation (17). Infant formula may provide a more stable fatty acid profile which may allow researchers to identify associations which are difficult to observe in breast milk. Following the idea that the source of fatty acids could be extended from pure breast milk to formula,

REFERENCES

- Waidyatillake NT, Dharmage SC, Allen KJ, Lodge CJ, Simpson JA, Bowatte G, et al. Association of breast milk fatty acids with allergic disease outcomes—a systematic review. *Allergy* (2018) 73:295–312. doi:10.1111/ all.13300
- Genuneit J, Seibold AM, Apfelbacher CJ, Konstantinou GN, Koplin JJ, La Grutta S, et al. Task force 'overview of systematic reviews in allergy epidemiology (OSRAE)' of the EAACI Interest Group on Epidemiology. Overview of systematic reviews in allergy epidemiology. *Allergy* (2017) 72:849–56. doi:10.1111/all.13123
- Ruxton CHS, Reed SC, Simpson MJA, Millington KJ. The health benefits of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: a review of the evidence. *J Hum Nutr Diet* (2004) 17:449–59. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2004.00552.x
- Sausenthaler S, Koletzko B, Heinrich J. Dietary fat intake and allergic diseases. Curr Nutr Food Sci (2006) 2:351–9. doi:10.2174/157340106778699395
- Anandan C, Nurmatov U, Sheikh A. Omega 3 and 6 oils for primary prevention of allergic disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Allergy* (2009) 64:840–8. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02042.x
- Kremmyda L-S, Vlachava M, Noakes PS, Diaper ND, Miles EA, Calder PC. Atopy risk in infants and children in relation to early exposure to fish, oily fish, or long-chain omega-3 fatty acids: a systematic review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2011) 41:36–66. doi:10.1007/s12016-009-8186-2
- Saadeh D, Salameh P, Baldi I, Raherison C. Diet and allergic diseases among population aged 0 to 18 years: myth or reality? *Nutrients* (2013) 5:3399–423. doi:10.3390/nu5093399
- Yang H, Xun P, He K. Fish and fish oil intake in relation to risk of asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e80048. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0080048

future investigations should also pay attention to the evidence of intervention studies on fatty acid supplementation in pregnancy, during lactation, or during infancy. Obviously, timing of exposure is an important issue. Moreover, for maternal supplementation, maternal uptake and secretion into breast milk can lead to variation across mothers. Also, child uptake of fatty acids may differ by a various factors associated with infant feeding such as timing, frequency, and maternal diet. Therefore, another approach to exposure assessment may be to directly measure fatty acid levels in infant serum. However, this may be limited due to practical and ethical reasons in small infants but could be easier and potentially informative in animal model settings.

Finally, early infancy is a particularly important period for development of the immune system and of the gut microbiome which may potentially be associated with childhood atopic outcomes. Therefore, we agree with the current review and believe future studies should add to ours by analyzing fatty acids and other constituents in colostrum which may be differentially associated with disease outcomes.

To move forward, we suggest (i) building on the existing systematic reviews, (ii) employing the centered log ratio transformation to overcome spurious correlation, (iii) considering alternative ways of grouping fatty acids, (iv) reducing selection bias by sampling infant formula, (v) further investigating other forms of exposure assessment (upstream as maternal fatty acid supplementation, downstream, or as part of animal models), and (vi) bearing in mind timing of exposure.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both CL and JG have conceived and written this commentary.

- Muley P, Shah M, Muley A. Omega-3 fatty acids supplementation in children to prevent asthma: is it worthy?-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Allergy* (2015) 2015:312052. doi:10.1155/2015/312052
- Gunaratne AW, Makrides M, Collins CT. Maternal prenatal and/or postnatal n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA) supplementation for preventing allergies in early childhood. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015) 7:CD010085. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010085.pub2
- Logan CA, Brandt S, Wabitsch M, Brenner H, Wiens F, Stahl B, et al. New approach shows no association between maternal milk fatty acid composition and childhood wheeze or asthma. *Allergy* (2017) 72:1374–83. doi:10.1111/all.13161
- Aitchison J, Egozcue JJ. Compositional data analysis: where are we and where should we be heading? *Math Geol* (2005) 37:829–50. doi:10.1007/s11004-005-7383-7
- Gloor GB, Wu JR, Pawlowsky-Glahn V, Egozcue JJ. It's all relative: analyzing microbiome data as compositions. *Ann Epidemiol* (2016) 26:322–9. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.03.003
- Conte G, Serra A, Cremonesi P, Chessa S, Castiglioni B, Cappucci A, et al. Investigating mutual relationship among milk fatty acids by multivariate factor analysis in dairy cows. *Livest Sci* (2016) 188:124–32. doi:10.1016/j.livsci. 2016.04.018
- Rocquelin G, Tapsoba S, Dop MC, Mbemba F, Traissac P, Martin-Prével Y. Lipid content and essential fatty acid (EFA) composition of mature Congolese breast milk are influenced by mothers' nutritional status: impact on infants' EFA supply. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (1998) 52:164–71. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600529
- Logan C, Zittel T, Striebel S, Reister F, Brenner H, Rothenbacher D, et al. Changing societal and lifestyle factors and breastfeeding patterns over time. *Pediatrics* (2016) 137:e20154473. doi:10.1542/peds.2015-4473
- 17. Szabó E, Boehm G, Beermann C, Weyermann M, Brenner H, Rothenbacher D, et al. Fatty acid profile comparisons in human milk sampled from the

same mothers at the sixth week and the sixth month of lactation. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* (2010) 50:316–20. doi:10.1097/MPG.0b013e3181a9f944

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Logan and Genuneit. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

